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Scope and boundaries
This is our seventh year of reporting sustainability issues and the third successive
year that we have integrated sustainability reporting in our annual report, while
providing additional information on the Bidvest website. The annual report covers
the financial year from July 1 2009 to June 30 2010.
Other than in respect of black economic empowerment, Group-wide sustainability
information has been maintained, collated and captured by individual companies
using a common data collation tool. Minor restatements of non-financial
sustainability information from previous periods have been made where errors were
detected or where improved measurement methods led to greater accuracy. Major
restatements have been noted. No significant changes were made to the scope,
boundaries or measurement methods.
Structural changes, realignment of management responsibilities and acquisitions
affect the comparability of some data. The effect of these data inclusions or

www.bidvest.com

exclusions is noted.
Deloitte & Touche has undertaken review procedures to provide reasonable
assurance around specific sustainability indicators.

A future
further than the
eye can see
Bidvest is a family of 106 000 people.
And each has the potential to shine.
As individuals they are dedicated and inspired.
As a whole they are formidable.
They are the galaxy at the centre of the Bidvest universe.
They are the reason for our achievements.

They are proudly Bidvest.

We are an international services, trading and distribution company,
listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, South Africa and
operating on four continents.
We employ 106 000 people worldwide, but our roots remain South
African.
In a big business environment we run our company with the
determination and commitment evident in a small business heart.
We believe in empowering people, building relationships and
improving lives. Entrepreneurship, incentivisation, decentralised
management and communication are the keys.
We subscribe to a philosophy of transparency, accountability,
integrity, excellence and innovation in all our business dealings.
We turn ordinary companies into extraordinary performers,
delivering strong and consistent shareholder returns in the process.
But most importantly, we understand that people create wealth,
and that companies only report it.
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Consolidated
Financial and segmental
operationalanalysis
highlights

For the year ended June 30

R109,8 billion

Trading division

2010
R’000

Bidvest Freight

15 941 865

Revenue

R5,6 billion
18 647 915

(14,5)

8 105 903

(2,2)

58 389 859

Europe

35 460 797

Asia Pacific

17 547 642

R8,0 billion
59 005 013

36 984 511

(1,0)

5 381 420

4 952 905

794 322

765 779

3,7

1 180 195

(7,1)

1 759
087
16,3 by operations
1 964 999
1 488 353
Cash
generated

32,0

Trading
profit
770 742

2,8

8,7

3,1

8,1% increase
1 181 160
(4,7)
549
Headline
earnings
per1 096
share

15,1% increase

897 771
634
(2009:(4,1)
R6,8 billion)
18,3%770
increase
729 375

(2009: 380,0 cents)
Southern Africa

%
change

2 046 017

432,0 cents
17 067 597

2009
R’000

1 126 008

(2009: 930,0 cents)
Bidvest Foodservice

2010
R’000

794 284

1 070,0 cents

7 927 750

Operating profit

2009(2009: R112,4
%
2009
%
billion) 20102,3% decrease
R’000
change
R’000
R’000
change

(2009: R5,1 billion)
Bidvest Services

Revenue

Trading profit

16,5

816 753

499 900

63,4

21,1

729 375

602 533

21,1

385 920

8,5

418 871

385 920

8,5

596 882

(29,4)

421 286

598 413

(29,6)

224 186

10,8

248 311

224 186

10,8

264 384

60,4

424 102

192 740

120,0

294 367

25,0

360 869

294 755

22,4

79 138

160,1

231 959

223 584

3,7

144 602

22,2

180 628

148 549

21,6

602 533

Distribution per share
13,7% increase

418 871

Operational highlights
 P&L is key to Bidvest: People and Lives are a function of Profit and Loss, if we get
our people right the financials fall into place
 We had a few hiccups but Bidvest people delivered a good result and South Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
8 643 601
9 290 941
(7,0)
421 286
hosted a great World Cup
 Economic variability across different trading geographies and sectors, in a
challenging environment
 Earnings of R3,4 billion at a record high, strong cash flows, R1,2 billion in new equity
 We refused to participate in the recession but the lessons have not been lost on us
Bidvest
Paperplus
2 091
926
1 933 415
8,2
 New
management structures for Bidvest
Foodservice,
Bidvest Industrial
and248 311
Commercial and Bidvest Automotive
 Economic conditions have challenged every part of the Group to come up with
smarter practices
 Eastern European foodservice acquisition successfully integrated and appropriately
Bidvest Automotive
17 297 510
15 626 260
10,7
424 102
resourced
 We continued to scout for opportunities near and far – there is a world of possibilities
open to us
 Half of Bidvest South Africa’s procurement is now spent with BEE suppliers
 CSI spend increases 39% from R33,4 million to R47,2 million
Bidvest
Namibia
1 949
1 616 381
20,6
367 892
 Group
has adopted the COBiT standard
for205IT governance
 Sustainability data collection tool refined and strengthened to provide more robust
aggregated information from subsidiary companies and divisions
 Employee survey receives responses from 3 200 respondents and reveals
enthusiasm for sustainable development at Bidvest, while seeking further
Bidvest Corporate
444 034
727 034
(38,9)
205 850
opportunities to contribute and be recognised
Bidvest
Properties
176 637
 Internal audit has identified all Acts applying to Bidvest companies and will form
Ontime
Automotive
410
674
703
855
(41,7)
(16 115)
the basis of an effective compliance framework
Corporate

Inter-group eliminations

(49 816)

(16 115)

(100 459)

33 360

23 179

43,9

45 328

(15 648)

67 446

175 494

(61,6)

112 685 750

114 952 862

(2,0)

5 633 750

5 169 946

5 542 397

4 968 005

11,6

(2 896 543)

(2 525 031)
(79 054)

(33 377)

(79 054)

(33 377)

5 554 696

5 136 569

5 463 343

4 934 628

Share-based payments
109 789 207

112 427 831

28

(2,3)

9,0

8,1

10,7

Strategic focus

The graph represents Bidvest’s share price performance relative to JSE

Operating
financial and assets
industrial indices

2010
2009
%
Market capitalisation as at June 30
R’000
R’000
(2009: R32,5
billion). change

Share price performance
Depreciation

Operating liabilities
2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2010 was R42,7 billion

Net market capitalisation (treasury shares excluded) as at
June 30 2010 was R38,9 billion (2009: R29,5 billion).

15,4

distributions reinvested, would be worth an estimated R438 438, a
compound return of 31% per year.

Bidvest is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in the Industrial –
business support services sector.

5 850 675

(15,6)

2 574 195

2010
R’000

3,0
2,5

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
3,0
R’000
2,5

2,0

3 162 679
675 023at the start18,2
089 985
1 811
R1 000 2invested
of Bidvest in21988
with capital
and441
dividend

4 935 522

Capital expenditure

(June 30)

%
change

Amortisation and
impairments
of intangible assets

2 049 516

2009
R’000

2,0

1,5

144 672

143 545

0,8

503 313

285 109

9 1,5
164

76,5

1,0

1,0

0,5

0,5

0

10 959

0

25,6June 30 1995
575 256

1998
504
616

14,02001

734 141

2007 43,7

201023 057

29 696

788 043

(18,4)

70 017

65 242

62 643

58 841

4 719

3 484

2 655

2 917

flexible
to 8 217
71 278The need
1,3 to be increasingly
53 124
75 879 and adaptable,
(30,0)

24 545

1 054 7562004

Bidvest relative to FTSE/JSE Financial and Industrials 30 index
Bidvest relative to FTSE/JSE Industrials 25 index

12 784 863

12 216 333

4,7

8 786 342

8 733 255

6 784 402

6 781 903

–

5 483 203

4 720 553

4 232 804

3 777 934

12,0

2 333 212

1 767 657

1 656 496

6,7

969 927

0,6

600 595

557 108

3 179 161

(1,3)

1 336 702

889 099

9,1

57 115

50 185

4 286 133

994 273

2 913 391

(5,9)

47,1

350 971

1 952 455

120,1

399 625

85 858

(13,4)

Own the cash flows

 Manage businesses actively and successfully
 customers

1 324 437

0,9

Anticipate the future

72 214

Opportunistic
and 49 544
(2,2)
acquisitive
Balance mature and
growth businesses

358 710

Management
1 913 047
2,1

focus
85 676

343 341
16,4
allocation
of funds

Maintain decentralised channels and reach common

 explore new opportunities and directions while taking

risks on a calculated basis
Collect the book, manage payment of creditors and
 manage the returns on investment
Remain constantly37alert
for acquisitions
in(50,8)
43
305
75 779
338various14,3
geographies

39 318

Restructuring

64 597Implementation
32,6
103 397

2 471 024

5,5

155 892

180 701

(13,7)

32 237

1 082 830

1 066 534

1,5

5 556

5 537

0,3

4 147

Medium-term target

2 833

82 956

–

–

8 724

5 763

2 450

2 658

24,6

A proactive approach to global challenges could
describe the Bidvest style, refitting the businesses for
a new future

return on funds employed
 Working30,1capital and
313 261
60 562
417,3

30 211



2 605 877

3 497

 Build and retain market leadership



Financial disciplines and
459 806

74 387

Mastery of the distribution
channel

Never waste a crisis

1 012 138

13,8

Implementation

Stick to basics
935 395

642 745

We are
active investment
company
16,2 an operationally
405 281
383 110
5,8
314 428holding
470 388
(33,2)
specialising in distributive trades – market-leading service,
trading
and distribution
businesses.
3 123 603
(25,3)
138 199
123 813
11,6
253 930
231 797
9,5

Strategy

3 136 601

7,8

Developing lean, flexible structures to take business
in entirely new directions. Nimble unblinkered
organisations have the best chance of success
in a changing world

61 607

(47,7)

25 390

148 532

(82,9)

Real organic growth in earnings across all businesses

4 720
(12,1)
13 866
115 312
(88,0)

164 268

218 474

(24,8)

62 336

93 035

(33,0)

27 112

55 993

(51,6)

9 289

30 126

(69,2)

1 358 779

1 186 016

14,6

88 000

82 129

7,1

978

894

9,4

2 235

3 094

(27,8)

2 450

2 658

32 859 208

30 759 686

6,8

17 646 167

16 714 448

5,6

1 599 512

1 476 300

8,3

2 733 291

2 251 001

21,4

125 126

141 696

(440 095)

(345 566)

(440 095)

(345 566)

32 419 113

30 414 120

17 206 072

16 368 882

6,6

5,1
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Infinite possibilities
within reach

Goodwill and intangible
assets

Employee
benefits and remuneration

CO2 emissions*

Number of employees

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010

2009

%
change

2010
tonnes

2009
tonnes

%
change

(16,4)

75 231

67 976

10,7

847 417

904 018

(6,3)

4 860

5 212

(6,7)

71 757

80 947

(11,4)

(22,4)

433 806

371 769

16,7

3 316 631

3 034 302

9,3

62 041

61 470

0,9

102 891

106 714

(3,6)

7,3

5 253 129

3 458 749

51,9

5 236 824

5 515 357

(0,5)

17 804

15 751

13,2

269 913

230 222

17,2

6,5

4 059 707

2 304 879

76,1

3 248 546

3 634 115

(10,6)

10 115

8 474

19,4

141 986

110 274

28,8

35,4

1 163 903

1 134 790

2,6

1 473 101

1 406 143

4,8

4 149

3 623

14,5

70 439

67 377

4,5

(9,0)

29 519

19 080

54,7

515 177

475 099

8,4

3 540

3 654

(3,1)

57 488

52 571

9,4

(66,5)

104 463

88 588

17,9

1 053 809

1 056 494

(0,3)

6 849

7 428

(7,8)

49 103

50 907

(3,5)

23,4

140 291

124 651

12,5

495 150

446 149

11,0

4 368

4 261

2,5

34 234

37 685

(9,2)

238 145

238 145

–

1 226 580

1 213 093

1,1

6 699

6 719

(0,3)

97 006

66 878

45,0

51,4

111 495

120 967

(7,8)

315 896

266 504

18,5

2 574

1 998

28,8

60 648

81 912

(26,0)

(7,8)

3 703

8 391

(55,9)

225 101

348 023

(35,3)

557

610

(8,7)

14 227

21 365

(33,4)

142

142

5 252

6 365

(17,5)

9

8

148 524

284 963

(47,9)

449

489

(8,2)

(7,8)

3 561

8 249

(56,8)

71 325

56 695

25,8

99

113

(12,4)

(11,7)

6 360 263

4 479 236

42,0

12 717 408

12 783 940

(0,5)

105 752

103 449

2,2

699 779

676 630

3,4

62 066

33 377

12 779 474

12 817 317

We encourage our people to go further. And they
do – adding value, experience and dedication in
an organisation where the sky is the limit.

(0,3)

4

*The carbon emissions have not been
audited and do not form part of the
independent auditors’ report
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Bidvest at a glance: our structure

Description of business

Incorporating

International services, trading and distribution company.

Bidvest Freight, Bidvest Services, Bidvest Foodservice, Bidvest
Industrial and Commercial, Bidvest Paperplus, Bidvest Automotive,
Bidvest Namibia, Bidvest Corporate

The leading private sector freight management group in sub-Saharan
Africa, consisting of several independent businesses focusing on
terminal operations, international clearing and freight forwarding,
logistics and marine services.

Bulk Connections, Island View Storage, Bidfreight Port Operations,
Rennies Distribution Services, SACD Freight, South African Bulk
Terminals, Naval, Safcor Panalpina, Marine Services, Manica Africa

Offers a full range of outsourced services including cleaning, laundry,
hygiene, security, interior and exterior landscaping, aviation services,
industrial supplies, travel, banking and foreign exchange services,
office automation, e-procurement, online travel, drinking water, water
coolers and indoor plants and flowers.

Bidvest Prestige Group, TMS Group Industrial Services, Laundry
Services, Steiner Hygiene, Bidserv Industrial Products, Green
Services, Aviation Services, Bidrisk Solutions, Global Payment
Technologies, Office Automation, Bidtravel, Bidvest Procurement,
Bidvest Bank, Bureau de Change Services

Europe
Comprises market leading foodservice product distributors in the
United Kingdom, Belgium, the Netherlands, Czech Republic, Slovakia,
Poland, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, sources and
processes highly regarded own brands and provides products, quality
ingredients, finished products, equipment and logistics to the catering
and hospitality industry.
Asia Pacific
Comprises Bidvest Australia, Bidvest New Zealand, Angliss Singapore
and Angliss Greater China. Bidvest leads the foodservice industry and
offers a full end-to-end national distribution service.

Southern Africa
A leading multi-range manufacturer and distributor of food products
and ingredients. Bidvest operates through strategically located
independent business units in southern Africa, aimed at servicing the
catering, hospitality, leisure, bakery, poultry, meat and food processing
industries.

3663 Wholesale, Bidvest Logistics – United Kingdom,
Deli XL – Belgium, Deli XL – Netherlands, Nowaco – Czech Republic,
Nowaco – Slovakia, Farutex – Poland, Horeca Trade – United Arab
Emirates, Al Difaya – Saudi Arabia

Bidvest Australia, Bidvest New Zealand, Angliss Singapore,
Angliss Greater China

Bidvest Foodservice South Africa, Bidfood Ingredients, Speciality

A leading manufacturer and distributor of electrical products,
appliances and services, office stationery, office furniture, packaging
closures and catering equipment in southern Africa with a small
presence in the United Kingdom.

Voltex Electrical Distribution, Berzacks, Eastman Staples,
Catering Equipment, Stationery, Office Furniture, Packaging Closures

A leading manufacturer, supplier and distributor of commercial office
products, printer products, services and stationery and packaging
products, through a wide network of outlets in southern Africa.

Printing and Related, Stationery Distribution, Alternative Products,
Packaging and Label Products

One of South Africa’s largest motor vehicle retailing groups. Bidvest
Automotive offers leading motor brands through 116 dealerships, as
well as vehicle auctioneering, comprehensive financial services, car
and van rental and the full range of Yamaha products.

McCarthy Motor Group, Bidvest Financial Services,
Budget Car and Van Rental, Amalgamated Automobile Distributors
(50% joint venture), Yamaha distributors, Support Services

Bidvest Namibia is the holding company for Bidvest's interests in
Namibia, which include fishing and similar commercial businesses to
those of Bidvest in South Africa.

Bidvest Fisheries Holdings, Bidvest Commercial Holdings

Provides strategic direction, financial, risk and sustainability
management, marketing, investor relations, corporate communications,
corporate finance, houses investments and provides executive training
to the Group. Investments in Bidsport, Bidvest Wits Football Club and
Ontime Automotive. The corporate centre adds value by identifying
opportunities and implementing Bidvest’s decentralised entrepreneurial
business model.

Bidvest Corporate Services, Bidvest Properties, Ontime Automotive,
Bidsport, Bidvest Wits Football Club
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Results

Strategic imperatives and prospects

Our people are our universe
Bidvest is a dynamic organisation, it reinvents itself through its culture of innovation and
entrepreneurship while decentralisation gives the Group its momentum. Bidvest is
continuously grooming new talent with increasing focus on executive development.
Succession planning is a focus area.

Impact of rand – local margin pressure and translation of overseas profits. Economic
landscape uncertain. Bidvest companies to benefit from restructuring of past two
years. Funding costs likely to remain stable and Group will lock in at attractive rates
where possible. Earning line will benefit from non-recurrence of acquisition costs and
the non-recurrence of 4% dilution as result of shares issued. Management budgeting
for real growth in earnings in 2011.

It’s a bulk connection
Very acceptable result with profits at record levels despite challenging economy. Transnet strike
costly. Recovering export trade. Capex of R503 million. SABT good results on volumes in
wheat, maize, soya and rice. RDS profits up strongly. SACD imports weak but new facilities
attracting new business. Bulk Connections volumes up 30%. BPO record year on forestry and
steel exports.

Bulk commodity exports to remain buoyant, import demand weak. Hugely strategic
asset but performance dependent on global trade developments. Strategic
positioning provides unique platform for growth.

Recessionary resilience
Discretionary spend businesses impacted by recession but “soft service” portfolio resilient
with 16% increase in H2 profits. Bank and Fleet collectively a meaningful contributor.
Exceptional results from Steiner and Prestige. Konica Minolta and Océ ended the year
strongly with profits well up. Security continued to make excellent progress. Greens
showed strong profit off flat revenue.

Benefit of rightsizing at Bidtravel, Bidair and TMS. A return to pre-recession levels
of activity. Stronger results anticipated in F2011. Alert to acquisition/new activity
potential. Bidvest corporate brand increasingly being associated with operational
branding.

Expanding as belts tighten
Nowaco and Farutex meet expectations with eastern Europe contributing €30 million to
trading profit. All European markets remained under stress; 3663 profits flat with spending
constrained in the Netherlands/Belgium Deli XL in line with budget. Horeca, institutional,
and catering markets under pressure with keen pricing on renewals and tenders. Significant
improvement in cash generation and asset management.

UK economic rebalancing with 3663 appropriately restructured and significant
capex completed. Deli XL to focus on streamlining, new ERP systems planned in
Netherlands; growth in fresh remains a focus. Eastern Europe potential encouraging
with opportunities sought. Profits targeted to grow in F2011.

A joint effort
Record contributions from all operations being 31% up in constant currency. Greater China
and Singapore contribute 16% of result. In Australia H2 weaker but margin overall at a
record. Results impacted slightly by entry into fresh. Sales and profits up in foodservice
and hospitality supply profits up marginally. QSR volumes slowed in H2 but productivity
continues to improve. New Zealand profits up 15% based on sound strategy and tight
focus on asset management. Angliss greater China profits up 55% and gaining good
traction on mainland. Angliss Singapore much improved H2.

Regional prospects probably the most promising in total foodservice stable; focus
will be on mid to high-end customer, particularly in mainland China where there is a
burgeoning middle class. Sydney a focal point particularly in fresh. New Zealand to
extend fresh range with further value initiatives; acquisitions evaluated. Hong Kong
local market competitive and variable but mid-term growth targeted on mainland,
including new regional markets. Singapore targeting enhanced performance in F2011.

Closing off the year on a high note
Despite shrinking marketplace, 2010 profits at a record level, with Ingredients and
Speciality particularly strong. H1 profits down 22% surge in H2 profits to R205 million.
Bidvest Foodservice SA flat revenue and profit but much improved H2 with tight expense
control, supplier incentives, further reduction in shrinkage and aggressive pursuit of market
share. Speciality: sales up 6% with 30% rise in profits. New opportunities in convenience
sector such as petrol stations and own-brand Goldcrest continues to gain traction. Profits
up 19% in ingredients with excellent results driven by product innovation and strong
performance from NCP Yeast.
Bottomed out
Electrical and office furniture have borne the brunt of the slump but even normally stable
Waltons was affected. Voltex energy saving endeavours in developmental phase; Q4 sales
and profits encouraging. Waltons distribution in KwaZulu-Natal to be streamlined with
benefits to flow from F2012. Rationalisation taken place in all furniture businesses. Kolok
with a pleasing result and distribution capabilities continue to be refined. Afcom GE Hudson
profits flat. Buffalo Executape ended the year strongly. Vulcan profits up 8%. Materials
handling: a modest but profitable contributor.

Recession reinforced strengths in foodservice. Speciality to focus on growth in ownbrand and the independent trade. Leadership and staff development remains key
for Bidvest Foodservice SA while Ingredients plan to extend their bakery ingredients
offerings by focusing on product development and innovation.

2011 results anticipated to improve. Electrical wholesaling – immediate prospects
mildly encouraging. With savings from new Gauteng delivery model effective F2011,
Stationery profitability likely to improve. With a rightsized and well leveraged cost base
furniture anticipated to benefit from better volumes. Vulcan seeking opportunities
throughout Africa. Acquisition of Sellotape trademark an advantage.

A good score
Improved H2, revenue 25% higher lifted by 2010 FIFA World Cup™ business. Strong cash
generation. Reduced volumes in traditional business forms and stationery (30% of
revenues), exacerbated by the recession, countered by pleasing growth in newer
diversification and technology segments. Parker/Waterman writing instrument agency
contributed to result. Print on demand has proved highly profitable.

Positive management mindset anticipates growth in F2011. Continued execution
on strategy to diversify. Project work in European office market targeted as part of
concerted tendering effort. Electricity cost escalations a challenge. Behavioural
changes by customers reinforces the necessity of diversification toward newer
technology solutions. Complementary acquisitions continue to be sought.

Stabilising
Slightly better H2 on sales with fleet better than private market. Overall sales volumes
down. Profits up 85% in motor retail on a 12% rise in revenue. Franchises in dramatic
turnaround; ROFE improved to 22%. Used vehicle sales outperform new. Substantially
improved position at Value Centres. Burchmore’s Auctioneers good contribution. Financial
services performed strongly. Budget Car and Van Rental struggling with poor 2010 FIFA
World CupTM demand.

Benefit of focused motor retail organisation. New level of resourcing supports
improved profitability. Demand for new cars increasing and price stability with rand
strength. Emissions tax and significant hikes in perks tax negative. Credit approvals
improving. New car market could be up 25% in 2010 from 2009. Multi-franchising
where feasible, increased emphasis on customer retention. F2010 year of financial
recovery, rate of growth in F2011 will be substantially lower.

The ocean’s bounty
Revenue up 20,6% to R1,95 billion, trading profits up 25% to R367,9 million driven
predominantly by fishing (78% of profits). Mixed results from BidCom but satisfactory.
Normalised headline earnings as publicly reported up 44% from NAD129 million to
NAD185 million. Capital investment in fishing vessel has a positive impact on productivity.
Cash generated from operations doubled, good asset management.

Expansion of BidCom footprint and appropriate complementary acquisitions sought.
Foodservice investing NAD45 million in a modern multi-temp distribution centre in
Windhoek. Total allowable catch could limit full exploitation of fishing capacity
efficiencies. Currency strength has a marked effect on fishing results. Momentum
being maintained and improved results are expected in F2011.

A real estate
Bidvest’s strategic property holdings contributed a substantial R176,6 million in trading
income, up 22%. Ontime Automotive loss reduced from R50 million to R16 million as a
result of rationalisation. Investment and other income and corporate costs made a positive
contribution of R45 million. Bidvest Wits won the Nedbank Cup.

The Bidvest brand is increasingly being associated with operating brands, eg Bidvest
Foodservice SA, formerly known as Caterplus. Acquisition opportunities to be
examined.
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Sustainable development

Comment

Build leadership of sustainable development; apply King III principles;
reduce costs and improve market share by recognising sustainable business
opportunities; continue to build a reputation for outstanding quality and
responsible stewardship of resources; source and retain world-class talent.

Developing and updating charters and codes. An integrated annual report to apply
King III. Awareness campaigns around Acts, relevant to businesses. Aligning social
and environmental issues to Bidvest products, services and brands.

Safety of employees in potentially hazardous working environments; impact of
operations on environment; staff wellness and HIV/Aids management; skills
development and transfer.

Savings of 22% in electricity consumption. Seeking solutions to road transport
challenge. Focus on supervisor training and support. Two fatalities. Expenditure on
VCT programmes to combat HIV/Aids increases.

Management of HIV/Aids in the workplace; employee engagement to avoid strike
action; focus on conservation of energy from fossil fuel sources; assessment of
water, coal and electricity consumption at Laundry Services; safety of bureau de
change and banking staff.

While LPG and diesel usage increased slightly, other forms of fossil fuel energy reduced
significantly. Staff turnover low for cleaning industry. Substantial investment in training of
unskilled recruits. Work-related injuries below industry norms. Business ethics awareness
campaign.

Demand for reduction of environmental impacts, particularly carbon performance
impacted by food miles, packaging and fuel; demand for healthier foods;
accurate information on food labelling; local and seasonal produce.

Targets set for packaging waste, recycled packaging and energy and fuel usage.
54% of total electricity usage from renewable sources. Local sourcing increases.
Employee satisfaction reflects loyalty to businesses. Training spend maintained. One
fatality at 3663. Gender diversity improves. Customer complaints at 3663 reduced 12%.

Food safety and product integrity; effects of the economic downturn on
consumer spending patterns; water shortages and restrictions; increasing
government regulation to reduce carbon emissions; competition for labour.

Women represent 29% of national and regional managers in Australia. Fuel consumption
increased slightly. Bidvest Academy achieves university accreditation. Certification for
Safety Management Systems commences with widespread audits. Claims drop
significantly. Customer satisfaction continues to improve.

Food safety and product integrity; sustainability of seafood; cost and impact
of energy; reducing waste and impact on environment; staff skills development,
and succession planning; customer service.

Subsidise Centre for Culinary Excellence at Johannesburg University. Improved
measurement of all energy and resource usage. Joined the South African Sustainable
Seafood Initiative (SASSI). Prepared for new labelling legislation. No strike action.
Reaching educational goals for entry-level employees.

Skills shortages; managing impact of HIV/Aids; instability of rand, interest
rates and commodity prices; opportunities for replacements to traditional
energy sources.

Kolok establishes township business hub with 22 micro-businesses. Petrol and diesel
consumption down 12%. Direct deliveries increase – reducing double-handling of
product. Office furniture more sustainable. Training investment reaches 3% target.
367 black employees participated in learnerships. Lost-time injury frequency rate
improves.

Economic hardship of employees in economic downturn; skills shortages,
particularly technical roles; risk of injury when working with equipment;
responsible supply chain stewardship and choice of packaging materials;
increasing impact of HIV/Aids.

More than half domestic suppliers now BEE. New market for on-demand digital printing
solutions. Silveray Manufacturing wins energy-saving competition for solar water-heating
system. Wage negotiations successful except for strike at Lufil plant. Training spend
increased 39%. 91% ABET pass rate. CSI spend increases 20% to R1,1 million.

Retaining customer loyalty through responsible business practices; effect of the
economic downturn and legislation on turnover and business practices; difficulty
in attracting and retaining historically disadvantaged individuals at senior level;
impact of increasing fuel prices, stricter emission standards and the green tax
(CO2 emissions tax); impact of crime on dealerships and car rental.

Owner-driver scheme for 20 employees launched. New tax set to increase retail selling
prices of cars by up to 2,5%. Training spend including learnership increases 33% to
R86,7 million. New courses accredited at McCarthy Automotive Artisan Academies.
Customer complaints resolution centre established. Ready for the new Consumer
Protection Act. CSI spend increases to R7,4 million.

Dependence on natural fish resources, can be affected by natural disasters and
poor resource management; welfare of crews and local communities affected by
operations; HIV/Aids in the workplace related to high health-related absenteeism.

Ovanhu empowerment transaction concluded. 800 seasonal workers re-employed in
pilchard cannery. JV with locally empowered Trachurus Fishing continues to perform.
Horse mackerel and pilchard populations recovering, quotas increasing. By-catch remains
low at 1% of total catches. Manica 9001: 2008 compliant for potentially hazardous
materials. Namsov Community Trust invests R3,2 million in local community projects.

Achieving coherence around sustainable business issues in a decentralised
organisation; improving Group measuring systems; constraints on energy supply
per site, increasing energy costs and obtaining basic services; increasingly
stringent environmental standards for buildings. Ontime Automotive impacted
by vehicle emissions, cost of fuel and rising claims culture in the UK.

New intensity measures established. Bidvest Academy graduated 64 and enrolled a
further 68 candidates. Ontime Automotive disposed of 4 200 tonnes of vehicle scrap at
authorised de-pollution site and recycles 4% of total materials used. Corporate runs
employee survey to gauge support for sustainable development. CSI spend up 154%
to R12,2 million.
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Consolidated segmental analysis

For the year ended June 30

Revenue

Trading profit

Operating profit

Trading division

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

Bidvest Freight

15 941 865

18 647 915

(14,5)

794 284

770 742

3,1

794 322

765 779

3,7

7 927 750

8 105 903

(2,2)

1 126 008

1 181 160

(4,7)

1 096 549

1 180 195

(7,1)

58 389 859

59 005 013

(1,0)

2 046 017

1 759 087

16,3

1 964 999

1 488 353

32,0

Europe

35 460 797

36 984 511

(4,1)

897 771

770 634

16,5

816 753

499 900

63,4

Asia Pacific

17 547 642

17 067 597

2,8

729 375

602 533

21,1

729 375

602 533

21,1

5 381 420

4 952 905

8,7

418 871

385 920

8,5

418 871

385 920

8,5

Bidvest Industrial and Commercial

8 643 601

9 290 941

(7,0)

421 286

596 882

(29,4)

421 286

598 413

(29,6)

Bidvest Paperplus

2 091 926

1 933 415

8,2

248 311

224 186

10,8

248 311

224 186

10,8

Bidvest Automotive

17 297 510

15 626 260

10,7

424 102

264 384

60,4

424 102

192 740

120,0

1 949 205

1 616 381

20,6

367 892

294 367

25,0

360 869

294 755

22,4

444 034

727 034

(38,9)

205 850

79 138

160,1

231 959

223 584

3,7

176 637

144 602

22,2

180 628

148 549

21,6

Bidvest Services

Bidvest Foodservice

Southern Africa

Bidvest Namibia

Bidvest Corporate
Bidvest Properties
Ontime Automotive
Corporate

Inter-group eliminations

410 674

703 855

(41,7)

(16 115)

(49 816)

(16 115)

(100 459)

33 360

23 179

43,9

45 328

(15 648)

67 446

175 494

(61,6)

112 685 750

114 952 862

(2,0)

5 633 750

5 169 946

5 542 397

4 968 005

11,6

(2 896 543)

(2 525 031)
(79 054)

(33 377)

(79 054)

(33 377)

5 554 696

5 136 569

5 463 343

4 934 628

Share-based payments
109 789 207

112 427 831

8

(2,3)

9,0

8,1

10,7

Operating assets

Operating liabilities

Depreciation

Amortisation and
impairments
of intangible assets

Capital expenditure

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

3 162 679

2 675 023

18,2

2 089 985

1 811 441

15,4

144 672

143 545

0,8

503 313

285 109

76,5

9 164

10 959

4 935 522

5 850 675

(15,6)

2 574 195

2 049 516

25,6

575 256

504 616

14,0

1 054 756

734 141

43,7

23 057

29 696

12 784 863

12 216 333

4,7

8 786 342

8 733 255

0,6

600 595

557 108

7,8

642 745

788 043

(18,4)

70 017

65 242

6 784 402

6 781 903

–

5 483 203

4 720 553

16,2

405 281

383 110

5,8

314 428

470 388

(33,2)

62 643

58 841

4 232 804

3 777 934

12,0

2 333 212

3 123 603

(25,3)

138 199

123 813

11,6

253 930

231 797

9,5

4 719

3 484

1 767 657

1 656 496

6,7

969 927

889 099

9,1

57 115

50 185

13,8

74 387

85 858

(13,4)

2 655

2 917

3 136 601

3 179 161

(1,3)

1 336 702

1 324 437

0,9

72 214

71 278

1,3

53 124

75 879

(30,0)

8 217

24 545

935 395

994 273

(5,9)

350 971

358 710

(2,2)

49 544

43 338

14,3

37 305

75 779

(50,8)

3 497

2 833

4 286 133

2 913 391

47,1

1 952 455

1 913 047

2,1

85 676

64 597

32,6

103 397

82 956

24,6

–

–

1 012 138

459 806

120,1

399 625

343 341

16,4

39 318

30 211

30,1

313 261

60 562

417,3

8 724

5 763

2 605 877

2 471 024

5,5

155 892

180 701

(13,7)

32 237

61 607

(47,7)

25 390

148 532

(82,9)

2 450

2 658

1 082 830

1 066 534

1,5

5 556

5 537

0,3

4 147

4 720

(12,1)

13 866

115 312

(88,0)

164 268

218 474

(24,8)

62 336

93 035

(33,0)

27 112

55 993

(51,6)

9 289

30 126

(69,2)

1 358 779

1 186 016

14,6

88 000

82 129

7,1

978

894

9,4

2 235

3 094

(27,8)

2 450

2 658

32 859 208

30 759 686

6,8

17 646 167

16 714 448

5,6

1 599 512

1 476 300

8,3

2 733 291

2 251 001

21,4

125 126

141 696

(440 095)

(345 566)

(440 095)

(345 566)

32 419 113

30 414 120

17 206 072

16 368 882

6,6

5,1
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c

Goodwill and intangible
assets

Employee
benefits and remuneration

CO2 emissions*

Number of employees

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

%
change

2010

2009

%
change

2010
tonnes

2009
tonnes

%
change

(16,4)

75 231

67 976

10,7

847 417

904 018

(6,3)

4 860

5 212

(6,7)

71 757

80 947

(11,4)

(22,4)

433 806

371 769

16,7

3 316 631

3 034 302

9,3

62 041

61 470

0,9

102 891

106 714

(3,6)

7,3

5 253 129

3 458 749

51,9

5 236 824

5 515 357

(0,5)

17 804

15 751

13,2

269 913

230 222

17,2

6,5

4 059 707

2 304 879

76,1

3 248 546

3 634 115

(10,6)

10 115

8 474

19,4

141 986

110 274

28,8

35,4

1 163 903

1 134 790

2,6

1 473 101

1 406 143

4,8

4 149

3 623

14,5

70 439

67 377

4,5

(9,0)

29 519

19 080

54,7

515 177

475 099

8,4

3 540

3 654

(3,1)

57 488

52 571

9,4

(66,5)

104 463

88 588

17,9

1 053 809

1 056 494

(0,3)

6 849

7 428

(7,8)

49 103

50 907

(3,5)

23,4

140 291

124 651

12,5

495 150

446 149

11,0

4 368

4 261

2,5

34 234

37 685

(9,2)

238 145

238 145

–

1 226 580

1 213 093

1,1

6 699

6 719

(0,3)

60 648

66 878

(9,3)

51,4

111 495

120 967

(7,8)

315 896

266 504

18,5

2 574

1 998

28,8

97 006

81 912

18,4

(7,8)

3 703

8 391

(55,9)

225 101

348 023

(35,3)

557

610

(8,7)

14 227

21 365

(33,4)

142

142

5 252

6 365

(17,5)

9

8

148 524

284 963

(47,9)

449

489

(8,2)

(7,8)

3 561

8 249

(56,8)

71 325

56 695

25,8

99

113

(12,4)

(11,7)

6 360 263

4 479 236

42,0

12 717 408

12 783 940

(0,5)

105 752

103 449

2,2

699 779

676 630

3,4

62 066

33 377

12 779 474

12 817 317

(0,3)

*The carbon emissions have not been
audited and do not form part of the
independent auditors’ report
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Our global footprint

UNITED
KINGDOM

EUROPE

SOUTHERN AFRICA

Edinburgh

Beira
Windhoek
Walvis Bay

Banbury

Johannesburg

High Wycombe

Durban

London
Cape Town

ASIA AND THE
MIDDLE EAST

Darwin

Brisbane
Perth

Sydney
Auckland

Melbourne

Maputo
Gaborone

Nove Mesto

AUSTRALIA AND
NEW ZEALAND

Blantyre

Harare

Prague

Luxembourg

Lilongwe

Lusaka

Lódz

Thuin
Royton

Lumbumbashi

Szczecin
Ede

Dubai*
Saudi Arabia*

Beijing

Mumbai

Shanghai

Guangzhou
Hong Kong

Shenzen

Hobart
Singapore

*Report into Bidvest Europe
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Kuala Lumpur

Southern Africa

Europe

Asia Pacific

Total

59 266 637
60 196 899
(1,5)

35 871 471
37 688 366
(4,8)

17 547 642
17 067 597
2,8

112 685 750
114 952 862
(2,0)

Trading profit(1)
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

4 027 459
3 852 049
4,6

876 916
715 364
22,6

729 375
602 533
21,1

5 633 750
5 169 946
9,0

Operating profit(1)
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

4 017 123
3 971 485
1,1

795 899
393 987
102,0

729 375
602 533
21,1

5 542 397
4 968 005
11,6

Operating assets
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

21 665 266
19 967 062
8,5

6 961 139
7 014 690
(0,8)

4 232 803
3 777 934
12,0

32 859 208
30 759 686
6,8

Operating liabilities
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

9 763 565
8 768 656
11,3

5 549 390
4 822 189
15,1

2 333 212
3 123 603
(25,3)

17 646 167
16 714 448
5,6

Depreciation
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

1 028 920
913 384
12,6

432 393
439 103
(1,5)

138 199
123 813
11,6

1 599 512
1 476 300
8,3

Capital expenditure
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

2 155 509
1 518 689
41,9

323 852
500 515
(35,3)

253 930
231 797
9,5

2 733 291
2 251 001
21,4

57 760
79 371
(27,2)

62 647
58 841
6,5

4 719
3 484
35,4

125 126
141 696
(11,7)

Goodwill and intangible assets
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

1 136 653
1 039 567
9,3

4 059 707
2 304 879
76,1

1 163 903
1 134 790
2,6

6 360 263
4 479 236
42,0

Employee benefits and remuneration
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

7 844 056
7 442 663
5,4

3 400 251
3 935 134
(13,6)

1 473 101
1 406 143
4,8

12 717 408
12 783 940
(0,5)

91 033
90 813
0,2

10 570
9 013
17,3

4 149
3 623
14,5

105 752
103 449
2,2

473 975
479 531
(1,2)

155 365
129 722
19,8

70 439
67 377
4,5

699 779
676 630
3,4

5,2
5,3

14,7
14,4

17,0
18,6

6,6
6,5

Revenue
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
2010 (R’000)
2009
% change

Number of employees
2010
2009
% change
Carbon emissions
2010 (tonnes)
2009
% change
Carbon emissions per employee
2010 (tonnes)
2009
(1)

Excluding share-based payments
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Group financial history

In accordanc
19-year
10-year
compound
compound
growth rates growth rates
% per annum % per annum
(1)

Extract from financial statements (R’m)
Revenue
Trading profit
Net finance cost
Attributable profit
Shareholders’ interest
Total assets
Net debt
Funds employed
Cash generated by operations
Wealth created by trading operations(12)
Employee benefits and remuneration
Share statistics
Headline earnings per share (cents)(3)
Distribution per share (cents)(4)
Distribution cover (times)(4)
Distribution yield (%)
Earnings yield (%)
Net tangible asset value per share (cents)
Share price (cents)
high
low
closing (June 30)
Net market capitalisation (R’m)(5)
Volumes traded (R’m)
Volumes traded as % of weighted number of shares

34,2%
30,5%

15,3%
16,4%

32,1%

14,2%

29,4%

18,2%

36,0%
32,4%

20,1%
16,9%

21,7%
21,0%

13,2%
11,1%

19,5%

12,0%

22,0%
29,9%

Ratios and statistics
Return on total shareholders’ interest (%)
Return on average funds employed (%)(6)
Trading profit margin (%)
Interest cover(11)
Debt equity ratio (%)(10)
Current asset ratio
Quick asset ratio
Number of employees
Revenue per employee (R’000)
Value added per employee (R’000)
Number of shares in issue (’000)(7)
Number of weighted shares in issue (’000)(7)
Consumer price index (%)(8)

7,8%(9)

Exchange rate comparisons
Rand/sterling
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/euro
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/Australian dollar
Closing rate
Average rate

10,0%
11,1%

7,4%(9)

2010

2009

2008

109 789
5 555
758
3 345
16 737
43 345
3 863
15 213
7 984
21 465
12 779

112 428
5 137
1 029
2 802
13 929
38 484
4 072
13 924
6 749
20 708
12 817

110 478
5 335
931
3 253
13 468
41 861
5 547
14 503
6 087
19 595
11 701

1 070,0
432,0
2,5
3,5
8,8
3 253

930,0
380,0
2,4
3,9
9,6
2 527

1 068,0
495,0
2,2
5,0
10,9
2 803

14 664
9 250
12 189
38 884
285 279
90,7

11 808
7 750
9 674
29 505
243 051
80,6

15 100
9 400
9 838
29 571
265 157
87,5

24,0
38,7
5,1
7,4
23,1
1,1
0,7
105 752
1 038,2
203,0
319 006
314 510
4,2

20,8
36,4
4,6
5,0
29,2
1,1
0,7
103 449
1 086,8
200,2
304 995
301 462
9,9

30,6
48,6
4,8
5,7
41,2
1,1
0,7
106 225
1 040,0
184,5
300 576
303 159
9,6

11,53
12,05

13,02
14,47

15,89
14,64

9,34
10,60

11,05
12,35

12,51
10,76

6,56
6,71

6,34
6,67

7,66
6,56

Notes
(1)
Based on growth from 1991 the first year of Bidvest in its current form.
(2)
Information for the periods 2000 to 2004 has not been restated on the adoption of IFRS in the 2005 year and is provided for information and comparative purposes only.
(3)
Based on weighted average number of shares in issue.
(4)
Includes interim distributions paid and final distributions approved after year-end. Distributions include capitalisation issues at market value, distributions of share premium
and dividends.
(5)
Market capitalisation is shown net of treasury shares. Total market capitalisation was R42,7 billion (2009: R32,5 billion).
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ce with IFRS

In terms of previous GAAP(2)

(6)
(7)
(8)

(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

95 656
4 547
566
2 700
10 626
32 848
3 764
10 658
4 237
16 777
9 967

77 276
3 657
342
2 389
8 929
27 994
1 452
7 456
4 490
14 049
8 311

62 812
3 046
285
1 961
7 469
21 123
989
6 093
4 200
11 955
7 304

51 262
2 544
169
1 532
5 998
18 021
674
5 345
3 761
10 231
6 512

47 073
2 240
111
1 335
5 353
14 592
–
4 577
2 667
9 247
6 091

41 950
2 013
80
1 231
5 564
15 117
–
4 577
2 752
7 441
4 995

29 415
1 422
–
1 035
3 860
9 742
–
3 178
1 559
5 080
3 411

26 428
1 215
–
884
3 029
8 135
–
3 231
1 283
4 516
3 065

970,0
446,4
2,2
3,2
6,9
2 135

804,6
369,0
2,2
3,7
8,1
1 814

656,4
306,0
2,1
4,2
9,0
1 542

544,0
250,2
2,2
4,8
10,4
1 330

463,5
220,0
2,1
5,1
10,8
1 549

432,8
190,0
2,3
4,1
9,4
1 569

365,2
169,2
2,2
3,4
7,3
1 186

309,7
150,3
2,1
3,2
6,6
1 046

14 780
9 430
14 123
42 772
233 306
77,7

11 650
7 200
9 875
29 541
206 156
68,7

8 100
5 195
7 270
21 768
166 720
55,1

5 620
4 100
5 250
16 570
160 233
53,3

4 800
3 970
4 300
13 462
156 731
50,9

5 200
3 980
4 600
14 316
125 566
42,0

5 200
4 075
5 010
14 821
99 096
34,0

6 550
3 620
4 680
13 555
104 122
36,1

30,2
50,2
4,8
8,0
35,4
1,1
0,7
104 184
918,1
161,0
302 852
300 206
5,9

32,0
54,0
4,7
10,7
16,3
1,1
0,8
93 325
828,0
150,5
299 154
299 976
3,8

31,8
53,5
4,8
10,7
13,2
1,1
0,7
89 737
700,0
133,2
299 421
302 700
2,6

28,6
53,6
5,0
15,1
11,2
1,1
0,8
81 931
625,7
124,9
302 156
300 643
1,6

24,0
48,9
4,8
20,2
–
1,3
1,0
70 754
665,3
130,7
302 679
308 116
10,4

31,9
56,8
4,8
25,1
–
1,2
0,9
66 879
627,3
111,3
311 217
299 089
6,0

34,2
43,6
4,8
3 637,4
–
1,2
0,9
54 251
542,2
93,6
295 821
291 599
6,6

29,6
41,7
4,6
–
–
1,1
0,8
50 941
518,8
88,6
289 638
288 554
3,3

14,18
13,95

13,20
11,44

11,96
11,53

11,29
11,94

12,46
14,29

15,91
14,54

11,34
11,01

10,26
10,06

9,54
9,41

9,16
7,82

8,07
7,89

7,57
8,19

8,60
9,40

6,01
5,67

5,31
4,81

5,09
4,67

4,32
4,89

5,03
5,21

5,26
5,86

4,10
4,04

4,07
3,94

Return on average funds employed is calculated using the weighted average of the Group’s funds employed and trading income.
The number of shares in issue has been adjusted for treasury shares.
South African Consumer Price index: an inflationary indicator that measures the change in the cost of a fixed basket of products and services including
housing, electricity, food and transportation. The CPI is published monthly.
Average CPI.
Debt equity ratio is the net debt of the Group divided by shareholders’ interest.
Interest cover is the trading income divided by net finance costs
Net of impairments
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History

This summary puts our financial history into context.
2010

2000

The Nowaco Group, foodservice businesses operating in
Czech Republic, Slovakia and Poland were acquired for €250
million.

Acquisition of Island View Storage. Banking licence granted to
Rennies Bank and 77% of I-Fusion acquired. Bidvest plc enters
the New Zealand foodservice market with the acquisition of Crean
Foodservice, renamed Crean First for Foodservice.

2009

1999

The Bidvest business model was tested by the worst economy in its
21-year history and has risen to the challenge of the “new normal”.

Booker Foodservice, renamed 3663 First for Foodservice, acquired
by Bidvest plc. Acquisition of Rennies Group.

2008

1998

R1,5 billion raised via domestic loan. Viamax acquisition concluded.
Revenue exceeds R100 billion for the first time. First carbon
footprint analysis prepared.

Bidvest plc, incorporating Bidvest Australia, was created with dual
listings in Australia and Luxembourg. Acquisition of Lithotech.

2007

100% of Waltons Group acquired, Bid Corporation unbundled and
Bidvest incorporated into the JSE industrial index.

Acquired 100% of Angliss, a leading foodservice wholesaler and
distributor in Singapore, Hong Kong and China. Negotiations finalised
to acquire Viamax Holdings. Rennies Bank renamed Bidvest Bank.
Black economic empowerment partnership with Dinatla Consortium
refinanced and extended for five years. A R4,5 billion domestic mediumterm note programme set up.

1997

1996
Empowerment programmes begin with Women Investment
Portfolio Holdings and Worldwide African Investment Holdings each
acquiring a 5% shareholding in Bid Corporation.

2006

1995

Acquired 100% of Netherlands foodservice company, Deli XL and a
controlling stake in Horeca Trade, a small Dubai-based foodservice
distributor. Concluded sale of Dartline Shipping for GBP58,9 million
(R650 million) and loss-making Lithotech France. Global footprint
expanded through investment to develop and operate Mumbai
International Airport. Non-executive component of the board
strengthened.

First steps to international expansion taken – 50,1% of Australian
Stock Exchange-listed Manettas acquired and renamed Bidvest
Australia.

2005

Safcor Freight acquired – the start of Bidfreight. Prestige Cleaning
Services acquired and grouped with Steiner to form Bidserv.

Cyril Ramaphosa takes the reins as chairman. Successful buyout of
Bidcorp plc minority interest. Acquisition of 20% of Tiger Wheels.
G. Fox acquired.

2004
R2,1 billion BEE transaction for 15% of Bidvest with Dinatla
finalised. McCarthy, South Africa’s second largest motor retailer,
acquired for R980 million. Acquisition of minority interests of Bidvest
plc.

1994
Rights offer raises R300 million, 10-for-1 share subdivision.

1993

1992
Crown Food Holdings acquired and merged with National Spice to
form Crown National.

1991
Acquisition of Steiner Services – beginning of the hygiene services
business.

2003

1990

The Bidvest Academy, a Group training and development
programme, launched. Ground-breaking black economic
empowerment initiative with Dinatla Investment Holdings
announced. Danel acquired and renamed Lithotech France. Small
strategic foodservice acquisitions in the United Kingdom, Australian
and New Zealand markets.

Bid Corporation becomes the pyramid holding company of Bidvest.

2002

1989
Acquisition of Afcom.

1988
Chipkins, the first acquisition, followed shortly thereafter by Sea
World. The start of Bidfood.

Acquisition of 56,7% of LSE-listed Jacobs Holdings plc, which
was renamed Bidcorp plc. Paragon acquired and merged with
Lithotech. Remaining 68% of Voltex acquired to form part of the
Commercial Products division. The minority shareholding in I-Fusion
acquired.

2001
John Lewis Foodservice acquired and incorporated into Bidvest
Australia, creating the leading foodservice distributor in Australia.
The Group-wide area network, Bidnet, developed by I-Fusion.
mymarket.com, Bidvest’s e-commerce initiative, launched.
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Directorate

Executive directors
Non-executive chairman

Bernard Larry Berson

Myron Cyril Berzack

Matamela Cyril Ramaphosa (57)
BProc

Non-executive chairman, appointed July 6 2004.

Executive chairman of Shanduka Group (Pty) Limited.
Joint non-executive chairman of Mondi plc and
non-executive chairman of MTN Group Limited and
SASRIA Limited. Non-executive director of SAB
Miller plc, Lonmin plc, Macsteel Global BV, Alexander
Forbes Equity Holdings Limited and The Standard
Bank Group Limited. He is a member of United
Nations Global Leadership group which advises the
secretary general’s special representative on business
and human rights. Cyril is the past chairman of the
Black Economic Empowerment Commission and has
received several honorary doctorates.
Board committee membership: nominations

Chief executive

David Edward Cleasby

Anthony William Dawe

Bernard Larry Berson (45)
Australian CA

Chief executive of Bidvest Foodservice, appointed October 27 2003.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Bernard has 23 years of international
financial, administrative and management experience in numerous industries,
the past 15 years in the Australian, New Zealand, Asian and European
foodservice industries.
Board committee membership: Group executive, risk and sustainability

Myron Cyril Berzack (61)
Chief executive of Bidvest Industrial and Commercial, appointed April 29 2002.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Non-executive director of Allied
Electronics Corporation Limited and Amalgamated Appliances Limited. Myron
has 41 years’ experience in the electrical industry, specialising in marketing,
distribution, financial control and reporting functions.

Brian Joffe (63)

CA(SA)

Chief executive, appointed March 1 1989.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Since
founding Bid Corporation in 1988, Brian served as
executive chairman until his appointment as chief
executive in 2004. He has over 32 years of South
African and international commercial experience. He
was one of the Sunday Times’ top five businessmen
in 1992 and is a past recipient of the Jewish
Business Achiever of the Year award. Listed as one
of the Top 100 Africans of the Year in the Africa
Almanac in 2001. Brian was voted South Africa’s
Top Manager of the Year in 2002 in the Corporate
Research Foundation’s publication “South Africa’s
Leading Managers” and represented South Africa at
the coveted “Ernst & Young World Entrepreneur of
the Year” award in 2003. Voted the Sunday Times’
Businessman of the Year in 2007. Awarded an
honorary doctorate in May 2008 by Unisa. Selected
in 2010 by WBS (Wits Business School) Journal as
one of South Africa’s top 25 business leaders, having
made a significant impact on business in South Africa
over the last five years.

Board committee membership: Group executive, South African executive, risk and
sustainability, acquisition, transformation

David Edward Cleasby (48)
CA(SA)

Group financial director, appointed July 9 2007.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries and associate companies. David
was financial director of Rennies Terminals when Bidvest acquired Rennies
in 1998. In 2001, he joined the Bidvest corporate office, where he has been
involved in both Group corporate finance and investor relations. David was
appointed as an alternate director to Peter Nyman on June 28 2006 and
appointed Group financial director on July 9 2007.
Board committee membership: Group executive, South African executive, risk and
sustainability, sustainability, acquisition

Anthony William Dawe (44)
CA(SA)

Chief executive of Bidvest Freight, appointed June 28 2006.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Anthony has 16 years’ experience in
the freight industry with most of those years focused in the South African port
environment. Prior to this, Anthony’s finance experience was in London and for
one of the large accounting firms in South Africa.
Board committee membership: Group executive, South African executive, risk and
sustainability, transformation

Board committee membership: Group executive (chairman),
South African executive (chairman), risk and sustainability,
acquisition, nominations and transformation
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Peter Nyman

Lionel Isaac Jacobs

Sybrand Gerhardus Pretorius

Lindsay Peter Ralphs

Alan Charles Salomon

Lionel Isaac Jacobs (66)
BCom, MBA

Commercial director Bidvest Services, appointed August 20 2003.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries, Bassap Investments (Pty) Limited and Dinatla Investment
Holdings (Pty) Limited. Lionel is an entrepreneur with extensive negotiating and investment skills and
established Bassap Investments (Pty) Limited, a core shareholder in the Dinatla Consortium, to further
his commitment to the principles of black economic empowerment.
Board committee membership: South African executive, transformation (chairman)

Peter Nyman (65)
CA(SA), HDip Tax Law
Executive director, appointed February 1 1991.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Peter, the previous financial director, has been an executive
director of the Group for nearly 20 years. Chairman of the trustees of the Quantum Medical Aid Society,
Bidcorp Group Pension Fund and Bidcorp Group Provident Fund. Peter has extensive local and
international financial experience in a diverse range of industries, specialising in tax.
Board committee membership: South African executive, risk and sustainability

Sybrand Gerhardus Pretorius (62)
MCom (Business Economics)

Chief executive of Bidvest Automotive, appointed February 19 2004.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Prior to joining McCarthy Limited In 1995, Brand was
the managing director of Toyota SA Marketing (Pty) Limited. He currently serves as a non-executive
director on the boards of Absa Group Limited, the National Business Initiative, University of Stellenbosch
Business School and READ Educational Trust. He holds honorary professorships at both the University
of the Free State and the University of Johannesburg.
Board committee membership: Group executive, South African executive, risk and sustainability, transformation

Lindsay Peter Ralphs (54)
CA(SA)

Chief executive of Bidvest Services, appointed May 10 1992.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Lindsay joined Bidvest as operations director in 1992. In 1994
he was appointed managing director of Steiner and following the acquisition of Prestige to form Bidserv,
appointed its chief executive.
Board committee membership: Group executive, South African executive, risk and sustainability, acquisition,
transformation

Alan Charles Salomon (61)

CA(SA), BSc (London) (with honours)

Executive director, appointed September 10 1990.

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries and managing director of Bidvest Bank. Alan has 31 years’
experience in the fields of manufacturing, distribution and treasury management.
Board committee membership: South African executive, risk and sustainability
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Directorate

Non-executive directors

Frederick John Barnes

Rachel Mathabo Kunene

Alfred Anthony da Costa

Tania Slabbert

Frederick John Barnes (59)
British
The previous chief executive of Bidvest Europe and 3663 First for Foodservice. Fred has extensive
international foodservice and distribution experience.
Alfred Anthony da Costa (45)
BCom (Hons)

Appointed December 8 2003. Director of the IQUAD Group Limited, chairman of the board of
RGT Smart Limited, Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, executive chairman of Ukuvula
Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, council member of the University of South Africa and president of
the Port Elizabeth Chamber of Commerce and Industry. He is also a director of various subsidiary and
associate companies of the Ukuvula Group. Alfred has 20 years’ experience in top management.

Rachel Mathabo Kunene (70)
BA (English Lit) (UCLA)

Appointed December 8 2003. Chairman of PMB Petroleum Services (Pty) Limited. Director of Dinatla
Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, NPMS Energy (Pty) Limited, Ikhwezi Lomso Laundries (Pty) Limited
and Ilembe Airport Construction Services (Pty) Limited. Trustee of Isigodlo Trust (South African Women
In Dialogue) and the Mazisi Kunene Foundation Trust. Mathabo is an executive director of Nandi Heritage
(Pty) Limited, which is a shareholder in Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited.

Tania Slabbert (43)
BA, MBA

Appointed December 8 2003. Non-executive director of BP South Africa (Pty) Limited, Discovery
Holdings (Pty) Limited, Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited and the Business Women’s Association.
Since 2001, Tania has been the chief executive officer of WDB Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, a
company that funds the small businesses of over 47 000 rural female entrepreneurs across South Africa.
Board committee membership: nominations, transformation
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Independent non-executive directors

Douglas Denoon Balharrie Band

Stephen Koseff

Lilian Garner Boyle

Nkateko Peter Mageza

Muriel Betty Nicolle Dube

Donald Masson

Douglas Denoon Balharrie Band (66)
BCom, CA(SA)

Appointed October 27 2003. Non-executive director of The Standard Bank Group Limited, Myriad
International Holdings B.V. and MTN Group Limited. Doug has extensive experience in both commerce
and industry and has served in an executive position in various blue-chip listed companies.
Board committee membership: Chairman of the remuneration, acquisition and nominations committees

Lilian Garner Boyle (63)
British

MA, Econ (Glasgow), MBA

Non-executive director, appointed January 23 2001. Non-executive director of South African Express
Airways and the South African Bank Note Company (Pty) Limited. Lilian has 41 years of diverse business
experience including seven years in the freight management industry and 20 years in the travel industry.

Muriel Betty Nicolle Dube (37)
BA (Hons), MSc (Oxon), Finance Executive Programme (SAID, Oxford), Executive Programme (Harvard).

Appointed October 27 2003. Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Muriel has senior strategic
management and operational experience in the public sector and with multi-nationals in the private
sector. She currently serves as executive director of LEMCO, an environmental advisory services firm
headquartered in London.

Stephen Koseff (59)
BCom, CA(SA), HDip BDP, MBA

Appointed June 17 1997. Chief executive officer of Investec Limited and Investec plc.
Stephen has 34 years of financial experience and is the recipient of numerous business awards. He is a
former member of the Financial Markets Advisory Board and former chairman of the Independent Banks
Association. He is the current chairman of the Banking Association. His directorships include Rensburg
Sheppards plc.

Nkateko Peter Mageza (55)
ACCA (UK)

Appointed August 28 2009. Former group chief operations officer and executive director of Absa Group
Limited. Peter started his career within the audit environment at Coopers & Lybrand and worked as an
audit manager within Transnet Limited’s group internal audit services. He became chief executive officer
of Autonet in 1995, the road passenger and freight logistics division of Transnet. Peter is a director of
Sappi Group Limited, MTN Group Limited, Rainbow Chicken Limited and Remgro Group Limited.
Board committee membership: audit

Donald Masson (79)
ACIS

Appointed March 10 1992. Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries, Cashbuild Limited, Valley Irrigation
Limited and Kumnandi Food Corporation. Trustee of various pension funds. Donald is a former president
of the Afrikaanse Handelsinstituut and a former member of the President’s Economic Advisory Council
and chairman of the SA Post Office. He has 43 years of diverse business experience in senior executive
positions at listed, unlisted and parastatal organisations.
Board committee membership: audit, risk and sustainability, remuneration, acquisition
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Directorate

Independent non-executive directors

Joseph Leon Pamensky

Adv Faith Dikeledi Pansy Tlakula

Nigel George Payne

Joseph Leon Pamensky (80)
CA(SA), OMSG

Appointed January 8 1990. Director of Schindler Lifts (SA) (Pty) Limited and Worldwide African
Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited and Stonehage Financial Services (Pty) Limited and Chairman of
Bidvest Bank Limited. Joe is the longest serving non-executive director of Bidvest with over 52 years’
experience in the financial, insurance and banking industries and the recipient of a number of business
and public awards. He serves as a non-executive director of companies and is a member of a number
of audit and remuneration committees. Originally also a director of Bid Corporation Limited.
Board committee membership: audit, remuneration, acquisition, nominations

Nigel George Payne (50)
BCom (Hons), CA(SA), MBL

Appointed June 28 2006. Director of a number of companies including the JSE Limited, Mr Price
Limited, Glenrand MIB Limited and BSi Steel Limited. Nigel is a leading authority on corporate
governance and risk management and is a member of the King Committee.
Board committee membership: Chairman of the audit, and the risk and sustainability committees

Adv Faith Dikeledi Pansy Tlakula (53)
BProc, LLB, LLM (Harvard)

Appointed June 28 2006. Chief electoral officer of the Independent Electoral Commission. Director of
Lehotsa Holdings (Pty) Limited, MMRT (Pty) Limited and Khomanani Women’s Investment (Pty) Limited,
Chairperson of Board of the National Credit Regulator and Chancellor of the Vaal University of
Technology. Pansy is a member of the African Commission on Human and Peoples Rights, part of
the African Union, for which she is the Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression and Access
to Information in Africa.
Board committee membership: transformation

Alternate non-executive director

Lebogang Joseph Mokoena (51)
BSc (Med Sci), MBA

Appointed as alternate to AA da Costa on December 8 2003. Non-executive director of Ten Alliance
Holdings (Pty) Limited, Sesiu Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, Bloemfontein Correctional Contracts
(Pty) Limited, Culca Investments (Pty) Limited, Lumumba Capital Investments (Pty) Limited and Dinatla
Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited. Currently Chairman of Bloemfontein Correctional Contracts (Pty)
Limited. Lebogang has a number of years’ experience as a director of private companies. Over the years
he provided management consultancy services to SMMEs, the public and private sectors. In recent years
he devoted most of his time to investment management and strategy development.
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Committees
Group executive committee

Remuneration committee

B Joffe (chairman), BL Berson, MC Berzack, DE Cleasby,

DDB Band (chairman), D Masson, JL Pamensky

AW Dawe, SG Pretorius, LP Ralphs

Acquisition committee
South African executive committee

DDB Band (chairman), MC Berzack, DE Cleasby, B Joffe,

B Joffe (chairman), MC Berzack, NW Birch, DE Cleasby, AW Dawe,

D Masson, JL Pamensky, LP Ralphs

LI Jacobs, L Madikizela, P Nyman, SG Pretorius, LP Ralphs,
AC Salomon, SA Thwala

Nominations committee
DDB Band (chairman), B Joffe, JL Pamensky, MC Ramaphosa,

Audit committee

T Slabbert

NG Payne (chairman), D Masson, NP Mageza, JL Pamensky

Transformation committee
Risk and sustainability committee

LI Jacobs (chairman), MC Berzack, NW Birch, AW Dawe,

NG Payne (chairman), BL Berson, MC Berzack, NW Birch,

MJ Finger, B Joffe, GC McMahon, M Notrica, SG Pretorius,

DE Cleasby, AW Dawe, B Joffe, D Masson, M Notrica, P Nyman,

LP Ralphs, CE Singer, T Slabbert, SA Thwala, FDP Tlakula,

SG Pretorius, LP Ralphs, AC Salomon, CE Singer, BM Varcoe

BM Varcoe

Sustainability committee (subcommittee of the risk
and sustainability committee)
JE Hochfeld (chairman), H Angove, I Botha, DE Cleasby,
DL Gillfillan, M Hodgson, RJ Licht, NJ Mbongwa, S Duncalf,
HP Meijer, C Rostowsky, J Russill, R Stanley, B Smith

Board composition
Male
Female
Total
White
Black

Number

%

19

79,2

5

20,8

24

100,0

17

70,8

7

29,2

Total

24

100,0

Local

22

91,7

•

Foreign based

2

8,3

Total

24

100,0

Executive

10

41,7

Non-executive

5

20,8

Independent non-executive

9

37,5

24

100,0

Total
Indicates African, Indian and coloured in terms of the DTI Codes

•
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Individually
we sparkle
together we shine
At Bidvest individual talents fuse with the dynamics of an
organisation that comprises many diverse companies and
constellations. Thoughts turn into action, ideas become
benchmarks and new stars are born.

26
29
30
36

Chairman’s review
External appraisals
Chief executive’s statement
Financial director’s review
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Chairman’s review

Introduction

conditions. The UK and continental Europe

recent years, the search for value has

Recovery is officially under way in most

have a long way to go before shaking off

taken us to Asia, the Middle East and more

international markets. However, Bidvest’s

the after-effects of recession. Challenges

recently emerging Europe. Results to date

much-improved performance should not

are also evident in Australia and New

justify the priority we gave these regions.

be seen simply as the product of more

Zealand, though sustained recovery

That does not mean we have turned our

favourable economic conditions.

appears to be under way in Asia.

back on Africa.

in which Bidvest is represented. The sole

Re-imagining Africa

We continually scan sub-Saharan

exception is Asia.

Continuing reverberations from the

jurisdictions for possible openings. When

international financial crisis have had a

we identify the right partners and the right

The move out of recession has been

notable side-effect – a thorough reappraisal

value proposition, we will not be afraid to

hesitant. This is the recovery no one quite

of Africa, its progress and potential.

seek “frontier market growth”.

Previously, international concern about

South Africa

Bidvest teams performed wonders by

sovereign debt and dubious reporting

Our domestic market officially moved out

achieving a substantial turnaround on last

tended to centre on sub-Saharan Africa.

of recession in the first quarter of the

year when operational results and headline

Today, there is broad recognition that

Bidvest year, but at an annualised 0,9% few

earnings per share came under severe

fundamental change is taking place. Africa

noticed. By the opening quarter of calendar

pressure. It was a strong performance and

has upped its game. Talk sovereign risk

2010, annualised growth of 4,6% was

I congratulate my colleagues on the

in 2009/10 and the chances are you are

reported, yet unemployment continued to

achievement. As a result, our final

discussing Greece, Ireland, Portugal and

rise.

distribution to shareholders rose by

Spain rather than Africa.

Challenges persist in almost every region

believes in; at least, not yet.

Job losses and a household debt-to-

18,4% to 225,0 cents.
So-called “frontier markets” to our north

income ratio close to 80% help explain the

Strength in diversity

bounced back from the international crisis

challenge faced by Bidvest’s South African

Results such as this are only possible by

a lot faster than some. Many now report

businesses. Consumers are still hard

working together. Unity of purpose certainly

continued growth.

pressed and sales projections are looking
flat.

characterises the Bidvest universe, yet our
workforce is one of the most diverse in the

Namibian success

world.

What about Bidvest in Africa? Bidvest

Growing jobs

Namibia listed on the Namibian Stock

Regrettably some jobs were lost at Bidvest

This fact was underlined earlier in the

Exchange on October 26, with new

as we had to streamline operations for a

year when we formally introduced our

Namibian owners and strong local

new future, but we still grew more jobs than

Nowaco and Farutex colleagues to

empowerment partners firmly in place.

we shed. Last year’s staff complement

the rest of Bidvest. To ensure everyone

The listing was a huge success and Bidvest

stood at 103 449. By year-end it was up

understood how happy we were to

Namibia is looking to significantly grow the

to 105 752.

greet them and how we embrace

business in its home market. Bidvest is also

diversity, key articles in Bidvoice, our

interested in further growth across

We also increased training investments –

Group magazine, were translated into

sub-Saharan Africa.

up from R209,8 million to R242,0 million.
In the process, we prioritised South African

Polish, Czech, Slovakian, French,

Scanning sub-Sahara

training spend to ensure the development

In the past, some have criticised Bidvest

of critical skills within historically

It’s often said of South Africa that we’re

for not investing more in Africa. This had

disadvantaged groups.

the world in one country. Bidvest is rapidly

nothing to do with Afro-pessimism. We

becoming the world in one company. At

believe in Africa’s potential. We look at

In South Africa, BEE continued to be

every step of the way we prove there’s

various markets to our north, note the

an integral part of our business and

strength in diversity.

growth of a new middle class and

these companies achieved major BEE

burgeoning demand for services and

improvements. Every second procurement

are greatly encouraged.

rand is now spent with a BEE supplier.

Flemish and Dutch.

International markets

Independent audit confirms that Bidvest is

Certainly, our diversified international
businesses made a strong contribution,

Internationalisation at Bidvest is driven

a level 4 contributor with unconstrained

despite generally adverse trading

largely by our foodservice interests. In

operational capacity. This means that
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Bidvest is now a 100% contributor to BEE
and our suppliers can claim full BEE

Highlights

expenditure points when doing business

 Hesitant macro-recovery, but strong Bidvest rebound

with us.

 Distribution to shareholders of 225,0 cents, up 18,4%
 Bidvest Namibia off to great start as an NSX-listed company

2010 FIFA World CupTM effects

 We boost staff complement to 106 000 despite tough trading conditions

Despite job and debt worries, South

 Continued people investment takes training spend to R242,0 million

Africans were determined to be perfect

 Every second South African procurement rand now spent with a BEE supplier

hosts for the 2010 FIFA World CupTM.

 Sustained effort shines through across Bidvest

Unfortunately, initial estimates of the

 External measurement of Bidvest highly positive

number of foreign visitors were not realised,

 Our people eager to embed sustainable business practice

largely as a result of international belttightening in the immediate aftermath of
recession. Those who made the trip were
bowled over by the reception, the facilities,

year drew to a close. Ultimately, strikes

for business today. Humankind currently

infrastructure and the natural beauty of our

affected schools, hospitals and other

exploits the resources of 1,3 planets with

wonderful country.

services.

little thought for replenishment.

South Africa’s international image was

The 2010 FIFA World CupTM created a

We have to interrogate how we do

greatly improved and it was highly satisfying

sense that a new dawn was breaking. It is

business and exploit relationships and

to see Africa and the entire world

imperative we work together and capitalise

resources, not only to turn a profit today,

celebrating with us. African pride and

on this positive mood and can-do attitude.

but to store goodwill and natural bounty for

self-belief soared.

generations to follow. We must look after

Sustainable development

the general environment the way we look

Challenges

Two years ago, we defined sustainable

after the environment in our own homes,

Here in South Africa, the challenge is

development at Bidvest as a fresh way of

with care.

to maintain the team spirit and draw

thinking that inspires and enables a new

continued benefit from restored morale.

generation of entrepreneurs to create

When such a philosophy harnesses

This may not always be easy.

business value that integrates evolving

Bidvest’s people-power, opportunities

financial, social and environmental needs

materialise and projects are launched to

and expectations.

strengthen our competitive position. Our

Labour relations in South Africa’s public

people internalise issues, make them

sector have deteriorated. Transport workers
engaged in a long and costly strike.

Change continues. Influential bodies like

their own and drive them until targets

Threatened strikes at Eskom were averted

the King III committee encourage long-term

are achieved.

by a settlement well above inflation. Pay

thinking as short-term actions have

negotiations with public sector workers

long-term impact. Yesterday’s profligate

Bidvest people have now reached the

became increasingly acrimonious as our

lending still has profound consequences

stage where they are taking personal
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control of sustainability initiatives. This

External measurement

was recently confirmed by our employee

Performance is closely monitored by all our

sustainability engagement survey.

businesses. We set great store by internal
benchmarking, but we are just as keen to

Research showed that our people are

learn what external parties think of us.

eager to embed sustainable business
practices into their activities. They want

Numerous and varied awards, appraisals

to be involved and want to make a

and accolades were granted to Bidvest and

difference.

our chief executive. Bidvest was ranked
37th of the world’s top companies, the JSE

This is just what the board wanted to hear.

reaffirmed our status as a founding

Our businesses have been collating

constituent of the JSE Socially Responsible

sustainability data for several years while

Investment Index, we received reporting

building awareness of the need to cultivate

and transformation awards and our chief

diversity, nurture customers, practise ethical

executive was named one of South Africa’s

behaviour, reduce, reuse and recycle

top 25 business leaders. Details of these

resources.

awards and others are provided on the
facing page.

Our people in the UK and Europe work in
jurisdictions where environmental impacts

Future

are rigorously regulated. They don’t merely

Economic recovery may or may not gather

comply, they lead. Their experience is now

traction in the year ahead. It appears

being shared to avoid duplication while

prudent to expect patchy performance

fast-tracking smart solutions.

across Bidvest geographies. Diversification
will enable us to capture the upside where

I am happy to report progress was

it occurs while using local initiative to

maintained in a year of huge recessionary

minimise impacts in markets that achieve

pressure. Our people are proud to belong

no or low growth.

to a company committed to sustainable
business practice. It’s part of being

Bidvest’s 2010 rebound moves us

Proudly Bidvest.

marginally above the peaks of two years
ago. Our teams are highly motivated and

On a mission

poised for further gains. Investment has

There’s no such thing as Mission Control

been maintained in people and

at Bidvest. Our teams are encouraged to

infrastructure. I have every confidence

reach for the stars in their own way.

Bidvest will secure real growth in the year
ahead.

The Group attitude is summed up by an old
advertising industry watchword – if you
reach for the stars, you might not quite get
one, but you won’t end up with a handful
of mud, either.
That philosophy has come into play as
never before. Some businesses achieved

Cyril Ramaphosa

record profits, some came close. Others

Non-executive chairman

were thwarted by adverse conditions. But
sustained effort shone through wherever
you looked.
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External appraisals
BusinessWeek top company ranking
Bidvest was ranked 37th on BusinessWeek’s list of the world’s top 40 companies, one of only three South African companies to feature on the list.
The global rankings were published by management consulting firm AT Kearney and BusinessWeek.
Forbes Global 2000 – the world’s 2 000 largest public companies
Forbes Global 2000 is a list of the world’s largest and most influential companies in terms of US dollars based on a composite ranking which includes
sales, market value, assets and profits. Bidvest is currently ranked 969th.
Empowerment rating 2010
Bidvest, a level 4 contributor, with an unconstrained operational capacity, has a verified rating from Empowerdex.
Credit ratings
Fitch Ratings affirmed Bidvest’s national long-term rating at A+(A plus)(zaf) with a stable outlook and short-term rating at F1(zaf). A+ (zaf) ratings
denote a strong credit risk relative to other issuers in the same country.
Moody’s Investors Service assigned Bidvest a first-time national scale short-term rating of P-1.ZA and an A1.ZA national scale long-term issuer rating,
with a stable outlook.
JSE Social Responsibility Investment Index
Based on an assessment of the Group’s policies, performance and reporting on economic, social and environmental sustainability, the JSE has
reaffirmed Bidvest as a founding constituent of the SRI Index. Bidvest, one of 30 best performers out of 109 listed companies included in the
research, is one of 67 constituents of the index. Bidvest was assessed as having a low environmental impact. The index is the first of its kind in an
emerging market and the first to be launched by a stock exchange.
Carbon Disclosure Project 2009
The United Nations-sponsored Carbon Disclosure Project provides investors with information about carbon emissions and climate change exposure
of the world’s major corporations. Bidvest’s disclosure was ranked second in South Africa.
Excellence in reporting awards
Bidvest received an excellent rating in the Ernst & Young excellence in sustainability reporting awards and a merit at the ACCA (Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants)/JSE sustainability reporting awards. Bidvest was the consumer services sectoral winner in the IAS annual reporting
awards from the Investment Analysts Society of Southern Africa.
FTSE/JSE Africa Index Series ranking
In the June 2010 FTSE/JSE Africa Index Series quarterly review, Bidvest was ranked 21st in both the FTSE/JSE All Share Index and Top 40, eighth in
the FTSE/JSE Industrial 25, with a total market capitalisation of R42,7 billion.
Morgan Stanley International Emerging Market Index 2010
Bidvest is considered to have an 85% free float for the MSCI SA Index and a weighting of 2,25% in the MSCI South Africa Index and 0,17% in the
MSCI Emerging Markets Index.
WBS Journal top 25 business leaders
Brian Joffe selected by the WBS (Wits Business School) Journal as one of South Africa’s top 25 business leaders, having made a significant impact
on business over the last five years.
Ask Africa Trust Barometer 2009
The 2009 Ask Africa Trust Barometer, run in conjunction with Finweek magazine, voted Bidvest as the “most trusted company in entrepreneurial/
founder companies”; seventh overall among the 375 companies measured; first in the industrials and chief executive Brian Joffe the second most
trusted CEO.
Company confidence predictor
Bidvest performed well with its ratings across the total of 24 characteristics ensuring a ranking in the top order of industrial companies; also placed in
the top order of “company basics”, “people” and “communications”, and performed exceptionally well for “ethics” and “future prospects”.
In “company basics” it shows notable strength in “is financially sound and secure”, “has a clear edge over its competitors” and “has a strong cash
flow”.
It has firmly solidified its standing in “people” by holding its position in “is a well managed company”, the “quality of its people” and “has an effective
chief executive”.
In “ethics” it has made substantial gains across the four characteristics of evaluation viz. “is reputable, honest and trustworthy” (for which it is ranked
first), “lives up to its promises – company results match expectations” (ranked second), “company results are a true reflection of company
performance” (ranked first) and “believes in full disclosure – is transparent, open and honest” (ranked second).
As for “communications” Bidvest has held its own in the top order of companies and is particularly impressive in “chief executive and senior
management easily approachable”.
In “future prospects” it has held its first position in “is alert to new ideas to improve its profitability” and as has been stated earlier leads the field overall
in this category.
It has also held its position in the “social relations” category for “has good labour relations” which could be critical in the South African environment of
the persistent threat of labour unrest.
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Headline numbers

Concerted efforts by operational

to a single industry. “Focus“ for Bidvest

Pleasing results for the year reflect the

management to optimise inventory levels

managers refers to intense concentration

dedication and work ethic of Bidvest

and manage debtor delinquencies ensured

on every aspect of their operations with

people in all regions. Headline earnings per

all regions registered an improvement in

the aim of growing value, no matter what

share moved 15,1% higher to 1 070 cents

returns on funds employed. Our managers

industry they work in. Their in-depth

despite the impact of R61,2 million in

kept an eye on the bottom line, but they

understanding of their business,

acquisition charges, mainly attributable to

also kept an eye on the future. Bidvest

customers, suppliers and markets helps

our new eastern European businesses,

businesses continued to invest in

them pursue efficiencies while exploring

Nowaco and Farutex.

infrastructure even as they reduced costs

new opportunities.

and pursued efficiencies.
New opportunities might occur in a related

Revenue eased lower to R109,8 billion
(2009: R112,4 billion) but trading margin

Group capital expenditure topped

industry or in an entirely new sector. One

improvements – up to 5,1% from 4,6%

R2,7 billion.

area of focus might lead into another area
of focus. This does not deter entrepreneurial

– led to significant growth in trading profit
(R5,6 billion versus R5,1 billion in 2009).

Entrepreneurial model

managers empowered by Bidvest’s

Deliberate focus on the decentralised,

decentralised philosophy. They home in

Currency rates had a material impact on

entrepreneurial Bidvest model drove these

on growth potential, even though it

results following strong rand gains versus

improvements.

means straying from strict adherence to
what was previously considered to be their

sterling and the euro. The negative impact

home “turf“.

on translation of the earnings of foreign

At Bidvest we’ve always believed that

operations was equivalent to 4,2% of

people make profits, businesses only report

HEPS.

them. We empower people by refusing to

Philosophy at work

create elaborate structures and systems.

Constant evolution is necessary to stay

We keep things simple, local and flexible.

abreast of new opportunities, and transition

Mismatch

was evident at several Bidvest businesses.

In many national markets in which we are
active, official figures showed a return to

Value is realised by turning a good business

These changes were introduced at the

growth. However, consumer and business

into a great business. But more

beginning of the new period, though

behaviour in those same geographies

fundamental than that is turning good

preparations were under way in the second

continued to reflect considerable caution

people into great people. The Bidvest

half of 2010.

and trading conditions remained difficult.

model is a way of doing that. We
encourage local entrepreneurs to build the

One effect of change is the creation of a

The contradiction is explained by the initial

operations they control by applying the

cluster of businesses with a financial

shock of recession and the extent of

disciplines that turn small businesses into

service focus.

economic contraction. Shock effects have

big ones.
McCarthy Fleet Services, previously part of

not yet receded while “growth“ since then
has still not taken economies back to the

We may operate in a global economy,

Bidvest Automotive, has been moved into

levels of prosperity and confidence

but each individual is pivotal; each team

Bidvest Bank, considerably widening the

achieved in 2007.

important. Being the best you can be

bank’s base of operations. In future,

wherever you happen to be is the reason

asset-based finance activities will

for Bidvest success.

complement travel-related financial

For Bidvest, the high watermark was 2008.

services. The bank’s footprint has also

A disappointing year followed as recession
set in. Our 2010 performance takes us

Application of our decentralisation

grown. There are now 100 branches in the

slightly above the record levels achieved in

philosophy led to renewal and resurgence

network.

2008. It is cause for satisfaction that a lot of

across all regions.
At the same time, Bidvest Financial

hard work is bearing fruit. However, we still
need to catch up that period of lost growth.

Refocus and renewal

Services (housing the businesses previously

Everyone at Bidvest is aware that challenges

At many other organisations, “focus“ refers

branded as McCarthy Insurance Services

persist and we can’t afford to let up.

to the building of a homogenous business

and McCarthy Finance) has become a

in which activities are deliberately restricted

freestanding business and in future will
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widen its base by seeking new business to
augment income streams from and off the

Highlights

dealership fl oor.

 Bidvest back to record highs
 Trading profit up to R5,6 billion on 5,1% trading margin

Parameters widen, though activities remain

 Capital expenditure tops R2,7 billion

largely the same. Our people have

 Our businesses generate R8,0 billion in cash as ROFE rises to 38,7%

considerable experience of short-term

 Rededication to decentralised, entrepreneurial model drives turnaround

insurance, asset finance, foreign exchange

 Strong performance by Asia Pacific region

and lending and deposit-taking among

 Resurgence at leaner Bidvest Automotive

corporate clients. New arrangements

 Financial service cluster takes shape

create synergies and critical mass and

 Acquisition opportunities to be examined in 2011

consolidate our existing financial service
activities.

Changes at Automotive

Synergies to speed innovation and reduce

Bidvest Asia Pacific returned a strong

duplication will be aggressively pursued.

result. Asian markets appear to have
shrugged off most of the effects of the

Change enables Bidvest Automotive to
concentrate on trading performance within

The decentralised basis of operations is

international financial crisis. However, the

well-defined areas of expertise while

unaffected. In the UK, refocus of 3663 First

core business in Australia found trading

facilitating succession planning. Bidvest

for Foodservices into distinct wholesale and

conditions became progressively worse as

Automotive chief executive Brand Pretorius

logistics businesses made separate

the year drew to a close. Challenges persist

plans to retire in early 2011.

management teams responsible for

in New Zealand.

performance in their areas of specialisation.
Each component of today’s leaner business

Significant performance gains were

Bidvest Europe held up relatively well in

is led by experienced managers rooted in

achieved.

economic conditions bedevilled by the
sovereign debt crisis. The United Kingdom

their sectors, with Graham Damp taking
responsibility for the core motor retailing

Changes at our foodservice, automotive

has exited recession, but austerity

operations at McCarthy Motor Group.

and financial service businesses were only

measures give rise to fears the exit could

recently implemented. The main benefits

be short-lived. Our leaner UK structures are

will begin to accrue in the new period.

appropriate in such an uncertain

Foodservice realignment

environment.

Senior management responsibilities at
Bidvest Foodservice have been reallocated.

Regional review

Bernard Berson now holds overall

Our regional businesses were subject to a

In continental Europe, our Benelux

responsibility across all operational

wide range of economic influences as each

businesses are under pressure as their

geographies. This creates a single reporting

geography went through a different phase

national economies contend with the

line and ensures knowledge- and

of the business cycle.

immediate aftermath of recession. In central

experience-sharing across regions.

and eastern Europe, there is little prospect
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of rapid recovery, but we are positioned

Tourism infrastructure was expanded ahead

Trading conditions remained challenging

to take advantage of further market

of the tournament. New hotels were built while

and our people were under considerable

weakness.

existing hotels were expanded and upgraded.

pressure. In this environment, the 2010

South Africa therefore faces a long-term

FIFA World Cup™ provided a further boost

Trading conditions in southern Africa

challenge – filling world-class stadiums by

to the already strong team spirit.

remained challenging. However, our

continuing to attract big international events

recently listed Namibian business put in

and filling good quality hotel rooms by

Cash up, debt down

another strong performance and is well

attracting a continual stream of visitors.

Businesses in all regions concentrated on

placed to secure further growth.

the trading and housekeeping basics. Get
Every obstruction to the free flow of visitors

the fundamentals right and the rest will

In South Africa, the slowdown in

should be removed and red tape cut. We

usually follow.

construction activity has been severe; so

should encourage air charter traffic as well

have spending cutbacks across the

as more scheduled flights.

corporate and retail sectors. However,

At Group level, cash generation showed
continued improvement, up from

Bidvest Automotive maximised trading

Good order, good humour

R6,8 billion to R8,0 billion. Net debt came

opportunities as vehicle sales showed

High-visibility policing kept crime in check

down from R4,1 billion to R3,8 billion and

signs of revival.

and eased international concerns about

is now at about 70% of its peak level,

personal security. South African police

although some of these gains are due to

Brand Bidvest

officers showed themselves to be efficient,

improvements in the exchange rate.

A growing number of our businesses are

well resourced and capable of doing a

Working capital fell by R700 million, despite

eager to spotlight their Bidvest links and

good PR job for the country by dealing with

R1,7 billion in debt funding to buy the

have incorporated “Bidvest” into the

a substantial influx of foreign visitors in a

Nowaco and Farutex businesses. The

company name. International examples

helpful and engaging manner. Good order

transaction was effective from July 1 2009.

include Bidvest Australia and Bidvest

was accompanied by good humour.

Nowaco acquisition

New Zealand. Our foodservice logistics
operation in the UK recently relaunched as

In recent years, rising crime has created a

The Nowaco group acquisition for

Bidvest Logistics. In South Africa, Bidvest

national challenge. Yet over the period of

€250,0 million demonstrates the advantage

Bank has demonstrated the strength and

the 2010 FIFA World Cup™, crime went

of buying into people as opposed to buying

credibility of the Bidvest name.

down while national morale went up.

solely on the basis of a balance sheet.

Recent statistics indicate that these gains in
At operational level, the decision rests with

the battle against crime have extended into

During on-the-ground discussions with

local teams. They have the job of leveraging

the post-2010 FIFA World Cup™ period.

managers in Czech Republic and Poland

most value from their local markets. If

we found we were talking to Bidvest

leveraging the Bidvest name will help, they

The South African Police Service has a

people. At that stage, they might not have

shouldn’t hesitate to do it.

thankless task. Police officers often receive

thought of themselves in that light, but

poor pay, yet put their lives on the line to

that’s how they looked to us – pragmatic,

2010 FIFA World Cup™ effects

get the job done. They pulled out all the

self-reliant, hands-on and close to their

In South Africa, the successful staging of

stops during the 2010 FIFA World Cup™.

customers.

the 2010 FIFA World Cup™ provided an

The men and women in blue did a

insight into the gains that flow from a

marvellous job. These officers deserve

These entrepreneurs have built Nowaco

positive international image and a

credit for a job well done.

group from close to a zero base into the
leading delivered wholesaler to the

reputation for good order and efficient
management.

The Bidvest benefit

foodservice and independent retail markets

The principal 2010 FIFA World Cup™

in central and eastern Europe.

Media coverage highlighted the country’s

benefit for Bidvest’s South African

huge attractions as a tourist destination

businesses was motivational. Some of our

Since the deal was done, economic

while showcasing our modern

operations benefited from contract gains,

conditions have worsened, but local teams

infrastructure. Our sporting facilities were

but every business benefited from the

buckled down and still performed to

shown to be world class. This creates an

surge in national pride.

pre-acquisition expectations; much as you
would expect of Bidvest teams anywhere.

opportunity to build both mainstream and
sports tourism – service sectors with a

Staff members joined the national

After expensing R53,4 million in acquisition

proven ability to generate long-term jobs

celebration and put on their Proudly Bidvest

costs, Nowaco group contributed

growth.

soccer shirts to do it.
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R4,1 billion to revenue and R92,1 million

educational standards improve. When

An education indaba could examine these

to profit.

interests coincide, partnerships can

questions and many more.

sometimes be helpful. Certainly, the idea of

Jobs challenge

a public-private partnership to foster better

Fulfilling national potential

Growing unemployment is a concern in

educational outcomes should be explored.

If our goods and services are to be

almost every economy in which Bidvest is

internationally competitive, our businesses

active. However, with an unemployment

A national indaba involving policy-makers

and workers have to add value by being

rate of 25% the problem is particularly

and business leaders could usefully be

more efficient and productive. To become a

acute in South Africa.

called to examine the problem and

winning nation, South Africa has to harness

consider solutions. Educators would then

the undoubted talents of its resourceful

The South African government recognises

have a chance to question business people

population. The first, most crucial step is

the urgency of the situation and recently

about their requirements.

a good education for every child.

enough to the threat of recession. The

In my view, the issue is not one of grades

The world is changing. The BRIC nations

economic slowdown then compounded

and symbols, but the quality of education

– Brazil, Russia, India and China – are fast

the job-creation challenge. This frank

and the qualities possessed by young

becoming the drivers of global growth.

acknowledgment is welcome, as is the

people who have progressed through the

South Africa has the opportunity to join

pledge to redouble efforts to create jobs.

educational system.

them, not only as a provider of natural

This is the greatest single challenge facing

Do they have a high level of comprehension

products – if we can educate and train a

our government, but it would be a mistake

when a task is outlined to them? Can they

new generation to fulfil its potential.

to consider the challenge in isolation. One

read and write, add, subtract and carry out

in four of the working population is without

basic mathematical calculations? Are they

Partnership

a job yet the country suffers from a

confident young people who show

In many other spheres, private sector

longstanding skills shortage.

initiative? How do they compare when

partnership with government could prove a

measured against the educational

highly effective means of leveraging South

Jobs and schooling linked

“products” of other national education

Africa’s national potential. To facilitate the

Education and training are the keys to

systems?

partnership, both parties should have a

acknowledged that it did not react quickly

resources, but as a source of world-class

clear understanding of their roles.

growth, while sustained economic growth
is the only way to eradicate unemployment.

Have they the discipline to learn and carry
on learning? Education is a journey, not a

Government’s major role is surely that of

The way forward is to ensure that young

destination, and our young people need to

infrastructure provider, using tax receipts

people leave school with a good basic

commit to it.

to create the infrastructure necessary to
support long-term growth. This level of

education and can be easily assimilated
into the workforce. With a solid educational

Adopt a school

investment would normally be beyond the

grounding they can absorb training and

Business needs well-educated, confident

means of any private-sector player. The

upskilling, thereby becoming productive

and competent young people if it is to

initially low level of returns is also a

members of their teams in a relatively

grow. What can business do to help drive

disincentive to private-sector investment

short time.

the improvements most South Africans

in major items of national infrastructure.

regard as urgent? Should businesses be

However, once the investment has been

As productive workers, they can drive

encouraged to join in a national adopt-a-

made, business is in a position to utilise the

further growth, opening up further

school programme? Targeted assistance

infrastructure to derive profit and create

opportunities for more young people.

by business for under-resourced schools

jobs. For its part, government can then

could become the catalyst for better

maintain its income stream through taxes

scholastic performance.

on resultant profits and wages.

educated entrants to the workforce rests

What about teaching standards? The

In South Africa, confusion arises because

with government.

quality of our teachers is crucial to a quality

government does not restrict itself to

outcome. What needs to be done to

infrastructure provision. In many cases it

Education indaba

support teachers and the teaching

lays out the “pitch” and then decides to

It is obviously in the interests of both parties

profession in general? Can business help?

play on it.

Business has training responsibilities, but
the primary responsibility for creating

– business and government – that
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In the process, business models become

it operates. Families depend on the

confused. State-owned operations try to

jobs created by Bidvest companies,

Environmental impacts and
performance

measure themselves according to criteria

and I am pleased to report that despite

Climate change is no longer in question.

used by private-enterprise players. They

consolidation, our headcount still totals

Legislative pressures from governments

seek a return on investment and profit

105 752.

trying to meet emission reduction targets

growth when they should measure their

have had significant impact on our

performance on the quality and extent of

In southern Africa, we continue to redress

infrastructure and markets. Physical risks

the infrastructure they provide.

the legacy of economic disenfranchisement,

from changing weather patterns require a

improving to a level 4 contributor under the

nimble response, a quality we cultivate.

For example, profitability is not necessarily

DTI Codes. Half of our procurement in

Bidvest companies are positioning

the best measure of performance at a

South Africa is now spent with BEE suppliers,

themselves to achieve competitive

monopoly power provider such as Eskom.

a significant contribution to broad-based

advantage.

A more appropriate measure, in my view,

black economic empowerment. Equitable

would be its ability to produce power at the

employment remains a challenge. However,

Our third carbon footprint reveals a slight

lowest cost while assuring reliability of

our junior management pipeline, now more

increase in the intensity of greenhouse gas

supply.

than half black, bodes well for the future.

emissions to 6,6 tonnes CO2e (using staff

A government that concentrated on its role

our South African competitors. We are

as a facilitator of growth through focused

Decent work through training
focus

infrastructure provision would be the natural

In this year of consolidation, resignation

measurement of energy sources and

partner of businesses looking to create

and absenteeism rates fell. Top of the list of

resources, a prerequisite for the

jobs. At the moment in South Africa, the

staff issues are financial security and career

identification of profitable green business

state is both a possible partner and a

development. At Bidvest, a key factor is

opportunities.

potential competitor.

training in order to unlock the potential of

as the denominator), placing us ahead of
concentrating on improved monitoring and

our people in line with our view that skills

Society

Interest rates

drive growth – personal, organisational and

At Bidvest, ethical behaviour is a way of life

What can be done in the short term to

national. Our companies responded with

rather than a set of rules. However, in the

foster growth and employment in South

a 17% increase in the number of training

face of growing concerns around crime and

Africa? One form of stimulus is readily at

hours. Bidvest companies in South Africa

corruption, we have to entrench our code

hand – interest rates.

concentrated on the lifeskills required to

of conduct and reduce the risk of our staff

qualify for higher learning and career

being exposed to, or succumbing to,

Between December 2008 and September

advancement. Our policy is to promote

temptation. We routinely declare conflicts

2010, the South African Reserve Bank cut

from within and we take pride in the

of interest, keep registers of gifts and bring

interest rates eight times to 6,0%. This is

progress made by workers into supervisory

new legislation to the attention of

helpful, but there are grounds for arguing

grades and management. Our companies

employees. Internal audit provides

that rates are still too high in comparison

are often their industry’s training leader.

oversight and records any contingent

with Europe and North America.

liabilities. No material issues were escalated

Health, safety and HIV/Aids

to Group level or remained unresolved at

In this environment, the rand has enjoyed a

Companies operating in hazardous

year-end.

prolonged period of strength, undermining

environments invest conscientiously in

the pricing advantages South Africa’s

safety awareness programmes. However,

Product responsibility

manufactured exports should enjoy on

it is with regret that we recorded four

Food safety and the fair treatment of

world markets. Further rate cuts would

fatalities, half the loss of the previous year,

customers are critical to our businesses. In

address the issue while encouraging

but four too many. HIV/Aids continues to

our domestic market, enactment of South

business to invest in new capacity and take

present a serious challenge. Our prevalence

Africa’s new Consumer Protection Act

on new workers.

rate is still high at an estimated 15% and

underlines the point. Companies across the

we are bewildered by the low uptake of

Group are proactive in their response to

Holding our headcount high

VCT programmes made available through

tightening legislation and changing

Bidvest makes a significant economic

regular campaigns.

consumer demands. We are turning risks

contribution to the communities in which

into opportunities to strengthen our brand
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and create competitive advantage for our

accomplished board of directors. In

Today, approximately 40% of Group

product and service offerings.

common with several other regions, South

earnings come from international markets.

Africa suffers from a dearth of talent, but

The fortunes of the rand, sterling, euro and

Sustainability

you would never guess it when dealing with

Australian dollar have a material effect on

Inside Bidvest, credit is also due for the

the directors, executives and people of

our results. The impact was significant in

way in which our people have taken

Bidvest. I thank you all for your help and

2010, creating little prospect that we would

ownership of sustainability practice. We

salute you for your efforts in challenging

reach our stretch target.

gave them a framework and exposed them

times.
What is our target for the year ahead?

to the issues. The development and

Bidvest intends to achieve real growth.

implementation of sustainability initiatives

Our customers and suppliers drive the

were then left to each business. This has

continuing success of our Group. I thank

resulted in a bottom-up approach to

you for your support and your contribution

We have a strong balance sheet, enabling

sustainability.

to our growth.

us to pursue selected opportunities for

Visit Bidvest offices anywhere in the world

Future

and you will find a wide variety of initiatives

Purchase any item and you will almost

We have developed growing insight into the

under way; strategic interventions that

certainly come across a notice telling you

markets in emerging Europe and believe

shape these businesses – measurement

“terms and conditions apply”. In 2011, the

further potential can be unlocked. Some

and data collation, recycling, better waste

same notice should be attached to the

African markets have also impressed over

management, water- and energy-saving,

future. There are no guarantees and

the last 18 months. Sub-Saharan Africa’s

tree-planting and lots more. There’s no one

uncertainties prevail. It’s up to us to make

low correlation with developed markets

template, but lots of individual commitment.

the best of conditions as they change and

holds a certain attraction as it helps bring

adapt as we go along. Bidvest has already

balance to earnings when recession affects

made big strides along this path.

the northern hemisphere. South America is

acquisitive growth as they occur.

Looking at the wider picture, it is apparent

another region of growing promise.

that climate change and global warming are
getting worse, not better. Every business

One pitfall to avoid is that of corporate

has a responsibility to reduce the total

denial, a phenomenon that occurs when

Our geographic reach may change, but our

environmental impact of its actions and

businesses deny change is happening or

vision will not. We will develop our people,

operations. It’s equally apparent that there

think they are so big they can control the

grow our business and seek sustained

is no one silver-bullet solution. Building

changes that are taking place. This is an

growth in shareholder value, in 2011 and

critical mass will require a host of small

illusion.

beyond.

improvements, business by business and
individual by individual.

Being big may enable you to absorb some
punches, but if you are small and nimble

This is the path intuitively taken by Bidvest

you might avoid them altogether. In some

people. Our people drive the sustainability

key respects, many of our operations have

process rather than senior management.

downscaled by simplifying structures and

They treat the wider environment like their

reporting lines. The process puts us in

home environment, which is how it should

better shape for the changeable trading

Brian Joffe

be. There’s no coercion. Our people don’t

conditions to come.

Chief executive

need persuading. They are determined to
make a difference and I’m sure they will.

In uncertain times, “terms and conditions”
also apply to forecasting. For example, in

Appreciation

2010 Bidvest failed to reach its five-year

Bidvest did remarkably well to return to

target of doubling profit, but we came

pre-recession performance levels. The

close. The period included an

recovery demanded teamwork and

unprecedented post-war recession that

dedication of a high order.

affected every geography in which we
operate. Bidvest’s last five years were also

I am privileged to work alongside extremely

characterised by accelerating

able senior managers and a highly

internationalisation.
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Macro-environment

of long-term Czech koruna debt for the

Business expansion

Economic conditions remained challenging

Nowaco acquisition.

Even in a challenging environment we

in all geographies, though signs of recovery

did not stop investing. Our commitment

Trading environment

to long-term business sustainability

Trading performance was mixed as

underpins our growth strategy. Net capital

The interest rate climate was positive at

businesses in various geographies had to

expenditure of R2,7 billion, is 21,4% up

Group level, though adverse effects were

contend with different rates of recovery by

(2009: R2,3 billion). We invested

felt by Bidvest businesses that provide

their national economies. Some felt the

R1,6 billion in capacity expansion and we

funding to clients as part of their business

effects of continuing fiscal stimulation; some

continue to demonstrate our confidence in

model. Our banking and foreign exchange

were impacted by austerity measures.

the future through major, long-term

emerged as the year progressed.

investments to ensure medium-term growth

business was also adversely affected.
Finance is still readily available to credit-

and sustainability; for example, the

The South African Reserve Bank cut rates,

worthy customers, though nominal rates

R503 million spent by our freight business

dropping its repurchase rate by 5,5% in all.

are somewhat higher. Most businesses

on upgrading and expanding facilities.

By March 2010, the repo rate stood at

faced no exceptional micro challenges

6,5%, the lowest level since 1981. Rates

but certain restructuring was required.

Continuing focus on internal expansion is

were also low in many international markets

Everyday issues predominated – trading

complemented by awareness of outside

as government stimulated economies.

profitably, managing credit and inventory

opportunities. Early in the period, the

and collecting debts. Generally, Bidvest

€250 million Nowaco group acquisition

A resilient rand versus the Group’s major

businesses did well in this “new” normal

demonstrated that our ability to conclude

trading currencies, sterling and euro, had a

environment.

major acquisitions is undiminished. We
carried through the deal in the face of

material impact on the translation of our
offshore earnings. The net effect was to

Asia Pacific emerged from the financial

strong opposition from private equity

reduce headline earnings per share by

crisis quicker than most economies,

groups, an indication that we retain

4,2%. The Australian dollar versus the rand

which assisted their good performance.

considerable “fire power”.

reflected a stable environment.
In the UK, recovery was weak. The major

Key contributors

Inflation was generally muted in all markets

challenge has been to manage the asset

Major contributions came from our

in which Bidvest is active, though some

base aggressively to maximise cash

foodservice businesses, though the

pockets of higher than expected inflation

generation while engaging in strategic

respective contributions from each

persisted in parts of Asia. South African

investment to create a platform for

business reflect changes in national

inflation was higher than the targeted range

tomorrow’s growth.

markets and different rates of business

of 3% to 6% at the beginning of the period.

growth. Our Australian foodservice

The rate declined steadily, however, and

The Eurozone downturn impacted the

business now accounts for 10,3% of Group

was well within range as our financial year

Benelux countries. Our business in the

revenue. New accounting requirements in

came to an end.

Netherlands did not escape. The Belgium

terms of IFRS 3 in the treatment of

business was not hit as severely due to its

acquisition costs largely nullified the

A measure of inflation is normally beneficial

particular market exposure. The depressed

headline earnings contribution from our

for our trading businesses. Steady declines

business climate also affected eastern

new eastern European foodservice

and consequent deflation in some sectors

Europe, though areas of opportunity exist.

business.

South Africa’s economic recovery, though

Results from our retail automotive business

better of late, was disappointing. At the

are much improved yet still way below

We continue our policy of taking forward

beginning of the period the expectation

previous levels achieved. However, much

cover on trade-related transactions and our

was that recession would be brief and

of the new vehicle sales activity is

risk management policy of matching our

recovery robust. Recovery has been slow

attributable to the fleet and corporate

foreign assets against our foreign liabilities

and recessionary impacts more severe;

business segments. The vehicle market

in their local currencies was maintained.

especially in key sectors like construction

for retail consumers remains subdued as

This policy was reinforced with the raising

and retail.

credit approval rates remain low.

were negative for many of Bidvest’s South
African businesses.
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David Cleasby
Group financial director

In Freight, commodity exports improved
while demand for outsourced services
increased. Businesses in the printing and
related products sector faced strong
challenges, but performed well.
The major area of underperformance is
in the Industrial and Commercial division.
Voltex, historically a major contributor, has
been hit by a major decline in volumes as

Highlights
 Return on funds employed up from 36,4% to 38,7%.
 Net capital expenditure rises 26% to R2,9 billion
 Reduction of R0,7 billion in working capital
 Net debt falls to R3,8 billion (2009: R4,1 billion)
 Cash generated by operation after working capital changes increases by
18,3% to R8,0 billion
 Net interest paid declines by R270,7 million to R758,5 million

construction work dried up and the
demand for copper-related products fell.
Simultaneously, cutbacks in the corporate
office market had significant impact on the

our new eastern European businesses.

measures came through early on. On the

furniture businesses.

Previously, these once-off acquisition costs

flip side was the hosting of the 2010 FIFA

would have been capitalised to the cost

World CupTM in June and July. Some

Financial performance

of the investment, but under the revised

businesses, notably in foodservices,

Revenue fell 2,3% to R109,8 billion

IFRS 3 accounting standard are now

stocked up ahead of the event.

(2009: R112,4 billion), impacted by lower

included as an expense in headline

import revenue in Safcor Panalpina, price

earnings, impacting headline earnings per

Interest cover improved to 7,4 times from

deflation and the impact of the appreciating

share negatively by 2,1%.

5,0 times in 2009, reflecting significant
borrowing capacity. Net debt to equity at

rand. Deflation was evident in all
geographies as lower demand drove

Our balance sheet remains strong and

23,1% shows pleasing improvement

product prices down. Many operations

appropriately capitalised. Net debt declined

(2009: 29,2%). Net finance charges

achieved market-share gains as they

assisted by a R0,7 billion reduction in

declined 26,3% to R758,5 million.

traded aggressively and took advantage

working capital and despite additional

of market weakness.

debt funding of R1,7 billion for the Nowaco

We benefited from a prompt response to

group acquisition. Bidvest normally

increased credit risk. This was already a

Operating expenses were well controlled

absorbs working capital in the first half

focus area as the year began. We took

across the Group, reflecting a decline on

of the financial year and releases working

an aggressive view, applied strict credit

the prior year. The trading margin improved

capital in the second half. This year,

extension criteria and gave focused

to 5,1% (2009: 4,6%).

seasonality showed a key shift. The depth

attention to debtors collections throughout

of the recession in the first half was one

the year. We lost some business as a result

Headline earnings were impacted by

factor as we acted promptly to cut our

of this cautious approach, but as the year

abnormal charges of R61,2 million relating

cloth according to lower activity levels in

progressed we experienced relatively few

to acquisition costs, mostly attributable to

key areas. The effect of cost-cutting

bad debt problems. Such action will
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undoubtedly benefit the businesses as

currency exposure on its asset base and

is another. Rand strength may be negative

markets return to some form of growth.

ultimately the Group’s balance sheet.

at certain stages yet during another period

Return on funds employed showed

Ratings

effect. Recent economic turmoil in Europe

pleasing improvement, rising from

Bidvest maintained its credit rating, verified

has demonstrated that forex policy is

36,4% to 38,7%.

by two independent rating agencies. We

required in all jurisdictions, not only in South

were rated by Fitch Ratings as A+ F1 while

Africa. In terms of managing cross-currency

Moody’s gave us a rating of A1.za/P1.za.

movements, the Group ensures assets and

rand weakness may have a net positive

Capital market utilisation

liabilities are always matched in local

Falling interest rates helped to bring down
finance charges.

This rating band mirrors our profile of an

currencies, thereby negating such

acquisitive and opportunistic group at a

exposure.

In South Africa, government benchmark

time when markets and institutions are still

rates fell below 8% and credit spreads

risk averse.

Our diversified model also balances risk.
Consumers may not be rushing out to buy

narrowed. As short-term rates fell, the
Group increased its exposure to local

We are conservative in the way we run our

new cars, but the purchase of basic food

capital markets and leveraged our strong

business. However, we do assume debt to

items may continue as normal. Different

credit rating by using “commercial paper”

fund investments. As a consequence, our

levels of recovery in various countries also

to cover some short-term needs at

debt may increase from time to time. Our

showed that macro-economic impacts can

attractive rates. Funding from capital

investment behaviour has sometimes been

be balanced to some degree at a

markets totalled R3,1 billion at year-end.

anti-cyclical. This enables us to pursue

geographically diverse business like

significant opportunities and build

Bidvest.

With medium-term funding rates around

long-term value for our shareholders.

Regulation

9%, the capital market is beginning to look
like an attractive source of funding for

Cost of restructure

Bidvest has long been run in line with good

investment purposes.

Major once-off restructure and closure

sustainability practice and in accordance

costs arose as restructuring was carried

with the principles of triple bottom-line

The view among many South African

out at several businesses, notably at our

reporting. The business engages in

economists is that local short-term interest

UK businesses, Bidvest Automotive, Safcor

stakeholder engagement and is open

rates will remain flat for six months and

Panalpina, part of Bidvest Freight and

and frank in its communication.

perhaps even a year. In this environment

Bidvest Industrial and Commercial.

we will continue to access capital

Restructuring in the UK involved both

The implementation of the revised King

markets in order to provide the Group

3663 First for Foodservice and Ontime

code involves no philosophical leap for us.

with attractive, cost-effective funding while

Automotive.

We have long endorsed these principles as

maintaining a prudent liquidity profile.

we embark on the journey of continued
The benefits of leaner structures and new

improvement in governance standards.

Debt

management intervention are already

Bidvest’s attitude to gearing remains

evident. Further benefit is expected next

Recommendations as well as requirements

appropriate in the current climate. Net debt

year.

are contained in the King III report. In many
instances, we anticipated these changes

was down, falling from R4,1 billion to
R3,8 billion despite the additional debt

Risks

as they track international developments

assumed for the Nowaco group transaction.

Credit risk sharpened, but early intervention

that we are close to. Bidvest remains a

and an aggressive approach resulted in an

pragmatic organisation and will ensure

To finance the Nowaco/Farutex transaction

improved debtors position, indicating that

the principles embodied in King III will be

we issued shares, raising approximately

the risk was well managed.

practically applied within the context of
the Group culture and structure.

R1 billion and then raised R1,7 billion in
debt, principally from institutions in the

Currency risk is part and parcel of

Czech Republic. The Czech debt

managing an international business. In

Culture

repayment is structured over five to six

respect of cross-currency purchasing, a

From a financial perspective, Bidvest has a

years at attractive rates. Use of these

prudent forward cover policy is one aspect

returns-based culture. This helps to explain

facilities provides a natural hedge against

of management; a long-term commitment

our continued use of return of funds

38

employed (ROFE) as a key means of

We fell short of doubling HEPS, but are

benchmarking operational performance.

pleased to report the Group is over the high

Historically, Bidvest has achieved ROFE of

watermark of the 2008 financial year.

between 40% and 50%. This year, many
businesses exceeded that.

Future
The medium-term target for the Group is

The yardstick is well understood across the

real organic growth in earnings across all

Group and underpins our performance-

our business.

driven philosophy. We aim to ensure that
not only is the asset base sweated, but that

We remain an acquisitive and opportunistic

capital reinvestment continues for the

company. All avenues for growth will be

medium- and long-term development of

pursued. Weak economic conditions in

the Group. We take a responsible stance

many markets create an environment in

on equipment replacement cycles.

which business value can be extracted,
both within South Africa and internationally.

The returns-based mindset contributes to
the development of individuals, teams

Our liquidity profile is good. However,

and businesses while adding value for

additional funding exposures to the capital

stakeholders. This year’s results confirm

markets will be explored in search of further

that focus like this helps to ensure

cost efficiency and diversification.

acceptable performance levels even at
businesses that face significant pressure in

We have sufficient debt- and equity-raising

the face of difficult economic conditions.

capacity across the Group to fund future
organic and acquisitive growth. Financing

ROFE remains an important tool. There are

of the Nowaco transaction confirmed our

no plans to dispense with it but rather to re-

ability to raise capital at favourable rates

invigorate its application by using long-term

from a variety of sources. This gives Bidvest

incentivisation to reinforce its value-add.

leverage over other parties looking to
acquire assets we may have targeted.

Targets

When appropriate, we will make use of

Market expectation (as gauged from

this financing advantage.

sell-side analysts) was that our headline
earnings per share would achieve growth
in the low to mid-teens. HEPS grew
by 15,1%.
Analysts were also keen to see how we

David Cleasby

would perform against our internal target

Group financial director

of doubling the size of Bidvest in the five
years to June 2010. The target was set
when business conditions were broadly
favourable and the overall consensus was
that economies and businesses would
continue to grow, perhaps with minor
corrections along the way.
No one foresaw the financial crisis of
2008/09 and the depth of the recent global
financial crisis. Despite setbacks last year,
Bidvest has returned to the growth path.
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A never
ending journey
The Bidvest vision is as wide as the outer limits of
imagination. So it’s not surprising that we reach for the stars
and do so with people who face the future with pride.

42
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Governance for a sustainable business
Sustainable development performance data
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Introduction to integrated
governance
We are steadily absorbing into our culture

focuses on issues that are aggregated to
Group level.

GRI G3 guidelines and tables of disclosure
Bidvest achieved a B+ level of compliance.

the concept of sustainable development. In

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
reports

QUICK LINK: GRI tables and self
assessment

creating business value for the long term,

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/001.html

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/002.html

Bidvest integrates evolving financial, social
and environmental needs and expectations.
We encourage our entrepreneurs to think
about the “sustainable development” of
their businesses. They are expected to run
their businesses in ways that will not
compromise their ability to generate future
returns.
Our decentralised, entrepreneurial
approach to business is embedded in our
cultural DNA and is integral to our success.
However, the approach does pose
challenges for governance reporting at
Group level. The balance between the
decentralised approach and the need to
report as a Group is delicate and difficult.
Reporting coherently as a Group, assessing
stakeholder concerns, identifying risks,
establishing non-financial materiality,
consolidating performance measures,
conducting conformance checks are
examples of some of these challenges.
In this report, we discuss how we govern
our business and what sustainable
development issues we consider important.
Under the “how we govern our business”
section, we deal with:
 The King III and GRI frames of reference
 Ethical leadership
 Decision making in the best interests of
the Group
 Accountability
 Risk management
– social issues and ethics
– financial
– operating risk
– governance of information technology
– compliance
 Monitoring and reporting
 Stakeholder engagement
Material issues are categorised according
to the GRI G3 framework. Many issues are
material at divisional and operational rather
than Group level. This governance report

Group-level issues are:

Deloitte & Touche were engaged to

 Economic performance – distribution

conduct an independent assurance on

of value and opportunity, focusing on

selected sustainable development

broad-based black economic

performance data. On the basis of their

empowerment (BBBEE)

reasonable assurance procedures, Deloitte

 Environmental performance – the

& Touche concluded that the selected

impact of climate change, Bidvest’s

sustainable development data was

carbon footprint and other impacts

compiled in accordance with corporate

 Labour practices and decent work –
engagement, scarcity of skills, training,
career development, health and safety
 Human rights – internally and in the

policies and procedures and was free from
material misstatements
QUICK LINK: Independent assurance
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/003.html

supply chain
 Society – impact of operations on

The board ensures the Group complies

communities, corruption and anti-

with JSE listing requirements, the

competitive behaviour

Companies Act, Act No 51 of 1973, the

 Product responsibility – customer

Corporate Law Amendment Act, Act 24 of

satisfaction and complaints, customer

2006 in South Africa and relevant legislation

health, fair advertising and labelling,

in other jurisdictions.

customer privacy and data security

Ethical leadership
King III and Global Reporting
Initiative frames of reference

At Bidvest, corporate governance is a way

We endorse the King III precept that the

can only derive full, sustained value from a

full universe of economic, societal and

business founded on honesty, integrity,

environmental aspects should be integrated

accountability and transparency. Bidvest is

into strategic governance in a manner

committed to applying good corporate

enabling long-term value creation.

governance principles in a manner that

of life rather than a set of rules. Stakeholders

complements its entrepreneurial flair.
The board has not completed nor formally
assessed and considered each element of

Code of conduct

the King III code. On completion we will

A prime duty of the board, its committees,

report on which principles have been

directors, officers of the Group and

applied, which are in process and give

managers is to ensure our code of conduct

reasons for not applying the remainder.

is honoured.

King III application is a continuing process
that takes place over time and is not a

The code demands:

once-off event. The results of our review will

 the highest standards of integrity and

be documented in the Group governance
manual, with a specific focus on IT
standards, remuneration and will contain
a formal risk and control framework.

behaviour in dealings with stakeholders
and wider society;
 business conduct based on fair
commercial practice;
 that we deal only with business partners

In the normal course of business Bidvest
substantially applies King III principles and
practices. In a self assessment, using the
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that follow ethical practice;
 non-discriminatory employment
practices and promotion;

 corporate governance of employees to

Specific business ethical issues (corruption,

realise their potential through training

fraud, theft and anti-competitive behaviour)

and development; and

are reported on under the “society” section

 proactive engagement on environmental,

within “Group-wide material issues”.

Board committees
QUICK LINK: Board committees
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/004.html

Board charters

social and sustainability matters.

Board functions are governed by charters

Code of ethics

Decision making in the best
interests of the Company

Our code fosters Group-wide business

Board of directors

chairman and directors. The board has a

practice and requires:

The board comprises nine independent

duty to ensure the business remains a

 regular and formal identification of

non-executive directors, five non-executive

going concern and thrives. The board must

directors, 10 executive directors and one

retain full and effective control of the Group,

alternate independent, non-executive

manage risk and implement plans through

director.

a structured approach to reporting and

ethical risk areas;
 development and strengthening of
monitoring and compliance policies,
procedures and systems;
 easily accessible, confidential and
non-discriminatory reporting (whistle-

accountability.
The roles of chairman and chief executive
are distinct.

blowing);
 alignment of the Group’s disciplinary

that require annual self-assessment by the

An attendance register is included in the
directors’ report of the annual report.

Decentralised decision making, the
emphasis on independence and the

The board is assisted by board

character of individual directors foster open

committees, to which specific

and robust governance. Decentralisation is

responsibilities are delegated, as

 induction of new appointees;

also a mechanism to ensure continuity

documented in the board committee

 training in ethical principles, standards

while capturing the experience of

charters.

code with its code of ethics;
 integration of integrity assessment with
selection and promotion;

and decision making;

successful entrepreneurs who remain
committed to the businesses they helped

Board charters guide the:

compliance with ethical principles and

to build. In addition to divisional chief

 Board of directors

standards;

executives, key operational executives

 Executive committee

either sit on the board or attend by

 Audit committee

invitation.

 Nomination committee

 regular internal audit monitoring of

 reporting to stakeholders on
compliance; and
 independent verification of conformance
to our principles and ethical behaviour.

 Remuneration committee
Executive directors implement strategies

 Acquisition committee

and operational decisions.

 Risk and sustainability committee

Corporate values

 Transformation committee

Our value system promotes:

Non-executive directors provide an

 Accountability to employees and

independent perspective and complement

The board and its committees are supplied

the skills and experience of executive

with complete, relevant and timely

 Business growth

directors. They objectively assess strategy,

information in order to discharge their

 Decentralisation

budgets, performance, resources,

duties effectively. Directors have

 Entrepreneurship and innovation

transformation, diversity, employment

unrestricted access to Group information,

 Non-discrimination and equal

equity and standards of conduct. They also

records and documents. Non-executive

contribute to strategy formulation and

directors have access to and are

decision making.

encouraged to meet management. All

shareholders

opportunity
 Fairness and honesty in stakeholder
interaction

directors may seek the advice and services
The board acts in the best interests of the

of the Group secretariat. An agreed

Group at all times. It gives strategic

procedure enables directors to obtain

direction, appoints the chief executive and

independent professional advice at Group

exceptional place in which to work and

non-executive chairman and ensures

expense, as necessary. Group policy, in line

do business

succession planning. Non-executive

with the Insider Trading Act, prohibits

directors ensure the chair encourages

directors, officers and selected employees

proper deliberation of all matters requiring

from dealing in securities for a designated

board attention.

period preceding the announcement of the

 Respect for human dignity, human
rights, social justice and environment
 Service excellence, creating an

 Transparency and open lines of
communications
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Group’s financial results or any period of

creating shareholder value. We seek a

Management encourages unrestricted

corporate activity. The policy extends these

balance between employee and

consultation between external and internal

prohibitions to trading in securities where

shareholder interests while supporting

auditors.

the Group has a material interest in another

entrepreneurial drive to ensure fair and

publically listed entity.

responsible remuneration practices.

The board defines levels of materiality,

Deliberations of the remuneration

final financial statements to ensure they

reserving specific powers and delegating

committee are informed by performance

accurately reflect our financial position in

other matters with the necessary written

reviews at absolute and relative levels –

line with Group accounting policies and in

authority to management. These matters

from individual, divisional and Group

compliance with International Financial

are monitored and evaluated regularly.

perspectives.

Reporting Standards. The committee then

The Group secretariat provides the board

A critical success factor for the Group is its

and individual directors with detailed

ability to attract, retain and motivate the

guidance on the proper discharge of their

talent required to achieve strategic and

The committee also assesses whether

responsibilities.

operational objectives. Both short- and

significant statutory and financial risks have

long-term incentives are used to this end.

been identified and are being monitored

Audit committee
The audit committee reviews interim and

recommends to the board the publication
of such results.

and managed through internal financial

The board ensures the Group has the
necessary mechanisms in place to ensure

Delivery-specific short-term incentives are

controls, and that appropriate standards of

it complies with relevant laws, regulations

viewed as strong drivers of performance.

accounting, governance, reporting and

and codes of business practice and that

A significant portion of top management’s

compliance are in operation.

communication with shareholders and

reward is variable and is determined by the

stakeholders is open and prompt and that

achievement of realistic profit targets

The audit committee determines the

substance prevails over form.

together with an individual’s personal

purpose, authority and responsibility of the

contribution to the growth and

internal audit function under the internal

The board identifies the Group’s key risk

development of their immediate business

audit charter. Most divisional internal audit

areas and key performance indicators.

and the wider Group.

functions are performed in-house under the

Through the audit and risk and

Long-term incentives align the objectives of

internal audit manager. The committee

sustainability committees, the board

management and shareholders for a

reviews the scope and coverage of the

regularly reviews processes and procedures

sustained period.

internal audit function, making

guidance and coordination of the Group

recommendations where necessary.

to foster effective internal systems of
control, enhance its decision making and
ensure reporting accuracy. The board

QUICK LINK: A closer look at the
remuneration committee
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/005.html

The audit committee recommends to the
board, for its consideration and acceptance

identifies and monitors non-financial factors
relevant to our business and reviews

Accountability

by shareholders, the appointment of

appropriate non-financial information.

Going concern

external auditors. The audit committee also

Qualitative performance factors include

The directors have ascertained that the

sets out the principles for the performance

broader stakeholder concerns.

Group has sufficient resources to maintain

of non-audit services by the external

the business for the future and confirm that

auditors. The audit committee reviews both

Remuneration

the business is a going concern. The board

the Group and divisional audit committee

Our remuneration philosophy promotes the

has minuted the facts and assumptions

reports.

Group’s entrepreneurial culture within a

used in the assessment of the Group’s

decentralised environment with the aim of

going-concern status at the financial

The Group has adopted the principle of

achieving sustainable growth within all

year-end.

having one set of auditors per division, and
has rationalised down to two (Deloitte &

businesses. Our philosophy emphasises
the fundamental value of our people and

Auditing and accounting

their role in attaining this objective.

The board ensures that the auditors observe

The board defines the remuneration

the highest business and professional ethics

Deloitte & Touche are the Group’s lead

and maintain their independence.

auditors. The committee has reviewed and
confirmed the independence and objectivity

philosophy and aligns business strategy
and objectives with the overall goal of

Touche and KPMG Inc).

The Group uses external auditors in

of the external auditors. Accordingly,

combination with the internal audit function.

Deloitte & Touche are proposed as the
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Group auditors for the coming financial

Our decentralised business model creates

development needs to the attention of

year.

checks and balances at every level within

audit committee, external auditors and

every business. Controls are policed by

operational management. Divisional internal

Each division has its own audit committee,

local teams that are fully acquainted with

audit managers report at all divisional audit

operating under a delegated authority of

developments.

committee meetings.

audit committees report to divisional

Internal audit function

The activities of divisional internal auditors

boards and the Group audit committee.

Internal audit is an independent and

are coordinated by the Group internal audit

Divisional audit committees have at least

objective assurance and consulting activity

manager, who has unrestricted access to

one member who is a non-executive to the

designed to add value to Group operations.

the audit committee and its chairman. The

division. A non-executive presides over the

Internal audit continually measures,

Group internal audit manager reports at all

divisional committees.

evaluates and reports on the effectiveness

Group audit committee meetings and

of risk, control and governance processes.

attends divisional audit committee

The audit committee is made up solely of

It considers their economy of application

meetings.

independent non-executive directors.

and efficiency in meeting organisational

the Group audit committee. The divisional

objectives, using a systematic, disciplined

The internal audit function communicates

Taxation

approach. Under King III, the internal audit

with other internal and external assurance

Since inception, the Group has treated tax

function will be given expanded authority

functions to ensure proper coverage and

law compliance as a prerequisite of

and responsibility over various aspects of

minimise duplication of effort. External

accountability. A tax charter, covering all

governance, including:

auditors review reports issued by internal

forms of tax, tax risk management, strategy

 evaluating the Company’s governance

audit.

and governance has been accepted in
principle, subject to final approval of the
risk and sustainability committee.
Internal financial controls

processes including ethics;
 performing an objective assessment of

Divisional internal audit management

the effectiveness of the risk

reviews the internal audit assurance

management process and Group key

standards and procedures used at

risk profile;

business units within the Group on an
ongoing basis. These are formally

Directors must maintain adequate internal

 systematically analysing and evaluating

controls, giving reasonable assurance that

business processes and associated

assessed and reported on annually. Every

assets will be safeguarded. They must

controls against those documented in

five years, the Group internal audit manager

maintain proper accounting records and

the risk and control framework; and

performs this function. The adequacy and

ensure the reliability of financial and
operational information.
The Group’s system of internal financial

 providing a source of information, as

capability of the Group’s internal audit

appropriate, on instances of fraud,

structures are reviewed annually by the

corruption, unethical behaviour and

audit committee.

irregularities.
Audit plans for each business segment are

control includes policies, procedures and
clearly defined lines of accountability and

The purpose, authority and responsibility of

tabled annually for approval by the

delegation of authority. The system

the internal audit function are defined in a

applicable audit committee. Follow-up

provides for comprehensive reporting and

board-approved internal audit charter that

audits are conducted in areas where major

analysis against approved standards and

is consistent with the Institute of Internal

weaknesses are identified.

budgets. Compliance is tested by

Auditors’ definition of internal auditing.
Businesses’ internal audit plans consider

management review, internal audit check
Divisions ensure effective risk mitigation

existing, residual and emerging risks and

and operational control activities via their

issues highlighted by their audit committees

Internal controls manage the risk of failure

own internal audit function. They examine

and senior management. Self-assessment

to achieve business objectives and can

systems of internal financial control, as

questionnaires are completed by divisions.

provide reasonable, although not absolute,

well as operational control, information

Internal audits are conducted formally at

assurance against material misstatement or

technology standards, social and ethics

each business unit at least once in a

loss. Ongoing processes identify, evaluate,

standards and compliance to laws and

two-year cycle in Africa and once in a

manage, monitor and report on significant

regulations, bringing material deficiencies,

three-year cycle in Europe and Asia Pacific.

risks.

instances of non-compliance and

and external audit.
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Internal audit adequacy

management processes. Reporting formats

responsibility and coordinate effort for each

Areas for improvement have been identified

for divisional risks across the enterprise are

issue. This committee will work closely with

based on reviews conducted in the past

not prescribed, other than the requirements

the risk and sustainability committee, which

audit cycle:

to meet the Group risk and sustainability

has pioneered the identification, monitoring

 Departmental structure – some

framework.

and reporting of material issues within
Bidvest, particularly BBBEE and

subdivisions are too small to afford their

environmental performance.

own qualified internal audit departments

Internal audit has prepared a Group-wide

and would benefit from consolidation of

risk and control framework, documenting

the audit function

recommended practice as a guideline for

Operating risk

customisation to suit their individual

Operating risk can never be fully eliminated,

audit functions report directly to their

business which is available to management.

however Bidvest minimises it by ensuring all

divisional chief executives, real or

Internal audit will bi-annually review

businesses have appropriate infrastructure,

perceived impairment of independence

management’s business processes and

controls, systems and human resources.

is a risk requiring mitigation. This is

documentation used to manage enterprise-

largely mitigated by the direct access to

wide risk.

 Audit independence – as the internal

risk include the segregation of duties,

the divisional audit committee chairman
and the Group internal audit manager
 Business process risk evaluation – the

Key mechanisms to manage operating

The risk and sustainability committee

transaction authorisation, monitoring and

ensures that internal controls mitigate all

financial and managerial reporting.

relevant divisional audit committees will

significant risks faced by the Group.

address the formalisation of the risk and

Systems are designed to achieve optimum

The effectiveness of internal control

control framework with their boards

management of business risks. The review

systems, including the potential impact

process also identifies opportunities for

of changes in operating and business

internal audit staff at some divisions has

turning effective risk management into

environments, is monitored through:

resulted in staff with limited internal audit

competitive advantage.

 regular management reviews (with

 Staff qualifications – high turnover of

representation letters on compliance

experience.
Bidvest’s decentralised structure forms the

signed annually by the chief executive

Risk assessments are coordinated with the

basis of the Group’s business continuity

and the financial director or financial

board’s own assessment of risk. Where the

plan. Each operation has disaster recovery

internal audit service is outsourced, the

and management succession plans.

work is placed with a firm other than the

Individual business units are sufficiently

of certain aspects of internal financial

external auditors of that division. This

small and independent of each other to

control systems by external auditors

ensures independence is not impaired.

eliminate Group-wide disaster risk.

during their statutory examinations;

Risk management

Our risk and control framework consists of

exposure, using an investigative “blitz”

The most fundamental risk-management

five areas covering our complete risk

styled review across large cross-

mechanism is the multi-faceted and

universe:

geographically diverse Bidvest business

 Financial (dealt with under internal

manager of each major business unit);
 testing by internal auditors and testing

 specific focus on areas of greatest

model, making entrepreneurial managers

financial controls above)

accountable for all aspects of performance

 Social and ethics

and delivery.

 Operating risk

The board is responsible for risk strategy
and management after consulting executive

sections of the business; and
 annual written declarations of interests
by directors who are also obliged to
report potential or actual conflicts.

 Information technology

Governance of information technology

 Compliance to laws, codes and

The Group has not yet developed and

standards

formally issued a Group standard for
IT governance. However, the Group has

directors and senior management within
the divisions. Management is accountable

Social and ethics

adopted the COBiT standards as these are

to the board for designing, implementing

This area, previously called “corporate

recognised worldwide as best practice.

and monitoring the processes of risk

governance”, now largely maps the

A governance standards framework will

management and integrating this into

sustainable development issues covered

be developed at Group level and divisional

day-to-day activities.

later in this report. In view of the variety of

management will be required to implement

governance structures and processes at

adequate governance standards within

However, the decentralised approach

divisional level, we have set up a corporate

the framework.

results in unique divisionally driven risk

governance subcommittee to define lines of
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Customer privacy and security of customer
data are issues dealt with below.

 the Group’s approach to response on an
issue, including the level of responsibility

complete measurement caused anomalies
in the trend data.

(leadership), structure of management
Compliance with laws, codes and
standards

and policies of governance;
 Group performance on the issue,

Stakeholder engagement to inform
material issues

Our codes of conduct and ethics and

including an understanding of the

Given Bidvest’s highly decentralised

corporate values are emphasised across

indicators used to measure

structure, divisions and businesses are

the Group and create a culture of

performance, and benchmarks for

responsible for identifying and engaging

compliance with all applicable laws.

comparison (standards, time, industry

stakeholders material to their operations.

averages), observing the principles of

This engagement identifies many of the

Bidvest recognises that its greatest risk

completeness and validity (eg external

commercial and sustainable development

of non-compliance stems from ignorance

surveys);

issues Bidvest companies deal with, and

of the law. Each company is required to

 commentary on Group performance and

informs both the divisional sustainable

identify legislation that applies to the

measures and initiatives to improve

business reports within this integrated

environments in which they operate, as

performance, including awareness

annual report and the detailed reports

well as the categories of information held

programmes; and

on the Company website.

relating to this legislation. The Group
company secretary has been appointed as

 intentions and targets for improving
performance.

Bidvest has engaged Deloitte & Touche to:
 reassess who the key stakeholders are,

the information officer and publishes this
annually together with the process for

Progress can only be credibly reported

principally considering the level of

accessing the information, as required by

on if indicators are identified, monitored,

influence, dependence and

the Promotion of Access to Information

measured and recorded in a database

Act. New Acts promulgated are circulated

that becomes a useful tool for managers

to divisional management by the Group

responsible for improvements in Bidvest’s

secretariat. Awareness programmes,

sustainable development.

representation;
 evaluate existing forms of engagement
to ensure they include social, ethical and
environmental issues; and
 introduce additional engagement

through various forums, are run to update
management on legislative change and

Our data collection tool has been simplified,

how it applies to the business.

and excludes BEE data which is the

forums, as necessary.

responsibility of the transformation

Engagement with shareholders

The Group corporate governance manual

committee. Each question has a detailed

The Group engages with institutional

lists the charters, codes, policies and

help function. The tool calculates

investors on statutory, regulatory and other

documents which have to be formulated by

composite indicators from component

directives relating to the dissemination of

divisional governing bodies, including the

information, thus avoiding mistakes

information.

board, audit committee, risk committee

in the derivation of these indicators

and the human resources directorate.

(eg the lost-time injury frequency rate).

To foster dialogue and communicate Group
strategy and performance we regularly meet

These are categorised into matters the
Group deems as mandatory, recommended

We brought forward the deadline for

investors and analysts. High standards of

or optional. Internal audit will perform a

submission of sustainability data to enable

promptness, relevance and transparency

review and assessment in 2011.

a summary of this information to be

underpin our information effort. Information

included in the year-end financial

is distributed via numerous communication

Monitoring and reporting

information packs. To meet the deadline,

channels, including the internet. Great care

This is the fourth year in which we have

some businesses estimated the final two

is taken to maintain the security and

integrated sustainability reporting into the

months’ figures. This accelerated deadline

integrity of information while ensuring that

annual report and the seventh of reporting

enabled improved comment on company

critical financial information reaches all

on sustainability issues. Emphasis has

performance.

shareholders simultaneously.

environmental and social matters. All issues

Reporting on sustainable development

We are Proudly Bidvest and take pride in

are covered in greater depth elsewhere in

performance has yet to reach maturity. We

presenting a full, fair and honest account

the report and the website and include:

had difficulty finding intensity measures

of our performance.

 an understanding of the issue, its context

common to the industries we operate in

widened from transformational to

and substantiation of its materiality,

and had to restate data from previous years

Bidvest is prepared for questions about its

including stakeholder engagement;

in instances where more accurate or

corporate responsibility toward society and
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the environment. Feedback indicates that

While there was general acceptance of

Engagement with government,

shareholders do not yet rate sustainability

our formal definition of sustainability, the

authorities and regulators

high on their agenda. Thus far, questions

challenge remains to move from awareness

Bidvest is proactive in its engagement with

have generally been confined to BEE,

to tangible commitment and action.

national authorities in all jurisdictions.

operating licences, new legislation and

Employees want to feel empowered,

Engagement generally occurs at divisional

topical subjects that are receiving media play.

encouraged and mandated to use their

level. Engagement with relevant

potential.

government authorities occurs only at
Group level for overarching issues such

Bidvest is mindful that King III encourages
companies to begin educating their

Engagement with customers

as tax. Engagement with South Africa’s

investors to important non-financial issues.

Bidvest operates largely in service

Department of Labour on employment

Inclusion of these issues in the Group’s

industries. Our customers are

equity plans was devolved to the divisions.

annual report over the past three years is

overwhelmingly well-established businesses

Consultations occur as needs arise.

a step in this direction.

with strong brand reputations to protect.
Bidvest therefore forms part of the supply

Businesses comply with all relevant

Engagement with employees

chain and is frequently engaged by these

legislation, including the South African

Bidvest and operational companies engage

customers to comply with social,

Labour Relations; the Basic Conditions of

with employees in many ways. Employee

environmental and human rights standards.

Employment; the Skills Development, the
Employment Equity; the Broad-based

representation through trades unions
stands at 18% internationally and at 29% in

Bidvest divisions engage with industry

Economic Empowerment; Unemployment

South Africa. Union representation varies

bodies and regulators. The Group learns

Insurance and the Occupational Health and

widely. The Group’s policy is to ensure

continually from these engagements and

Safety Acts or international equivalents.

good employee relationships. We offer

uses these as opportunities to improve its

market-related remuneration.

performance and maintain its position as

Group Secretarial audit has identified all

leading supplier of its services. In the

legislation applying to Bidvest companies

In South Africa, divisions make effective use

foodservice industry, one result of this

and this forms the basis of an effective

of employment equity forums, enabling

engagement was our drive to lead the

compliance framework.

issues to be dealt with on site. Committees

industry in the quality of the foodservice

meet quarterly, minutes are taken and

chain and the accuracy of product labelling.

Engagement with communities,
community-based organisations and

agenda items followed up. All affected
stakeholders are kept informed. Proof of

In the few areas where companies engage

non-governmental organisations

the value of employee engagement is

consumers directly, contact centres are

Bidvest’s policy of decentralised

especially apparent in an economic

monitored and independent complaint

management extends to the engagement

downturn. Bidvest’s resignation rate is

channels consulted to identify areas for

of communities from which it draws labour

down from 18,5% to 17,1%, absenteeism

service improvement. The Group ethics

or which might be affected by its

increased slightly.

line, the general Bidvest e-mail address, the

operations.

Bidvest website and direct calls to the
We have surveyed employee perceptions

Group chief executive are used to bring

Community engagement in South Africa is

on our efforts to apply the principles of

comments and general complaints to the

quite different from other countries, where

sustainable development to the business.

attention of the businesses. At McCarthy

disparities of wealth, housing standards

The survey was sent to 20 000 e-mail

Motor Group, a customer complaints

and opportunity are not so stark. In the UK,

addresses and we received responses from

resolution centre was established to record,

Europe, Australia, New Zealand and Hong

3 200 employees from the full spectrum of

refer and follow-up customer complaints.

Kong, community engagement is closely
linked to responsible product stewardship.

Group management. Generally, employees
were delighted to be asked to contribute to

South Africa’s Consumer Protection Act

the process and were proud to work for a

becomes effective on March 31 2011.

Other community engagements are largely

company that was making a difference.

Companies are conducting staff training

associated with disaster response, in

across its business outlets to ensure

particular drought, fires and flooding.

provisions are met.

Australia and South Africa are particularly

Key challenges and opportunities were

vulnerable to these events. In such cases,

identified.
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the Company engages with local authorities

Distribution of economic value

Initially, Bidvest companies responded with

to establish action plans and uses its

generated

compliance strategies, increasing spend

expertise and resources to assist.

Despite tough trading conditions, total

on skills development, SED and

employment is up, particularly in non-South

entrepreneurship development. In 2008 we

In South Africa, where communities have

African operations. Employment within

developed an electronic procurement tool

dire basic needs that may overwhelm

South Africa is marginally up.

that undertakes a BEE status-check and
helps suppliers improve their empowerment

government resources, individual Bidvest
companies address local needs through

How the Group’s total income is shared

credentials. Using this tool, Bidvest

various avenues, including community-

between different stakeholders is presented

companies have influenced the entire

based organisations, NGOs, employees

in the value added statement in the

supply chain of thousands of suppliers,

and local government.

financial section of this annual report.

redistributing procurement to BEE suppliers.

Engagement in South Africa is also

QUICK LINK: Value added statement

Over the last two or three years, a mindset

influenced by the requirement to invest in

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/006.html

change has driven a significant
improvement in the strategic application of

socio-economic development in line with
Gender equality

the DTI Codes. Companies now see the

Bidvest seeks to provide equal

commercial benefits of connecting with

Group issues

opportunities for both men and women, in

historically disadvantaged customers

This report focuses on issues that can be

the process ensuring equal pay for equal

and suppliers. Bidvest companies are

aggregated to Group level and which can

work. Women constitute 44% of the total

developing entrepreneurs that will grow as

be sensibly governed by the Group with a

staff complement. Bidvest Foodservice

customers, developing suppliers that can

common set of policies and reporting

Australia reports annually to the Equal

compete in the marketplace for their

protocols. Issues relevant at divisional level

Opportunities for Women in the Workplace

business, and developing skilled employees

are dealt with in the divisional sustainability

agency. Progress is also being made

through sector training authorities training

reports.

across the Group, with female managers

and learnerships.

the DTI Codes.

increasing to 39% of management.
QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
reports
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/001.html

Challenges still exist; for example, mothers

This strategic approach to transformation is

in South Africa prefer not to work night

reflected on the DTI scorecard. Divisions do

shifts.

not obtain BEE ratings, but individual

Issues are categorised according to the

companies are required to.

GRI (G3) framework and cover economic

Retirement funding

and environmental performance, labour

The Group provides retirement benefits for

The best measure of the overall success of

practices and decent work, human rights,

permanent employees through pension

transformation is reflected in the Bidvest

society through sound business ethics and

funds with defined benefit and defined

rating, which has improved from a level 5 to

product responsibility.

contribution categories and defined

a level 4 contributor under the DTI Codes.

contribution provident funds or appropriate

We aim for further improvement next year.

Economic performance

industry funds or appropriate country

Economic performance describes and

funds. (Notes to the consolidated financial

The success of BEE transformation at

quantifies how we distribute the value

statements provide further details.)

Bidvest can be attributed to leadership,

channelled through the business, the

management and monitoring.

opportunities created and takes into

Broad-based black economic

account our economic contribution to

empowerment

The transformation committee, made up of

society. This is distinct from financial

In South Africa, the transformation of

executive and non-executive directors of

performance which is extensively reported.

Bidvest continued to gain momentum since

Bidvest, reviews transformation progress

In South Africa, BEE is the most material

we and our BEE partner, Dinatla Investment

against the Bidvest Charter, and recommends

issue we manage under economic

Holdings adopted the Bidvest Charter in

transformation policies and strategies to the

performance, while gender equity is an

November 2003.

board. Effective communication and execution

issue common to all operating
environments.

QUICK LINK: Transformation and
empowerment

of BEE policies are ensured by a
subcommittee, the transformation working

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/007.html
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Group-wide material issues
Material issue

Economic
performance

Environmental
performance

Labour practices
and decent work

Sub-issue

Comment on performance

Reference/link

Distribution of economic
value generated

Value added statement shows value creation of R21,7 billion with
R12,8 billion distributed to employees.
Exchanges with governments including amounts collected on their
behalf, amounted to R16,6 billion (R13,8 billion in South Africa).

Page 124

Gender equality

Women make up 44% of the workforce, 29% of management in
Australia, and 39% of Bidvest management overall

Page 57 and
page 82

The DTI Codes

Bidvest improved from level 5 to level 4

Page 51

Employment equity

Senior and middle management representation still a challenge, but
pipeline filling steadily with junior management at 52%

Page 49

Procurement

Half of Bidvest South Africa’s total procurement is now spent with
BEE suppliers

Page 49

Climate change

Impacts anticipated from tightening legislation to increase risk.
Companies positioning to achieve competitive advantage

Page 51

Carbon footprint

Third carbon footprint completed. Intensity of emissions is marginally
up from 6,5 to 6,6 tonnes CO2e per full-time employee

Page 52

Conserving resources

Measurement of usage and recycling steadily improving. No
significant fines.

Page 52

Employee engagement

Sensitive engagement during business consolidation. Resignations
down and absenteeism increased slightly

Page 52

Employee satisfaction

Measured on a decentralised basis as appropriate

Page 52

Career development

Managed at company and divisional level

Page 52

Skills training

Training spend and learnerships increased to R242 million

Page 52

Health, safety and wellness

1 164 lost-time injuries and four fatalities recorded

Page 52

HIV/Aids

High prevalence rate of 15% in South Africa. Low uptake of VCT
programmes presents a serious challenge

Page 52

Discrimination

A total of 1 434 labour disputes were recorded. Cases reported were
mostly employment related disputes but there were some allegations
of discrimination. 62% of rulings in the Company’s favour

Page 53

Fraud and theft

No material issues of significance were raised to Group level or
remained unresolved

Page 53

Anti-competitive behaviour

No anti-competitive fines were imposed

Page 53

Customer satisfaction

Measured at company level. Preparations being made to comply
with the new Consumer Protection Act in South Africa.

Page 54

Food safety

Companies comply with HACCP, turning risk into brand
strengthening opportunity

Page 54

Fair advertising and labelling

Proactive response by all customer-facing companies to
tightening legislation

Page 54

Customer privacy

Group has adopted the COBiT standards which included
specific focus on data security

Page 54

Spend increases 41% from R33,4 million to R47,2 million

Page 54

Human rights
Society through
sound business
ethics

Product
responsibility

Corporate
social investment

committee, made up of senior divisional

The accompanying summary table of

Half of Bidvest South Africa’s procurement

management. It meets quarterly.

scores for each of the seven pillars of the

is now spent with BEE suppliers.

DTI Codes shows significant improvement
A self-assessment tool enables companies

for skills development and preferential

Our most significant challenge remains

to continually measure progress and

procurement. Training spend on black

employment equity. While we have

identify gaps and opportunities for

employees increased from 1,6% to 2,5% of

improved the percentage of black middle

achieving targets.

payroll. Learnerships increased to 3 191.

and senior managers, these levels are still

50

Summary of DTI Codes scores for the Group

Element

Indicator

Ownership

% shareholding

It is widely agreed that the international
June

June

targets negotiated at the Copenhagen

Target

2010

2009

Conference fell short of the levels required

%

%

%

25%

28,4

28,4

plus

control

will be significantly increased, forcing

% black executive directors

50

24

24

% black disabled employees

2

0

0

Employment

% black senior managers

43

19

16

equity

% black middle managers

63

38

35

% black junior managers

68

52

54

3

2,5

1,6

5

11

6,5

50

50

30

Skills development spend on
Skills

black employees as % of payroll

development

Number of black employees
participating in learnerships

Preferential
procurement

governments to introduce ever-tightening
legislation limiting fossil fuel-based energy
consumption. The South African
government has already begun to talk
about commitments which could have a
major impact on:
 All businesses where transport
constitutes a significant operational cost
 Bidtravel and Bidvest Services’
aviation-services businesses due to a
possible increase in aviation fuel prices
or flight taxation aimed at reducing airline

BEE procurement spend based
on BEE procurement recognition

anticipate that in subsequent rounds of
negotiation, emission-reduction targets

1 share
Management

by science to avoid climate change. We

industry emissions (perhaps cutting
passenger volumes in the process)

levels

Enterprise

Enterprise development

development

contributions as % of NPAT

Socio-economic

Socio-economic development

development

contributions as % of NPAT

3

2

2,9

1

1

1

 Bidvest Freight, with its dependence on
international ocean shipping
 Bidvest Automotive as the market
responds to the tax penalising highemission vehicles by moving to public
transport and other solutions

below target. Total employment in South

change. We monitor regulatory risks,

Africa reduced slightly, limiting opportunities

building resilience and seeking opportunities

rise as a result of pressures on the paper

for promoting, appointing and retaining

to improve our competitive position.

and pulp industry to reduce its

skilled black staff. Filling the skills pipeline is

 Bidvest Paperplus as paper costs may

carbon-intensity

a gradual process, but through the

Tightening government regulation and

sustained efforts of our divisions, many of

energy taxes already affect our operations.

Climate change is also expected to impact

whom have industry-leading academies,

In South Africa, the hydrocarbon emission-

the availability of natural resources. Fish

we can begin to see steady transformation

based tax (in effect from September 1), is

stocks off the coast of Namibia may shrink

towards equitable employment.

expected to lead to an average increase in

or migrate due to changing ocean

the retail selling prices of motor vehicles of

conditions, prompting smaller quotas.

Government assistance

up to 2,5%. In the UK and Europe, the Euro

Businesses dependent on tourism and air

No Bidvest companies receive significant

standard for vehicle efficiency requires that

travel may be at risk as a result of changing

government assistance.

our operations there constantly upgrade

weather patterns, impacts on fauna and

their fleets. A significant initiative launched

flora, extreme weather events and shifts in

Public benefit infrastructure and

by the UK government introduces power

disease patterns. Foodservices and food

services

consumption legislation, forcing

processing businesses across all our

In South Africa, individual companies are

organisations that cross a power-usage

markets may be impacted as agricultural

highly active in making appropriate

threshold to compete with each other in a

yields change. Storms, floods and

corporate social investments.

league table based on energy efficiency.

deteriorating infrastructure may impact

By 2011, organisations must commit to

logistics and freight operations.

Environmental performance

purchase allowances in line with their

Climate change

overall power usage. Rewards will be

Positioning Bidvest as a green company

Bidvest is preparing itself for the weather-

received based on performance in the

In response to these threats companies

related and economic impacts of climate

league table.

across Bidvest are rising to the challenge
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Governance for a sustainable business

of building environmental excellence into

aircraft, consumption of office paper and

accordance with the appropriate legislation;

our reputation for quality, service, health

methane and nitrous oxide emitted by

ie hazardous waste regulations and animal

and safety.

equipment not owned or controlled by

by-products regulations.

Bidvest (referred to as Scope 3 emissions).
Labour practices and decent work

To put this policy into action, Bidvest has
improved its measurement of environmental

Not included are emissions within Bidvest

Employee engagement and satisfaction

impact. Not only do companies measure

car rental operations resulting from client

Resignations are proxy indicators of

the consumption of fuel, electricity and

usage of Bidvest owned cars.

employee satisfaction. Resignations
improved while absenteeism increased

other carbon-costly resources, they also
track other processes and behaviours that

Bidvest’s total carbon emissions increased

slightly. Some companies conduct

affect the quality, reliability, cost and

to 700 000 tonnes CO2e (of which indirect

independent employee satisfaction surveys.

efficiency of operations. Electronic vehicle

emissions totalled 17 000 tonnes CO2e).

tracking now allows monitoring of driver

The 2009 carbon emissions reduced

Career development

behaviour and has contributed to routing

following adjustments to diesel, petrol and

For all levels of management, annual

efficiency, in some instances cutting out the

electricity usage. Using full-time employees

budgets, targets and operational objectives

warehouse between supplier and customer.

(FTE) as a denominator, Bidvest’s intensity

are set through the budgeting process and

By sharing best practices through Bidvoice

of emissions were marginally up from 6,5 to

agreed between the business unit manager,

and quarterly sustainability committee

6,6 tonnes CO2e per FTE. Bidvest Services,

divisional chief executives and Group chief

meetings, companies are learning how to

with the highest number of employees,

executive. Our performance appraisal

apply new technologies to their businesses.

recorded the lowest emissions intensity of

process is based on two-way engagement,

1,7 tonnes CO2e per FTE, its emissions

resulting in commitment to and acceptance

On the back of more accurate monitoring,

from coal-fired heating of water for laundry

of targets. Performance appraisal

Bidvest companies are developing new

services amounts to nearly 6% of all Scope

processes are not standardised across

products and services that position the

1 and 2 emissions for the Group.

business units and divisions, but
standardised evaluation criteria are typically

company’s brands at the forefront of

adopted within each organisation.

environmental awareness and responsibility.

Conserving resources, recycling waste

Our “Green is Gold” positioning prepares

Bidvest companies are encouraged to

us for these opportunities. Many of these

monitor and measure the consumption of

Skills training

initiatives are described in the divisional

important resources such as water, paper

Skills training is recognised at Bidvest as

reports on the Bidvest website.

and packaging materials, as well as the

the primary avenue for achieving

proportion recycled, reused or sent to landfill.

competitive advantage at all levels of
business and is the driving force behind

Carbon footprint

our policy of promoting from within.

Bidvest concluded its fourth greenhouse

Many companies are beginning to develop

gas emissions inventory (“carbon

their own industry-relevant intensity

footprint”). All Bidvest business units are

measures to help make sense of

Bidvest companies are often the leading

included. The inventory was taken in

environmental performance indicators and

providers of skills and education in their

accordance with the Greenhouse Gas

allow better benchmarking. Ontime

industries. Total training spend increased

Protocol, compatible with other GHG

Automotive reports that it uses 52m3 of

15%. An increase of 17% in total training

standards such as the ISO 14064.

water annually per vehicle in its service

hours was reported.

fleet. More such intensity measures will be
Emitting activities include: direct

developed, enabling operations to track

Health, safety and wellness

greenhouse (GHG) emissions resulting from

their performance regardless of changes in

Many Group companies operate heavy

fuel used by vehicles and equipment

the scale of operations.

equipment and handle hazardous products.
Bidvest is acutely aware of the health and

owned or controlled by Bidvest, such as
diesel, biodiesel, petrol, LPG, LNG and

Compliance with environmental laws

safety risks faced by employees and

coal; indirect emissions from purchased

and regulations

contractors and places the utmost

electricity (referred to as Scope 1 and 2

Non-recyclable waste streams are

importance on a safe and healthy working

emissions); and selected indirect emissions

separated and dealt with according to the

environment.

resulting from business travel in corporate

latest waste handling standards and in
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Responsibility for health and safety is

divisional and business unit boards and all

presented to audit committees quarterly.

assigned to dedicated senior managers in all

Bidvest companies as part of their basic

Representations from management testing

operations where safety and health are

business operations. Policy statements are

business conduct are completed regularly.

material issues. South African companies

designed to underline the need for

No incidents, fines or penalties were

comply with the Occupational Health and

compliance with national, social and human

reported for anti-competitive behaviour.

Safety Act. International businesses meet

rights frameworks and charters.

relevant standards in their jurisdictions.

Companies are typically members of

While guided by internal codes, Bidvest

Lost-time injuries increased by 11% to 1 164.

industry associations, which usually cover

companies also comply with the legislative

these issues and include their own code of

frameworks of host countries.

The number of fatalities decreased to four,

ethics on labour practices.
We are similarly compliant in other markets.

two at Bidvest Freight, one at Bidvest
Services and one at Bidvest Foodservice

A key dispute resolution mechanism in

Europe. Each fatal incident is fully

southern Africa is the Commission for

Whistle-blowing – hotline report

investigated in cooperation with the

Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration

In addition to other compliance and

authorities. Companies at risk invest

(CCMA), a body established by the Labour

enforcement activities, the board

substantially in training to reinforce

Relations Act, 66 of 1995. Bidvest

recognises the need for confidential

awareness of the risks and embed safe

companies in South Africa and Namibia

reporting (“whistle-blowing”) of fraud, theft,

behaviour.

faced 1 434 cases (2009: 2 265), with

breach of ethics and other risks. Whistle-

62% of rulings in our favour.

blowing procedures and our 24-hour call
centre ensure formal reporting and

HIV/Aids awareness, prevention and
treatment

Society through sound business ethics

feedback. We encourage employees to

The number of HIV positive employees in

We incurred 43 fines and penalties. The

report any activity they believe to be in

southern Africa is estimated at 15%.

majority of these fines were for traffic

breach of the code of ethics and provide

Bidvest companies follow Group policy and

violations, while client and employee fraud

access to the hotline via a toll-free phone

offer their own solution in respect of HIV/

accounted for most of the value. Fines and

number, e-mail, fax, letter or SMS. Calls

Aids. Many offer voluntary counselling and

penalties amounted to R2,8 million.

were received in various languages
including English (87%), Afrikaans (6%),

testing programmes. Poor uptake of these
initiatives testifies to the taboos and

Fraud and theft

prejudices surrounding the epidemic.

Frauds up to R1 million are dealt with at

Zulu (6%) and Tswana (1%).

divisional level. These are recorded and

The call centre received 322 calls, resulting

Human rights

reported on at quarterly audit committee

in 124 interventions. The calls involved

Discrimination

meetings. Issues in the R1 million to

allegations of: 50 human resources issues

Bidvest publicly endorses the following

R10 million band are reported to the Group

or unfair labour practices, eight breaches of

charters/frameworks:

audit committee, but dealt with at divisional

ethics, two incidents of procurement

 UN Universal Declaration of Human

level. Issues involving more than R10 million

irregularities, one incident of abuse of

are reported to Group audit committee and

company property, 51 criminal

dealt with at Group level. No material issues

investigations and 12 requests for

of significance were raised to Group level or

information.

Rights
 The Bidvest Charter (BEE and
transformation)
 Various sectoral charters, such as the

remained unresolved at year-end.
Impact of operations on communities

aviation, tourism and financial industry
charters, to which business units are

Anti-competitive behaviour

As an international services, trading and

signatories

All divisions are aware of the risks of

distribution company, Bidvest has a limited

anti-competitive behaviour. Many have

impact on local communities. In respect of

ethics and human rights as outlined in

responded with awareness campaigns to

Bidvest Namibia’s fishing operations the

the corporate governance report in the

reinforce ethical business practices.

impact on the Walvis Bay community is

annual report.

All divisions maintain gifts and hospitality

extremely positive.

 Additional commitments on conduct,

registers that closely monitor employee
Statements are backed by policy

disclosures. Management discourages

documents accepted by the Group,

such practices and all registers are

QUICK LINK: Bidvest Namibia’s
sustainability report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/028.html
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Product responsibility

personnel, use the latest analytical

and health claims are more easily

Customer satisfaction

equipment to understand products and

understood by consumers and caterers.

Customer relationship management is

their ingredients in more detail. Through

We work closely with industry bodies on

driven at divisional and business unit level.

attention to the latest best practice, our

these issues.

Consumer-facing businesses conduct

foodservice companies are establishing a

annual customer satisfaction surveys and

reputation that confers competitive

Customer privacy

monitor complaints received through

advantage. Companies work closely with

South Africa’s Protection of Personal

industry bodies. Some companies

their customers. Audits of products and

Information Bill underlines a consumer’s right

subscribe to Hellopeter.com, a South

operations continue to improve. The

to privacy and a company’s duty to guard

African portal for customer complaints.

positioning of Bidvest Foodservice

personal information. Customer privacy

These channels help companies identify

companies as quality suppliers is supported

impacts mainly on Bidvest Automotive and

areas for improvement and provide

by their status as distributors and

Bidvest Bank. Both companies strictly

marketplace feedback.

technology partners of trusted international

control access to personal information for

food brands.

unsolicited direct marketing campaigns, in
accordance with the Act.

South Africa’s National Credit Act ensures
potential customers have sufficient financial

Fair advertising and labelling

means. This is of particular relevance to

In all the markets we serve, legislation is

Further detail is given in the governance

Bidvest Automotive. Last year, the

being enacted to further protect consumers

report under “Risk management:

Consumer Protection Act was signed into

from misleading advertising and labelling of

Information technology”.

South African law and is expected to come

products. Automotive and foodservice

into full effect in October. The key business

businesses are most affected.

Corporate social investment
Corporate social investment is defined as

impact is to increase transactional costs,
giving consumers the right to reject a

Bidvest Automotive stepped up training

socio-economic development under the

purchase within a defined period. Bidvest

ahead of the implementation of the

DTI Codes. Bidvest’s total CSI spend is

companies are conducting workshops with

Consumer Protection Act. Bidvest

R47,2 million (2009: R33,4 million) Bidvest

customer-facing staff to ensure provisions

Foodservices Southern Africa responded to

scores the full 5% allocation for this

are met in full.

the new labelling legislation (effective March

element on the scorecard.

2011) by requiring standardised
Food safety

documentation of allergens, quantified

Bidvest has a three-tiered CSI strategy:

Bidvest Foodservice companies adhere

statements on nutritional benefits of

 Tier one – Corporate supports a number

to strict food safety standards, thereby

products and standardisation of weights and

managing a key area of reputational risk

measures (including net and gross weights).

in their sector. Companies comply with

Labelling is expected to be policed more

HACCP, and many are working towards

thoroughly in the future, in alignment with

ISO 22000 (regarded as the most stringent

international standards. Bidvest expects to

support community-based projects in

standard worldwide).

gain a competitive advantage in this new

their operational areas

of overarching worthy causes
 Tier two – individual divisions support
their own flagship projects
 Tier three – individual businesses

operating environment, leveraging off the
Legislative risk is closely monitored. We

leading standards we set for the industry.

Staff members responsible for these
programmes assess the impact and

see a continuing trend toward stringent
regulation of food safety. Major items of

All European operations are subject to

outcomes of each programme and adjust

legislation such as the Consumer

the European Union’s Unfair Commercial

investment accordingly.

Protection Act (scheduled for imminent

Practices Act of 2008. This legislation bans

implementation) in South Africa have

unfair commercial practices linked to the

Corporate encourages and guides CSI by

wide-ranging ramifications. We liaise

promotion, sale or delivery of a product or

sharing success stories in Bidvoice, on the

proactively with the Consumer Goods

service to the consumer. Authorities

website, the intranet, in reports, at

Council, which channels industry opinion

interview companies about “blacklisted”

roadshows and company gatherings.

to the DTI.

sales practices in the foodservices industry.

We see this “risk” as an opportunity to

No Bidvest companies have been found to

Rally to Read is one example of a CSI

be involved in any such practices.

flagship programme.

differentiate ourselves from less wellresourced competitors. Food safety

In Europe and the UK, regulations have

QUICK LINK: CSI ﬂagship programmes

departments, headed by qualified

been introduced to ensure that nutrition

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/008.html
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Sustainable development performance data
QUICK LINK: Historic sustainable
development performance data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/009.html

2010

2009

17 282 697

17 358 669

CSI (R’000)

47 229

33 444

South Africa

35 197

25 312

International

12 032

8 132

CSI as % of pre-taxation profit

1,0

0,8

South Africa

1,2

0,8

International

0,6

0,8

41,1

70,7

2 405 195

2 016 327

398 984

390 822

Petrol (litres)

22 643 913

24 837 710

Diesel (litres)

100 859 428

96 463 480

699 779

676 630

6,6

6,5

Economic

(1)

Value added statement
Refer to financial statements, page 124.
Black economic empowerment procurement
BEE procurement (R’000, adjusted in terms of the DTI Codes)
Corporate social investment

Enterprise development spend (R million) – South Africa

Environmental parameters(2)
Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)(3)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)(3)
(1)

(2)
(3)

Economic performance describes and quantifies how we distribute the value channelled through the business, the opportunities created and takes into account our economic
contribution to society. This is distinct from financial performance which is extensively reported.
2009 environmental figures restated.
The GHG Protocol
The GHG (greenhouse gas) Protocol is the most widely used tool for quantifying and managing GHG emissions, converting six main greenhouse gases into carbon dioxide equivalent
units (CO2e) and separating GHG-producing activities into “scopes” according to the level of corporate control over activities.
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2010

2009

Number of disabled employees

326

296

South Africa

266

247

International

60

49

Trade unionisation (%)

27,2

28,7

South Africa

29,3

30,1

International

18,0

20,9

Training spend (R’000) (1)

242 001

209 766

South Africa

222 715

191 581

International

19 285

18 185

Training spend per employee (R)

2 288

2 028

South Africa

2 583

2 110

International

988

1 439

Training hours

1 796 814

1 531 854

South Africa

1 436 027

1 213 958

International

360 788

317 896

Training hours per employee

17,0

14,8

South Africa

16,7

13,9

International

18,5

20,2

Lost-time injury frequency rate

5,5

5,2

South Africa

4,5

4,9

International

11,2

6,2

Work-related fatalities

4

11

South Africa

3

9

International

1

2

22,9

21,5

Labour practices

Training

Health and safety

HIV/Aids
Percentage employees participating in HIV/Aids awareness programmes
(1)

2009 training spend restated to include learnerships.
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2010

2009

105 752

103 449

Southern Africa

91 033

90 813

International

14 719

12 636

100,0

100,0

Male

56,2

57,5

Female

43,8

42,5

100,0

100,0

Male

52,5

53,6

Female

47,5

46,4

100,0

100,0

Male

72,3

78,4

Female

27,7

21,6

Directors

16,8

17,1

Management

39,1

33,4

Other employees

44,3

43,0

100,0

100,0

Black

71,8

72,9

White

13,8

12,9

Indian

5,2

4,7

Coloured

9,2

9,6

100,0

100,0

Black male

45,8

46,8

White male

6,7

6,7

Black female

40,2

40,4

White female

7,3

6,1

Employees and their composition
Number of employees

Employment by gender profile (%)
Group

South Africa

International

Female employment by management level (1)

Employment equity profile by race (%) South Africa

Employment equity by race and gender (%) South Africa(2)

(1)
(2)

This is an accumulation of data across the Group
Black indicates African, Indian and coloured as defined in terms of the DTI Codes
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Looking up,
aiming higher
Every person at Bidvest is motivated to strive, contribute
and achieve a shared vision in which
the possibilities are infinite.

Operational review
60
66
72
88
96
102
110
116

Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paperplus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
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Operational review

Bidvest Freight
The leading private sector freight management group in sub-Saharan Africa, consisting of
several independent businesses focusing on terminal operations, international clearing and
freight forwarding, logistics and marine services.

R15,9 billion
Revenue 14,5% decrease

R794,3 million
Trading profit 3,1% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)

14,1%

(Divisional contribution %)

14,1%

Health and safety
The sustainability issues that confront Bidvest Freight arise from the hazardous nature of
some of the bulk commodities which presents a threat to the safety of the people involved
and to a certain extent the environment. Good safety governance and commitment
remains an area of focus throughout the businesses.

60

Highlights
 Division does well in challenging trading conditions
 Strong performance by bulk handling businesses
 Major capex investments completed
 Long-term leases successfully renegotiated with Transnet
 Capacity expanded while staffing structures have been streamlined
 Bulk Connections awarded the “Best Environmental Protection” award by
the International Bulk Journals
 Expenditure on programmes to combat HIV/Aids and create awareness
increased by 77%

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue
Trading profit

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

15 941,8

18 647,9

794,3

770,7

Operating assets

3 162,7

2 675,0

Operating liabilities

2 090,0

1 811,4

144,7

143,5

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets

9,1

11,0

75,2

68,0

4 860

5 212

23 926

29 139(1)

4 923

5 591(1)

37,4

22,5

6,5

6,6

Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees
Total training spend (R’000)
Training spend per employee (R)
Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)
BEE procurement (R’000)
CSI spend (R’000)
Enterprise development spend (R’000)
Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

2

4

1 610 161

1 681 646

4 937

3 866

15 688

36 783

332 477

292 006(2)

49 836

63 692(2)

Petrol (litres)

542 642

874 689

Diesel (litres)

6 081 342

5 720 253

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

2009 restated to include learnerships

(2)

Restated

71 757

80 947(2)

14,8

15,5(2)

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/010.html
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Operational review

Bidvest Freight

Anthony Dawe, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

Revenue fell by 14,5% to R15,9 billion

storage and the hazardous nature of

Bidvest Freight’s key port facilities and

(R18,7 billion). This was largely the result

handling bulk commodities. Safe working

the safe, efficient and innovative operation

of much lower clearing and forwarding

practice is continually reinforced and safety

of its goods- and materials-handling

volumes, which although low-margin

training provided on an ongoing basis.

infrastructure drive the business’s

activities are by far the biggest contributor

positioning as a reliable long-term partner

to Bidvest Freight’s revenue.

Strategic and industry dynamics
A critical strategic objective was realised

of importers and exporters, many of
whom are key contributors to the nation’s

Trading profit of R794,3 million

with the renegotiation and finalisation of

bottom line. In a tough year, Bidvest Freight

(R770,7 million) was 3,1% higher than

long-term leases for the Bulk Connections

strengthened its reputation as a partner

last year, reflecting the relatively strong

facilities in Durban and the Island View

customers can trust and further tightened

performance of the terminals business

Storage facilities at Richards Bay.

its focus on the core terminals business.

following an improvement in bulk
commodity volumes.

Macro- and trading environment

Certainty of tenure permits long-term
investment at all sites. R503 million was

World trade stalled as a result of the

All bulk businesses performed well,

international financial crisis while South

including Island View Storage, Bulk

Africa slid into recession at the beginning

Connections, South African Bulk Terminals

Renegotiation, however, leads to higher

of the period. Recovery has been slow.

and Bidvest Port Operations.

rentals and other demands from our
Transnet landlord. The overall effect is to

These macro-factors were reflected in the
performance of Bidvest Freight. Prospects

invested this year.

Cash flows remained strong.

increase our overheads. New operational
efficiencies then have to be sought if

of a strong finish to the year were impacted
by the national Transnet strike in the fourth

Unfortunately, depressed consumer

quarter. Rail freight and container terminals

demand affected many import and export

came to a standstill for several weeks.

categories and some jobs were lost. Total

Tenure certainty was welcome, but other

Knock-on effects at Bidvest Freight were

staff complement fell from 5 212 to 4 860.

types of “certainty” were challenged by

significant.

The main cause was a restructuring and

a new strategic environment. In the past,

retrenchment programme at Safcor

a strong rand meant increased imports of

Performance

Panalpina, the international clearing and

consumer goods; a weak rand meant

Bidvest Freight did well in this challenging

forwarding business. All retrenchment costs

increased exports, bringing an element of

environment.

were fully expensed.

balance to our activities at different stages

Despite poor economic conditions, good

Regrettably, the division suffered two

and inconsistency have replaced old

performance in bulk commodities offset low

fatalities. Some activities at Bidvest Freight

certainties.

demand for consumer retail products.

are inherently high risk as they involve the

appropriate returns are to be earned.

of the business cycle. However, volatility

62

The rand remained strong throughout the

year the objective was inflation plus 6%.

management attention. Improved

period, but heavily indebted consumers

Bidvest Freight fell below the target.

collections were evident by year-end.

remained sluggish. A relatively strong rand

A further key benchmark is the return on

Fuel costs were relatively stable. Diesel

may have inhibited some exports, but the

funds employed, which focuses on the

costs are expected to drop as Bidvest

volume of commodity exports moved

management of assets and cash flow as

Freight has continued the conversion from

higher as the year progressed. The east’s

well as trading profit.

diesel-powered to electric forklift trucks.

were reluctant to spend. Imports therefore

position as a leading customer for South
African commodities was entrenched.
Over many years, the view has been that in
the movement of goods, state control of
large parts of the industry is justified.
However, the recent Transnet strike has
shown that difficulties experienced by one
big employer have the potential to choke
rail and port traffic.
In the wake of the Transnet strike, we

Whatever the source, Bidvest Freight
Workplace safety is benchmarked

remains a large power user with a relatively

rigorously.

large carbon footprint. For the last three
years, fuel and energy use has been closely

BEE progress is measured monthly and

monitored, creating a benchmark against

reviewed every quarter at all operations.

which consistent improvements will be

All businesses, with two exceptions, are

achieved.

certificated level 4 empowerment
contributors or better.

The general operational and environmental

Brand and operational dynamics

practice; especially in safety-critical areas

believe it is time to reconsider the case for

Every business at Bidvest Freight is a

greater private sector participation in the

strong corporate brand in its own right.

port and rail sectors.

Common characteristics are performance
reliability, industry-leading facilities and

Efficiencies

strategically located infrastructure. Safcor

Restructuring was necessary at Safcor

Panalpina is an internationally known brand

Panalpina to create a leaner team to deal

thanks to its relationship with Panalpina,

with lower volumes. Efficiencies were

one of the world’s leading providers of

realised across the board. The net effect

forwarding and logistics services.

was to remove an entire management tier.
Slimmer structures are working well,

The main operational challenge at several

though the full benefits will not be apparent

businesses remains variable service levels

until the coming year. Safcor Panalpina is

from Transnet’s freight rail operations.

simultaneously investing in new IT systems.

Unfortunately, this frequently necessitates

A key aspect of Bidvest Freight’s
sustainability model relates to equipment
efficiency. To ensure maximum uptime,
support a safe workplace and create a ‘no
surprises environment’ for customers, the
business invests in replacement plant well
ahead of any threatened breakdowns.
A major contributor to efficiency is the
knowledge and skill of our people. Training
is continuous and the training spend for
the year was R23,9 million.

Benchmarks
The key financial benchmark of all
operations is to raise trading profit by
inflation plus a specific percentage. Last

a switch to road transport, adding to the
carbon footprint while increasing traffic
congestion. Bidvest Freight teams have put
considerable effort into increasing truck
throughput. For example, Bulk Connections
handled 400 trucks in a single day. We still

target is performance to world best
such as the handling of chemicals and
other hazardous substances.

New initiatives
Capital expenditure of R503 million drove
significant growth in capacity.
A further 60 000m³ was added to the
tankage at the IVS facility in Richards Bay.
The project began in June last year and
was completed ahead of schedule in April.
New storage capacity addresses the needs
of a large chemical exporter. The work
included the construction of a one kilometre
rail siding.
SACD’s Cape Town 20 000m² warehouse
has been completed. This project gives
SACD state-of-the-art racking and storage
facilities to assist exporters, especially the
wine industry.

believe rail to be the most efficient means
of transporting cargo and are in discussions

All businesses are engaged in projects to

with Transnet to achieve this.

expand existing capacity or accelerate
throughput.

Interest rates moved lower. This reduced
earnings at clearing and forwarding and

Business risks

agency businesses.

Risks are little changed, though some
recent events have underlined key

Working capital management remained a

challenges. For example, Bidvest Freight

priority. “Over-age” debtors and the number

was reminded of its reliance on Transnet

of debtors handed over for legal action

during the Transnet strike.

rose. The issue received focused
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Bidvest Freight
Transnet’s ability to set the industry agenda

Economic performance – Bidfreight

distribute ARVs, immune boosters and

and redefine industry cost structures was

Port Operations and SACS have

vitamins at no cost to employees.

also showcased. Recent pay awards to

joined Bidfreight Intermodal as level 2

Expenditure on these programmes rose

Transnet workers will doubtless raise

contributors under the DTI Codes.

by 77%.

expectations across the industry.

Others are at level 3 or 4, with the
exception of Manica Africa and

Labour disputes – CCMA cases brought

Transnet is both our competitor and our

Ensimbini Terminals where the focus

against Bidvest Freight dropped 14% to 32,

landlord. It creates a unique challenge

is to achieve a minimum of level 4.

with 26 findings in favour of the division.
No Department of Labour fines were

when a competitor can also influence your

incurred for non-compliance.

costs. Bidvest Freight and Transnet have

Environment – Electricity and fuel

managed these issues in a businesslike

consumption are the main contributors to

fashion for years and recent renegotiation

our carbon footprint. The trend to replace

Society – Internal audit manages various

of our leases confirms that mutually

rail with road transport continues to present

aspects of ethical business conduct,

acceptable solutions can be found.

challenges in the form of damage to

including whistle-blowing, gifts register,

infrastructure and increased fuel usage, but

fraud, corruption and anti-trust behaviour.

Credit risk affects all business and a return

we are working with port and transport

Due procedure is set for all significant

to no or low economic growth heightened

stakeholders to find solutions. Bulk

incidents, including the involvement of the

the problem. Bidvest Freight’s main

Connections was awarded the “Best

South African Police Services. One serious

customers are major corporates. Their

Environmental Protection Award” by the

incident was encountered at Manica

ability to meet their commitments is in

International Bulk Journals, recognising

Africa’s Durban operation. Investigations

little doubt.

work over several years. Bidvest Freight

are underway in conjunction with the SAPS.

continues to focus on the management
Bidvest Freight’s operations are hazardous

of dust levels.

Corporate social investment – Individual
businesses conduct their own programmes

by their very nature. The risk is managed by
constant vigilance, continual training in

Human resources – Recessionary

serving the needs of communities affected

safety procedures and ongoing investment

pressures resulted in 97 people being

by the company, with a focus on education

in equipment and modern facilities.

retrenched from Safcor Panalpina. Training

and HIV/Aids.

focused on literacy, lifeskills and supervisory
People risk is integral to all businesses that

management skills, an area in critical

depend on dedicated, experienced staff.

demand in our industry. Safcor Panalpina

We operate in Africa and the entire

and Rennies Distribution Services have

continent suffers from a continual

training academies on site, enabling the

haemorrhage of managerial, engineering

businesses to customise training to their

and specialist skills. We respond through

needs.

High levels of manganese and coal exports

special interventions such as cadet

Health and safety – Though we have

industrialised India and China is strong and

management programmes.

active health and safety committees and

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/011.html

Future
confirm that demand from newly

formal training, on-the-job training and

safety personnel are employed to improve

Sustainable development

awareness and prevention, Bidvest Freight

Our culture contributes to talent retention.

regrettably suffered two fatalities and the

Our staff take pride in their performance

death of one casual labourer. We are

and their membership of teams that set the

proactive in tackling HIV/Aids, offering

industry standard for efficiency and delivery.

training and VCT programmes. We
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can be expected to continue for some time.
Growth rates in the rest of the world are
somewhat lower, but appear to be
improving.
South African consumers remain under
pressure, but recovery seems to be under

way, suggesting that consumer demand

BIDFREIGHT PORT OPERATIONS

handling and containerisation of chrome

will gradually revive.

BPO recorded a very pleasing result. Higher

ore. Tallying revenue increased off the back

levels of steel and forest products exports

of increased container volumes.

Our capacity has been expanded while

and bulk imports underpinned growth,

staffing structures have been streamlined.

aided by improved earnings from

SAFCOR PANALPINA

Bidvest Freight is therefore well positioned

stevedoring, warehousing and transport

Volumes fell dramatically, leading to a major

to benefit from any increase in world trade

operations. The new bulk fertiliser business

retrenchment programme in the second

and in commodity imports and exports.

performed well, more than offsetting lower

quarter. Cost control remained a critical

food imports.

area of focus for management. Revenue

The non-financial targets are largely

and trading profit were well below
expectation, though stability and a measure

fatalities and our industry’s lowest accident

RENNIES DISTRIBUTION
SERVICES

rates while positioning ourselves as the

Implementation of last year’s turnaround

year-end.

employer and supplier of choice.

strategy continued. Despite the challenging

unchanged. We want to achieve zero

of improvement were evident towards

retail environment, a leaner RDS team

MARINE SERVICES

BULK CONNECTIONS

secured improved revenue by growing

The business performed exceptionally

The business achieved very good trading

volumes from existing customers while

well in challenging circumstances. A major

profit on the back of extremely high

winning new business. Costs were strictly

customer was lost at the beginning of

capacity utilisation and strong demand for

controlled, contributing to a significant

the year. Expense control and cash flow

coal and manganese. Rail services were

increase in trading profit.

management were stepped up. Port
Operations and P & I Associates had a

sometimes unpredictable, resulting in

SACD FREIGHT

great year. Rennie Murray was under

Depressed demand for consumer and

pressure as work in the automotive industry

Renegotiation of the lease and subsequent

automotive products resulted in a difficult

fell away.

investment will permit the business to store

year. Both trading profit and revenue were

and handle a wider range of commodities

below last year. New capacity came on-

MANICA AFRICA

while recent expansion of facilities will

stream in Johannesburg and Cape Town.

Results were disappointing. The business

enable our teams to process even higher

Mineral volumes through Johannesburg

was impacted by a reduction in aid cargoes

volumes. Congestion in an around the

showed strong growth in the second half.

into Africa, inconsistent cargo flows from

growing reliance on road transport.

Durban terminal may, however, constrain

the DRC, the closure of copper mines in

the rate of growth.

SOUTH AFRICAN BULK
TERMINALS

Zambia and continuing political and

ISLAND VIEW STORAGE

Strong revenue streams and strict control

Malawi.

Demand for liquid bulk storage moved

of costs helped the business to record

higher and IVS performed well, achieving

levels of profitability. Capacity utilisation was

a record trading profit after a strong

driven by strong wheat imports while a

second-half performance. The new

bumper crop resulted in buoyant maize

Richards Bay tanks were commissioned,

exports in the fourth quarter. Rice volumes

adding to capacity from the third quarter.

were also strong, though they tapered off

The fire control system at the Isando facility

toward year-end.

financial challenges in Zimbabwe and

is being upgraded.

NAVAL
Demand for storage services for chemicals,

Trading conditions remain challenging.

gases, fats, oils and additives is expected

Trading profit rose significantly, though

to remain high as the economy recovers.

foreign exchange gains contributed strongly

IVS is well placed to benefit, given recent

to the overall result. Performance was

expansion.

driven by coal-handling work and new
business gains, relating primarily to the
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Bidvest Services
Offers a full range of outsourced services including cleaning, laundry, hygiene, security,
interior and exterior landscaping, aviation services, industrial supplies, travel, banking and
foreign exchange services, office automation, e-procurement, online travel, drinking water,
water coolers and indoor plants and flowers.

R7,9 billion
Revenue 2,2% decrease

R1 126,0 million
Trading profit 4,7% decrease

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
7,0%

(Divisional contribution %)
19,9%

Health and safety
Our Sky Crew rises to any occasion with highly specialised cleaning solutions for elevated
areas. We take advantage of mountaineering techniques for our rope access work and are
skilled in the use of high access ladders, hydraulic lifts, scaffolds, suspended platforms and
fall arrest methods. Safety of our staff and everyone within the environment is our primary
consideration. Staff are highly trained and all safety procedures are strictly implemented in
compliance with the OHS Act.
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Highlights
 Pleasing results despite challenging conditions for most the year
 Bidvest Services tops the billion rand trading profit-mark for the first time
after the inclusion of McCarthy Fleet Services
 Strong showing by Steiner, Magnum, MFS, Prestige, Konica Minolta,
GPT and the Greens Group
 Contract-based activities hold up well in challenging environment
 Teams make the most of fourth-quarter improvement
 Successful integration of MFS into Bidvest Bank
 Business ethics awareness campaign launched
 All major forms of fossil fuel energy reduced
 Substantial investment in training of unskilled recruits

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)

2009
R’m

2010(1)
R’m

Revenue

7 927,8

8 105,9

Trading profit

1 126,0

1 181,1

Operating assets

4 935,5

5 850,7

Operating liabilities

2 574,2

2 049,5

575,3

504,6

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets

23,1

29,7

433,8

371,8

Employees

62 041

61 470

Total training spend (R’000)

38 928

43 571(2)

Training spend per employee (R)

627

709(2)

Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)

28,4

22,4

4,3

3,9

Goodwill and intangible assets

Sustainable development indicator overview

Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)
BEE procurement (R’000)
CSI spend (R’000)
Enterprise development spend (R’000)
Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

1

7

1 626 536

1 008 526

6 383

9 487

10 268

18 590

859 826

651 071(3)

27 980

31 662

Petrol (litres)

6 761 242

7 314 778(3)

Diesel (litres)

6 446 160

6 294 981(3)

102 891

106 714(3)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)

1,7

(1)

Current year sustainable development figures include McCarthy Fleet Services, transferred from Bidvest Automotive. Other than the number of
employees, the 2009 figures in relation to this transfer, have not been restated as the impact is not considered significant

(2)

Restated to include learnerships

(3)

Restated

1,7

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/012.html
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Bidvest Services

Lindsay Ralphs, chief executive

Positioning and reputation
Bidvest Services businesses are often
industry leaders and champions of best
practice. A national footprint and
substantial resources enable our brands to
work as long-term partners of the
companies they serve.

Macro- and trading environment
The depth of the recession in the first half
prompted strategic reappraisals across
industry and commerce. The business-tobusiness trading environment was
characterised by deep cost cuts and
intense contract negotiation. Volumes
dropped sharply in some areas.

4,7% down (2009: R1,2 billion). Revenue
dipped 2,2% to R7,9 billion (2009:
R8,1 billion).
Bidvest Services exceeded the billion rand
trading profit-mark for the first time thanks
to the inclusion of our new acquisition,
McCarthy Fleet Services from Bidvest
Automotive. The business is being
integrated into Bidvest Bank.
Particularly pleasing was that we almost
achieved our Bidvest conference stretch
target set in February of R1,120 billion
trading profit, despite underperformance
at Bidvest Bank and TMS.

Major customers in the resources sector
applied rigorous cost controls. Bidvest
Services has little direct exposure to the
consumer economy, but many customers
depend on retail sales. Our businesses felt
sometimes severe knock-on effects as
consumers tightened their belts and
unemployment rose. Trading conditions
improved in the third and fourth quarter.

Good performances were recorded by
Steiner Group, Magnum in our cluster of
security businesses, MFS, Prestige Group,
Konica Minolta, Global Payment
Technologies and Green Services.

Lower interest rates and rand stability were
negative for banking and foreign exchange
operations. The World Cup effect was
beneficial, but was not as significant as we
expected.

The World Cup was generally positive,
particularly at Prestige and TopTurf.
Bidtravel disappointed.

Improved asset management, stronger cash
flow and progress on our BEE scorecards
contributed to the satisfactory result.

Performance

Rationalisation and restructuring proved
necessary in several businesses and
regrettably some jobs were lost.

Pleasing results were recorded in the face
of challenging trading conditions for most
of the year. Trading profit of R1,1 billion was

Debtors collections were ahead of budget
and record cash flow was also achieved.
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No major capital expenditure projects were
initiated. However, return on funds employed
fell from 46,1% to 36,7%, though year-onyear results are not directly comparable.
Once the fleet services/Bidvest Bank effect
is stripped out, ROFE moves to 48,1% – a
pleasing result in challenging conditions.
The system of sustainability committees
and constant sustainability measurement
and reporting has bedded in and became
part of our culture. A comprehensive
energy audit was carried out.

Strategic and industry dynamics
Bidvest Services is active in many sectors.
The common factor is the cost sensitivity
of clients and intense focus on expense
management. This led to renegotiation of
rates. Many of our businesses are labour
intensive. Wages therefore are a major cost
component and became more so as annual
wage negotiations resulted in pay awards
above prevailing inflation. Some clients
were unwilling to agree to increases or
tried to keep rates unrealistically low. On
occasion, we walked away from contracts
rather than agree to terms that delivered
zero value.
Travel and banking businesses were
severely affected by much-reduced levels
of corporate travel and lower transaction
values. Operations serving the tourism
industry were affected by lower inflows of
visitors and belt-tightening by domestic
consumers. In some areas, hotel
occupancy fell to as low as 25%.

Contract-based activities held up remarkably
well and annuity income was maintained at
pleasing levels by businesses such as Steiner
Hygiene Services, Prestige and Magnum.
Some smaller competitors were severely
affected by the harsh economic climate.
Industry casualties occurred. In this tough
trading environment many of our operations
increased market share.
Our cleaning and banking businesses had
major exposure to the World Cup and new
infrastructure was added to maximise
revenue opportunities in the fourth quarter.

Efficiencies
Every business re-examined costs and
pursued savings. In many cases, sales,
administration and management teams
were trimmed. Various retrenchment
programmes were carried out. Rightsizing
of various businesses in the previous
financial year and the first six months of the
current year paid dividends in the second
half of the year. Konica Minolta is a good
example of these successes.
Replacement cycles were reviewed. Where
there was no risk to safety and customer
service levels could be maintained,
equipment replacement was deferred.
The result was a significant improvement in
asset management and cash generation.

Benchmarks
Target achievement was a major challenge
in the face of a severe first-half downturn.
However, our teams derived maximum
advantage from the second-half
improvement in trading conditions.
Individual benchmarks are set for each
business. Every business is measured
monthly and quarterly. ROFE, cash flow
and asset management goals are set as
well as profit targets.
Transformation progress is a business
imperative and measured constantly, as
is workplace safety.

Brand and operational dynamics
Our businesses are industry leaders in their
respective sectors. Positioning is supported
by a customer-centric philosophy, high
quality standards and reliable delivery.
Service quality was underlined when
Bidvest Bank won the Acsa Feather Award
as the best provider of airport-based
financial services at both OR Tambo
International Airport and Cape Town
International Airport. Category honours
were won in the face of competition from
the Big Four high street banks and
specialist foreign exchange bureaus.
The bank opened its flagship branch at
ORT’s new central terminal building and won
Acsa tenders for foreign exchange and
banking services at Cape Town International
Airport and the new Durban International
Airport which opened at year-end.

emphasise the Bidvest link. It is likely that
other brands will follow suit.
Prestige, our cleaning services arm, acquired
NICE Equipment, a nationally represented
toilet hire and waste management company
and a leader in the provision of portable
executive toilet solutions. The deal
strengthened Prestige’s toilet hire capabilities
ahead of the World Cup.
Our securities business acquired Bandit, a
vehicle-tracking company. Vehicle tracking
is seen as a growth area that offers
opportunities for synergies with Bidvest
Automotive’s interests. Rebranding of
Bandit to Bidtrack is under way.
We merged our Puréau Water business
with Nestlé Water Coolers, maintaining
82% ownership overall.

Business risks
Our security brands had a good year
thanks in part to their ability to offer several
security solutions from a single source.
Research has confirmed that bizhub,
Konica Minolta’s flagship product, is South
Africa’s favourite brand in its category.
Strong awareness is supported by
sustained sports marketing.

New initiatives
McCarthy Fleet Services was successfully
integrated into Bidvest Bank, a realignment
from Bidvest Automotive that significantly
expands Bidvest Services. Consolidation
widens the bank’s previously narrow base as
the fleet services operation is a strong player
in the market for asset-based finance.
Bidvest Bank has become a high profile
brand in a little over a year after strong TV
advertising. The bank pioneered the use of
the Bidvest name at operational level in
South Africa and showed that the Group’s
name could be successfully leveraged by
individual businesses.
Bidvest Prestige Group, Magnum, Steiner,
TMS and TopTurf are being rebranded to

The risk of reliance on labour in sometimes
heavily unionised environments was
highlighted in a year when wage awards
were sometimes significantly above
inflation. The risk is managed by focused
attention on industrial relations. There is
also broad acknowledgement that Bidvest
Services is a socially responsible employer
that respects industry agreements.
Credit risk heightens in uncertain trading
conditions. Debtors departments showed
they were up to the risk-management
challenge by consistently meeting their
targets.
There is no risk of a World Cup hangover.
Some infrastructure was added to maximise
the opportunity and the NICE Equipment
acquisition widened our service offering.
However, all expansion was in areas in
which we see long-term opportunity. The
World Cup did not lead to overcommitment
on our part.
Many of our services are vulnerable to
corporate cutbacks as quantities or
frequency of service can be curtailed. The
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Bidvest Services
risk is addressed by remaining flexible and
retaining the ability to rightsize our
businesses when volumes fall.
Agency risk is ever present as local
distribution can be affected by changes
affecting an overseas brand principal. Our
broad national footprint and reputation for
quality service help manage the risk.

Sustainable development
Bidvest Services is one of the oldest
Bidvest divisions. Core Bidvest values are
deeply embedded. The proudly Bidvest
attitude brings unity and shared purpose
to a diversified business.

Health and safety – A strong focus on
training helps keep work-related injuries
below industry norms. Unfortunately, we
suffered one fatality at Magnum Shield
Security when an employee died of natural
causes during working hours.

Equipment was successfully integrated into
the business and after a slow start helped
Prestige to maximise the World Cup
opportunity.

Labour disputes – CCMA cases brought
against Bidvest Services dropped 41% to
1 189, with 61% of findings in favour of the
division. No Department of Labour fines
were incurred for non-compliance.

TMS had a disappointing year. Some large
clients mothballed projects on the run-in to
the World Cup, severely impacting the
volume of shutdown and maintenance
work. Revenue remained flat and trading
profit fell significantly. Expansion into Saudi
Arabia was unsuccessful. The offshore
operation made a loss and has been
closed. Further restructuring is under way.

Society – No significant incidents of fraud,
corruption or anti-competitive behaviour
were recorded. We embarked on an

TMS GROUP INDUSTRIAL
SERVICES

internal awareness campaign.
Economic performance – While Bidvest
Services is a level 4 contributor under the
DTI Codes, Prestige, with half the division’s
employees, achieved a level 2 rating.
We focus on empowering historically
disadvantaged black citizens in our
workforce and the supply chain to improve
our qualification for major public and private
sector business.
Environment – Bidvest Services is
responsible for 36% of the Group’s water
consumption and 15% of carbon emissions
(largely from coal-fired heating of water)
through its laundry services. New initiatives
involving heat exchange technology are
reducing this environmental impact.
Human resources – Bidvest Services is
in negotiations with various unions on the
establishment of a national bargaining
council for the cleaning sector. No
significant strike action affected our
businesses or employees. Staff turnover at
Prestige is half that of the cleaning industry
as a whole. We invest heavily in the training
of unskilled recruits, setting the industry
standard for excellence.

LAUNDRY SERVICES
QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/013.html

Future
Recessionary pressures eased toward yearend, suggesting that a return to prerecession trading patterns is under way.
Our businesses put in a strong fourthquarter performance and are well
positioned to maintain momentum.
Some industry consolidation has occurred,
but no major groupings have emerged.
Over the year, Bidvest Services businesses
improved their competitive position relative
to their industry peers and will seek further
gains in market share.

PRESTIGE CLEANING SERVICES
The team once again produced an
excellent set of results, growing sales and
trading profit in a difficult market. Margins
remained under pressure, largely as a result
of resistance to price rises that reflected
increased labour costs. Stringent expense
management kept the return on funds
employed at pleasing levels. NICE
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The laundry operation achieved a small
trading profit increase off marginally lower
revenue – a highly satisfactory results in
view of low hotel occupancies for most of
the year. The Garment Rental division
continued to perform well, as did Montana
Laundries, the specialist provider of
on-premise laundries to major clients in
the healthcare and mining industries.

STEINER GROUP
The business realised the benefits of a
more streamlined management structure
and put in a highly commendable
performance. Good revenue growth, further
improvement in margin management and
reduced expenses led to pleasing growth in
trading profit. ROFE reached a new high.
Steiner is positioned for renewed gains
following further improvement in the quality
of regional and branch management. The
company has disposed of the Steinmed
business.

BIDSERV INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS
A strong fourth quarter lifted overall results,
but could not offset the impact of nine
months of difficult trading conditions.

Recessionary effects were severe in the first
half and teams did well to make the most
of their opportunities later in the year. The
Giant Clothing operation in Malawi was
closed and relocated to Swaziland,
impacting profitability favourably.

GREEN SERVICES
The overall result was extremely pleasing.
Puréau and Execuflora excelled and Hotel
Amenities performed well. TopTurf
optimised its World Cup opportunity but
was impacted by a dramatic scaling back
of major contracting work.

AVIATION SERVICES
Depressed conditions in the aviation
industry resulted in lower revenue and
much lower trading profit. A restructure is
under way to significantly reduce costs.
Acsa’s appointment of a third ground
handler impacted the ramp-handling
business and led to depressed pricing and
the loss of some contracts. Premier
lounges and Express Air Services
performed well.

SECURITY GROUP (Magnum and
Bidtrack)
Our cluster of security businesses showed
continued growth. A more streamlined
management structure and several contract
gains drove the recovery. Magnum
continues to gain market share and
enhance its reputation. Provicom Risk
Solutions was merged into Magnum.

and recorded strong growth in trading
profit. Rationalisation resulted in significant
cost savings and took the return on funds
employed to a new high. Market share
gains were achieved and bizhub
entrenched its leadership position.
Internationally, Océ was acquired by
Canon. However, our distribution
agreement was renewed.

BIDTRAVEL
The travel business came under continued
pressure as travel remained a key target for
businesses looking to curb spending.
Trading profit fell, as did revenue. Volume
improvements were apparent toward
year-end. The flagship Rennies Travel
business came under sustained pressure.
The mymarket.com travel booking engine
(and platform for Group-wide buying
synergies) has been integrated into
Bidtravel and showed continued growth
in volumes.

BANKING SERVICES
Falling interest rates and a strong rand were
negative for banking business and both
revenue and trading profit fell significantly.
In challenging conditions, the Bidvest Bank
team continued to innovate, launching new
products while growing the national
footprint. Transaction volumes were
maintained, though transaction values fell.
The bank was strongly positioned as “the
foreign exchange specialist”.

GLOBAL PAYMENT
TECHNOLOGIES

Deposit-taking activities showed pleasing
growth, cash flows were strong and
expenses well managed despite
accelerating growth. The bank suffered no
bad debts and there are no impairment
issues to manage.

The team performed well and in line with
budget, despite pressure early in the year
when major clients in the financial services
industry scaled back on capital
expenditure. However, the business is
cyclical and the order book showed
significant improvement in the fourth
quarter.

The acquisition of MFS received Reserve
Bank approval and was effective from
June 1. This asset-finance business is
being integrated into Bidvest Bank. MFS
achieved a measure of trading profit
growth, a significant improvement in a
challenging market.

Bandit – now Bidtrack – continues to
perform well.

OFFICE AUTOMATION
Konica Minolta and Océ had an
outstanding year in a recessionary market

Three core pillars now sustain the business:
retail travel foreign exchange, corporate
foreign exchange and asset-based lending.
The previously narrow base of operations
has been widened significantly by the MFS
acquisition and the opportunity for ongoing
lending at acceptable margins.

The bank assumed management
responsibility for Master Currency and
obtained its first rating, an A3.za/P2.za
rating from Moody’s.
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Bidvest Foodservice
The largest foodservice distributor outside North America and comprises market leading
distributors in Europe, Asia Pacific and Southern Africa.

R58,4 billion
Revenue 1,0% decrease

R2 046,0 million
Trading profit 16,3% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)

(Divisional contribution %)

51,8%

36,3%

Product responsibility
Represented by the South African Sustainable Seafood Initiative (SASSI). This year we
joined SASSI – a participation scheme launched in 2007 in response to growing consumer
awareness and demand for sustainable seafood. Its main aim is to contribute to the
reversal of over-exploitation of fish stocks by shifting consumer demand towards more
sustainable options.
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Highlights
 Creation of Bidvest Foodservice following refocus and reallocation of
management responsibilities
 Asia Pacific region puts in another strong performance
 UK business restructured into two standalone divisions
 Southern Africa performance mixed as World Cup effects lag expectations
 Nowaco and Farutex platforms for central and east European expansion

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue
Trading profit
Operating assets
Operating liabilities
Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

58 389,9

59 005,0

2 046,0

1 759,1

12 784,9

12 216,3

8 786,3

8 733,3

600,6

557,1

70,0

65,2

5 253,1

3 458,7

Employees

17 804

15 751

Total training spend (R’000)

24 376

22 408(1)

1 369

1 423(1)

Goodwill and intangible assets
Sustainable development indicator overview

Training spend per employee (R)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)
BEE procurement (R’000) South Africa only
CSI spend (R’000)

10,2

8,7

1

–

739 629

1 079 622

8 674

7 929

Total water usage (litres ’000)

547 597

478 791(1)

Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

208 247

177 583(1)

Petrol (litres)

3 702 779

3 359 090

Diesel (litres)

44 176 228

42 966 579

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

269 913

230 222(1)

15,2

14,6(1)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/014.html
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Bidvest Foodservice

Bernard Berson, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

lower across all geographies. In some

Structures were reviewed and further

Each business is shaped by the unique

cases, food deflation complicated inventory

rationalisation achieved as local teams

needs of its market. Each is expected to

and margin management. Consumer focus

rightsized businesses for a much-changed

identify and maximise the opportunities in

on value and price was especially evident in

trading environment. Expense management

each geography. Unifying factors are

the UK and Europe.

and working capital efficiency remained a
focus area.

unswerving commitment to quality and
customer service. Our businesses are

Pressure was felt in both the consumer and

leaders in their sectors.

institutional markets. Major customers and

Technology is increasingly deployed to

government departments were aggressive

achieve efficiency improvements. There

Macro- and trading environment

in pursuit of cost savings. This trend is

is no common platform and no plan to

The foodservice industry faced a

expected to continue and even accelerate.

enforce a uniform approach. However,
learnings from various technology sets are

challenging environment worldwide. Trading
conditions varied enormously across

Skills shortages still apply across most

being shared. Initiatives include internet

geographies as national markets are at

markets. It is a strategic priority to retain

based selling solutions, paperless

different stages of economic recovery. The

good people. Our business is primarily built

warehouse systems, dynamic routing and

road to recovery appears to be the slowest

on solid relationships. Pressure on the

mobile devices for field sales members.

in the UK and western Europe as national

wage bill continues even in markets where

governments impose strict fiscal discipline.

unemployment may have moved higher.

UK retrenchment costs and further costs
relating to depot closures were fully

Performance

Consumer activism for the environment

The business put in a satisfactory overall

and awareness of responsibility in the

performance as a refocused division.

foodservice supply chain is on the increase,

Benchmarks

Trading profit, including the Nowaco and

supported by tightening legislation. Bidvest

Across all geographies we benchmark

Farutex acquisition, rose 16,3% to

Foodservice regards this trend as an

versus each other and against our

R2,0 billion (2009: R1,8 billion). At

opportunity to position its brands ahead of

international peers, when this information is

R58,4 billion, revenue was 1,0% lower

less well-resourced competitors. By applying

available. Targets are set individually inside

(2009: R59,0 billion). Excluding this

strict standards throughout the foodservice

all operations.

acquisition, on a like-for-like basis, revenue

chain, coupled with smart monitoring

fell 7,8%, primarily a result of adverse

technology, we are able to offer our

Brand and operational dynamics

exchange rate translation.

customers safe, quality products, sourced

Value brands were a focus area. Teams

from responsibly managed resources.

looked to expand the range of products per

Strategic and industry dynamics

expensed.

drop to achieve distribution efficiencies.

Innovation in the face of changing markets

Efficiencies

was necessary in all operations.

In the face of an industry downturn and

Development of a house brand strategy

Management was confronted by volume

downtrading, all businesses sought

across geographies receives increasing

pressures and downtrading. Inflation is

efficiency gains.

attention. We are exploring efficiencies
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across commodities, products and brands.

Culture

We will investigate all sourcing and

The Bidvest brand identity is increasingly

procurement solutions with the potential

deployed across operations. The unifying

to deliver a supplier or customer benefit.

factors in the culture are pride in leadership
performance and self-reliance. The change

New initiatives

in structure has led to greater cohesion and

Nowaco (in Czech Republic and Slovakia)

a new sense that we are all on the same

and Farutex (Poland) were acquired early in

team with lots to learn from one another.

the period and bedded in well.

Motivation levels are high.

The other major new initiative was the

Future

introduction of a new structure, creating a

Double-dip recession fears have intensified

single Bidvest Foodservice business across

in Europe and the UK. Asia Pacific has

all geographies while reinforcing the

recovered relatively well from the financial

decentralised model that ensures individual

crisis. South Africa was deeply affected by

accountability within each business unit.

recession, but some improvement is

The new structure was introduced in the

expected.

second half. There was little disruption as
the only material change affects reporting

Opportunities are being sought in Europe to

lines to the Bidvest Foodservice chief

expand Bidvest’s presence in the hospitality

executive. Teams were always and will

and fresh sectors. Growth opportunities in

continue to remain responsible for local

eastern Europe will be explored, as will

performance.

those in other markets that we don’t
presently operate in.

Business risks
Though markets are diverse, we face

Overall, we will target a revenue increase

challenges common to all distribution

above the GDP growth rates of our regions,

businesses. The long-term prognosis on

adjusted for relevant food price inflation or

fuel and energy is the same worldwide –

deflation and a resultant trading profit

prices will rise, government oversight of

growth. Synergies and efficiencies across

carbon footprint issues will increase and we

geographies will be explored although no

will be under pressure to maximise cost

substantial benefit is anticipated in the

and energy efficiencies. All businesses are

short term.

alive to the challenge.
Food price inflation is a politically sensitive
issue in all geographies, increasing the need
for smart solutions on our part. We also
face the challenge of anticipating changes
in taste (food is today part of the fashion
industry) while responding quickly to
economic impacts that trigger downtrading
by consumers, cutbacks by corporates and
belt-tightening by governments.
Global commodity risk increasingly affects
food. The burgeoning appetite for certain
foodstuffs in rapidly growing emerging
markets can drive prices to unprecedented
levels. The effect is compounded when a
worldwide shortage of that commodity
occurs at much the same time.

The Bidvest Group Limited Annual report 2010

75

Operational review

Bidvest Foodservice – Europe
Comprises market leading foodservice product distributors in the United Kingdom, Belgium, the
Netherlands, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Poland, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, sources and
processes highly regarded own brands and provides products, quality ingredients, finished products,
equipment and logistics to the catering and hospitality industry.

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)

2009
R’m

2010(2)
R’m

Revenue

35 460,8

Trading profit

36 984,5

897,8

770,6

Operating assets

6 784,4

6 781,9

Operating liabilities

5 483,2

4 720,6

405,2

383,1

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets

62,6

58,8

4 059,7

2 304,9

Employees

10 115

8 474

Total training spend (R’000)

14 146

14 091(1)

1 400

1 663(1)

Goodwill and intangible assets
Sustainable development indicator overview

Training spend per employee (R)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)

Water recycled (litres ’000)

5,9

1

–

6 346

5 562

202 401

159 464

CSI spend (R’000)
Total water usage (litres ’000)

7,6

18 501

Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

109 835

6 049(1)
94 702

59 255

66 749

Petrol (litres)

514 521

128 057

Diesel (litres)

31 280 887

29 329 300

141 986

110 274

14,0

13,0

Electricity from renewable sources (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
Restated
(2)
Current year sustainable development figures include Nowaco group acquisition
(1)

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data

Revenue

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/015.html

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)

31,5%
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(Divisional contribution %)

15,9%

Across Europe, turnover was impacted by

active. The number of out-of-home eating

Environment – Systems to monitor

difficult trading conditions and bad spring

events fell. Fast casual dining reduced

environmental performance are largely in

and winter weather. European markets

purchases of higher margin items.

place, enabling us to set targets and
implement programmes for next year,

entered recession a little later than the UK
and recovery is slow. Recovery is under

The UK shift from canned and packaged

covering packaging waste, recycled

way in the United Arab Emirates.

foods to fresh and chilled continued. A

packaging and energy and fuel usage.

trend to value offerings was evident across

Efficient routing across the division has

Europe.

resulted in a significant decrease in diesel

Revenue and trading profit moved higher.

usage although overall usage increased due

Cost-cutting and efficiency gains
contributed to stronger cash generation

A major focus area after central European

to acquisitions. Our UK businesses achieved

and improved ROFE.

expansion is experience-sharing and

ISO 14064 assurance for their work reducing

synergy exploitation to develop Europe-

greenhouse gases and their innovative waste

The UK business 3663 First for Foodservice

wide efficiencies. Cooperation is standard

oil recycling scheme. The businesses also

was restructured. Two standalone

practice across logistic departments. Joint

attained the Carbon Trust Standard for the

businesses were created: the 3663

reviews are carried out in areas such as

company’s commitment to reducing carbon

Wholesale division, serving caterers, hotels

voicepicking and telematics. Shared

emissions. Bidvest Foodservice companies

and the institutional market, and Bidvest

procurement ensures cost efficiencies

partner with organisations to source food

Logistics (formerly the contract distribution

when buying vehicles and non-food

products from sustainable resources. Local

division of 3663) with primary focus on

consumables.

sourcing is on the increase.

A major benchmarking innovation was

Human resources – Various initiatives

implemented in the UK where external

provide opportunities for employees to

Businesses performed in line with

measurement is being conducted by two

share their ideas, from helping shape 3663

expectation. The UK business achieved a

outside agencies. The strategy is to deliver

Wholesale’s vision, mission and values to

small, but pleasing increase in sales.

what’s important to customers.

reviewing paper usage at Deli XL Belgium.

The strategy of acquisitive growth gathered

The UK business bought the assets of a

our businesses. Despite the recessionary

pace with our move into the emerging

small fine foods supplier, Giffords, to drive

environment, we maintained our training

markets of central and eastern Europe.

further growth in the fine foods and local

spend.

Newly acquired Nowaco and Farutex made

produce market. Over the last 11 years, the

a pleasing contribution at operational

European business has grown via a mix of

Health and safety – It is with regret that

level, though the income statement was

organic and acquisitive growth. Further

we report one work-related fatality. This

impacted by the IFRS requirement that

acquisitive opportunities will be explored.

was fully investigated to ensure ongoing

quick service restaurants. Each business
has its own managing director.

Satisfaction survey scores reflect loyalty to

commitment at 3663 Wholesale for the

acquisition costs be fully expensed in the
In the year ahead, Bidvest Europe will seek

health and safety of all employees. No

continued revenue and trading profit

fatalities were recorded by Bidvest Europe’s

growth.

continental operations.

recognisable as typical Bidvest people that

Sustainable development

Labour disputes – The percentage of

take pride in the job. The cultural fit was

The food industry has a major impact on

female employees at management grades

close from day one.

the world’s resources, and both institutional

is improving and diversity training

customers and consumers increasingly

continues.

year incurred.
Our new colleagues in Czech Republic,
Poland and Slovakia soon became

Despite the downturn, underlying European

demand the foodservice industry to take

trends remain favourable, such as a

responsibility for serving healthy and

Society – Codes and policies are in place

preference for eating out-of-home and

sustainably produced food. Our key

and processes implemented (with oversight

interest in food as a leisure activity. Pressure

position in the food supply network offers

by internal audit) to reduce the risk of

on the consumers’ time ensures ready trial

opportunities for Bidvest Europe to lead the

unethical business behaviour by Bidvest

of smart food solutions. Unfortunately,

industry in responsible practices and further

Europe or any employees. Altogether

recession was especially severe in the

entrench our brands as the customers’

106 instances of fraud or theft, for a total

mid-range sector where our businesses are

preferred choice.

loss to the company of £96 090, were
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Bidvest Foodservice – Europe
reported to the audit committee. Most

losses were minimised and staff showed

Off a low base, VIVAS (our joint venture with

high-impact incidents are of external origin

their commitment by agreeing a one-year

a leading vintner) almost doubled sales.

with no insider involvement. While the

pay freeze.

A combined food and wine delivery in a
mini-drop has strong appeal in the current

number of incidents is static, the financial
impact has increased. There is a recent

We stepped up the development of the

market. In contrast, the smaller drops trend

trend towards fraudulent applications for

short-life produce mix at Swithenbank

made some fresh produce deliveries

credit. All European operations are subject

Foods, our specialist fresh and chilled

unprofitable. The customer-base was

to the European Union’s Unfair Commercial

division. To address the value focus we

rationalised.

Practices Act of 2008.

relaunched our Smart Choice range.

Product responsibility – Dedicated

A major research initiative was launched to

e-commerce site. It will be benchmarked

quality assurance oversees customer health

map customer needs and substantiate our

against Australasian performance as

and safety. Customer complaints at 3663

“Delivering what’s important to you”

Bidvest Australia and Bidvest New Zealand

Wholesale fell 12% to 89 per million cases

positioning. Empathy with customer

are leaders in this area. Further revenue

sold. We are working closely with industry

challenges drives our strategy.

and profit growth are projected.

We spent £18 million on a new multi-

BIDVEST LOGISTICS

temperature depot at Paddock Wood,

Performance was well up. Operational

Kent. Enhanced credentials for quality

improvements were driven by the new

chilled and fresh foods helped us win a

regionalisation strategy, use of double-

major contract from a multinational caterer.

decker trailers, efficiencies in all

In the coming year, we plan a new

bodies to ensure nutrition and health claims
are easily understood by customers.
QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/016.html

departments and the savings achieved

3663 WHOLESALE

We entrenched customer relationships. We

through the Lichfield depot closure. ROFE

Trading profit rose pre-exceptionals. A 2%

were the only supplier to get through to

and profit rose significantly.

reduction in overheads was achieved,

Parkhurst prison on the Isle of Wight in

despite the cost of running two IT systems

heavy snow. As snow continued, we made

Competition intensified as third-party

in parallel. Better progress was made on

deliveries by sled to an old-age home. We

logistics operators continue to investigate

the new £22 million AX Dynamics system, a

quantified our carbon footprint for a major

foodservices. We retained a core client

platform that has been under test for two

hospital caterer – the only wholesaler to

despite an aggressive pitch by a

years. Cost savings came through following

do so.

multinational. Hoped-for volume increases
failed to materialise. Fuel costs were largely

the closure of six depots in two years.
Roll-out of mobile phone technology was

stable, but rose late in the year.

Strong focus on working capital and

completed, resulting in a 46% increase in

debtors management helped us to a 10%

customer calls. E-notebooks were

Productivity gains and cost savings were

increase in ROFE. Head office costs fell by

deployed to sales staff.

driven by the implementation of telematics
and further expansion of voicepicking.

20%. Debtor days were the lowest in five
years. Stock availability and first-time order

We introduced central London’s first

Employee-contracted working hours were

fulfilment hit an all-time high. Stock

all-electric delivery vehicle and continue to

reviewed to ensure staff availability dovetails

wastage, damage and theft were down.

encourage the use of recycled biodiesel.

with customer requirements.

Cash flows were strong.
Telesales launched a customer loyalty

To address the risk of reliance on large

Consolidation of delivery routes led to

programme with a safari theme to build

customers, efforts were made to stagger

vehicle utilisation efficiencies and cuts in the

on our South African associations.

contract end-dates and extend and roll
over contracts. Diversification opportunities

fleet. Continued investment in driver training
fostered fuel efficiency.

Two regional managing directors were

will be explored.

appointed. Competition is strongest from
Depot costs were cut and all fourth-quarter

regional players. Tighter local focus will help

Long-term sustainability is assured by

cost-reduction targets were met. Job

keep us on top.

commitment to cost efficiency and
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continuing investment in telematics, radio

A new customer loyalty programme was

Transition from a hierarchical organisation

frequency identification technology and

launched as a major retailer bought a

to a process-driven business gathered

planning software. Waste management and

foodservice company, signalling a possible

pace with the appointment of process

recycling initiatives create partnerships with

challenge in our core market.

managers and teams. The First for
Foodservice staff awards, introduced two

likeminded customers.
Opportunities will be explored in the

years ago, have become an important

The business retained its accreditation in

non-food and daily fresh markets.

means of instilling our values.

Investors in Excellence and ISO 14001

E-commerce, the own-brand strategy and

status.

hub-and-spoke optimisation will receive

Our marketplace standing remains strong.

management attention.

The last review confirmed market-share
gains in the hotels, restaurants and catering

Excess market capacity may persist for
three years and third-party logistics

DELI XL NETHERLANDS

sector. Development of our new

operators can be expected to maintain

Performance was on budget, despite

organisational model and roll-out of a new

competitive pressure. Effective deployment

recession and fierce competition. Out-of-

IT system will strengthen us still further.

of new technology will help us retain our

home spending plummeted. Adverse

competitive edge. Staff motivation is key.

weather impacted tourism.

Acquisition opportunities may occur as
industry consolidation is predicted. The

We plan to create strong forward
momentum following our relaunch as

A major cost-saving drive, Mercurius Quick

immediate challenge is to increase sales

Bidvest Logistics in July 2010. Further

Wins, was highly successful. Last year’s

in tough trading conditions.

savings will be pursued as we seek trading

decision to close two sites proved timely.

profit growth in 2011.

Cash generation was a priority. An

MIDDLE EAST

e-learning programme, Focus on Finance,

Expansion by Horeca United Arab Emirates

DELI XL BELGIUM

made employees aware of their impact on

into Saudi Arabia via a JV with a local

Trading profit rose on marginally higher

cash flow. Stock value was reduced.

partner was timely as the credit crisis

revenue, a satisfactory performance in the

Margins narrowed as a result of growth in

slowed Dubai’s growth. Revenue and

face of Belgium’s steepest post-war

low-margin catering and large-contract

trading profit rose and by year-end the new

recession. The country’s GDP shrank by

business.

Saudi Arabian business – Al Diyafa – had
reached break-even point.

3,7% in 2009.
Through a series of joint ventures we
Development of a virtual trade fair for

created a new specialist seafood company

Investment in quality and HACCP

customers resulted in lower costs while

and bought a majority interest in Stavasius,

accreditation was vindicated by Dubai’s

driving sales 30% higher for the promotion.

a fruit and vegetable producer and

introduction of new food distribution

Margins were well managed and distribution

wholesaler. We took a minority interest in

regulations. Less well-resourced

costs were driven down by the application

Eetgemak, a producer of convenience

competitors are under pressure.

of new technology. ROFE improved.

meals and food components. New
investment lowered ROFE slightly.

We launched a strong US desserts brand
and a frozen smoked-salmon offering to

The Flanders depot was further developed.
Prioritisation of national and international

We stepped up e-commerce activities and

complement our high quality fresh smoked

customers was aided by implementation

launched a new website. A new CSR policy

salmon.

of a customer value matrix.

was introduced, focusing on climate and

Our “Start To Save” campaign was

responsibility, sustainable buying, passion

NOWACO (Czech Republic and
Slovakia)

launched to reinforce our business

for food and service.

Business conditions remained challenging,

environment, health, hospitality, chain

sustainability strategy. It encompasses

though the Czech and Slovakian

economic, ecological and social factors

We relaunched Reuser & Smulders, our tea

economies returned to growth. Revenue

with the focus on cost reduction,

and coffee brand (now Rainforest Alliance-

dipped, but cost savings enabled a slight

motivation, innovation, cohesion,

certified). To sell non-food items into the

trading profit improvement. Nowaco

confidence and competitive advantage. Our

hospitality market, we introduced a new

maintained market leadership in Czech

GRI report on 2009 activities and five-year

brand, NonFoodProfessionals.nl.

Republic and strengthened its position in

plan was being finalised at year-end.

Slovakia.
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Bidvest Foodservice – Europe
Nowaco Czech Republic comprises three

For the first time since inception 20 years

divisions – production, distribution and

ago, Nowaco sales stalled. The emphasis

Gastrostella. Production covers Prima own

switched to efficiency gains. We increased

label ice-cream (top seller by volume in

the average value per delivery while cutting

Czech Republic and third in Slovakia) and

kilometres travelled per day. Pay was

the processing of frozen fish, vegetables,

frozen. We reduced marketing costs and

meat and other frozen products. The

inventories. Just-in-time efficiencies were

distribution division accounts for about

achieved.

60% of foodservice and 40% of retail
distribution in Czech Republic. Gastrostella

Leveraging the Bidvest relationship was a

is a dry goods and beverages wholesaler.

priority and we implemented the Bidvest
identity with the help of Bidvest Europe.

In Slovakia, the business focuses on
distribution, serving 75% of foodservice

In the coming year, we see good prospects

and 25% of retail customers. In Czech

for bakery production and distribution and

Republic there are three depots and five

growth potential in frozen meats and fresh.

branches; in Slovakia one depot and two

Prima is well positioned to seek cross-

branches.

border expansion into Slovakia.

Czech Republic’s economic growth lagged

FARUTEX (Poland)

Slovakia. Inflation eased higher to about

The business was impacted by the expiry

2% in both countries. Nowaco was

of a contract with a major customer, yet

impacted by a harsh winter and wet spring,

maintained its position as Poland’s leading

a poor environment for ice-cream sales,

foodservice distributor. In a little over six

tourism and out-of-home activity.

months, lost volumes were replaced, but
trading profit fell as a result of customer

In tough trading conditions the strength of

cutbacks, adverse weather, extensive

our core brands was demonstrated –

flooding and the period of mourning

Nowaco, a trusted frozen food brand, and

following the death of the Polish president

Prima ice-cream. New brands, Nowameat

and other leaders.

fresh meat and Nowamilk diary products
were introduced. Bagetier, a new bakery

Investment in new sales resources to

line, has been launched, further enhancing

recoup lost turnover impacted ROFE. A

our range.

new branch, our 11th, was opened in Łódz.

The only major new investment was in new

Management focused increasingly on

bakery production lines at our Opava

savings and in the second half some

factory in Czech Republic, a €3 million

redundancies occurred. Further cost

commitment. A new freezer is being

efficiencies will be sought in the year ahead.

constructed in Kralupy to increase storage

We will seek sales growth while looking to

capacity.

achieve better margins by growing higher
value product lines.
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Bidvest Foodservice – Asia Pacific
Comprises Bidvest Australia, Bidvest New Zealand, Angliss Singapore and Angliss
Greater China. Bidvest leads the foodservice industry and offers a full end-to-end
national distribution service.

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)

2010
R’m

Revenue

2009
R’m

17 547,6

17 067,6

729,4

602,5

Operating assets

4 232,8

3 777,9

Operating liabilities

2 333,2

3 123,6

138,1

123,8

Trading profit

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets

4,7

3,5

1 163,9

1 134,8

Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees

4 149

3 623

Total training spend (R’000)

2 117

1 496

Training spend per employee (R)

509

412

Lost-time injury frequency rate

21,3

13,9

–

–

Work-related fatalities (number)
CSI spend (R’000)

855

1 101

Total water usage (litres ’000)

77 222

75 568(1)

Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

63 685

54 389(1)

Petrol (litres)

1 123 541

1 102 647

Diesel (litres)

6 960 761

6 814 851

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)

70 439

67 377(1)

16,9

18,6(1)

Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/017.html

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)

(Divisional contribution %)

15,7%

13,0%
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Bidvest Foodservice – Asia Pacific
The region covers a vast area and macro-

Competition intensified. Overall inflation in

is still priced at twice that of coal-derived

economic factors vary considerably. However,

Singapore was slightly below 1%. Food

energy (electricity), hampering efforts to

pleasing revenue and trading growth was

inflation was more than twice as high,

innovate in this area. All depots are

achieved across all businesses in the region.

though price fluctuations were less

introducing water-saving measures and

pronounced than previously.

all our companies run campaigns and
programmes to reduce the use of

Bidvest Australia remains the major
contributor and the state of the Australian

The opening of major resorts has resulted

resources (eg paperless office systems)

economy is material for regional

in an increase in spending by tourists and

and recycle more.

performance. Australia was lifted by a return

knock-on benefits for Singapore’s

to strong resources growth. However,

foodservice. Casual dining and family

Human resources – Employee-based

measures by government to stimulate the

restaurant chains remain the strongest

consultative committees monitor workplace

economy came to an end. Government

contributors to our foodservice business.

activities, enabling us to engage with

measures to curb spending contributed to

Teenagers and young families continue to

employees, understand issues of common

a decline in consumer confidence (evident

eat out.

concern and take corrective action as
required. While staff turnover is up following

by mid-year) and downtrading set in.
The island nation has seen a shift to

restructuring, absenteeism has fallen 13%,

In common with other economies in the

value-added products and services. The

indicating improved satisfaction and

early stages of recovery, there was a shift

big demand is for finished products rather

wellness levels. Bidvest Academy courses

to in-home eating.

than raw material.

have been successfully registered with

New Zealand did not have the benefit of a

In Greater China, the economic recovery

resources-led recovery and the trading

has been so strong that recruitment of

environment remains challenging. Job

skilled personnel has become difficult. Our

Health and safety – We have begun a

losses are a concern. Unemployment at

customers face the threat of big increases

certification process for AS/NZS 4801

7,3% may appear low against a southern

in rents and wages. They therefore seek

(safety management systems). Desk audits

African yardstick, but is twice the level of

savings elsewhere. This mindset means

have begun and site audits are scheduled.

three years ago and a major worry as until

our businesses face continued pressure

Audits are ongoing for asbestos, risk from

recently New Zealand was considered a

on margins from price-sensitive customers.

dangerous goods and risks related to

national authorities, enabling university

buildings. Staff receive training in areas

full-employment economy.
One effect is much reduced out-of-home

accreditation; 302 trainees participated.

Regional prospects overall remain positive

such as fire safety for advisers, fire safety

and further growth is projected.

and evacuation, workplace health and
safety, rehabilitation and return to work and

eating. New Zealand’s hospitality industry

Sustainable development

fatigue management for drivers. The

Economic performance – Women are

number of claims has dropped significantly

A much stronger recovery was under way

excelling at every level in our organisation.

from a peak in 2009. The value of claims

in Singapore and Asia. Singapore’s

Our annual report to the Equal Opportunities

has dropped to 60% of 2007 levels.

economy recovered slowly in the six

for Women in the Workplace in Australia

months to December 2009, but business

shows women now represent 29% of our

Society – Our Bidvalues statement defines

sentiment and consumer confidence

national and regional managers, though

and forms the basis of our organisational

picked up significantly after that.

overall representation is at 24%.

structure. Oversight of business ethics and

In Singapore, unemployment dropped and

Environment – Tightening legislation in

are carried out by both internal and external

by year-end was close to the pre-crises

Australia is compelling us to measure more

audit. No fines of significance were incurred

level. Bank rates remained low in line with

aspects of our carbon footprint, such as

for non-compliance with national laws and

global efforts to spur growth. Malaysia’s

indirect energy usage. While there has been

regulations.

economy rebounded and commodity

a significant increase in the amount of

prices recovered.

ethanol-based fuel used, renewable energy

has contracted as a result.

auditing of incidents of fraud and corruption
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Product responsibility – The Bidvest

complex was commissioned at John Lewis,

at acceptable levels. Cash flows remained

Quality Management System provides

Adelaide, tripling our frozen foods

strong.

consistency within the division, encouraging

capability. In April, we acquired, Kele, a

efficiencies and savings. We have provided

central Queensland foodservice wholesaler.

The operational focus is on building up

staff training in customer care and service,

The acquisition increases our exposure to

targeted food categories to specific

and substantial improvements in the way

an area of Australia that shows good

customers, increasing the value per drop

they work and higher levels of customer

growth potential thanks to the buoyant

while delivering a comprehensive service

satisfaction have been reported.

resources sector. Expansion to Cairns was

that leaves few gaps for competitors.

completed and our Perth branch is being
QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report

further extended to cater for increased

Our “Smart Choice” house brand continues

demand.

to increase its percentage share of total

http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/018.html

sales and profitability from imported
Bidvest has become a familiar name in

products continues to grow. Logistics

BIDVEST AUSTRALIA

Australia. We trade as Bidvest across a

division performed well on the “Streets”

Teams put in a reasonably good

large geographic footprint and all our

ice-cream account. Fresh produce made a

performance. Sales were up by about 5%

600 trucks carry the corporate livery. Our

pleasing contribution and offers continuing

while trading profit rose 10%. Second-half

people are passionate about the brand and

growth opportunities.

trading conditions were substantially worse

live the Proudly Bidvest culture.
Our prime vendor strategy gained

than the first. Food price deflation was
Our largest challenge is continued

momentum. This initiative is a total food

expansion from an already large base while

supply service delivered to customers

Operational efficiencies drove continued

training enough talented and competent

through e-commerce. Sales through

improvements in our cost of doing business

people to drive sustainable growth. Talent

e-commerce show continued strong growth.

(total expenses as a percentage of sales).

retention has again become crucial as

evident for much of the year.

Technology continues to be an enabler

employment has picked up on the back of

Last year’s implementation of the Bidvest

renewed growth in the resources sector.

brand identity went well and helped
maintain high levels of motivation.

of good sustainability practice. Our
e-commerce tool FindFoodFast maintained

In the coming year, we face the prospect of

a good rate of growth. Energy and other

continued food deflation and low consumer

Further investment in infrastructure is about

savings were fostered by further roll-out of

confidence. Over three to five years, our

to be committed. New distribution centres

paperless warehousing, our track and trace

principal objective is to grow our revenues

are planned. Substantial investment in IT

technology and dynamic routing.

to AUD2 billion (currently AUD1,7 billion)

will be made to further enhance the

and to achieve annually compounded

reliability of our national platform. Further

Benchmarking entrenches a total business

growth in earnings before interest and tax

growth in revenue and trading profit is

sustainability approach to our operations.

of high single digits or more.

projected.

restricted to financial matters. They cover

BIDVEST NEW ZEALAND

SINGAPORE

all aspects of the business. Primarily, we

Pleasing trading profit and revenue growth

Revenue increased marginally, but trading

measure ourselves against budgets and

were achieved, despite tough market

profit recovered to pre-financial crisis levels.

prior year. All comparable businesses are

conditions. Non-financial performance was

A strong second-half performance reflected

measured against one another as well as

also satisfactory. We maintained initiatives

robust market conditions. Cash flow was

against their own targets.

to reduce waste, recycle, support the

healthy and working capital well controlled.

Measurement and incentivisation are not

community, train staff and lower vehicle
Bidfresh was launched to mark our entry

emissions.

We restructured the foodservice division,
moving from product to customer focus

into the produce and portion-control meat
market. This development began in

Wage costs were well contained, the debt

while reducing the number of customers

October 2009 with the purchase of a small,

collection rate went up, occupancy costs

served by individual sales staff. The

underperforming business that was

fell and vehicle costs remained stable.

customer-centric strategy contributed

subsequently rebranded as our first

ROFE increased marginally following

to strong foodservice growth.

Bidfresh operation.

increased investment in land and buildings.

Our new Hobart facility opened in

Margins were well managed and interest

We acquired a Halal food-processing

rates at historical lows kept lending costs

business and upgraded our food quality

September and in January a new freezer
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Bidvest Foodservice – Asia Pacific
system. We hold both HACCP and Halal

To improve delivery efficiencies we

certification. We expanded our delivery fleet

introduced 24-hour stockpicking in our

and now specify Euro 4 engine standards.

warehouse and opened a new production

In Malaysia, we consolidated inventory into

centre to increase production capacity and

a third-party logistics centre, resulting in

position us for growth in the ready-to-eat

fewer transfers and faster delivery.

and ready-to-cook sector.

We continue to build our own brands for

Liquidity and debtors were well controlled.

the foodservice and retail markets and

Cash flows were good. We employed a

position them as value-for-money quality

dedicated supply chain manager to

products. In addition, we created a

improve logistics efficiency, reduce

gourmet fine food division, Aequitas

warehouse costs and optimise stock levels.

Gourmet, to spearhead our entry into the
fine-dining market.

We opened a new training centre.

Though confidence has returned, our

Greater China anticipates continued growth

Malaysian greenfields operation, Avid

by adding further value to the existing

Foodservices, faced continued challenges

range while building our presence in the

as a small operator in a mature market. A

ready-to-eat and ready-to-cook market.

concerted effort to build sales is under way.
We plan to grow our value-added solutions
and off-the-centre-of-the-plate products. In
2011 we will pursue further sales and profit
growth.

GREATER CHINA
Angliss, with operations in Hong Kong,
Macau, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and
Shenzhen, achieved record trading profit
and confirmed its position as the region’s
leading foodservice business. The core
Hong Kong site achieved strong trading
profit growth off of marginally higher
revenue. ROFE improved strongly.
We focused on higher margin foodservice
business rather than trading activities. We
broadened the customer-base and
introduced new products such as our
Laughing Cow range, and new lines such
as lobster and Japanese perishable foods.
Established brands like Anchor, 1855 and
AACo did well, helping us grow market
share.
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Bidvest Foodservice – Southern Africa
A leading multi-range manufacturer and distributor of food products and ingredients.
Bidvest operates through strategically located independent business units, aimed at
servicing the catering, hospitality, leisure, bakery, poultry, meat and food processing
industries.

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

5 381,4

4 952,9

418,9

385,9

1 767,7

1 656,5

969,9

889,1

57,1

50,2

Trading profit
Operating assets
Operating liabilities
Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets

2,7

2,9

29,5

19,1

Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees

3 540

3 654

Total training spend (R’000)

8 113

6 820(1)

Training spend per employee (R)

2 292

1 866(1)

10,9

23,9

1,8

6,4

Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)

–

–

739 629

1 079 622

CSI spend (R’000)

1 473

1 266

Enterprise development spend (R’000)

7 022

BEE procurement (R’000)

Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

2 165

267 974

243 760(1)

34 727

28 492(1)

Petrol (litres)

2 064 717

2 128 386

Diesel (litres)

5 934 580

6 822 428

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)

57 488

52 571(1)

16,2

14,4(1)

Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/019.html

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
4,8%

(Divisional contribution %)
7,4%
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Bidvest Foodservice – Southern Africa
Southern Africa performance was mixed as
food deflation set in and consumers
downtraded. World Cup benefits were not
as strong as hoped, though volumes
improved toward year-end. Hospitality
industry volumes rose, but industrial
catering business remained flat. Prolonged
school holidays impacted the educational
component of the institutional eating
market. Expense management was a focus
area for all businesses.
Food deflation and a shrinking market
intensified competitive pressure. An
important benchmarking tool, the Stats SA
Food and Beverage Report indicated that
industry revenues fell by 1,2% over the year.
Business failures only started to dip in the
second half. In the leisure and hospitality
sector, restaurant visits and spend per
patron remained under pressure.
The World Cup boosted sales in May and
June, but regional effects were patchy. The
restaurant and hotel markets in Gauteng
appear to have enjoyed a World Cup
bonanza, but in coastal areas the World
Cup windfall could not offset the business
impact of much lower business travel and
conferencing.
Low interest rates may be helping
consumers to service household debt, but
have not led to a consumer feel-good
effect. There has been no increase in
out-of-home eating. Lower inflation
compounded the expense management
challenge.
South Africa’s return to growth was
encouraging, but was not immediately
reflected in the return of consumers to
restaurants, coffee shops and canteens.
Industry concerns in the first half of the
ensuing period centre on the possibility that
some consumers over-spent during the
World Cup and belt-tightening may occur
for several months. However, the national

mood lifted considerably during and after
the World Cup and the economy appears
to be in recovery mode. A gradual pick-up
in consumer demand is anticipated,
enabling our businesses to maintain
momentum.

Sustainable development
Economic performance – We are aiming
for level 4 contribution under the DTI
Codes, focusing on employment equity,
skills development, socio-economic
development and preferential procurement.
Local teams are responsible for their own
BEE targets and progress is tracked. We
continue to support the Centre for Culinary
Excellence at Johannesburg University and
three aspirant chefs are being trained to
improve the quality of the food preparation
at the Bidfood Ingredients canteen, which
is run as a business under our enterprise
development programme.
Environment – We track transport and
have improved our measurement of all
energy and resource usage. Bidfood
Ingredients’ Durban yeast factory remains a
challenge, being an old and environmentally
inefficient facility. We continuously engage
the local authority, and made the required
changes to renew our annual effluent
permit. Responding to growing consumer
awareness and demand for sustainable
seafood, we joined the South African
Sustainable Seafood Initiative, and now
undertake to DNA test any seafood product
we can’t identify, thereby ensuring the
product supplied is the same as advertised.
Product responsibility – We are
represented on the South African Food
Safety Initiative, a subcommittee of the
Consumer Goods Council of South Africa.
New labelling legislation will be effective
from March 2011, and we expect more
thorough policing in future in line with
international standards. We expect to gain
competitive advantage in this new
operating environment, leveraging off the
leading standards we set for the industry.
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Human resources – Employee
engagement is decentralised, with issues
raised and dealt with immediately. Despite
strong labour representation, relations are
constructive and no strike action was
experienced. First priority for employees is
skills training and advancement – possible
now that the long-time barrier of a lack of
basic lifeskills has largely been overcome
through recruitment of employees that at
least complete their final high school
exams. In addition to our internal training,
we have an active learnership programme
in partnership with the food and beverage
and wholesale and retail training authority.
Talent retention remains a challenge. Staff
developed by an industry leader rapidly
become the target for recruitment by
competitors while emigration continues to
put strain on the skills base.
Health and safety – Critical aspects of
health and safety management, such as
audits, are outsourced to specialist
consultants. Spot-checks are conducted
and a full incident report serves as a guide
for improving systems and closing
loopholes. There were again no fatalities
across our businesses.
Labour disputes – CCMA cases brought
against Bidvest Foodservice Southern
Africa rose 13% to 71, with 48 findings in
favour of the division. No Department of
Labour fines were incurred for noncompliance.

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/020.html

BIDVEST FOODSERVICE SA
Trading profit was flat, despite an excellent
fourth quarter. We derived competitive
advantage from our position as the supplier
offering the widest range of products in our
industry. We grew market share and the
basket of supplied products despite a
shrinking customer-base. Customers
achieved operational and price efficiencies

by pooling their buying with a broadline
supplier able to meet diverse needs in
one drop.
Margins suffered as a result of our
market-share drive, though aggressive
management of growth and advertising
rebates enabled us to make up the loss.
The need for increased World Cup working
capital pushed funds employed higher.
Cash generation was good.
We cut petrol and diesel usage and
increased the amount of waste we
recycled.
Credit management was rigorous. Sales
teams increased the business written with
customers in good standing and
aggressively pursued new business. The
average value per invoice increased by 4%.
To support this effort we introduced a field
sales management tool that enables sales
teams to more efficiently manage sales and
call cycles.
Expenses were well contained, despite
additional rental and depreciation costs
following four branch relocations. Stock
losses and bad debts fell.
Delivery costs fell 5,7% and the size of the
vehicle fleet was reduced by 6%. We
renewed the fleet ahead of the World Cup
and disposed of less efficient vehicles.
Our value proposition as a solution-finder
was showcased by our national accounts
business. We offer national customers a
central point of contact for central price
negotiations against a nationally distributed
supply solution. Greater efficiencies allowed
us to reduce our gross margin, grow
volumes and maintain our operating margin
in this channel.
We grew our export business, especially
to Angola and acquired a small catering
equipment business, Caternet.
In 2011 we plan to build a new multi-temp
facility in Bloemfontein and convert our
Polokwane frozen facility to multi-temp.
Improved infrastructure will add muchneeded capacity in both regions. The
business is well positioned to seek renewed
growth as economic conditions improve.

BIDFOOD INGREDIENTS
Bidfood Ingredients put in a pleasing
performance in challenging conditions,
impacted by lower commodity product
volumes and deflation. Revenue dipped,
but trading profit showed pleasing growth.
We maintained investment in skills
development. Management initiated a
strong drive to reduce our carbon footprint.
A process of target-setting, quarterly
monitoring and regular reviews was
established. We have begun to benchmark
our use of electricity, water and fuel.
Effluent discharges are closely monitored.
Our food safety programme was stepped
up. We have begun educating personnel in
the principles of basic food safety at all
branches. Our Cape Town savoury
ingredients factory achieved ISO 22000
accreditation.
Customers were impacted by consumer
cost-cutting. Consumption of meat and
poultry fell. We introduced offerings to help
food manufacturers develop more
affordable options. Sales of some
commodity products fell.
We reduced stock, though inventory rose
near year-end to optimise the World Cup
opportunity. Cash flows strengthened.
Chipkins Bakery Group maintained its
improvement and continued the
development of its own manufactured lines.
NCP Yeast was impacted by a shortage of
local molasses. Even so, the business
performed well.
The Crown National launch of its Chef’s
Choice range proved highly successful. We
also introduced the Handipack retail spice
range.
Bidfood Solutions, our vehicle for increased
penetration of the general foods sector,
faced a challenge as some large customers
froze new product development.
We launched promotional drives to
maximise sales over the World Cup and
obtained exclusive rights to the word
“vuvuzela” in the spices and seasoning
segment.

A new warehouse management system
was implemented at Crown National’s
Cape Town spice factory.
In the coming year, we plan further growth
in sales and profitability while achieving
continued efficiencies.

SPECIALITY
South Africa’s leading distributor of local
and imported food brands achieved record
revenue and trading profit on the back of a
good second half. The business benefited
from increased in-home eating and a high
in-store presence. Several new products
were introduced while the Goldcrest range
was expanded.
A major drive to reduce the incidence of
damaged returns and better stock rotation
led to margin improvement.
Stock levels rose for the World Cup, but
over the year as a whole inventory was
tightly controlled. Debtors management
improved, as did cash flows.
We made increased use of automotive
telematics and began a concerted drive to
improve collation and interpretation of
sustainability data. Efficiencies in power
and fuel usage will be aggressively
pursued.
Own brands were strongly promoted.
Softer prices on some lines and a stable
rand enabled us to partner major retail
groups with aggressive promotions. In the
final quarter, we stocked up on lines for
in-home consumption during shared
viewing of World Cup games.
We began a logistics partnership with
Ferrero, the leading imported confectionary
brand. The relationship facilitates entry into
markets such as garage stores and
pharmacies while broadening retail chain
exposure.
Trading conditions are expected to remain
challenging, but we will seek continued
revenue and profit growth.
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Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
A leading manufacturer and distributor of electrical products, appliances and services,
office stationery, office furniture, packaging closures and catering equipment in southern
Africa with a small presence in the United Kingdom.

R8,6 billion
Revenue 7,0% decrease

R421,3 million
Trading profit 29,4% decrease

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
7,7%

(Divisional contribution %)
7,5%

Environment
Represented by ACTIVE chair range. South Africa is experiencing a shortage of pine timber
that is affecting the cost of all wood-related production industries. Seating, for example,
consumes 220m3 of veneer each month, extrapolating to 18 000 trees felled annually. By
introducing the new ACTIVE range of chairs, made from injection moulded foam around
a polyurethane frame, the company has been able to save 40m3 of veneer per month, or
3 000 trees annually.
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Highlights
 Significant cash generated from operations of R434 million
 Improved working capital management
 Expense savings across the business
 ERP solutions being implemented
 Businesses refocused to take advantage of new market realities
 Bidvest Materials Handling integrated into our business
 Injury rate as measured by LTIFR reduced by half
 22 micro-business owners reselling computer consumables supported by
Kolok

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue
Trading profit

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

8 643,6

9 290,9

421,3

596,9

Operating assets

3 136,6

3 179,2

Operating liabilities

1 336,7

1 324,5

72,2

71,3

8,2

24,5

104,5

88,6

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets
Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees
Total training spend (R’000)
Training spend per employee (R)
Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate

6 849

7 428

54 720

38 673(1)

7 989

5 206(1)

15,1

20,6

4,6

9,2(2)

–

–

3 756 119

6 535 413

CSI spend (R’000)

2 448

3 008

Enterprise development spend (R’000)

3 171

1 483

Work-related fatalities (number)
BEE procurement (R’000)

174 949

145 730(2)

29 476

28 874

Petrol (litres)

4 207 856

4 794 263

Diesel (litres)

3 231 010

3 673 228(2)

49 103

50 907(2)

7,2

6,9(2)

Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

Restated to include learnerships

(2)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/021.html
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Bidvest Industrial and Commercial

Myron Berzack, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

The strong rand was negative for imports

on skills development and training, and

An extensive national footprint and

and falling inflation impacted trading

new systems implementation.

investment in quality facilities and people

activities. Deflation was experienced in

enable Bidvest Industrial and Commercial

some parts of the business.

Strategic and industry dynamics
By year-end the construction sector had

to supply products that match specific
needs. Customers in the manufacturing,

The business also felt the effects of falling

endured 18 months of falling demand for

wholesaling and retailing sectors appreciate

copper prices and intermittent periods of

both commercial and residential projects.

the ready availability of the division’s

volatility in the metals market.

Continued decline in the number of building
plans passed suggests that depressed

products. Quality products are backed

Performance

business conditions will continue. Our

Financial results were disappointing and

electrical wholesale division has been

Macro- and trading environment

reflected extremely depressed business

particularly hard hit.

Recession affected every business in the

conditions. Revenue fell 7,0% to

division. The business is exposed to both

R8,6 billion (2009: R9,3 billion). Trading

South African business reacted consistently

the retail and business-to-business

profit dropped 29,4% to R421,3 million

to the recession. Every business cut back;

environments and was impacted by

(2009: R596,9 million). Cash flow improved.

some stopped all spending. Some mining

consumer belt-tightening and aggressive

Capital expenditure was deferred,

companies appeared to put a brake on

expense management by business. Many

inventories cut and funds employed were

new investment as the debate revived

companies imposed a freeze on new

reduced. Expenses were aggressively

about nationalisation.

capital expenditure.

managed. ERP rollouts continued.

by quality service.

Our furniture and stationery businesses
There was little evidence of a beneficial

The second half saw some improvement

bore the brunt of the clampdown on

FIFA World Cup 2010™ effect in the

in revenue. However, the return on funds

corporate buying. The corporate furniture

second half. Major contracts, some relating

employed fell year on year from 24,8%

project market was the worst affected. Few

to the World Cup, wound down and were

to 19,6%.

new offices are being built and almost no
corporate office suites are being fully

not replaced by further additions to national
infrastructure. The knock-on effects for

Non-financial performance was often

businesses serving the construction and

encouraging as teams prepared the

civil engineering sectors were severe. World

business for the promised upturn.

Though the overall trend was toward a

Cup disruptions impacted some

Highlights included the implementation of

strong rand, currency volatility day by day

businesses.

employment equity plans, increased focus

was considerable and had a negative
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refurbished.

impact on companies such as Kolok where

costs totalled R9 million. As a result of

economists). As depressed conditions

margins are thin.

retrenchment and staff attrition, the

continued, it became apparent that many

division’s staff numbers came down from

businesses would fall considerably short

7 428 to 6 849.

of expectation.

late and backlogs built up. Some business

Debtors management improved and cash

The best performers against budget were

that should have been written this year will

generation remained strong. Inventory levels

the teams focused on debtors and

be pushed out to 2011 and some turnover

were cut as businesses conducted an overall

inventory management. A net improvement

was lost.

review of slow-moving stock. However,

in the debtors position was achieved while

business volumes were so depressed that

the effort to reduce stockholdings to free

In June, the World Cup effect proved to be

improved working capital management failed

up cash realised the anticipated benefit.

negative for some of our businesses.

to lift the return on funds employed.

In the final quarter, the impact of the
Transnet strike was felt. Shipments arrived

Brand and operational dynamics

Orders being processed by some of our
businesses fell dramatically as World Cup

Though non-essential capital expenditure

Businesses were restructured and

excitement mounted. Some customers

was curtailed, spending to reinforce

infrastructure rationalised. Management

simply stopped placing orders. Extended

business sustainability was maintained.

focused on maintaining staff motivation

school holidays created further difficulties.

Investment on new ERP solutions

across leaner teams.

continued in the Electrical Wholesale and
Competition intensified in every sector.

packaging businesses.

At Voltex Electrical Distribution, three
branches were closed. CN Business

As margin squeeze increased, some
competitors abandoned their focus on core

Within the Electrical Wholesale division,

Furniture closed three branches (Nelspruit,

competence and looked to new lines of

Voltex Durban was the first site to

Witbank and Office Furniture Clearance

business. Some manufacturers became

implement the new system. The roll-out will

House in Johannesburg).

opportunistic importers. New entrants to

continue into calendar 2011. Up-to-the-

sectors tended to take a short-term

minute management information will ensure

Seating closed down assembly operations

approach to prices. The net effect was

continued improvements in efficiency.

at its Queenstown factory and integrated
this function into the company’s

even more pressure on margins.
Investment was also maintained in quality.

Johannesburg factory. Unfortunately,

As the year progressed it became evident

Seating, our furniture-maker, became one

this led to job losses at the Queenstown

that some of our competitors were fighting

of the first manufacturers in South Africa to

premises. At year-end, Waltons began the

for business at any price. In some cases

achieve ISO 9001, 140001 and 180001

downsizing of its bulk distribution facility

this will undoubtedly endanger the

compliance.

in Johannesburg to eliminate the double
handling of product. Waltons Promotional

long-term sustainability of these
businesses. But there have not been any

Benchmarks

major business casualties yet.

A supposedly temporary slowdown in the

Gifts was scaled down.

economy lasted much longer than

A change of leadership at Voltex is bedding

Efficiencies

anticipated. Most teams failed to achieve

in well. The business has been restructured

As recession tightened, a concerted effort

their revenue and profit targets.

into two divisions, one devoted to the

was made to rightsize all businesses for a

development and commercialisation of

new commercial environment. Costs were

Benchmarks are set in consultation with

new technologies and products (Voltex

cut and expenses rigorously managed.

every business and branch. They are not

Solutions) and the other focused on

Some staff members were redeployed and

imposed in line with macro-economic

product supply and efficiencies across the

retrained. Regrettably, some jobs were lost.

forecasts. Though our businesses are close

80-strong branch network. Each operation

to their industries and customers, they

is headed by a managing director.

The effects were severe in the furniture and

grossly underestimated the impact of

stationery businesses where retrenchment

recession (a mistake made by many

The Bidvest Group Limited Annual report 2010

91

Operational review

Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Though volumes fell, our brands improved

Bidvest Materials Handling was successfully

decisions and the estimation of the

their relative positions in their respective

integrated into Packaging and Catering. The

appropriate stock-holding.

industries. The full benefit may not be seen

business supplies forklifts and was previously

until 2011. By that stage, recession and

part of McCarthy Heavy Equipment. It has

The risks were showcased during the year.

short-term decision-making by some

acquired exclusive South African distribution

A few years ago, continual load-shedding

players may result in insolvencies and

rights to the Nissan forklift range.

by Eskom, contributed to higher demand
for energy-efficient solutions and back-up

industry consolidation.
Voltex, in conjunction with partner IntelliDB,

systems. Eskom’s long-term challenges

Voltex remains the leader in the supply of

began development of energy-monitoring

have not changed, but a year of relatively

electrical cable and electrical equipment.

software. Voltex is also exploring the

few outages led to a decline in demand for

Waltons is the country’s leading stationer.

market potential of solar heating for

smart energy systems.

Kolok is South Africa’s largest distributor of

domestic and commercial water supplies.
Objections to big increases in electricity

computer printer supplies. CN Business
Furniture and Seating are the leading

A management development programme in

prices also meant that Eskom’s new tariffs

distributors and manufacturers of furniture

collaboration with Henley Business College

only took effect in July 2010. As a result, it

in their respective fields. In niche markets,

was successfully implemented at Voltex

will be mid-winter before customer demand

our name for top quality is indisputable.

and was ready for roll-out across Bidvest

for these solutions is likely to resurface. A

Industrial and Commercial by year-end.

focus area for management is therefore

Afcom acquired the South African rights to

Course content is shaped by the job

getting both the timing and the technology

the Sellotape brand and plans appropriate

description of each participant as the

right.

marketing support in the new period.

intention is to improve on-the-job

Our determination to maintain a leadership

performance by every supervisor and

Technology risk is managed to some extent

manager.

by our international partnerships and ability
to scan the global horizon for developments

position extends to operational health and
safety within each business. Active health

Business risks

with most potential. South Africa is rarely

and safety management is a feature of all

Risks to the business did not change,

the first adopter of new technologies. We

operations. Safety officers have been

though volatility sharpened currency risk

can observe what works best internationally

appointed at each site in the division; more

and trading risks. The prices of

and canvass our global associates for new

than 200 officers in all.

commodities such as steel and copper are

ideas.

influenced by international as well as local

New initiatives

factors. Management has long experience

The South African market is unique as it is

Waltons’ Optiplan acquisition bedded down

of dealing with these fluctuations.

influenced by a mix of first and third world

well. A specialised filing systems offering

factors. Managers are deeply rooted in their

has now been integrated into all branches

Technology risk in the electrical and energy

respective sectors and have long

and across the Waltons regional structure.

fields will continue to grow. The ever-

experience of identifying appropriate

Waltons’ commercial warehouse at

increasing price of electricity will drive

solutions for their markets.

Modderfontein has moved to larger

constant innovation. New energy-saving

premises. Disruption was minimal as the

solutions will be developed. It will be a

As stockists with relatively large inventories

new warehouse is nearby.

challenge to identify the most appropriate

we remain at risk from syndicated theft. We

solution or technology-set. Further

are constantly on our guard and employ

challenges apply to the timing of buying

sophisticated security systems. It is
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pleasing to report that no major losses from

business hub that comprises 22 previously

Society – Internal audit manages various

theft were reported.

disadvantaged micro-business owners in

aspects of ethical business conduct, and

Bophelong who resell computer

we engaged a leading law firm to conduct

Credit risk was well managed.

consumables.

awareness training on the Competitions Act

People risk and talent retention are

Environment – Petrol and diesel

under constant review; as are the most

consumption has reduced by 12%, partly

Corporate social investment – We

appropriate remuneration and

by increasing the proportion of direct

concentrate our CSI activities in the

incentivisation structures. We train, but we

deliveries (as opposed to handling through

education and training sectors. Each

don’t always retain. Most South African

a warehouse). This has reduced double-

company selects its own flagship projects,

businesses face this challenge.

handling of product, stock-holding,

often involving the supply of stationery to

obsolescence, lead times and transport

schools. The total value of our CSI was

A special risk this year is that of a World

costs, but came at the cost of retrenching

R2,5 million.

Cup hangover. Some of our businesses

40 people. Waltons and Kolok are

benefited when major infrastructure

promoting direct deliveries. Sustainable

projects began and reached a peak. If

office furniture manufacturing is gaining

government spending on infrastructure

momentum at our furniture operations.

and the Competition Commission.

should be curtailed as priorities change

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/022.html

Future

in the post-World Cup period, many

Human resources – Operational

Strong recovery may not yet be apparent,

businesses will feel the effects.

restructuring led to the retrenchment of

but the business cycle appears to have

Diversification across multiple sectors

318 employees. This was a last resort after

bottomed out. Our businesses are leaner

helps us manage risks like this.

other avenues, such as redeployment, were

and our people well motivated. We have

pursued. Investment in training has risen,

maintained a strong position in every

Sustainable development

taking us to the required 3% target for the

industry in which we are represented.

Pride is a key feature of our culture. Our

first time. Companies are looking to

businesses tend to be industry leaders and

develop high potential managers in the

VOLTEX ELECTRICAL

strong brands. Our people take pride in this

under-40 age bracket. A total of 19 Voltex

DISTRIBUTION

status and perform accordingly. We’re

candidates graduated from Henley

Volumes were down significantly, but

highly decentralised and entrepreneurial.

Management College while 367 black

showed some improvement late in the year,

This tends to attract self-starters and

employees participated in learnership (or

despite the disappointing impact of the

goal-setters.

equivalent) programmes.

World Cup. Gross margins held steady and

Economic performance – All businesses

Health and safety – The division’s LTIFR

structure was rationalised. Hillcrest and

have now improved to at least a level 3 or

injury rate has reduced by half following

Uitenhage branches were closed, while

level 4 contribution against the DTI Codes.

improved housekeeping and attention to

Springfield became a depot.

We use an electronic procurement tool to

health and safety matters.

expenses were well managed. Branch

help our suppliers improve their

The new structure means we continue to

empowerment credentials. We partner with

Labour disputes – CCMA cases brought

draw on the experience of former chief

new entrants to the subcontracting sector,

against the business dropped 28% to 72,

executive Myron Berzack (now chairman)

helping them build a track record while

with 42 findings in favour of the division. No

while joint managing directors drive the two

instituting basic business disciplines.

Department of Labour fines were incurred

operational arms of the business.

Kolok has established a township

for non-compliance.
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Voltex Solutions began work to develop the

World Cup. The year began hesitantly, but

KOLOK

market for dual geyser elements, intelligent

performance steadily improved. Both

A stronger rand, especially in the first half,

distribution boards, sensors and other

revenue and trading profit exceeded

was negative for the business and made it

smart products designed to optimise energy

expectation. Cash flow improved despite

difficult for Kolok to maintain the strong

usage. Sales take-off was slow. Much-

an increase in working capital. Margins

financial momentum of the previous period.

improved response is anticipated in the year

were well managed.

In unit terms, volumes were up throughout

ahead as power costs move higher.

the year. The business was impacted by
Sales were strong to both the institutional

dislocation caused by the World Cup.

The full benefit of the new ERP system will

eating and leisure segments of the market.

However, improvements were achieved in

not be seen until the new period, but early

The export business achieved pleasing

working capital management and cash

indications are that we will realise major

growth, as did operations in KwaZulu-

generation.

benefits in areas like market intelligence,

Natal.

OFFICE FURNITURE

anticipation of customer needs and

STATIONERY

CN Business Furniture

Waltons Stationery Company

Revenue was well down as demand

Results in export markets were

Revenue was flat, but trading profit was

continued to fall in both the corporate and

disappointing.

significantly below budget in a

project markets, resulting in an operating

disappointing year. The back-to-school

loss. Margins came under mounting

BERZACKS

peak provided a temporary respite and

pressure in a declining market. The

Expense control remained rigorous, but

strong cash generation was achieved in the

business was restructured in line with the

trading profit experienced a further decline.

fourth quarter, though extended school

new trading environment and improvements

Labour unrest, port strikes and short-time

holidays disrupted the usual trading

achieved in debtors management. Three

working in the industry aggravated an

pattern. Volumes overall were depressed

branches were closed and overhead costs

already difficult situation. The business has

as both cash-strapped consumers and

reduced following job cuts. Retrenchment

been severely affected by falling demand

companies reduced their office furniture

costs totalled R2,9 million.

for its core products – industrial sewing and

spend. Changes in the sales mix away from

embroidery machines. Demand is expected

higher margin items reflected continued

The business continued to innovate and

to remain subdued.

pressure on consumers.

give an industry lead in key areas, despite

EASTMAN STAPLES

Management has undertaken urgent action

complies with strict environmental

Our UK-based sewing machine supplier

to extract costs from the business, but

standards. The German board

continues to aggressively manage the cost

benefits will not be felt until next year.

manufacturer ensures that two trees are

rightsizing the inventory.

the recession. We import a board that

base. A restructure is planned early in the
new period.

planted for every tree that is cut down to
A purpose-built KwaZulu-Natal regional

meet its production requirements.

distribution facility is planned that will

CATERING EQUIPMENT

replace the current distribution centre and

Dauphin

Vulcan Catering Equipment

three retail outlets. Land has been

Results were extremely disappointing,

Vulcan maximised its trading opportunities

acquired, but project completion and

though expenses were well managed.

as the hospitality industry expanded and

resultant efficiencies are not expected

Volumes were almost entirely restricted to

upgraded catering facilities ahead of the

until 2012.

replacement of office furniture items as the
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corporate project market went into limbo.

Buffalo Executape

Delays caused by the transport strike

A strong fourth quarter was the platform for

compounded difficulties in the fourth

modest, but pleasing growth in revenue and

quarter, though the order book showed

trading profit. Margins were well managed

pleasing improvement as the year came

and cash flow was strong. The return on

to a close.

funds employed showed pleasing growth.

A new management team will continue to

Materials Handling

implement savings while pursuing growth

The newly acquired unit was integrated into

opportunities.

the Packaging and Catering component of
our business with effect from March.

Seating
Low demand and falling sales resulted
in an operating loss. Management
closed assembly operations within the
Queenstown factory, resulting in a loss
of jobs and retrenchment costs of
R1,9 million.
Working capital management improved and
margins recovered somewhat following
remedial action.
The business is being repositioned to move
the focus away from the lower end of the
market where margins are under increasing
pressure. Seating concentrates increasingly
on injection-moulded backs and seats. The
effect is to reduce the number of
production processes.

PACKAGING CLOSURES
Afcom
Trading conditions were challenging and
revenue came under pressure. Even so, a
marginal increase in trading profit was
achieved, a pleasing result in a difficult year.
Margins and expenses were well managed
and cash generation remained strong.
Market-share gains were achieved in the
polypropylene and staples segments.
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Bidvest Paperplus
A leading manufacturer, supplier and distributor of commercial office products, printer
products, services and stationery and packaging products, through a wide network of
outlets in southern Africa.

R2,1 billion
Revenue 8,2% increase

R248,3 million
Trading profit 10,8% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
1,9%

(Divisional contribution %)
4,4%

Carbon footprint and the environment
In our ongoing campaign to conserve electricity, Silveray Manufacturing won the
eThekweni (Durban) energy-saving competition for installing a 6 000-litre solar waterheating system for its workers at its labour intensive Mobeni facility.
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Highlights
 Businesses perform well in a challenging market
 Acquired distribution agency for international brands Parker, Papermate
and Waterman
 Croxley range being expanded
 BEE rating up from level 4 to level 3
 Lithotech export office opens in Denmark
 Consolidation under way of PWS and Silveray Statmark
 More than half domestic procurement spend now with BEE suppliers
 Training spend and training spend per employee increases
 Entered market for on-demand digital printing solutions
 Silveray Manufacturing won eThekweni energy-saving competition by
installing a solar heating system for workers

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

2 091,9

1 933,4

Trading profit

248,3

224,2

Operating assets

935,4

994,3

Operating liabilities

351,0

358,7

49,5

43,3

Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets

3,5

2,8

140,3

124,7

Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees

4 368

4 261

Total training spend (R’000)

5 248

3 674(1)

Training spend per employee (R)

1 202

862(1)

Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)
BEE procurement (R’000)

35,3

22,8

6,8

5,6

–

–

856 856

601 781

CSI spend (R’000)

1 061

881

Enterprise development spend (R’000)

3 314

2 800

115 006

120 886

32 721

35 448

Petrol (litres)

460 876

424 325

Diesel (litres)

284 574

328 745

34 234

37 685

7,8

8,8

Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/023.html
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Neil Birch, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

As the economy moved out of recession,

Strategic and industry dynamics

The repositioning strategy of recent years

customers preferred to stick with new

Over-capacity in some parts of the printing

reached critical mass as laser printing and

solutions – confirmation that policy

industry led to intense competition,

mail personalisation emerged as the

decisions had been taken on expense

squeezing some margins.

biggest single profit-earner. Bidvest

items and cost control rigour would be

Paperplus is increasingly seen as a network

maintained.

of specialists capable of transitioning

Marketing budgets were slashed and
business cut the printing and stationery

across formats. Skills developed in an

Performance

spend. It appears that all spending on office

ink-on-paper environment are applied to

Bidvest Paperplus performed well in a

consumables by customers is scrutinised

various substrates.

challenging market. All teams put in a

before sign-off.

creditable performance, including those
Diverse printing, imaging and communication

who faced a severe decline in sales as a

Government is adopting decentralised

formats are accessible at one customer

result of new buying patterns. Inventories

tendering for some print work and

touchpoint – a vital factor for customers

were cut and debtors strictly controlled,

scholastic supplies. Local rather than

looking for a single supplier capable of

resulting in improved cash flow and a better

national contracts reduce print runs.

meeting multiple requirements.

average return on funds employed.

Bidvest Paperplus is not dependent on

Bidvest Paperplus is now industry leader in

Revenue rose 8,2% to R2,1 billion

printers are geared up for this type of job

full-colour digital printing, another indication

(2009: R1,9 billion) while trading profit

and may now find it necessary to seek

that the strategy of rebalancing the

moved 10,8% higher to R248,3 million

replacement business.

business has proved successful.

(2009: R224,2 million). World Cup-related

government contracts, but several large

Macro- and trading environment

business offset the absence of big export

The potential for cut-priced competition

contracts.

– especially in stationery – was apparent by
year-end.

It was a watershed year. Recession forced
businesses to seek economies and

Changes in demand patterns resulted in

re-examine past practice. One effect was

the rationalisation of capacity in some

In challenging conditions, we derived

the further erosion of conventional printing

areas, but staff numbers remained stable.

relative advantage as volumes traditionally
channelled to one specialisation were

and conversion volumes. Customers with
a traditional attachment to ink-on-paper

Strict cost control resulted in a war on

solutions moved to e-mail statements or

waste while the growing appeal of digital

other digital formats. Others cut back on

formats reduced paper usage. Improved

The export cycle, favourable last year,

quantities or redesigned their forms. A

measurement confirms that good

proved less so this year. We specialise in

three-page solution became a two-page

sustainability practice is good business.

print and fulfilment work for election and

solution and so on.

Business sustainability considerations

voter registration contracts. With few major

underpin the entire business.

elections in sub-Saharan Africa, demand fell.
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redirected to others.

Revenue was assisted in May and June

for each operation. There are no overall

New initiatives

by work on VIP ticket packaging and

divisional targets as some segments of our

We launched an aggressive attack on allied

personalisation, our biggest single FIFA

industry are in decline while others show

markets and differentiated ourselves

World Cup 2010™ contract.

robust growth from a relatively low base.

strongly as one-stop solution providers.

The rand remained stable as did most input

Margin management is complicated by

Procurement proved to be a big growth

costs, though pulp prices went up.

varying levels of on-selling in each

area. Fulfilment services, covering print and

Electricity costs rose significantly and

operation. When a business controlled all

non-print items, became a strategic

pressure rose on the wage bill. Whenever

production, service, storage and delivery

contributor to the business and for the first

possible, higher pay awards were made to

functions for all products, margins could be

time we used BEE accreditation as a sales

the lowest paid workers.

compared with the previous period as the

tool.

same level of control had been maintained

Efficiencies

for years. Now some outputs are internally

We opened a Lithotech export office in

Long-run print demand plummeted and the

controlled while others are bought in to

Denmark in collaboration with a Danish

Cape Town business forms plant was

be on-sold as part of a total package.

associate company. The premises are near

scaled down. Two Johannesburg label

On-selling elements vary from company

the Nordic Office of the UN Development

operations were consolidated into one.

to company. The net effect is more

Programme. The main focus area is

margin pressure.

printing, fulfilment and project coordination

The acquisition of Pretoria Wholesale

in support of elections and voter

Stationers was completed at the end of last

Workplace safety is a key area for

registration programmes. Lithotech is one

year on the run-in to the peak back-to-school

measurement and improvement.

of the main sponsors of an upcoming

period. This delayed the integration of the

international conference on election

stationery operations of PWS and Silveray

Empowerment and transformation are

challenges, vote counting and new

Statmark. Consolidation began in the fourth

measured continually. Independent

election-related technology.

quarter. Areas of duplication are being

assessment is carried out by Empowerdex.

removed in Johannesburg and Durban.

We have entered the market for onOur manufacturing businesses are heavy

demand digital printing solutions, focusing

users of electricity and water, while

on course notes, training manuals,

To achieve sustained efficiency and quality

distribution operations are big users of

technical and specialist publications and

improvements, performance champions

petrol and diesel. These are increasingly

short-run book production.

were appointed. They apply a six-sigma

expensive inputs. Measurement and

methodology that imposes constant

reduction are critical.

Considerable efficiencies are expected.

measurement and rigorous self-

No new acquisitions took place. Investment
in new property, plant and equipment

assessment. The initial champions have

Brand and operational dynamics

been deployed at the Lufil Packaging

Lithotech’s brand strength was leveraged

operation in Isethebe, KwaZulu-Natal, the

during an attack on related markets as our

Facilities at the recently launched Bidvest

Silveray manufacturing site in northern

fulfilment service operates under the

Paperplus training academy were made

KwaZulu-Natal and Lithotech

Lithotech banner. The Lithotech name was

available to students on the block release

Manufacturing Pinetown.

promoted internationally as part of our drive

courses offered by the Printing Industry

to secure more export work.

Federation. The collapse of the media,

Effects will not be evident until next year.

totalled R44 million.

advertising, publishing, printing and
We acquired the South African distribution

packaging sector education and training

A preventive approach was taken to

rights to the strong international brands,

authority appears irrevocable. A lead had to

debtors management. Creditworthiness of

Parker, Papermate and Waterman. They

be given or risk continuing limbo in industry

customers was reassessed before cases of

are being marketed as part of a wider

training.

one year late payment occurred. Strict

Silveray Statmark offering.

Business risks

credit controls were applied.
We bought the Croxley brand rights in

Changing technology remains a key risk.

Benchmarks

southern Africa and have begun to expand

Our widespread of activities and refusal to

Annual financial and other performance

the range by launching non-paper-based

become dependent on one technology

targets, such as waste reduction, are set

Croxley-branded general stationery items.

help us manage the risk. We constantly
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scan the technology horizon for new

enterprise, our customers can now claim

Health and safety – LTIFR increased

developments.

137,5% of their procurement spend with us

despite improved housekeeping and

for their own BEE rating purposes. In turn,

attention to health and safety matters.

Techno development is also an area of

we have applied our web-based tool to

opportunity as we are well resourced and in

help register BEE suppliers. These now

Labour disputes – CCMA cases brought

the past have shown that we are capable

represent more than 50% of our domestic

against the business remain low with only

to adopting new technology and making

procurement spend.

eight findings against the division.

Environment – As clients convert from

Society – We embarked on an awareness

paper to electronic processes, we have

campaign to ensure ethical business

We depend on skilled people. Training is

increased our offering of one-stop solutions

practices, including an externally managed

one form of people risk management; so is

to administrative needs and entered the

survey, followed by a debate with staff

our position as industry leader. Ambitious

market for on-demand digital printing

around anti-competitive behaviour and

people can build a strong career with the

solutions. Silveray Manufacturing won the

corrupt practices in the work environment.

company and take pride in their length of

eThekweni (Durban) energy-saving

The audit committee plays an oversight

service.

competition for installing a 6 000-litre solar

role, recording no significant incidents of

water-heating system for its workers.

fraud, corruption or anti-competitive

new investment at a faster rate than some
competitors.

behaviour.

Currency risk is managed by the taking of
forward cover.

Human resources – Half our employeebase is unionised and we enter into wage

Corporate social investment – Each

For local paper supplies we remain

negotiations at 16 businesses annually. We

operation adopts a disadvantaged school

dependent on a duopoly. This is a

deadlocked in eight and referred these for

in its area and supports learners and staff

continuing risk factor, but we retain the

conciliation and mediation. Seven were

with donations of scholastic stationery and

capacity to bring in overseas supplies

resolved amicably, but one resulted in a

books. CSI spend has increased by 21%.

should local prices move to unacceptable

13-day strike at our Lufil plant, affecting

levels.

5% of employees, but with significant
impact on the operation. Total training

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/024.html

Sustainable development

spend (and training spend per employee)

Pride in resilience is increasingly evident.

more than doubled as we continued to take

Our business is constantly evolving and

more responsibility for industry training

Future

teams take pride in the fact that many

following the collapse of the industry SETA.

We will aim for double-digit growth in

pressures on the industry were anticipated

We increased learnerships by 57%, and are

trading profit, but performance depends on

and that new growth areas were identified

aiming for the DTI’s target of 5% of

continued economic recovery and a revival

in good time.

employees in learnership positions. Gender

of consumer spending. The diversification

equality is a challenge in our factory

strategy has proved sound and will be

Craft and company pride was always

environments where jobs focus on physical

continued. Greater consistency will be

strong. Group pride is now coming to the

labour and shift work. We assessed

sought in the volume of export business

fore.

400 employees for adult basic education

and efforts will be stepped up to widen our

and training and 260 signed up nationally

product and service offering. Growth will

Economic performance – We have

for this learning initiative; 91% passed,

be sought in paper-based packaging

improved our BEE rating for the DTI Codes

enabling participation in further career

manufacture and distribution. Cost

from level 4 to level 3. As a value-adding

development.

efficiencies and working capital
management remain focus areas.
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PRINTING AND RELATED

STATIONERY DISTRIBUTION
The stationery market was subdued, but

Personalisation and mail

Silveray Stationers replaced trade volumes

Teams achieved sustained growth and

with retail chain business. Penetration of

Lithotech Africa Mail put in another strong

the retail market will be assisted by

performance as the leading provider of

acquisition of the Parker pen agency.

high-volume mailing solutions. It was a

Strong sales and profit growth was

breakthrough year for our full-colour digital

achieved, but changes in government

printing business.

buying patterns in the scholastic products
market threaten to squeeze paper

Printing and conversion

stationery margins.

The business suffered a significant fall in
revenue and trading profit as corporate
customers cut back on printing work. Big
cuts in marketing budgets worsened the
situation. Teams did well to cut their own
costs while seeking replacement volumes.

Sales and distribution
Teams benefited from a pragmatic
approach. As volumes fell in conventional
print work, they pursued new opportunities
in procurement and fulfilment services.

ALTERNATIVE PRODUCTS
Strong growth was achieved, though the
base remains relatively small. Many new
accounts were gained as the market
witnessed a strong trend to e-mail billing.
International business is being sought in
collaboration with value-added resellers in
Australia. A proof-of-concept site has been
set up. E-mail billing, on the server-toserver model, offers considerable saving to
Australian corporates, though initial
reticence is a challenge.

PACKAGING AND LABEL
PRODUCTS
The expanding subdivision achieved strong
sales and profit growth. Rotolabel
performed strongly. At the beginning of the
period, the business was severely affected
by the retail downturn, but grew volumes
by expanding into new markets. A rebound
by the retail sector ensured a good end to
the year. The Cape-based label factory had
a good year.
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Bidvest Automotive
One of South Africa’s largest motor vehicle retailing groups. Bidvest Automotive offers
leading motor brands through 116 dealerships, as well as vehicle auctioneering,
comprehensive financial services, car and van rental and the full range of Yamaha products.

R17,3 billion
Revenue 10,7% increase

R424,1 million
Trading profit 60,4% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)

15,4%

(Divisional contribution %)
7,5%

Community engagement
Founded in 1998 by McCarthy, the Financial Mail and the READ Education Trust, Rally to Read
is an educational initiative founded on a high level of personal involvement by sponsors and
supporters. From its early days as a campaign to distribute educational books to a handful of
schools in KwaZulu-Natal, Rally to Read has developed into an educational programme that
has invested over R50 million in books and teacher training for thousands of rural schools.
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Highlights
 McCarthy Motor Group more than doubles trading profit to R208 million
 McCarthy VW/Audi remains top motor franchise profit contributor
 Virtually all the smaller franchises stage impressive profit turnarounds
 Used vehicles become an even more significant profit contributor in
McCarthy Motor Group with a 34% increase in net contribution
 Almost 800 000 vehicles serviced and repaired
 Bidvest Financial Services increases trading profit by 165% from
R58,2 million to R154,1 million
 Substantially improved financial results in motor and financial services
despite a decline in retail vehicle sales from 75 114 to 72 291 units
 Extensive restructuring successfully implemented
 Continued training of informal mechanics at Orange Farm
 Owner-driver scheme involving 20 former employees launched
 Artisan Academies remain leading automotive industry training provider
 Staff trained to ensure compliance with Consumer Protection Act

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue

2009(1)
R’m

2010
R’m
17 297,5

15 626,3

424,1

264,4

Operating assets

4 286,1

2 913,4

Operating liabilities

1 952,5

1 913,0

85,7

64,6

238,1

238,1

Trading profit

Depreciation
Goodwill and intangible assets
Sustainable development indicator overview

6 699

6 719

Total training spend (R’000)

86 736

65 301(2)

Training spend per employee (R)

12 948

9 719(2)

Employees

Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)

59,8

43,5

2,6

1,8

–

–

7 074 620

5 664 710

CSI spend (R’000)

7 408

3 255

Enterprise development spend (R’000)

1 716

BEE procurement (R’000)

Total water usage (litres ’000)
Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

358 081

2 982
316 300(3)

43 765

45 500(3)

Petrol (litres)

6 471 009

7 600 000(3)

Diesel (litres)

489 131

558 000(3)

60 648

66 878

9,1

9,6

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

2009 sustainable development figures include McCarthy Fleet Services which was transferred to Bidvest Services. Other than the number of
employees, the 2009 figures in relation to the transfer, have not been restated as the impact is not considered significant

(2)

Restated to include learnerships

(3)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/025.html
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Brand Pretorius, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

recession forced unprecedented market

put pressure on workshop utilisation and

McCarthy celebrates 100 years in business

contraction. Slow recovery from a low base

parts sales.

this year and is one of the most trusted

has yet to offset these effects.
The first half saw a strong upsurge in used

brands in automotive retailing. We are
positioned as “the value leader you can

South Africa’s return to economic growth

vehicle sales, but greater balance was

trust”. All Bidvest Automotive businesses

was hesitant. Consumers remained under

apparent in the second half. At industry

adopt a long-term business sustainability

pressure and banks remained risk averse.

level the used-to-new ratio (at 2,3 used

philosophy, with the accent on appropriate

Credit extension increased only marginally.

cars for every new car financed in

business strategies, sound values, people

The macro-environment for motor retailing

November 2009) had recovered by June

development and customer retention.

and associated activities remained

2010 to 1,6 used cars for every new car.

challenging. Strong World Cup effects

Macro- and trading environment

were expected to support vehicle rental.

We sold 29 697 new vehicles, 2% less than

As South Africa moved out of recession,

In fact, the tournament’s impact occurred

the 30 290 units sold in 2009. Used vehicle

there was keen focus on new vehicle sales,

much later than expected and was not

sales declined by 5% to 42 594 units.

a lead economic indicator. The new vehicle

nearly as substantial as some hoped.

Total retail vehicle sales amounted to
72 291 units. Used-car profitability along

market recorded a significant improvement
and by June passenger vehicle sales were

After more than two years of extremely

with parts and service made a major

up 27,9% year to date. Gains, however,

difficult trading, one positive is the

contribution to the business.

were from an extremely depressed base.

emergence of a spirit of partnership
between retailers and manufacturers as the

Across the industry as a whole, the vehicle

In 2006, new vehicle sales topped

industry confronts new realities and applies

population shrank as the number of

700 000 and market size was projected to

recent learnings.

scrapped vehicles moved higher than the
number of new registrations.

exceed 1 000 000 units by 2011. Unit
sales for 2009 reached just 395 000 and in

Strategic and industry dynamics

calendar 2010 are expected to recover to

Modest economic growth, higher levels of

At Bidvest Financial Services, soft interest

about 475 000 units overall – 34% below

business and consumer confidence, lower

rates were negative for returns on bank

2006 levels.

interest rates and enhanced vehicle

deposits, though a strong recovery by the

affordability contributed to a meaningful

JSE was positive for the investment

Statistics fail to disclose the financial legacy

recovery in overall unit sales. Corporate

portfolio. Notwithstanding the reduction in

of vehicle manufacturer optimism from

customers accounted for much of the

vehicle sales, the BFS underwriting profits

2006. Considerable investment was

activity. Consumers remained cautious.

were 15,6% up thanks to improved

required by brand principals to support

Low rates eased debt servicing costs,

penetration levels in all products, tight

market expansion that failed to materialise,

but household debt as a percentage of

expense and claims controls and good

adding to fixed costs and leading to

disposable income remained high.

retention strategies.

over-stocking and margin squeeze just as

Extension of vehicle replacement cycles
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Industry-wide, the level of vehicle rental

retirement of Bidvest Automotive chief

Operating profit at Budget Car and Van

activity fell 0,8% for the 12-month period,

executive, Brand Pretorius, is scheduled

Rental declined by 25% from R86,7 million

reflecting cutbacks on corporate travel and

for March 2011.

to R64,8 million, mainly due to conservative
used-car buyback offerings from McCarthy

consumer belt-tightening. Budget was also
impacted by reduced international travel as

Bidvest Automotive’s asset-base was much

dealers and low levels of fleet utilisation

a result of the global financial crisis.

reduced, enabling significant interest

during the last quarter of the financial year.

savings.

Efficiencies

Yamaha Distributors recorded an increase

In an effort to improve efficiencies, a

Unfortunately, retrenchments continued

of 51% in operating profit to R15,5 million

number of restructuring initiatives were

and the number of employees fell from

from a low base of only R10,3 million. AAD

implemented.

6 942, before restructuring, to 6 699. By

incurred a substantial trading loss of

the final quarter, almost all loss-makers in

R24,8 million.

The asset-based finance business,

the motor group were moving back into

McCarthy Fleet Solutions was sold to

profit and margin recovery was under way.

Non-financial performance, which includes
market share and customer satisfaction,

Bidvest Bank. We also sold 50% of
McCarthy Vehicle Imports (the channel for

Quality people drive our businesses and

was heartening. In the face of considerable

importing Chery and Foton) to Imperial

leaner teams continue to apply our

marketplace pressure, Bidvest Automotive

Holdings. Imperial took management

long-term policy of optimum customer

remained committed to the principles of

responsibility for the resulting joint venture,

service to secure strong repeat business.

long-term business sustainability.

Performance

Benchmarks

Performance as a whole across the

Accurate, up-to-date industry statistics

The construction machinery operations of

restructured and decentralised division was

permit precise benchmarking of

McCarthy Heavy Equipment were wound

satisfactory. Trading profit rose 60,4% to

performance. We continue to benchmark

down and the materials handling division

R424,1 million (2009: R264,4 million).

performance by business unit and

transferred with effect from May 1 2010 to

Revenue at R17,3 billion was 10,7% higher

department and constantly review criteria.

Afcom, a subsidiary of Bidvest Industrial

(2009: R15,6 billion).

Our dealerships remain among the highest

now named Amalgamated Automotive
Distributors.

and Commercial.

industry earners of variable margin
Following extensive rationalisation and

incentives from motor manufacturers,

Yamaha Distributors has been repositioned

restructuring over the past two years,

a reflection of our ability to attain targets

as an independent business reporting

McCarthy Motor Group staged a strong

within specified timeframes.

separately into Bidvest.

turnaround. Trading profit more than

The three remaining businesses, McCarthy

doubled to R208 million despite a 4%

Rigorous monitoring of underperforming

decline in vehicle sales to 72 291 units.

dealerships helped to improve the average

Motor Group, BFS and Budget Car and

performance across all business areas. A

Van Rental, also started operating as

Increased emphasis on used-vehicle

special performance group project proved

independent businesses during the last

trading resulted in an improvement of

highly successful in the used-vehicle area.

quarter of the financial year.

34% in profit contribution, despite lower

The McCarthy corporate office was

sales volumes. Parts and service revenues

Finance and insurance personnel are

increased.

assigned to each dealership floor and

collapsed and the functions taken on by
the three core operational divisions.

measured by the finance and insurance
Pleasing results were recorded at BFS as it

income they generate. Individual

transitions to a multi-channel business

benchmarking is based on improving the

The restructure applies the Bidvest

model while retaining its strong automotive

“going rate” (norms achieved per marque

philosophy of smaller, focused business

linkages. The business increased operating

per site in the recent past). Benchmarks

units, local autonomy and decentralisation

profit by 165% from R58,2 million to

are reset every quarter. BFS marketers

of corporate services. Simultaneously, the

R154,1 million.

(responsible for several dealerships) are

potential succession problem was solved.

measured on overall performance.

Each division is led by an experienced

Budget Car and Van Rental, Yamaha

management team, with in-depth

Distributors and AAD delivered

The dealer incentive commission structure

knowledge of each operational area. The

disappointing returns.

was changed at McCarthy Finance. The
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new structure is risk-rated with the focus

showroom floor of our dealerships, but will

Economic performance – McCarthy is

on the quality and finance rates at which

now seek additional income streams

a level 4 contributor under the DTI Codes.

business is written. The revision contributed

outside of the motor industry.

While employment equity remains a
challenge, improving only marginally at

to improved bad debt experience and

Business risks

middle management level, we are

A stable rand contributed to new-price

determined to improve through training

Throughout Bidvest Automotive,

deflation in 2010, but the risk of a softer

and internal promotion. Stars of Africa (a

sustainable business practice is

currency does exist. Fortunately the motor

NUMSA partnership) continues its training

incorporated into benchmarking as we

group is the market leader in used-vehicle

of informal mechanics in the Orange Farm

continually measure factors such as market

retailing and well positioned for any market

community. Training investment amounted

share, employee and customer satisfaction

swing from new to used.

to R86,7 million, of which 69% was spent

improved margins.

on black participants. We launched an

and retention.
High volatility and the cyclical nature of the

owner-driver scheme involving 20 parts

Brand and operational dynamics

automotive business create enduring risks,

delivery vehicles, owned by former

McCarthy remains one of the industry’s

but leaner structures and stringent expense

employees – a significant enterprise

strongest retail brands. During the industry

management have improved our ability to

development project.

crisis, honoured warranties derived some

respond.
Environment – The carbon dioxide

competitive advantage from our position of
trust as vehicle buyers looked for a no-risk

Though motor retailing remains sensitive to

emission-based tax has led to an average

purchase in the tough times.

consumer and business confidence, strong

increase in the retail selling prices of cars

performance by our parts and after-sales

of up to 2,5%. In principle, McCarthy is

McCarthy’s smaller motor franchises bore the

operations confirms that after-sales service

supportive of government’s policy, but

brunt of the cutbacks, but we retained a

business provides a measure of balance

notes the negative impact on vehicle

well-balanced franchise portfolio. Our

when car sales stall.

affordability, a key factor required to
improve access to motoring for more South

automotive brand bouquet remains one of
the most extensive in the country, and during

The restructure of BFS addresses a major

Africans. We achieved considerable

the year we added Citroën and Mahindra.

area of risk in that area – reliance on a

success with the launch of South Africa’s

single distribution channel. Equity market

lowest priced new car, the Chery QQ,

The automotive industry is extremely

risk has always affected this business and

imported from China.

cyclical and as the cycle turns we are

is addressed by portfolio diversification and

strongly placed to obtain relative advantage

long-term commitment to strong “value”

Human resources – The aftermath of

from our reputation for fair dealing in good

counters.

recession continues to affect staff and
376 employees were retrenched following

and bad times.
Yamaha remains very sensitive to

business closures. Of these, 87 were

New initiatives

developments affecting the leisure segment

cross-skilled for deployment in other

The major new initiative was our

of the market. The likelihood of a strong

dealerships. Job security and concern over

comprehensive restructure and creation of

consumer-led recovery appears slim. Two of

personal finances were the most pressing

decentralised teams. The second important

the divisions have proved remarkably

issues. With the closure of a further four

development was the establishment of the

resilient to the economic downturn; namely,

branches in the dealership network this

vehicle import and distribution joint-venture

parts and accessories and musical

year (from 120 to 116), staff morale has

with Imperial.

instruments.

needed constant support. There was no

Our insurance and financing business –

Sustainable development

recorded satisfaction levels of over 70%;

BFS – not only has a new identity, it is in

Staff morale was a key focus area. We

a consequence, we believe, of open

the process of adopting a new multi-

continued to invest in our people and our

engagement and our determination to live

channel, multi-product business model.

ability to bounce back was evident as the

company values.

BFS retains a high-profile presence on the

year progressed.

industrial action and our staff survey again
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Training – McCarthy Automotive Artisan

in the coming year. A net reduction in the

financial institutions. Repossession

Academies remain the leading automotive

vehicle population in 2010 is an indication

business declined as the economy

industry training provider. We registered new

that the belt-tightening cycle cannot continue

improved, but the success of Burchmores

automotive and maintenance qualifications

for much longer and meaningful replacement

“wholesale to the public” sales strategy

from level NQF2 to NQF5 (380 of our

demand should occur.

ensured continued momentum in off-thefloor retail sales.

learners achieved NQF certification) and
participated in the Department of Labour’s

This creates potential for continued

new accelerated artisan training programme,

improvement in core motor retailing

Top performers across our brand bouquet

engaging 52 trainees. The Midrand academy

activities, with positive knock-on effects for

were VW/Audi, Toyota and Mercedes-Benz.

was upgraded, with an additional

BFS. This operation is making a rapid

Each marque is supported by an extensive

R600 000 investment in equipment, to

transition to its new multi-channel business

dealership network. New model

improve the training and transfer of practical

model, a platform for further growth.

introductions supported sales growth.

delivered 13 600 training days;

Budget is also well positioned, with a

BMW/Mini demonstrated the resilience

8 340 internally, the balance to external

quality fleet rightsized for a new

of strong brands. General Motors had a

customers. Black students accounted for

environment. This division will also benefit

difficult year. Land Rover put in a pleasing

77% of total students trained.

in future from a more favourable vehicle

performance, bolstered by new model

buyback arrangement as well as more

launches. Volvo had a challenging year as

Health and safety – The division’s LTIFR

flexibility in terms of the management of

the line-up remained static. Our fairly

is still low for the industry at 2,6.

its fleet.

recently established Ford/Mazda

Society – In fraud cases, we take decisive

Yamaha Distributors should experience

Pleasing contributions came from Chrysler,

action, listing all losses and the measures

slightly better trading conditions on the

Jeep and Dodge, though Mitsubishi had a

taken to resolve these cases and reduce our

back of the modest recovery that is

tough time. The Peugeot franchise got off

vulnerability. Transgressors are named and

expected in consumer spending.

to a slow start, but improved.

skills. Our automotive artisan academies

dealerships continued to record losses.

shamed.
AAD traded profitably during the last

The Peugeot improvement was driven in

Product responsibility – We established

quarter of the financial year and is likely

part by the addition of the Citroën franchise

a customer complaints resolution centre.

to deliver much-improved results.

to our existing outlets. The newcomer is
internationally aligned with Peugeot and is

Survey scores for used-vehicle customer
satisfaction continues to top 85%. We are

The trading environment may become

marketed jointly with its sister brand,

training customer-facing staff to ensure

somewhat easier, but challenges will persist

contributing to improved viability of these

compliance with the new Consumer

for some time. The introduction of a carbon

dealerships.

Protection Act.

tax on new vehicle sales may encourage
consumer down-trading. However, Bidvest

Our Nissan passenger and commercial,

Corporate social investment – Our CSI

Automotive will seek continued revenue

Fiat/Alfa and Renault dealerships staged a

spend increased to R7,4 million and we

gains and significant trading profit growth.

dramatic turnaround and delivered
much-improved returns.

were able to garner additional support
through corporate sponsors for our flagship

McCARTHY MOTOR GROUP

programme, Rally to Read. Staff members

The benefit of last year’s corrective action

The Mahindra range of SUVs and light

benefited from their involvement in the

came through strongly. Revenue recovered

commercial vehicles also joined our brand

“Maintaining the momentum” mini-Rally to

and trading profit moved significantly

line-up. Our Value Centres now provide a

Read events.

higher. Our ROFE improved to 22% and

distribution channel for both Mahindra and

cash flows remained healthy. Strong

Suzuki (another brand that had a good

contributions were made by the parts

year). Chery and Foton are also sold

department, after-sales service and used

through this channel. Although the losses

vehicle sales.

incurred by the Value Centre network

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/026.html

reduced from R73 million to R15 million, its

Future

Burchmores, our car auctioneer, put in

performance remains most disappointing.

The benefits of efficiency improvements and

another excellent performance. In the first

Of the 19 Value Centres established in

rationalisation were felt strongly in the second

half, its volumes were boosted by the large

2007, only eight remain. Further

half and continued momentum is anticipated

number of vehicle repossessions by

rationalisation is likely.
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New initiatives included a strong effort to

business model and sees the potential for

11%. Leisure and inbound tour rentals

increase the reach of our parts business.

sustained growth as BFS made the

eased 3% higher.

Multi-franchise deliveries to customers

transition into a fully fledged financial

ensured distribution efficiency while

services company.

Our branch network grew from 84 to
101 sites while R45 million was invested in

boosting volumes. Our owner-driver
scheme handles deliveries in the Gauteng

A more focused retail offering on the

the relocation of operations at the three

region. This enterprise development

internet is a priority as more customers use

main international airports. Vehicle

initiative has proved its worth in Gauteng

technology (customers enabled by mobile

check-out processes improved following

and will be extended to KwaZulu-Natal.

technology already have the capacity to

the introduction of licence scanning.

shop the market from the showroom floor).

Customer fraud fell. Savings were made
on vehicle maintenance and repair.

The web-based sales tool McCarthy
Call-a-Car put in another good

Sustainability underpins our culture and

performance as did the Club McCarthy

way of doing business. In vehicle financing

We grew the fleet by 12% in anticipation

loyalty programme. Corporate Marketing,

it is possible to lift short-term volumes by

of an increase in World Cup business

our platform for serving multi-franchise

writing 72-months’ business. We prefer a

volumes that did not materialise. We cut

corporate fleets, did well.

solid core of four- or five-year transactions

back at year-end, realigning fleet size to

as this is more sustainable and is usually in

demand levels. The fleet profile was also

the customer’s best interest.

realigned, focusing on smaller vehicles in

We project continued growth in revenue

response to corporate economising.

and trading profit in 2011.
Opportunities for increased Bidvest

BIDVEST FINANCIAL SERVICES

business in the group life and disability

Overall market growth is unlikely in 2011.

Strong recovery by the JSE was positive

insurance categories will be pursued.

We will continue to seek market-share

for our investment portfolio, driving a

Increased sales volumes will be sought by

gains.

meaningful improvement in profit before

creating new brands in new distribution

tax. Revenue also moved higher. The

channels. BFS will aim for 10% revenue

finance business still had to contend with

growth and meaningful profit growth.

high levels of bad debt and low production

YAMAHA DISTRIBUTORS SOUTH
AFRICA
In September 2009 Yamaha was moved

volumes. The expected loss ratio fell from

BUDGET CAR AND VAN RENTAL

out of Bidvest Automotive and became an

over 3% to 1,4%, enabling reduced bad

Performance was disappointing in difficult

autonomous business, but reports through

debt provisions.

trading conditions. Though rental days

the division.

were flat, revenue eased higher. Trading
We did well to maintain a stable claims ratio

profit declined significantly. The Door2Door

Performance was disappointing as a result

at a time when claims experience across

and Chauffeur division did well from a low

of economic pressure on consumers and

the insurance industry worsened

base.

the leisure market, tighter credit and yen

considerably. We brought down our cost of

strength.

policy acquisition by increasing product

While vehicle utilisation fell, productivity

penetration per vehicle sold. Cross-selling

(rentals per day per employee) improved

Market share was maintained by the marine

into top-up policies, tyre protection and

by 8%.

products business and was improved by the

other products and upselling into

motorcycle and music divisions. The music

comprehensive insurance solutions

The industry’s rise in average daily rental

instruments business performed well versus

assisted margin management.

(up 1%) was well below inflation. The

budget and prior year.

corporate travel component of our
Headcount remained stable and expenses

industry’s business mix fell by 11%, though

Margins were under pressure due to yen

were tightly controlled. A re-energised team

the insurance replacement market rose

strength and the fact that over-stocked

has bought into the new multi-channel

competitors sold some inventory below
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landed cost. Improvements in margins were
evident in the fourth quarter.
The all-new and highly anticipated Super
Tenere Adventure Motorcycle was launched
late in the fourth quarter and bodes well
for 2011.
Signs of a gradual economic recovery are
positive for Yamaha, which boasts a
resilient international brand with a strong
position in the leisure market.
Improved sales and trading profits are
anticipated in 2011 on the back of
continued web developments and a strong
focus on electronic media to further
enhance brand loyalty. Gauteng divisions
are to be relocated to a “World of Yamaha”
facility in Johannesburg.

AMALGAMATED AUTOMOTIVE
DISTRIBUTORS (50% joint venture)
AAD underwent further restructuring and
meaningful synergies materialised but
financial benefits were more than off-set by
substantial writedowns of excess and
over-aged stock. Significant losses were
incurred on vehicles brought in at an
unfavourable exchange rate and retailed at
much-reduced prices in an extremely
competitive market.
Sales of the Chery and Foton ranges
recorded meaningful improvements in the
second half.
Additional new models (the Chery J3 and
the Foton pick-up range) are due to be
launched over the next six months. AAD is
well positioned to take advantage of its
lower cost base the strong rand and
improving market conditions.

The Bidvest Group Limited Annual report 2010

109

Operational review

Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Namibia is the holding company for Bidvest’s interests in Namibia, which include
fishing and similar commercial businesses to those of Bidvest in South Africa.

R1,9 billion
Revenue 20,6% increase

R367,9 million
Trading profit 25,0% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
1,7%

(Divisional contribution %)
6,6%

Resource management
Represented by: Improved fishing methods at Namsov. Many fishing methods, particularly
bottom trawling, inflict serious collateral damage on the environment through damage to
coral and sea bed. Collateral damage is minimised at Namsov through targeted mid-water
trawling and gear restrictions designed to avoid excessive harvesting of juveniles. Gear
losses are minimal and by-catch remains around 1% of total catches, still among the best
percentages internationally.
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Highlights
 Successful listing on the Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX)
 Credibility enhanced with investment community as prospectus forecasts
are achieved
 NAD600 million available for possible acquisitions
 Biggest ever investment in Namibian fishing industry
 NAD21 million spent on land for Caterplus expansion
 Successful Ovanhu empowerment transaction concluded
 Namsov Community Trust invests R3,2 million in local projects
 Horse mackerel and pilchard populations recovering and quotas increasing

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)
Revenue
Trading profit

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

1 949,2

1 616,4

367,9

294,3

1 012,1

459,8

399,6

343,3

39,3

30,2

8,4

5,8

111,4

121,0

Employees

2 574

1 998

Total training spend (R’000)

Operating assets
Operating liabilities
Depreciation
Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets
Sustainable development indicator overview

2 168

2 597

Training spend per employee (R)

842

1 300

Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)

34,3

6,5

Lost-time injury frequency rate

16,3

9,7

–

–

Work-related fatalities (number)
CSI spend (R’000)
Total water usage (litres ’000)

4 089
16 935

208
11 062(1)

4 727

6 213

Petrol (litres)

478 454

458 756

Diesel (litres)

35 603 217

29 867 699(1)

97 006

81 912(1)

Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

37,7

41,0

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/027.html
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Bidvest Namibia

Sebby Kankondi, chief executive

Positioning and reputation

such as the mines took a cautious

BEE ownership is not obligatory, but future

Following our NSX listing, Bidvest Namibia

approach. Consumer spending was also

indigenisation legislation may require a 25%

entrenched its positioning as a Namibian

under pressure.

stake by black Namibians. Our transaction
ahead of legal requirements established our

business, deeply rooted in the country and
strongly committed to quality service

Stable fuel prices were positive for our

across multiple sectors. At listing on

fishing fleet and distribution activities.

BEE credentials.
Managers across the business participated

October 26, we became the second largest
company on the NSX by market

Performance

in sustainability awareness programmes

capitalisation, with the third largest free float

Despite challenging trading conditions,

and we continued our support for

of shares (32,4%).

strong momentum was maintained.

responsible management of fishing

Revenue rose 20,6% to NAD1,9 billion

resources, a strategic imperative for us.

We’re a reliable partner of customers in the

(NAD1,6 billion) while trading profit moved

quest for solutions and a reliable partner of

25,0% higher to NAD367,9 million

Strategic and industry dynamics

government in the search for sustainable

(NAD294,3 million).

The international crisis reduced European
demand for white hake and monkfish. Our

resource utilisation.
Results were buoyed by high catch rates

fishing business, however, focuses primarily

Trust was reinforced across the investment

within the fishing business, especially

on pelagic species that appeal to African

community as half-year results and

Namsov and further supported by an

markets. This demand remained strong and

subsequent performance were closely

excellent result from the freight business

we benefited from our status as suppliers

scrutinised against our listings prospectus.

Manica.

of one of Africa’s most affordable sources
of quality protein.

The overall reaction was that we can be
trusted to perform in line with forecasts as

Financial performance was impacted by

revenue and profit growth met

a BEE ownership transaction charge of

Catch rates remained at good levels and

expectations.

NAD16,9 million as IFRS requires us to

fish prices stabilised after strong recovery

reflect the value of new empowerment

from the dramatic collapse of 2008.

Macro- and trading environment

structures as a reserve on our statement

The strong Namibian dollar was negative

of financial position.

Our travel business was impacted by the
global crisis, but freight businesses benefited

for our fishing, computer consumables and
stationery supply businesses. The general

Non-financial performance was pleasing.

from large infrastructure investment projects,

economic slowdown after the international

Completion of the broad-based black

continued growth in rig- and ship-repair

financial crisis resulted in spending curbs

economic empowerment transaction gave

activities and transport corridor

by many companies, impacting business-

further impetus to transformation – a key

developments. We increased our investment

to-business activities. Major customers

pillar of sustainability.

in freight-related equipment and facilities.
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Efficiencies

The purchase was announced less than a

Sustainable development

Expense management was a focus area for

month after our listing. The transaction

Media interest during the listing period and

all teams and cash generation remained

tapped Namsov’s own cash resources and

our heightened profile had a marked effect

strong.

left the NAD314,1 million raised by our

on staff morale. Pride in Bidvest

listing untouched.

complemented pride in individual
operations.

Efficiencies in support of quality remained
a priority in the fishing fleet. A three-year

The new vessel, renamed the MFV Jupiter,

investment of over NAD50 million has

was bought from the Ukraine. The

Our staff is self-reliant and resourceful,

improved the freezing capacities of our

123m-long vessel can freeze up to

serving a huge country with a thinly

vessels, ensuring we remain the preferred

180 tonnes a day, process 50 tonnes of

scattered population of only two million. We

supplier in our market. Fuel cost efficiencies

fishmeal a day and store more than

derive great satisfaction from our status as

are also being achieved.

2 000 tonnes of frozen fish. MFV Jupiter

reliable suppliers that get the job done with

boosts the capacity of our horse mackerel

complete professionalism.

Benchmarks

fleet of midwater trawlers from about

Businesses are benchmarked individually.

120 000 tonnes to 152 000 tonnes a year.

We are working to raise the level of

Precise forecasts, business by business,

There are now six vessels in the midwater

strategic thinking, challenging managers

were presented in September in our listings

trawler fleet.

across the business to consider sustainable
development as an opportunity rather than

prospectus. Projections were achieved.

Brand and operational dynamics

NAD21,0 million was spent on the site for a

a cost. The company is an empowerment

new Caterplus multi-temperature facility.

leader with broadening local participation in
business operations.

The corporate brand – Bidvest Namibia –
achieved a high profile in the investment

Rennies Travel launched a touring division.
Economic performance – We concluded

community and among consumers.
Previously, operational brands such as

Business risks

the Ovanhu transaction, effective June

Waltons, Rennies Travel, Minolco and Blue

Our fishing business relies on a marine

30 2009, securing local ownership for

Marine (Caterplus) enjoyed strong

resource that must be carefully managed.

14,8% of the shares in Bidvest Namibia.

recognition with little attention paid to the

Improving catch rates confirm the horse

Three shareholder groups (lead partner,

parent.

mackerel resource’s strong recovery.

Union Investment Company and Women

Constant vigilance is required. We

for Action and Development) and various

Listings excitement focused attention on

cooperate fully with government to ensure

community groups participated in the

the strength of the overall business and

rigorous resource management.

transaction. By reopening our pilchard
cannery, over 800 people have again found

Bidvest Namibia’s broad contribution to
Risks relating to the recruitment and

seasonal employment. Namsov owns

retention of the best talent remain a

50,1% of Trachurus Fishing, a joint venture

At operational level, our brands continue

challenge to us. We have therefore

with four smaller local fishing companies.

to derive competitive advantage from

prioritised skills development and training.

Under Namsov management, the company

the economy.

continues to perform well in the harvesting

leadership positions.
Credit risk grows as trading conditions
The operational challenge across all

of its horse mackerel quotas.

deteriorate, but was well managed.
Environment – Fish stocks continue to be

businesses was continuing to drive growth
Reputational risk came into sharp focus

responsibly managed by the authorities

post-listing on the Namibian Stock

through fishing quotas. Following the

New initiatives

Exchange. High standards of integrity and

recovery of both horse mackerel and

The most significant investment was the

customer service apply at all businesses.

pilchard populations, quotas are steadily

NAD208,8 million purchase of a new vessel

Reputational risk has become a focus area

increasing. Collateral damage to the marine

by Namsov, believed to be largest single

for our risk committee.

environment is limited by targeted midwater

in the face of skills shortages.

investment ever made in Namibia’s fishing

trawling, gear losses are minimal and our

industry.

by-catch remains low at 1% of total
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Bidvest Namibia
catches. We are converting our fleet to run

Society – More rigorous local reporting

BIDVEST FISHERIES HOLDINGS

on cheaper fuel grades. We continue to

requirements following our listing helped

The business and the flagship Namsov

improve the efficiency of freight operations.

drive more formal governance processes.

brand performed strongly, driven by good

Manica handles sulphur and zinc,

New structures include separate risk, audit

catches and improved fish prices. We

potentially hazardous to the environment.

and sustainability committees, dealing with

enhanced our reputation for quality and

The company is ISO 9001 compliant. No

the risks of fraud, corruption and anti-

maintained our preferred supplier status in

spills were reported and no fines levied for

competitive behaviour.

an increasingly competitive sector. Lower

non-compliance with local or international
environmental regulations.

fuel prices were helpful.
Corporate social investment – The
Namsov Community Trust, a 10%

Horse mackerel operations exceeded

Human resources – Staff numbers have

shareholder in Namsov, invested R3,2 million

targets. The inshore pelagic industry

increased by 29%, mostly in our fishing

in projects to help people and communities

showed signs of recovery and achieved

operations. Crews have representation

in need. The trust supplied training

better-than-expected results. Internationally,

through unions and the company enjoys

equipment to a training facility in the remote

the underperformance of other pelagic

generally good industrial relations. We

town of Keetmanshoop (NAD1,0 million),

supplier zones supported demand for our

enrolled our first two Namibian officer

established an endowment fund for the

product – further confirmation of the

candidates at the officers’ training school in

University of Namibia to assist postgraduate

continuing need for responsible resource

Saldanha, South Africa, the start of a 13- to

students doing research on coastal and

management.

15-year programme. Transferring skills into

marine subjects in the coastal town of

the local economy is a challenge given

Henties Bay (NAD1,0 million) and continues

Acquisition of MFV Jupiter will result in

difficulties in renewing working visas for

to sponsor preparatory schools in

improved fishing days at lower fuel costs.

foreigners.

disadvantaged areas during school holidays
for Grade 10 learners.

Health and safety – Government
observers monitor operations at sea, during
transhipments and discharges. Namsov
adheres to all international maritime
regulations, with special emphasis on

We secured an additional pilchard quota,
leading to improved canning factory

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/028.html

efficiencies.
Several initiatives are planned to support
future growth. Efforts will be made to

safety. No serious incidents were recorded.

Future

HIV/Aids and health-related absenteeism

Further expansion is planned. Our

optimising our canning capacity are under

are major concerns, particularly in fishing,

businesses are strongly placed in their

investigation, as is the development of

transport and stevedoring operations.

respective industries, creating a platform for

fishing harbour infrastructure at our facilities

However, we recorded fewer cases, as well

continued organic growth. Acquisitive

in Walvis Bay. Exposure of our oyster

as significantly lower absenteeism. We

growth will not be neglected. We have a

business in the Walvis Bay lagoon to algae

continue our support in the form of VCT

strong financial position and substantial

blooms will receive focused attention.

and the use of ARVs. No work-related

cash resources. More than NAD300 million

Returns from our investment in an Angolan

fatalities were recorded.

was raised by our listing.

inshore fishing business are anticipated in

Labour disputes – Five arbitration cases

Significant growth has already been

were brought against Bidvest Namibia, with

achieved by Namsov. Other areas of

four findings against the division.

possible expansion are receiving attention.

secure additional quotas. Ways of

the coming year.

For example, Namibia’s tourism industry
offers potential as do various service
sectors.
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BIDVEST COMMERCIAL
HOLDINGS
The business is made up of four
components, Freight, Industrial and

Commercial Products, Services and
Foodservice. Performance was mixed as
trading conditions deteriorated. Freight
(Manica Group Namibia) performed well on
the back of high demand for ships agency,
clearing and forwarding and logistic
services in Walvis Bay.
Within Industrial and Commercial Products,
Waltons, Kolok, CN Business Furniture and
Voltex saw demand and volumes drop. The
office furniture category was a casualty of
corporate cutbacks while lower tender
activity impacted Voltex. The strong
Namibian dollar was negative for Kolok.
Currency factors also put a brake on
indirect Angolan demand across trading
and retailing businesses.
At Services, Rennies Travel cut costs and
sought efficiencies to achieve pleasing
results in the face of growing pressure.
Minolco benefited from higher machine
sales and good copy-click revenues.
Budget Rent a Car was under pressure.
A new Budget Rent a Car facility at Hosea
Kutako International Airport is planned.
Caterplus achieved sales growth despite
capacity constraints. Plans to build a new
facility in Windhoek are being finalised.

The Bidvest Group Limited Annual report 2010

115

Operational review

Bidvest Corporate
Provides strategic direction, financial, risk and sustainability management, marketing,
investor relations, corporate communications, corporate finance, houses investments and
provides executive training to the Group. Investments in Bidsport and Bidvest Wits Football
Club and Ontime Automotive. The corporate centre adds value by identifying opportunities
and implementing Bidvest’s decentralised entrepreneurial business model.

R0,4 billion
Revenue 38,9% decrease

R205,9 million
Trading profit 160,1% increase

Revenue

Trading profit

(Divisional contribution %)
0,4%

(Divisional contribution %)
3,7%

Environment
Represented by: The End of Life Vehicles Directive. The ELV aims to reduce the amount of
waste produced from vehicles when they are scrapped. Ontime Automotive disposed of
4 200 tonnes of vehicle scrap at an ELV authorised depollution site.
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Highlights
 Ontime’s continuing businesses return to profit
 Seven-fold growth in property portfolio’s value over seven years
 R314,0 million in direct business value from World Cup contracts across
the Group
 Namibian team joins Academy intake
 Rallying cry “We refuse to participate in recession” sets tone for year
 Independent recognition for high reporting and communication standards
 Houses and manages investment across the Group

Financial indicators
(for the year ended June 30)

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

Revenue

444,0

727,0

Trading profit

205,8

79,1

2 605,9

2 471,0

155,9

180,7

32,2

61,6

Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets

2,5

2,7

Goodwill and intangible assets

3,0

8,4

557

610

Operating assets
Operating liabilities
Depreciation

Sustainable development indicator overview
Employees
Total training spend incurred at Corporate (R’000)
Employees attending HIV/Aids training (%)
Lost-time injury frequency rate
Work-related fatalities (number)

5 900

4 403(1)

5,0

4,3

13,3

16,6

–

–

1 618 776

786 971

CSI spend (R’000)

12 228

4 806

Enterprise development spend (R’000)

10 737

5 879

BEE procurement (R’000)

Total water usage (litres ’000)

325

481(1)

2 233

1 727

Petrol (litres)

19 055

11 807(1)

Diesel (litres)

4 547 767

7 053 994

14 227

21 365

25,5

35,0

Total electricity usage (kWh ’000)

Total carbon emissions (tonnes)
Carbon emissions per employee (tonnes)
(1)

Restated

QUICK LINK: Historic divisional
sustainable development data
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/029.html
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Bidvest Corporate

Brian Joffe, chief executive

Business snapshot

Sustainable development

Group companies were again key features

Corporate provides support services,

Corporate coordinated sustainability

of the curriculum, though increasing

coordinates strategic initiatives and houses

initiatives across the decentralised business

attention is paid to each delegate’s working

investments that fall outside divisional areas

and helped embed sustainability practice

environment to assess the value added day

of responsibility, including the Bidvest

through constant encouragement and

by day as individuals apply the skills

property portfolio. It focuses on business

information-sharing. The sustainability

acquired at the Academy.

sustainability, brand-building,

committee is integrated into governance

communication and executive training while

structures as an integral part of the Bidvest

The intention is to ensure that a delegate’s

ensuring Group resources are effectively

risk and sustainability committee. An

home base derives benefit from Academy

leveraged. In accordance with Bidvest’s

employee survey was conducted to raise

exposure as well as the person under

decentralised business model, Corporate

sustainability awareness and gauge the

development and does so as quickly as

is deliberately kept lean.

commitment of Bidvest people to

possible. “Energy coaches” are assigned to

sustainability strategy. The Group’s

each Academy participant to help ensure

Performance

sustainability data collation tool was further

new insights are channelled effectively.

Our trading profit increased by 158,8%

refined.
Growing emphasis is placed on pre-

from R79,5 million to R205,9 million.
Pleasing progress was made with the
communication of strategic sustainability

QUICK LINK: Divisional sustainability
report
http://www.bidvest.com/bidvest_ar2010/030.html

Bidvest’s growing alignment with soccer

Transformation
We continue to drive and entrench the

became a source of pride and staff

principles of transformation throughout the

motivation in World Cup year.

Group.

Bidvest Properties put in another good
performance in a challenging environment.

inductee shares a common understanding
of financial and managerial concepts that
may fall outside the current scope of an

objectives while the Bidvest brand achieved
enhanced recognition. Within South Africa,

Academy workshops to ensure each

individual’s work. Four workshops are
conducted, two in Johannesburg, one in
Durban and one in Cape Town.

Communication

Bidvest Academy
Academy IX is scheduled for completion in

Commercialisation opportunities flowing

October. Sixty-eight participants were

from the FIFA World Cup 2010™ were

inducted into the class of 2010 and split

optimised.

into 11 teams, including a team of four from

“We refuse to participate in the recession”,
the rallying cry of Bidvest chief executive
Brian Joffe, shaped communication
initiatives. The quality and topicality of
articles in the Bidvoice quarterly publication

Bidvest Namibia.

were improved. Lead articles and the chief

Ontime Automotive in the UK made a

Team-building, teamwork sessions, group

English into Business Mandarin, French,

return to profit.

projects, workshops and site visits to

Continuing operations within a restructured
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executive’s message were translated from
Dutch, Polish and Czech to communicate

with the worldwide Proudly Bidvest family

Medium-term economic opportunities

businesses have a proven track record as

and a downloadable version of Bidvoice

through an increase in tourism, as an

reliable suppliers to international sporting

was created for those with internet access.

example, will be derived by South Africa

events. This creates a platform from which

and in turn by Bidvest. Precise

to explore further opportunities.

A personalised e-mail (“The recognition you

quantification of economic benefits by

deserve”) was sent by the Group chief

year-end was complicated by timing factors

Investments managed by corporate include

executive to all staff with e-mail addresses

(the event was only at the halfway stage on

listed and unlisted associates and listed

to announce Bidvest’s No 37 ranking in

June 30) and the indirect nature of some

and unlisted investments. The most

the list of the world’s best performing

business gains.

material investment relates to the
investment in Mumbai International Airport

companies. Regular e-mails are sent to
more than 30 000 employees to keep them

Direct business springing from our interaction

Limited. Full details regarding those

up to date on topical developments.

with FIFA, the Local Organising Committee,

investments are shown under note 19 in

MATCH and host cities was won by Bidvest

the financial statements.

Increasing use was made of internal TV

Services (Prestige, Steiner, Bidtravel, TopTurf

broadcasts by the chief executive to

and Execuflora), Bidvest Foodservice SA,

Bidvest Wits

communicate Bidvest strategy and a

Speciality, Bidvest Paperplus (Lithotech) and

The Bidvest Wits soccer team rounded off

“welcome aboard” induction brochure was

Bidvest Industrial and Commercial (CN

a successful season by winning the

developed.

Business Furniture, Voltex, Waltons and

Nedbank Cup, the club’s first trophy in over

Vulcan Catering Equipment).

a decade. The victory, in mid-May, occurred

Reporting standards were maintained at a

as soccer fever was running high on the

high level with recognition for excellent

Revenue of more than R314,0 million

run-in to the World Cup and ensured

reporting in the Ernst & Young sustainability

across the Group was derived from direct

strong brand awareness.

awards and category honours in the

contracts.

“Consumer Services” section of the annual

Bidvest’s position as a leading soccer

Investment Analysts Society awards.

Indirect benefit as a result of the World Cup

sponsor was further underlined by the

Second place for reporting was achieved in

effect on various sectors of the economy

support of the corporate soccer Fridays

the South African Carbon Disclosure

was derived by companies such as Bidvest

campaign, which became a feature of the

Project awards.

Bank and its foreign exchange business,

South African countdown to the opening of

Bidair, Budget Rent a Car, Bidvest Prestige,

the World Cup tournament. Proudly Bidvest

Bidvest branding has been revamped and

Laundry Services and our South African

soccer jerseys were distributed to staff and

operational businesses are increasingly

foodservice businesses.

were worn week after week at operations

leveraging the strength of the Bidvest

across the country. Amazing team spirit

name, following the successful rebranding

Some gains were intangible but significant,

and sense of belonging resulted when staff

of businesses in Australia as Bidvest

including the value to brand Bidvest of

members saw colleagues they had never

Australia and Rennies Bank as Bidvest

close involvement with the tournament and

met similarly dressed.

Bank. More recently, the New Zealand

the pride felt by South African employees in

business was rebranded as Bidvest New

the contribution made by their company to

Sponsorship and a controlling interest in

Zealand. The contract distribution arm of

a historic event.

Bidvest Wits are linked to soccer

3663 in the UK adopted the identity

development programmes and youth work.

“Bidvest Logistics”. The Group obtained

Focus now shifts to legacy issues;

The club has total membership of more

naming rights to South Africa’s premier

specifically, how to derive long-term benefit

than 1 500 players and is believed to be

venue for international cricket, now Bidvest

from Bidvest’s World Cup experience

the largest football club in Africa.

Wanderers Stadium.

and expertise.

2010 commercialisation

Sports administrators and major cities

The World Cup run-up helped drive

The World Cup opportunity was

across South Africa have the task of

continued growth in revenue and trading

energetically pursued by all Bidvest

earning a return from some of the world’s

profit at Bidsport, the sports company in

businesses in South Africa, although the

best football and sports stadiums. Sports

which Bidvest holds a 50% stake.

short-term economic impact was negligible.

tourism can be expected to grow. Bidvest

Bidsport
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Operational review

Bidvest Corporate
MSCSports secured the appointment as

construction companies closed down

Target-setting for the next three to five

event manager of the Bidvest Goodwill Cup

for lack of work.

years is complicated by the difficulty of
predicting interest rates and the effects of

between Portugal and Mozambique, a
World Cup warm-up game at Bidvest

In this environment, Bidvest Properties

the developed world’s debt crisis. The

Wanderers.

concentrated on the refurbishment of and

short-term challenge is rental affordability.

extensions to existing premises. No new

We are well positioned to meet this

Stellar Africa, a leading athlete

developments were undertaken. Two small

challenge because of the efficient cost of

management company, had a successful

properties that no longer fit the portfolio

property development, competitive

year. A number of South Africa’s leading

profile were sold.

long-term financing costs, the quality of our
tenant mix and the high occupancy rates of

soccer, rugby and cricket players are
represented by this agency.

A refurbishment of the Vulcan Catering

our well-located properties.

Equipment premises in Industria, west of
Acquisitive and organic growth is forecast.

Johannesburg was completed and work

We will investigate acquisitions and

The World Cup has heightened awareness

began at Vulcan’s Cape Town premises.

development opportunities as they occur

of the benefits of corporate involvement in

A refurbishment at the Spartan premises

while maintaining a largely conservative

soccer and sport in general. The business

of Buffalo Executape is underway.

stance.

from excitement surrounding next year’s

A key objective of the refurbishment

ONTIME AUTOMOTIVE

Rugby World Cup in New Zealand.

programme is to improve the energy

Despite the effects of recession and

efficiency, workplace safety, working

automotive industry cutbacks, the ongoing

BIDVEST PROPERTIES

conditions and overall respect for the

businesses showed a return to profit.

Property industry fundamentals remained

environment of our premises.

Overall results were impacted by additional

is also well positioned to derive benefit

closure costs for the Technical Services

challenging. The general economy slowed,
rentals eased, but land prices remained

At the end of the period, a significant

division and the cessation of a Volume

high. The cost of servicing vacant land

property acquisition on the M1 “gateway”

Distribution contract.

soared and capacity constraints at local

to Johannesburg was concluded.

municipal level continued to create delays,

Refurbishment will begin shortly.

A new three-year contract for the
worldwide distribution of Aston Martin

putting further pressure on development
Continuing property industry challenges

vehicles was won. This includes distribution

confirmed the appropriateness of the

of the new Rapide out of Austria. The deal

Long-term interest rates – the key factor

conservative policy pursued by Bidvest

bestows logistical efficiencies as

governing likely future returns on property

Properties. The business acquires and

transporters that might have returned

– remained high and threatened to move

develops properties at competitive rates. In

empty from Europe now bring the Rapide

higher in view of international uncertainties.

line with Bidvest policy, all premises in the

to the UK. Specialist Transport also

portfolio are unencumbered by mortgages,

secured new business from Lamborghini,

Businesses remained acutely cost sensitive.

occupancy levels are high while a stable,

Nissan GTR and Bentley.

This led to growing resistance by

high quality tenant mix ensures a strong

prospective tenants to higher rentals that

rental stream. As a result, the return on the

Specialist Transport Operations has

reflect the full cost of new construction.

portfolio was above the market average.

reduced its fleet to match the reduction

costs.

of market-place volumes. The resulting

New greenfields developments are
becoming increasingly more difficult to

In seven years, the portfolio’s size and

efficiencies drove an improvement in

bring in at market-related rentals.

market value have grown approximately

results.

Increasing numbers of medium-sized

seven-fold.
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Rescue and Recovery re-signed contracts

Human resources – UK headcount has

with the AA for a further term while

stabilised and staff morale has improved

prolonged bad weather in mid-winter

after landing some significant new business

boosted volumes. Profits improved.

at Ontime Automotive. League tables are
being introduced to rank and reward

Ontime Parking Solutions maintained its

Ontime drivers for economical driving.

focus on its two major London contracts
and opened a small office in York to work

Health and safety – Mindful of the

on tenders for councils in the provinces. As

growing claim culture in the UK, Ontime

local councils seek outsourcing efficiencies,

maintained its health and safety training

opportunities have emerged for the

focus and was again audited by and

business to expand its enforcement

accredited with CHAS (Contractors Health

platform by growing its on-street ticketing

and Safety Accreditation Scheme). The rate

service.

of injuries, diseases and dangerous
occurrences in the UK business is down

Trading conditions remain challenging.

from 12 to three, with total incidents down

However, all new contracts offer acceptable

from 84 to 27 over three years.

margins. Ontime is engaged in ongoing
discussions with new and existing clients

Society – Business ethics is governed

and looks forward to profit growth in 2011.

through financial, process and operational
audits. We are mindful of our code of

Economic performance – Ontime

ethical behaviour and risks related to

Automotive’s ratio of salaries to turnover

corruption and anti-competitive practices.

decreased from 40% to 35%, a reflection

An anti-corruption policy is built into the

of the consolidation phase following the

terms and conditions of employment and

severe UK recession.

applied when developing strategies for
bidding for business.

Environment – Ontime Automotive’s fleet
of 400 vehicles is largely up to the Euro 2
standard. New intensity measures show
each vehicle costs the environment
34,6 metric tonnes of CO2e, 51,6m3 of
water and 2 100 litres of general refuse
annually. Ontime Automotive disposed of
4 200 tonnes of vehicle scrap at an
authorised de-pollution site. The UK
business recycles 4% of total materials
used. Staff are trained regularly to mitigate
the impact of services on the environment.
This is audited by National Quality
Assurance to maintain Ontime’s 14001
standard.
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Value added statement

“Value added” is the value which the Group has added to purchased materials and goods by the process of manufacture and conversion,
and the sale of its products and services. This statement shows how the value so added has been distributed.
2009

2010
R’000

%

R’000

Revenue

109 789 207

112 427 831

Net cost of raw materials, goods and services

(88 314 088)

(91 739 113)

Wealth created by trading operations

21 475 119

20 688 718

Finance income

193 386

199 069

Dividend income

44 411

46 533

%

21 712 916

100,0

20 934 320

100,0

12 779 474

58,9

12 817 317

61,2

1 301 059

6,0

1 046 344

5,0

Providers of capital

2 168 348

10,0

2 297 762

11,0

Finance charges

866 803

4,0

1 119 803

5,4

1 301 545

6,0

1 177 959

5,6

5 464 035

25,1

4 772 897

22,8

1 870 465

8,6

1 743 812

8,3

248 395

1,1

226 699

1,1

3 345 175

15,4

2 802 386

13,4

21 712 916

100,0

20 934 320

100,0

Total wealth created
Distributed as follows
Employees
Benefits and remuneration
Governments
Current taxation

Distribution to shareholders
Retained for growth
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company

2010

2009

%

%

22,8

25,1

10,0

58,9

■
■
■
■

Employees
Government
Providers of capital
Retained for growth

11,0

61,2

5,0

6,0

Exchanges with governments
including amounts collected on their behalf
South African

Foreign

2010

2009

2010

2009

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

Employee taxes

975 875

920 519

1 183 573

1 407 957

Company taxes

782 913

672 859

518 146

373 485

Value added tax and sales tax

3 739 474

3 925 681

417 325

408 768

Customs and excise duty

8 012 461

10 721 353

470 965

608 701

Other
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250 236

256 298

265 712

237 767

13 760 959

16 496 710

2 855 721

3 036 678

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

To the members of The Bidvest Group Limited
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board, South African
interpretations of Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.
The directors’ responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.
The directors have made an assessment of the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and there is no reason to
believe that the Group and Company will not be going concerns in the year ahead.
The auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the Group and Company financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework.
The Group financial statements and financial statements of the Company as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board
of directors and are signed on its behalf by:

Cyril Ramaphosa

Brian Joffe

Chairman

Chief executive

August 28 2010

Declaration by company secretary
In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa, that for the year ended
June 30 2010, the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required in terms of this Act and
that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Craig Andrew Brighten
Company secretary
August 28 2010
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Independent auditors’ report

To the members of The Bidvest Group Limited
We have audited the Group annual financial statements and the annual financial statements of The Bidvest Group Limited, which comprise
the consolidated and separate income statements, the consolidated and separate statements of other comprehensive income, the
consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then
ended and the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at June 30 2010, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 8 to 13 and 127 to 211.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, South African interpretations of statements of Generally Accepted Accountancy Practice
and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of The
Bidvest Group Limited as at June 30 2010, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies
Act of South Africa.

Deloitte & Touche
Per Trevor J Brown
Partner
August 28 2010
Buildings 1 and 2
Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodmead, Sandton
Docex 10 Johannesburg
National executive: GG Gelink (Chief Executive) AE Swiegers (Chief Operating Officer) GM Pinnock (Audit)
DL Kennedy (Tax and Legal and Financial Advisory) L Geeringh (Consulting) L Bam (Corporate Finance) CR Beukman (Finance)
TJ Brown (Clients and Markets) NT Mtoba (Chairman of the Board) MJ Comber (Deputy Chairman of the Board)
A full list of partners and directors is available on request.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial statements for the year ended June 30 2010.
Nature of business
The Company is an investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in the services, trading and distribution industries. Details of the
Group’s activities are included in Bidvest at a glance: our structure, and Operational review.
Financial reporting
The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to produce financial statements, which fairly present the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss for that financial year, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act of South Africa.
The financial statements as set out in this report have been prepared by management in accordance with IFRS and the Companies Act of
South Africa, and are based on appropriate accounting policies, which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at
June 30 2010 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended.
The directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Declaration by the audit committee
The audit committee has complied with its terms of reference as established by the board of directors and is satisfied that the external
auditors, whose appointment it recommended to shareholders, were independent of the Group from July 1 2009 to the date of this report.
The audit committee assisted the board in discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, accounting systems and practices,
internal control processes and the preparation of accurate financial reports and statements and assisted the directors in ensuring that there
is an adequate and effective system of internal control in place and supported the overall effectiveness of corporate governance processes.
The audit committee determines the fees of and also sets the principles for recommending the use of the external auditors for non-audit
services. To ensure that the committee can effectively comply with its terms of reference, the group financial director, the external auditors,
and the head of internal audit attend the meetings as invitees. In addition, the audit committee holds separate meetings with management,
external audit and the head of internal audit to ensure that all relevant matters have been identified and discussed without undue influence.
Furthermore the audit committee has considered the expertise and experience of the group financial director and is satisfied to the
appropriateness thereof.
Share capital
The Company issued a total of 3 889 939 (2009: 1 120 842) ordinary shares of 5 cents each at premiums of between R6,95 and
R90,00 (2009: R32,00 and R71,99) per share, in terms of The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme. The Company also issued a total of
9 555 865 ordinary shares of 5 cents each at premiums of between R98,41 and R115,21 per share, in order to facilitate the acquisition of
Nowaco, and issued 414 375 ordinary shares of 5 cents each at a premium of R119,95 per share, for the acquisition of 29 250 000 ordinary
shares in Amalgamated Appliances Limited.
Acquisitions
The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of the Nowaco group (Nowaco) of companies with effect from July 1 2009 for an
enterprise value of €250 million. Nowaco includes Nowaco Czech Republic s.r.o. which focuses on the Czech Republic and Slovakia and
Farutex Sp.z.o.o. which serves the Polish market. The purchase consideration was settled with cash of €119 million and the assumption of
debt equating to €131 million. The Group also undertook a number of smaller acquisitions during the year. Details of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are contained in note 11 to these financial statements.
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Subsequent events
No reportable events took place subsequent to the year-end.
Results of operations
The results of operations are dealt with in the consolidated income statement, segmental analysis and review of operations.
Movement in treasury shares
In terms of general authorities granted to the Company to repurchase its ordinary shares, the latest being shareholder authority obtained at
the last annual general meeting of shareholders held on November 17 2009, a maximum of 67 256 913 ordinary shares could be acquired
by the Company of which 33 628 447 can be acquired by its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries acquired a total of 522 480 ordinary shares at an
average price (including costs) of R47,80 per share. A total of 386 567 ordinary shares were disposed of at an average price of R42,33 per
share in settlement of share options exercised.
Distributions
A cash distribution out of share premium of 190,0 cents per share (2009: 190,0 cents per share), in lieu of a dividend, was awarded to
shareholders recorded in the register at the close of business on March 26 2010.
Subsequent to year-end, a dividend of 225,0 cents per share (2009: refund of share premium in lieu of dividend 190,0 cents per share) was
awarded to shareholders recorded In the register at the close of business on Thursday, September 23 2010. The salient dates are:
Distribution dates:
Last day to trade cum-distribution

Thursday, September 16 2010

Trading ex-distribution commences

Friday, September 17 2010

Record date

Thursday, September 23 2010

Payment date

Monday, September 27 2010

Payments to shareholders
Approval was obtained at the last annual general meeting for the Company to make payments which would reduce its share capital, share
premium, reserves and/or any capital redemption reserve fund in terms of section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa.
Special resolutions
A special resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on November 17 2009 in regard to a general authority
to enable the Company to acquire its own shares.
Special resolutions were passed by certain subsidiaries to accommodate the acquisition of various businesses, to amend their articles of
association and to change their names.
Directorate
Mr FJ Barnes resigned as an executive director with effect from June 30 2010 but remains on the board as a non-executive director.
In terms of the Company’s articles of association the directors who retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting are
CM Ramaphosa, FJ Barnes, LG Boyle, AA da Costa, MBN Dube, S Koseff, NG Payne and FDP Tlakula. All retiring directors are eligible
and available for re-election.
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The names of the directors who were in office during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010 and the details of board meetings
attended by each of the directors are:
Director
Chairman
MC Ramaphosa
Independent non-executive directors
DDB Band
LG Boyle
S Koseff
NP Mageza
D Masson
JL Pamensky
NG Payne
FDP Tlakula
Non-executive directors
AA da Costa
FJ Barnes
MBN Dube
RM Kunene
T Slabbert
Executive
B Joffe
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
Alternate
LJ Mokoena (AA da Costa)

Date of
appointment

November 16
2009

February 26
2010

June 4
2010

August 27
2010

July 6 2004

^

^

^

Apol

October 27
January 23
June 17
August 28
March 10
January 8
June 30
June 30

2003
2001
1997
2009
1992
1990
2006
2006

^
^
Apol
^
^
^
^
Apol

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

December 8
October 27
October 27
December 8
August 20

2003
2003
2003
2003
2007

^
^
^
^
^

^
Apol
^
^
Apol

^
^
^
^
Apol

^
^
Apol
^
^

March 1
October 27
April 29
July 9
June 30
October 27
February 1
February 19
May 19
September 10

1989
2003
2002
2007
2006
2003
1991
2004
1992
1990

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

December 8 2003

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.
Apol – Apologies tendered.

Audit committee
The names of the members who were in office during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010 and the details of audit committee
meetings attended by each of the members are:
November 11
2009

(Special)
February 10
2010

February 25
2010

May 27
2010

August 23
2010

August 24
2010

Independent non-executive chairman
NG Payne

^

^

^

^

^

^

Independent non-executive directors
NP Mageza
D Masson
JL Pamensky

^
^
^

^
^
^

^
^
Apol

^
^
^

^
^
^

^
^
^

Director

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.
Apol – Apologies tendered.
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Executive committee
No formal meetings were held during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010.
Nominations committee
No meetings were held during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010.
Acquisition committee
No meetings were held during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010.
Remuneration committee
The names of the members who were in office during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010 and the details of remuneration
committee meetings attended by each of the directors are:
December 9
2010

August 13
2010

Independent non-executive chairman
DDB Band

^

^

Independent non-executive directors
D Masson
JL Pamensky

^
^

^
^

Director

^ Attended in person.
Messrs DE Cleasby and P Nyman resigned as members with effect from September 1 2009.

Risk committee
The names of the members who were in office during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010 and the details of the risk
committee meetings attended by each of the members are:
October 22
2009

January 26
2010

April 19
2010

July 29
2010

Independent non-executive chairman
NG Payne

^

^

^

^

Independent non-executive directors
D Masson

^

^

^

^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
Apol
^
^
^
^

^
Apol
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
Apol
^
^

**
Apol
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

Alt
^
Apol
^
^
Apol
^
^
^
^
^
^
^

Director

Executive
FJ Barnes
BL Berson
MC Berzack
NW Birch
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
B Joffe
M Notrica
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
CE Singer
BM Varcoe
^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.
Alt – Apologies tendered, meeting attended by divisional representative.
Apol – Apologies tendered.
** Resigned February 28 2010.
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Transformation committee
The names of the members who were in office during the period September 1 2009 to August 27 2010 and the number of transformation
committee meetings attended by each of the members are:
Director
Executive chairman
LI Jacobs

November 16
2009

March 1
2010

May 17
2010

August 20
2010

^

^

^

^

Non-executive directors
T Slabbert
FDP Tlakula

^
Apol

Apol
^

Apol
Apol

Apol
Apol

Executive
MC Berzack
NW Birch
AW Dawe
MJ Finger
B Joffe
SG Mahlalela
GC McMahon
M Notrica
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
CE Singer
SA Thwala
BM Varcoe

^
^
^
Apol
^
^
^
Alt
^
Alt
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
^
Alt
^
^
^

^
^
^
^
Apol
Apol
^
Alt
Apol
^
Alt
^
Alt

^
^
Alt
^
^
^
^
Alt
^
Alt
Alt
^
^

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.
Alt – Apologies tendered, meeting attended by divisional representative.
Apol – Apologies tendered.

Directors’ interests
The aggregate interests of the directors in the capital of the Company at June 30 2010 were:
Number of shares
2010
2009
Beneficial
Non-beneficial
Held in terms of The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme
Options
Shares

5 130 863
25 654 244

5 194 523
26 724 120

1 381 750
1 140 362

2 212 502
1 140 362
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Directors’ shareholdings
The individual beneficial interests declared by the current directors and officers in the Company’s share capital at June 30 2010 held directly or
indirectly were:
2010
Number of shares
Direct
Indirect

Beneficial
Director
BL Berson
MC Berzack
LG Boyle
AA da Costa
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
S Koseff
RM Kunene
D Masson
LJ Mokoena (alternate)
P Nyman
JL Pamensky
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
MC Ramaphosa
AC Salomon

8
24 014
101 000
110 257

Total

834 364

223 810
1 808 003

127 986
8

434 239
5 235
216 840
78 000

8
78 000
9
24 790
180 624

1 530 372

187 660

4 296 499

2009
Number of shares
Direct
Indirect
8
44 014
101 000
110 257
127 986
8
8
70 000
9
24 790
240 360
187 584
906 024

223 810
1 808 003
434 239
5 235
216 840
70 000

1 530 372
4 288 499

Held in terms of The Bidvest Incentive Scheme
The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants loans to staff and directors for the acquisition of shares in the Company. The numbers of shares and carrying
values of the loans issued to directors and officers as at June 30 2010 were:
2009

2010

Director
FJ Barnes
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
Total

Number
of shares

Carrying
value of loan
R’000

Number
of shares

Carrying
value of loan
R’000

99 162
49 581
148 743
74 371
99 162
49 581
198 324
49 581
148 743
148 743
74 371

11 459
5 729
16 498
8 249
10 999
5 499
21 386
5 499
16 498
16 498
8 249

99 162
49 581
148 743
74 371
99 162
49 581
198 324
49 581
148 743
148 743
74 371

11 824
5 912
16 484
8 242
10 989
5 495
21 979
5 495
16 484
16 484
8 242

1 140 362

126 563

1 140 362

127 630

Non-beneficial
In addition to the aforementioned holdings:
– B Joffe is a trustee and potential beneficiary of a discretionary trust holding 3 335 296 (2009: 3 335 237) shares;
– P Nyman is a trustee of various trusts holding 4 163 215 (2009: 4 345 398) shares but has no beneficial interest in these shares;
– D Masson and P Nyman are trustees of the Group’s retirement funds which hold 863 260 (2009: 837 781) shares. P Nyman is also a trustee
of a Group medical aid society which holds nil (2009: 29 575) shares; and
– AA da Costa, LI Jacobs and RM Kunene are directors and shareholders of Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (Dinatla) and their indirect
beneficial holdings have been included in the table of holdings. P Nyman and T Slabbert are also directors of Dinatla but have no beneficial
interest in Dinatla’s shares. Dinatla holds 26 510 312 (2009: 26 510 312) shares.
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The only director who was directly or indirectly interested in excess of 1% of the Company’s issued share capital was B Joffe.
Number of shares
2010
2009
Beneficial – Direct
Held in terms of The Bidvest Incentive Scheme
Non-beneficial

127 986
198 324
3 335 296

127 986
198 324
3 335 237

3 661 606

3 661 547

The interests of the directors remained unchanged from the end of the financial year to the date of this report.
Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration paid to executive directors while in office of the Company during the year ended June 30 2010 can be analysed as follows:

Director
FJ Barnes*
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
P Nyman
SG Pretorius†
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
2010 Total

Basic
remuneration
R’000

Other
benefits
R’000

Retirement/
medical
benefits
R’000

Cash
incentives
R’000

Total
emoluments
R’000

2 936
4 515
3 463
2 180
2 530
1 415
8 049
1 905
2 425
3 470
2 416

3 856
174
564
231
107
119
765
182
134
391
114

1 174
168
98
234
270
189
525
171
355
418
270

1 205
4 917
3 700
2 500
3 000
1 000
9 168
600
2 000
4 000
2 750

9 171
9 774
7 825
5 145
5 907
2 723
18 507
2 858
4 914
8 279
5 550

35 304

6 637

3 872

34 840

80 653

* In terms of a compromise agreement entered into with Mr FJ Barnes in March 2010, a total benefit of £1,0 million will be paid over a two-year period ending in
February 2012, based on certain terms and conditions. Included in Mr FJ Barnes’s 2010 remuneration is an amount of R3,9 million which was paid to him on
the cessation of his executive services.
†
As a result of an administrative error, Mr SG Pretorius was erroneously paid an amount of R586 320 in the 2009 financial year. This amount has been repaid to
the Group in the current financial year. (Shareholders are referred to the SENS announcement on November 20 2009). The remuneration as disclosed in the
2009 annual report has not been restated, however, the current year’s remuneration is shown net of this repayment.
• Certain executive directors serve as non-executive directors of companies outside of the Group. Directors’ fees in this regard, are paid to the Group.

For comparative purposes the remuneration paid to executive directors while in office of the Company during the year ended June 30 2009
can be analysed as follows:

Director
FJ Barnes
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
2009 Total

Basic
remuneration
R’000

Other
benefits
R’000

Retirement/
medical
benefits
R’000

Cash
incentives
R’000

Total
emoluments
R’000

4 703
4 239
3 252
2 007
2 362
1 300
7 200
1 727
3 371
3 254
2 181

246
170
377
236
58
134
289
205
217
404
192

290
349
381
207
250
175
471
164
476
375
249

–
3 804
2 600
1 800
2 700
750
7 453
–
1 800
3 600
2 500

5 239
8 562
6 610
4 250
5 370
2 359
15 413
2 096
5 864
7 633
5 122

35 596

2 528

3 387

27 007

68 518
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Directors’ long-term incentives
Director

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Share-based payment expense
FJ Barnes
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon

993
2 178
2 257
1 546
1 886
473
3 304
207
575
2 257
636

918
471
1 269
612
798
461
1 741
480
1 256
1 269
689

16 312

9 964

–

5 169

16 312

15 133

Cash incentive
BL Berson

The remuneration paid to non-executive directors while in office of the Company during the year ended June 30 2010 can be analysed as
follows:

Director
DDB Band
LG Boyle
AA da Costa
MBN Dube
S Koseff
RM Kunene
NP Mageza
D Masson
LJ Mokoena
JL Pamensky
NG Payne
MC Ramaphosa
T Slabbert
FDP Tlakula

Other
services
as directors
Directors’ of subsidiary
fees companies
R’000
R’000
305
103
103
103
89
103
176
406
45
284
625
530
97
122

244
143
128

Total
emoluments
R’000
305
103
103
103
89
103
176
650
45
427
753
530
97
122

Sharebased
payment
expense
R’000
32

2010
Total
R’000

2009
Total
R’000

305
135
103
103
89
103
176
650
45
427
753
530
97
122

222
206
75
75
53
64
–
484
16
307
472
478
107
43
2 602

2010 Total

3 091

515

3 606

32

3 638

2009 Total

2 113

358

2 471

131

2 602

Directors’ service contracts
Directors do not have fixed-term contracts.
Directors’ and officers’ disclosure of interest in contracts
During the financial year no contracts were entered into in which directors and officers of the Company had an interest and which
significantly affected the business of the Group. The directors had no interest in any third party or company responsible for managing any of
the business activities of the Group.
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Details of the directors’ and officers’ outstanding share options
Share options at
June 30 2009

Share options at
June 30 2010

Share options exercised

Number

Average
price
R

Benefit
arising on
exercise
of options
R’000

Number

Average
price
R

Director/officer

Number

Average
price
R

BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
B Joffe
P Nyman
SG Pretorius
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
Former executive directors
FJ Barnes
MBN Dube

42 000
251 252
50 000
94 250
80 000
150 000
330 000
135 000
615 000
335 000

48,56
47,63
61,58
51,96
57,97
65,16
44,21
58,11
43,99
47,50

12 000
63 752
–
50 000
45 000
–
40 000
–
190 000
335 000

41,20
30,11
–
42,49
47,06
–
40,20
–
37,65
47,60

1 138
6 424
–
3 751
3 161
–
3 841
–
18 487
27 321

30 000
187 500
50 000
44 250
35 000
150 000
290 000
135 000
425 000
–

51,51
53,60
61,58
62,89
71,99
65,16
44,77
58,11
46,83
–

36 250
85 000

50,04
55,35

36 250
50 000

50,04
43,70

2 438
3 680

–
35 000

–
79,99

2 203 752

47,21

822 002

40,20

70 241

1 381 750

52,83

8 750

63,21

2 212 502

47,21

Former company secretary
MA David

These options are exercisable over the period July 1 2009 to May 31 2015. A detailed register of options outstanding by tranche is
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
Details of the directors’ and officers’ conditional share awards
Conditional
awards
2009

Conditional
awards
at June 30
2009

New
awards

Lapsed

Number

B Joffe
FJ Barnes
BL Berson
MC Berzack
DE Cleasby
AW Dawe
LI Jacobs
LP Ralphs
AC Salomon
CA Brighten

150 000
100 000
100 000
100 000
75 000
75 000
40 000
100 000
50 000
10 000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
(100 000)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

150 000
–
100 000
100 000
75 000
75 000
40 000
100 000
50 000
10 000

Total

800 000

–

(100 000)

700 000

Director/officer

A conditional award is a conditional right to a share, which is awarded subject to performance and vesting conditions.
Secretary
Mr CA Brighten is the company secretary. The business and postal addresses of the secretary, which are also the registered addresses
of the Company, are Bidvest House, 18 Crescent Drive, Melrose Arch, Melrose, Johannesburg, 2196 and PO Box 87274, Houghton,
Johannesburg, 2041, respectively.
Subsidiaries and joint ventures
The attributable interest of the Company in the aggregate net profits and losses for the year of its subsidiaries and joint ventures was:

Profits
Losses

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

3 373 361
(69 169)

3 333 374
(115 627)
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Accounting policies

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and South African interpretations of statements of
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.
1.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial
instruments, financial instruments held-for-trading and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale are stated at their fair value.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held-for-sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Although
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances (the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources), the actual outcome may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgements made in the application of IFRS that have had an effect on the financial statements and estimates with a risk of
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 39.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.
These financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is the Group’s functional currency. All financial information has
been rounded to the nearest thousand unless stated otherwise.

2.

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
There have been no changes in accounting policies. However the Group and Company adopted the following new and revised
accounting standards, amendments to standards and new interpretations during the year: IFRS 2 Share-based Payments;
IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IFRS 7 Financial Instruments, IFRS 8 Operating Segments; IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 19 Employee Benefits, IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements; IAS 28 Investments in Associates; IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation,
IFRS 39 Financial Instruments, IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Current Operation, IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-Cash Assets
to Owners and IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers.
The adoption of the amendments to IFRS 3 has resulted in costs relating to acquisitions of R61,2 million being charged to profit during
the period as compared to prior periods, where these costs were included as part of the cost of the acquisition. Changes to IAS 27
have resulted in a surplus of R82,6 million resulting from changes in shareholding in a subsidiary being recognised directly in equity
as opposed to being included in profit for the period.
The adoption of IFRS 3 and IAS 27 has resulted in a reduction to profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of R143,8 million.
Had these changes not taken place basic earnings per share for the half year would have been 1 109,3 cents an increase of 20,0%,
and headline earnings per share would have been 1 089,4 cents, an increase of 17,1%.
Results for the comparative periods have not been restated as the transitional arrangements for both IFRS 3 and IAS 27 provide
exemption from retrospective application.
On review of how the operating segments are managed in accordance with IFRS 8 it was decided to remove the costs in respect of
share-based payment expenses from each of the operating segments, and disclose this cost as a reconciling item in the segmental
analysis of trading profit and segmental result, as this is not a criterion used in the measurement of management of the various segments.
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In addition to this, the leasing and fleet management business previously included with Bidvest Automotive, has been reallocated to the
Bidvest Services segment. The comparative period’s results have been restated to reflect these changes.
Other than the aforementioned, the adoption of the new and modified standards and interpretations, has only affected disclosure,
and has had no effect on the results of the Group or Company.
3.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities
controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or
convertible are taken into account. Operating results of businesses acquired or disposed of during the year are included from or to the
effective date of acquisition or disposal, being the date that control commences until the date control ceases. The assets and liabilities
of companies acquired are assessed and included in the statement of financial position at their estimated fair values to the Group at
acquisition date.
Any increases and decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries without a change in control are recognised as equity transactions in
the Group financial statements. Accordingly, any premiums or discounts on subsequent purchases of equity instruments from, or sales
of equity instruments to non-controlling shareholders are recognised directly in the equity of the Group.
Transaction costs that the Group incurs with respect to an acquisition of a business are expensed as incurred.
Inter-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with jointly controlled
entities and equity-accounted associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
The Company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

4.

Revenue
Revenue comprises amounts invoiced to customers for goods and services and include finance charges, insurance premiums, gross
billings, and commissions related to clearing and forwarding transactions and excludes value added tax. Revenue is net of returns and
allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Total revenue also includes dividends received and finance income.

5.

Revenue recognition
The sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the buyer, recovery of
the consideration is considered probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no
continuing management involvement with the goods.
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at
the statement of financial position date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the terms of the contracts.
Revenue relating to banking activities consists primarily of margins earned on the purchase and sale of foreign exchange products and
general commissions and transaction fees and is recognised when the services are provided. Net profits or losses on the revaluation of
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are also included in revenue.
In the event that a profit or loss arises from full maintenance motor contracts, this is recognised on termination of individual contracts
after taking cognisance of any additional costs required. Provision is made for known losses during the contract period on an individual
contract basis.
Insurance premiums are stated before deducting reinsurance and commission. Gross premiums are accounted for when they become due.
Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and dividend income on preference shares.
Interest is recognised on an accrual basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period to maturity,
when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Group.
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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6.

Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather
than through continuing use are classified as held-for-sale and are carried at the lower of carrying value and fair value less cost to sell.
Immediately before classification as assets held-for-sale, the measurement of the assets (and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group)
is determined in accordance with applicable IFRS. Then, on initial classification as assets held-for-sale, non-current assets and disposal
groups are recognised at the lower of the carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is
first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories,
financial assets, deferred tax assets, and employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in the income statement. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.
A discontinued operation results from the sale or abandonment of an operation that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations and of which the assets, net profit or loss and activities can be distinguished physically, operationally
and for financial reporting purposes. A subsidiary acquired exclusively with the view to resale is also classified as a discontinued
operation. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified
as held-for-sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement is
restated as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

7.

Distributions to shareholders
Distributions to shareholders are accounted for once they have been approved by the board of directors.

8.

Finance income and charges
Finance charges comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method. The interest expense
component of finance lease payments is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

9.

Capitalisation of expenditure/borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
complete. Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

10.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks net
of bank overdrafts, investment in money market instruments and variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, all of which
are available for use by the Group unless otherwise stated.

11.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reflected at cost to the Group, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Land is stated at cost. The present value of the estimated cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site in which they
are located is provided for as part of the cost of the asset. Depreciation is provided for on the straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the property, plant and equipment which are as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold premises
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Vehicles and craft
Vessels
Rental assets
Full maintenance leased assets

Up to 50 years
Over the period of the lease
5 to 20 years
3 to 15 years
3 to 10 years
28 to 55 years
3 to 5 years
Over the period of the lease

Capitalised leased assets

The same basis as owned assets

Residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reassessed annually.
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment.
The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item
when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense when incurred.
12.

Leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the Group are classified as finance
leases. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease, and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. The capital element of future obligations
under the leases is included as a liability in the statement of financial position. Lease payments are allocated using the effective interest
rate method to determine the lease finance cost, which is charged against income over the lease period, and the capital repayment,
which reduces the liability to the lessor.
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases.
Operating leases, which have a fixed determinable escalation, are charged against income on a straight-line basis. Leases with
contingent escalations are expensed as and when incurred.

13.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. All business combinations are
accounted for by applying the purchase method. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since March 31 2004,
goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired.
Goodwill is stated at deemed cost or cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and
is tested annually for impairment. In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate.
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the income statement.

14.

Intangible assets
Software development costs are capitalised and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Expenditure on research, internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless
such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested for impairment at each statement of
financial position date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are
currently:
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Computer software

3 to 12 years
3 to 8 years

Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.
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15.

Impairment of assets
The carrying value of assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date to assess whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Where the carrying value exceeds the
estimated recoverable amount, such assets are written down to their recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated is estimated annually on March 31 each year. For
assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated
at each statement of financial position date.
Impairment losses are recognised whenever the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets
and groups.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. For unlisted
shares classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
• significant financial difficulty of the counterparty; or
• default in interest or principal payments; or
• it becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income
statement even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the
income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement.
The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held-to-maturity securities and receivables carried at amortised cost is
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (the effective interest
rate is computed on initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. Individually
significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively
in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
In respect of trade receivables, receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. In assessing their value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.
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An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale is not reversed through the
income statement. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed, with
the amount of the reversal recognised in the income statement.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables and banking advances, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account.
When a trade receivable or banking advance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the impairment allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the impairment allowance account are recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed.
In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. Impairment losses are reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
16.

Taxation
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current taxation comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the tax rates
enacted or substantially enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.
Deferred taxation is recognised using the statement of financial position liability method based on temporary differences between
the tax base of an asset or liability and its statement of financial position carrying amount. Temporary differences are differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax
provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. The following temporary differences are not provided for:
initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation is charged to the income statement except to the extent that it relates to a
transaction that is recognised directly in equity, or a business combination that is an acquisition. The effects on deferred taxation of any
changes in tax rates is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited
directly to equity.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Secondary taxation on companies is accounted for as a tax charge in the income statement as incurred.

17. Associates
An associate is a company over which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over its financial and
operating policies.
The equity method of accounting for associates is adopted in the Group financial statements. In applying the equity method, account
is taken of the Group’s share of accumulated retained earnings and movements in reserves from the effective dates on which the
companies became associates and up to the effective dates of disposal. In the event of associates making losses, the Group
recognises the losses to the extent of the Group’s exposure.
The Company carries its investment in associates at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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18.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement. The Group’s
interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method and its shares of the underlying assets,
liabilities, income, expenditures and cash flows are included in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis from the
date that joint control commences until the date joint control ceases.
The Company carries its investments in joint ventures at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

19.

Foreign operations
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated into
South African rand at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Income, expenditure and cash flow items are
translated into South African rand at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Since
July 1 2004, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS, foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in equity
as a foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign
currency translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.
The revenues and expenses of foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies are translated to South African rand at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the statement of financial position date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised
directly in a separate component of equity.
Acquisitions and disposals of foreign operations are accounted for at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction.

20.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised when the Group or Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the arrangement.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, plus, for instruments not carried at fair value through profit or loss, any directly
attributable transaction costs.
An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is held-for-trading, is a derivative or is designated as such upon
initial recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future or it has
been part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of shortterm profit-making.
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised
in the income statement. The gain or loss recognised in the income statement excludes the interest and dividends earned on the
financial asset, which are separately disclosed as such in the income statement. Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured
at amortised cost if the fair value cannot be determined.
Financial instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value with any resultant gain or loss, other than
impairment losses or foreign exchange gains or losses on monetary items, being recognised directly in equity. When these investments
are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Where these
investments are interest bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest rate method is recognised in profit or loss.
Listed government bonds held in terms of statutory requirements are accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets.
If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as held-to-maturity.
Investments that meet the criteria for classification as held-to-maturity financial assets are carried at amortised cost.
Where the instrument is not classified as one of the above, it is carried at amortised cost.

142

Listed and unlisted investments are classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale financial assets.
Fair value of listed investments is calculated by reference to stock exchange quoted selling prices at the close of business on the
statement of financial position date. Fair value of unlisted investments is determined by using appropriate valuation models.
Trade and other receivables originated by the Group or Company are stated at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment
losses.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value, based on the relevant exchange rates at statement of financial position date.
Financial liabilities other than derivatives are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivative instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Where a derivative financial instrument is used to economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised financial asset or
liability, no hedge accounting is applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement. It is the
policy of the Group not to trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Gains and losses arising from measuring the hedging instruments relating to a fair value hedge at fair value are recognised in the
income statement. The hedged item is also stated at fair value in respect of the risk being hedged, with any gains or losses recognised
in the income statement.
Where a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective part of the gains or losses from remeasuring the hedging
instruments to fair value are initially recognised directly in equity. If the hedged firm commitment or forecast transaction results in
the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the cumulative amount recognised in equity up to the transaction date is adjusted
against the initial measurement of the non-financial asset or liability. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement immediately. For other cash flow hedges, the cumulative amount recognised in equity is included in net profit or loss in the
period when the commitment or forecast transaction affects profit or loss.
Where the hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the aforementioned policy when the
transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss is recognised in
the income statement immediately.
A financial asset is derecognised (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial assets is
derecognised) if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the Group transfers the financial
assets to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.
Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when the Company
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Financial instruments have been grouped into classes for the purpose of financial instrument risk disclosure. The classes are the
segments as disclosed in the segmental report as the operations within each segment have similar types of risks.
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21.

Banking advances
Advances are stated at amortised cost after the deduction of amounts that, in the opinion of the directors, are required as specific
and general impairments. Specific impairments are raised for doubtful advances, including amounts in respect of interest not being
serviced and after taking security values into account, and are deducted from advances where the outstanding balance exceeds the
value of the security held. A general impairment based on historic experience is raised to cover doubtful advances, which may not
be specifically identified at the statement of financial position date. The specific and general impairments made during the year are
charged to the income statement.

22.

Vehicle rental fleet
Vehicle rental fleet is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost
of the vehicles to their residual value over their estimated useful life of between nine and 12 months.

23.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The cost of raw materials,
finished goods, parts and accessories is determined on either the first in, first out or average cost basis. New vehicles, motorcycles,
power and marine products are stated on an actual unit cost basis. Used and demonstrator vehicles are stated at the lower of actual
cost or net realisable value. The cost of manufactured inventory and work in progress includes materials and parts, direct labour, other
direct costs and includes an appropriate portion of overheads, but excludes interest expense.
Vehicles and vehicle parts purchased in terms of manufacturers’ standard franchise agreements or floorplan facilities are recognised as
assets when received as such is when significant risks or rewards have been transferred. This policy is applied irrespective of the fact
that certain agreements provide that the legal ownership of this inventory shall remain with the supplier or floorplan provider until the
purchase price has been paid.

24.

Treasury shares
Shares in the Company, held by its subsidiary and the Bidvest Incentive Scheme are classified in the Group’s shareholders’ interest as
treasury shares. These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. The cost price of
the shares is presented as a deduction from total equity. Distributions received on treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

25.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Translation differences are
recognised in the income statement.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated to South African rand at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair value was determined.

26.

Share-based payments
The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants options to acquire shares in the Company to executive directors and staff. The fair value of
options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the
options is measured using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where staff are unable to
meet the scheme’s employment requirements.
The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants loans to staff for the acquisition of shares in the Company. The fair value of services received
in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model taking into account the expected contractual life of the loan
obligation.
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27.

Employee benefits
Leave benefits due to employees are recognised as a liability in the financial statements.
The Group’s liability for post-retirement benefits, accruing to past and current employees in terms of defined benefit schemes, is
actuarially calculated. Where the plan is funded, the obligation is reduced by the fair value of the plan assets. Unfunded obligations
are recognised as a liability in the financial statements.
The Group’s obligation for post-retirement medical aid to past and current employees is actuarially determined and provided for in full.
The projected unit-credit method is used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current
service cost and, where applicable, past service cost.
Actuarial gains or losses in respect of defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement if the net cumulative unrecognised
actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous reporting period exceed the greater of:
• 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at that date, before deducting plan assets; or
• 10% of the fair value of any plan assets at that date.

However, when the actuarial calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any
unrecognised past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
The amount recognised is the excess in terms of the aforementioned formula, divided by the expected average remaining working lives
of the employees participating in that plan.
Past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To
the extent that the benefits have vested, past service costs are recognised immediately.
Liabilities for employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are discounted using the market yields at
the statement of financial position date on high quality bonds with terms that most closely match the terms of maturity of the related
liabilities.
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.
28.

Short-term insurance
Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Company (as insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured
event) adversely affects them. Short-term insurance is provided in terms of benefits under short-term policies which cover motor,
property and warranty.
Premiums are earned from the date the risk attaches, over the indemnity period, based on the pattern of the risk underwritten.
Unearned premiums, which represent the proportion of premiums written in the current year which relate to risks that have not expired
by the end of the financial year, are calculated on a time proportionate basis.
Receipts and payments under investment contracts are not classified as insurance transactions in the income statement but instead
are deposit accounted in the statement of financial position in accordance with IAS 39. The deposits liability recognised in the
statement of financial position represents the expected amounts payable to the holders of the insurance contract. Claims incurred
consists of claims paid during the financial year, together with the movement in the provision for outstanding claims and are charged
to income as incurred. The provision for outstanding claims comprise the Company’s estimate of the undiscounted ultimate cost of
settling all claims incurred but unpaid at statement of financial position date, whether reported or not. Related anticipated reinsurance
recoveries are disclosed separately as assets.
A provision for claims incurred but not reported, is maintained at 7% of net premium income, for claims arising from events that
occurred before the close of the accounting period, but which have not been reported to the Company by that date. A contingency
reserve is maintained at 10% of the net premium income. The reserve can be utilised in the case of catastrophe, subject to the
approval of the Financial Services Board. Transfers to this reserve are reflected in the statement of changes in equity.
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29.

Life assurance
Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Company (as insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured
event) adversely affects them. Life assurance benefits are provided in terms of individual credit life contracts. These contracts are
decreasing term assurance designed to pay outstanding loans provided by finance houses to purchasers of motor vehicles. The
outstanding loan is settled (subject to certain limits) following death or disability of the contract holder. In addition, there is a dread
disease, retrenchment and funeral benefit. Policyholder liabilities under insurance contracts, representing the liability in respect of
unmatured policies, are valued in terms of the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis contained in PGN104. The actuaries’ report
is included as a separate statement.
Receipts and payments under investment contracts are not classified as insurance transactions in the income statement but instead
are deposit accounted in the statement of financial position, in accordance with IAS 39. The deposits liability recognised in the
statement of financial position represents the expected amounts payable to the holders of the insurance contract. Claims expenses
are charged to the income statement as incurred based on the liability in terms of the policy at the date of the claim.
Contracts entered into by the Company with reinsurers under which the Company is compensated for losses on one or more
contracts issued by the Company are classified as reinsurance contracts held. The benefits to which the Company is entitled under
its reinsurance contracts are recognised as reinsurance assets. These consist of short-term balances due to/from reinsurers, as well
as longer-term receivables (classified as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the
related insurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from/due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with
the insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable and
are recognised as an expense when due. The Company assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an annual basis. If there
is objective evidence that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its
recoverable amount and recognises the impairment loss in the income statement. The Company gathers the objective evidence that
a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same basis adopted for financial assets held at amortised cost.

30.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will occur, and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where
the effect of discounting is material, provisions are discounted. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the restructuring
has either commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.
The Group recognises a provision calculated as the present value of the estimated cost of dismantling and removing items and
restoring the site in which they are located when the legal or constructive obligation arises or when the damage to the site occurs.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net costs of continuing the contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.
Customer loyalty points are accounted for at fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sale, and
are allocated between the loyalty points and the other components of the sale. The consideration allocated to the customer loyalty
points is measured by reference to their fair value, which is the amount for which the loyalty points could be sold at, multiplied by the
probability of their redemption. This amount is recognised as a provision until such time as the customer loyalty points are redeemed.
Once the loyalty points are redeemed, the amount will be recognised as revenue.
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31.

Segmental reporting
The reportable segments of the Group have been identified based on the nature of the businesses. This basis is representative of the
internal structure for management purposes. Information is also supplied for the various geographies in which the Group operates.
“Segmental operating profit” includes revenue and expenses directly relating to a business segment but exclude net finance charges
and taxation which cannot be allocated to any specific segment. Share-based payment costs are also excluded from the result as this
is not a criteria used in the management of the reportable segments.
“Segmental trading profit” is defined as operating profit excluding items of a capital nature and is the basis on which management’s
performance is assessed.
Segment operating assets and liabilities include property, plant and equipment, investments, inventories, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables, banking assets and liabilities, insurance funds and post-retirement obligations but excludes cash,
borrowings, current taxation, and deferred taxation. Intangible assets are allocated to the cash-generating unit in the segment to which
they relate.

32.

Reclassifications
Expenses of a capital nature, non-trading items and acquisition costs have been separately disclosed on the face of the income
statement with the profit before the recognition of these items being termed trading profit. This aligns the reporting to shareholders
with that used in assessing management’s performance.
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended June 30

Total revenue

Note

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

1

110 027 004

112 673 433

Revenue

109 789 207

112 427 831

Cost of revenue

(86 778 366)

(89 482 780)

Gross income

23 010 841

22 945 051

424 725

198 815

(17 880 870)

(18 007 297)

(12 115 597)

(12 726 832)

Other income
Operating expenses
Sales and distribution expenses
Administration expenses

(4 069 739)

(3 955 068)

Other expenses

(1 695 534)

(1 325 397)

5 554 696

5 136 569

(61 202)

–

Trading profit
Acquisition costs
Non-trading items

–

Net capital items

(164 240)

(30 151)

(37 701)

Operating profit

2

5 463 343

4 934 628

Net finance charges

3

(758 479)

(1 029 243)

Finance income

64 408

40 982

Finance charges

(822 887)

(1 070 225)

Share of profit of associates

40 983

49 238

Dividends received

30 785

29 298

Share of current year retained earnings

10 198

19 940

4 745 847

3 954 623

(1 301 059)

(1 046 344)

3 444 788

2 908 279

3 345 175

2 802 386

99 613

105 893

3 444 788

2 908 279

Profit before taxation
Taxation

4

Profit for the year
Attributable to
Shareholders of the Company
Minority shareholders

Basic earnings per share (cents)

5

1 063,6

929,6

Diluted earnings per share (cents)

5

1 057,1

924,5

Headline earnings per share (cents)

5

1 070,0

930,0

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)

5

1 063,4

924,9

Distributions per share (cents)

6

432,0

380,0
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
for the year ended June 30

Profit for the year
Shareholders of the Company
Minority shareholders

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

3 444 788

2 908 279

3 345 175

2 802 386

99 613

105 893

(675 601)

(1 281 836)

(671 219)

(1 277 229)

(4 382)

(4 607)

(12 831)

2 428

(17 877)

2 523

5 046

(95)

2 756 356

1 628 871

2 661 125

1 527 585

Other comprehensive income (expense) net of tax
Decrease in foreign currency translation reserve
Shareholders of the Company
Minority shareholders
Increase (decrease) in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
Increase (decrease) in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets before tax
Tax relief
Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to
Shareholders of the Company
Minority shareholders

95 231

101 286

2 756 356

1 628 871
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended June 30

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated by operations

7

Finance income

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

4 856 127

3 322 584

7 984 220

6 748 868

64 408

40 982

Finance charges

8

(724 042)

(1 065 811)

Taxation paid

9

(1 166 914)

(1 223 496)

Distributions to shareholders

10

Cash flows from investing activities
Amounts advanced to associates

(1 301 545)

(1 177 959)

(4 846 526)

(1 862 306)

(5 680)

(3 489)

Investments disposed of

149 099

579 315

Investments acquired

(244 445)

(544 559)

Additions to property, plant and equipment

(2 730 411)

(2 241 322)

Additions to vehicle rental fleet

(1 150 070)

(826 972)

Additions to intangible assets

(149 880)

(184 928)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment

398 169

280 646

Proceeds on disposal of vehicle rental fleet

767 248

669 795

9 762

2 293

Proceeds on disposal of intangible assets
Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates

11

(1 951 556)

(243 001)

Proceeds on disposal of interests in subsidiaries and associates, and
disposal and closure of businesses

12

61 238

649 916

1 732 990

(278 123)

1 233 119

51 116

300 772

–

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from share issues
– Company
– subsidiaries
Purchase of treasury shares

(24 975)

Sale of treasury shares

(64 803)

48 689

58 432

Borrowings raised

7 513 034

2 906 368

Borrowings repaid

(7 337 649)

(3 229 236)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

1 742 591

1 182 155

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

1 239 538

308 554

(76 676)

(251 171)

2 905 453

1 239 538

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents comprise
Cash and cash equivalents

24

4 138 722

3 212 425

Bank overdrafts included in short-term portion of borrowings

28

(1 233 269)

(1 972 887)

2 905 453

1 239 538
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended June 30

EquITy ATTRIBuTABLE TO ShAREhOLDERS OF ThE COMPANy
Share capital
Balance at beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year
Capitalisation issue
Share premium
Balance at beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year
Share issue costs
Capitalisation issue
Refund of share premium to shareholders
Foreign currency translation reserve

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

16 736 503

13 929 132

17 507

16 814

16 814

16 592

693

56

–

166

81 258

228 301

228 301

1 090 068

1 236 462

51 060

(4 036)

(108)

–

(166)

(1 379 469)

(912 553)

20 527

691 746

Balance at beginning of the year

691 746

1 968 975

Total comprehensive income for the year

(671 219)

(1 277 229)

Statutory reserves
Balance at beginning of the year
Transfer from (to) retained earnings
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Balance at beginning of the year
Arising during the year
Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends paid
Transfer of reserves as a result of changes in shareholding of subsidiaries
Transfer from (to) statutory reserves

15 215

13 033

13 033

13 049

2 182

(16)

328 640

253 936

253 936

220 559

74 704

33 377

18 619 202

15 206 432

15 206 432

12 706 171

3 332 344

2 804 814

–

(304 569)

82 608

–

(2 182)

16

(2 345 846)

(2 481 130)

(2 481 130)

(2 547 785)

Purchase of shares by subsidiaries

(24 975)

(49 384)

Shares disposed of in terms of share incentive scheme

48 689

43 013

111 570

73 026

656 434

368 495

Treasury shares
Balance at beginning of the year

Refund of share premium received by subsidiaries
EquITy ATTRIBuTABLE TO MINORITy ShAREhOLDERS OF ThE COMPANy
Balance at beginning of the year

368 495

310 456

Total comprehensive income for the year

95 231

101 286

Dividends paid

(33 646)

(33 863)

5 525

60

Share-based payment reserve
Capital invested by minority shareholders
Transactions with minority shareholders
Transfer of reserves as a result of changes in shareholding of subsidiaries
TOTAL EquITy

300 772

–

2 665

(9 444)

(82 608)

–

17 392 937

14 297 627
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Consolidated statement of financial position
at June 30

Note

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

19 371 091

16 119 562

10 367 571

9 409 702

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

13

Intangible assets

14

651 094

512 286

Goodwill

15

5 709 169

3 966 950

Deferred taxation assets

16

426 822

378 603

Defined benefit pension surplus

29

129 850

120 985

Interest in associates

18

656 865

449 889

Investments

19

1 157 190

908 884

Banking and other advances

20

272 530

372 263

23 973 829

22 364 822

Vehicle rental fleet

21

915 042

684 205

Inventories

22

8 030 752

7 443 252

Short-term portion of banking and other advances

20

350 086

279 862

Trade and other receivables

23

10 539 227

10 745 078

Cash and cash equivalents

24

4 138 722

3 212 425

43 344 920

38 484 384

17 392 937

14 297 627

16 736 503

13 929 132

656 434

368 495

4 669 207

4 155 520

378 992

255 402

Current assets

Total assets
EquITy AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

25

Minority shareholders
Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxation liabilities

16

Life assurance fund

27

13 734

20 672

Long-term portion of borrowings

28

3 448 501

2 990 232

Post-retirement obligations

29

394 527

460 803

Long-term portion of provisions

33

235 253

218 972

Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities

31

198 200

209 439

21 282 776

20 031 237

Trade and other payables

32

15 032 357

14 570 716

Short-term portion of provisions

33

251 635

297 080

539

15 629

Current liabilities

Vendors for acquisition
Taxation

364 558

262 080

Short-term portion of banking liabilities

30

1 080 366

591 200

Short-term portion of borrowings

28

4 553 321

4 294 532

43 344 920

38 484 384

Total equity and liabilities
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30

2010
R’000
1.

Total revenue
Sale of goods

87 005 106

86 604 840

Rendering of services

10 523 020

10 488 580

991 589

998 991

13 985 042

16 731 080

Commissions and fees earned
Gross billings relating to clearing and forwarding transactions
Insurance
Inter-group eliminations
Revenue

180 993

129 371

112 685 750

114 952 862

(2 896 543)

(2 525 031)

109 789 207

112 427 831

Dividend income

44 411

46 533

Finance income

193 386

199 069

110 027 004

112 673 433

67 493

57 807

52 624

46 635

Total revenue
2.

2009
R’000

Operating profit
Determined after charging (crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees
Audit related expenses
Taxation services
Other services

512

914

4 546

4 094

9 811

6 164

1 599 512

1 476 300

Buildings

60 423

41 695

Leasehold premises

66 729

60 426

Plant and equipment

425 924

382 788

Office equipment, furniture and fittings

263 310

231 720

Vehicles, vessels and craft

411 589

424 235

62 656

86 199

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Rental assets
Capitalised leased assets

6 947

7 229

Full maintenance lease assets

301 934

242 008

Depreciation of vehicle rental fleet

151 985

127 224

Amortisation of intangible assets

118 968

140 828

Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles

33 182

71 000

Computer software

85 786

69 828

Impairment of assets

248 395

226 699

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

36 429

16 361

Goodwill

5 528

19 910

Banking and other advances

2 552

3 835

Trade receivables

203 886

186 593

Provision for (reversal of) impairment of associates

(25 900)

200 000

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

–

(389)

80 653

73 687

35 304

35 596

Retirement and medical benefits

3 872

3 387

Other benefits

6 637

2 528

34 840

32 176

3 606

2 471

3 091

2 113

515

358

Directors’ emoluments
Executive directors
Basic remuneration

Cash incentives
Non-executive directors
Fees
Emoluments for other services
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2.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Operating profit (continued)
Employer contributions to

760 356

752 257

Defined contribution pension funds

148 535

161 045

Provident funds

347 559

329 173

Retirement funds

42 668

49 871

Medical aid funds

221 594

212 168

(46 972)

36 462

Expenses (income) related to post-retirement obligations
Defined benefit pension plans
Post-retirement medical aid obligations
Defined benefit early retirement plan
Share-based payment expense

(30 297)

7 568

292

16 985

(16 967)

11 909

79 054

33 377

Staff

45 754

23 282

Executive directors

15 319

9 964

993

131

Former executive directors
In respect of empowerment transaction of subsidiary

16 988

–

11 919 765

11 919 063

Fees for administrative, managerial and technical services

5 308

8 274

Research and development expenditure

1 649

559

(20 216)

28 170

Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments and employer contributions

Foreign exchange losses (gains) on hedging transactions
Forward exchange contracts
Foreign bank accounts
Other foreign exchange losses (gains)
Realised
Unrealised
Dividends received
Listed investments
Unlisted investments

(18 605)

11 956

(1 611)

16 214

(10 925)

(27 319)

(9 785)

(9 722)

(1 140)

(17 597)

(13 626)

(17 235)

(13 609)

(17 235)

(17)

Fair value adjustments on investments held-for-trading
Net capital (profit) loss

–

(192 383)

(50 860)

10 525

(198 181)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment

8 814

54 685

Loss on disposal of intangible assets

1 711

–

Net profit on disposal of interests in subsidiaries and associates,
and disposal and closure of businesses
JSE fees

–

(252 866)

189

174

Operating lease charges

1 467 884

1 405 478

Land and buildings

1 035 728

1 099 849

432 156

305 629

Equipment and vehicles
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3.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

193 386

199 069

4 566

5 307

Interest income on banking and other advances

72 480

64 114

Interest income on vehicle lease debtors

28 155

49 245

Interest income on bank balances

85 049

76 783

3 136

3 620

Net finance charges
Finance income
Preference dividends

Interest income on unimpaired available-for-sale financial investments
Finance charges

(866 803)

(1 119 803)

Interest expense on banking liabilities

(42 695)

(60 853)

Interest expense on bank overdrafts

(251 944)

(544 829)

Interest expense on financed assets
Interest expense on vehicle lease creditors and floorplan creditors
Interest expense on other borrowings
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised to property, plant and equipment

(7 029)

(10 387)

(23 681)

(50 588)

(544 334)

(462 825)

2 880

9 679

(673 417)

(920 734)

(85 062)

(108 509)

Income

(128 978)

(158 087)

Charges

43 916

49 578

(758 479)

(1 029 243)

Current taxation

1 246 025

990 010

Current year

1 223 563

963 716

Less: Net finance income from banking operations included in operating profit

The applicable weighted average interest rate is used to determine the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
4.

Taxation

22 462

26 294

Deferred taxation

Prior years

44 803

43 732

Current year

54 155

40 095

Prior years

(8 171)

2 920

Change in rate of taxation

(1 181)

Secondary taxation on companies
Foreign withholding taxation

2 315

717
7 590

7 916

5 012

1 301 059

1 046 344

South African taxation

782 913

672 859

Foreign taxation

518 146

373 485

1 301 059

1 046 344

Total taxation per income statement
Comprising
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4.

2010
%

2009
%

27,4

26,5

Taxation (continued)
The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the company tax rate is:
Taxation for the year as a percentage of profit before taxation
Associates
Secondary taxation on companies
Effective rate excluding secondary taxation on companies and associate income
Dividend and exempt income

0,4

0,3

–

(0,1)

27,8

26,7

1,2

2,5

Foreign taxation rate differential

(0,3)

(1,0)

Non-deductible expenses

(1,0)

(2,8)

Utilisation of deferred tax assets not previously raised

0,1

1,2

Capital gains taxation exempt portion

0,5

1,9

Changes in prior year’s estimation

(0,3)

(0,5)

Rate of South African company taxation

28,0

28,0

R’000

R’000

Estimated tax losses available for offset against future taxable income

376 078

295 757

Utilised in the computation of deferred taxation

(184 836)

(104 931)

Not accounted for in deferred taxation

191 242

190 826

103 693

35 029

314 510

301 462

1 929

1 647

Number of outstanding staff share options

8 342

12 522

Number of share options deemed to be issued at fair value

(6 427)

(10 875)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these tax losses as the directors
believe it is not probable that the relevant companies will generate taxable profit in the near
future, against which the benefits can be utilised.
Secondary taxation on companies – dividend credits available
5.

Earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares (’000)
Weighted average number of shares in issue for basic earnings per share and
headline earnings per share calculations
Potential dilutive impact of outstanding staff share options and conditional awards

Contingent issuable shares in terms of conditional share plan to be issued at fair value

14

–

316 439

303 109

3 345 175

2 802 386

Basic earnings per share (cents)

1 063,6

929,6

Diluted basic earnings per share (cents)

1 057,1

924,5

0,6

0,6

Adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue used for the calculation
of diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per share
Attributable earnings (R’000)
Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are based on
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Dilution (%)
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5.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

3 345 175

2 802 386

41 070

34 952

30 271

16 361

Goodwill

5 528

19 910

Intangible assets

6 158

–

Earnings per share (continued)
Headline earnings
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company
Impairment of property, plant and equipment; goodwill and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Tax relief
Minority shareholders
Net loss on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and disposal and closure of businesses

(71)

(1 319)
–

–

110 770

Loss on disposal and closure

–

138 272

Tax relief

–

(27 502)

Profit on disposal, and impairment of investment in associate
Net loss (profit) on disposal of associate
Impairment (reversal of impairment) of investment in associate
Tax charge
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

(22 331)

(181 709)

3 569

(391 138)

(25 900)

200 000

–

9 429

1 208

37 561

Property, plant and equipment

8 814

54 685

Intangible assets

1 711

–

Tax relief

(4 076)

(17 124)

Minority shareholders

(5 241)

–

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

–

(389)

3 365 122

2 803 571

Headline earnings per share (cents)

1 070,0

930,0

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)

1 063,4

924,9

0,6

0,6

207,0

100,0

–

90,0

225,0

190,0

432,0

380,0

Headline earnings

Dilution (%)
6.

(816)

Distribution per share
Interim distribution (cents)
Refund of share premium per share in lieu of dividend paid on March 29 2010
(2009: Dividend paid to shareholders on March 30 2009)
Capitalisation issue to shareholders on one new Bidvest share for every
100 Bidvest shares held on March 30 2009
Final distribution (cents)
Dividend payable to shareholders on September 27 2010 (2009: Refund of share
premium per share in lieu of dividend paid on November 30 2009)

It is expected that the final dividend declared for payment on September 27 2010 will result in
a secondary tax on companies charge of approximately R68,0 million.
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7.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

4 745 847

3 954 623

61 202

–

Net finance charges

758 479

1 029 243

Share of current year earnings of associates

(32 529)

(19 940)

Cash generated by operations
Profit before taxation
Costs incurred in respect of acquisitions

Adjustment for depreciation and amortisation

1 870 465

1 745 220

Adjustment for other non-cash items

(60 845)

193 966

Reduction in post-retirement obligations

(36 431)

(10 646)

(6 938)

(12 806)

684 970

(130 792)

Decrease in life assurance fund
Working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables
Decrease (increase) in banking and other advances

8.

347 435

(39 806)

482 383

14 004

(29 205)

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables and provisions

708 681

(1 166 475)

Increase in banking liabilities

489 167

235 070

Cash generated by operations

7 984 220

6 748 868

Charge per income statement

(822 887)

(1 070 225)

Amounts capitalised to borrowings

101 725

14 093

(2 880)

(9 679)

(724 042)

(1 065 811)

(262 080)

(511 427)

(1 256 256)

(1 002 612)

(19 952)

(149)

Finance charges

Amounts capitalised to property, plant and equipment
Amounts paid
9.

(487 076)

Taxation paid
Amounts payable at beginning of year
Current taxation charge
Businesses acquired
Exchange rate adjustments
Amounts payable at end of year
Amounts paid

6 816

28 612

364 558

262 080

(1 166 914)

(1 223 496)

10. Distributions to shareholders
Dividends paid to shareholders

–

Dividends received by subsidiaries on treasury shares

–

Refund of share premium to shareholders in lieu of dividend

(1 379 469)

(332 645)
28 076
(912 553)

Refund of share premium received by subsidiary on treasury shares

111 570

73 026

Dividends paid to minority shareholders by subsidiaries

(33 646)

(33 863)

(1 301 545)

(1 177 959)

Amounts paid
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

(623 231)

(32 310)

27 884

(405)

(180 419)

(78 033)

11 444

–

Inventories

(410 932)

(50 399)

Trade and other receivables

(391 503)

(54 815)

11. Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred taxation
Interest in associates
Investments and advances

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Trade and other payables and provisions
Taxation
Net fair value of liabilities (tangible assets)
Goodwill
Negative goodwill
Intangible assets
Minority shareholders
Total value of acquisitions

(45 784)

16 521

1 374 270

2 027

703 233

72 873

19 952

149

484 914

(124 392)

(2 167 927)

(51 448)

–

389

(179 927)

(44 659)

(58 108)

(15 872)

(1 921 048)

(235 982)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

45 784

(16 521)

Vendors for acquisition at beginning of year

(15 629)

(6 127)

Vendors for acquisition at end of year
Costs incurred in respect of acquisitions
Net amounts paid

539

15 629

(61 202)

–

(1 951 556)

(243 001)

The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of the Nowaco group (Nowaco) of companies with effect from July 1 2009 for an
enterprise value of €250 million. Nowaco includes Nowaco Czech Republic s.r.o. which focuses on the Czech Republic and Slovakia and
Farutex Sp.z.o.o. which serves the Polish market. The purchase consideration was settled with cash of €119 million and the assumption
of debt equating to €131 million. An independent valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities was undertaken which identified
€16 million of intangible assets relating mainly to the tradenames of the operations within Nowaco. Goodwill amounting to €182 million
has been recognised as a result of this transaction, which can be attributed to the distribution network of the operations within Nowaco,
the skills and expertise of the workforce and the synergies expected to be achieved as a result of integrating Nowaco into the European
foodservice operations of the Group. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
The Group also undertook a number of other smaller acquisitions during the year.
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Nowaco
R’000

Other
R’000

Total
R’000

579 203

44 028

623 231

11. Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates (continued)
The impact of the above acquisitions on the Group’s results can be
summarised as follows:
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Property, plant and equipment

(30 295)

2 411

(27 884)

Interest in associates

Deferred taxation

–

180 419

180 419

Investments and advances

–

(11 444)

(11 444)

Inventories

374 696

36 236

410 932

Trade and other receivables

371 701

19 802

391 503

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Trade and other payables and provisions
Taxation

29 705

16 079

45 784

(1 368 231)

(6 039)

(1 374 270)

(635 476)

(67 757)

(703 233)

(19 019)

(933)

(19 952)

Intangible assets

178 550

1 377

179 927

Total net identifiable assets (liabilities)

(519 166)

214 179

(304 987)

4 094 762

330 054

4 424 816

225 875

17 258

243 133

4 094 762

702 885

4 797 647

225 875

28 845

254 720

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

–

2 331

134

20 868

–

71 746

Contribution to results of the year
Revenue
Operating profit
Contribution to results for the year if the acquisitions had been
effective on July 1 2009
Revenue
Operating profit

12. Proceeds on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and
associates, and disposal and closure of businesses
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred taxation
Interest in associates
Investments and advances
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

–

4

731

142 758

–

3 309

–

Trade and other payables and provisions
Net fair value of tangible assets
Minority shareholders

(9 234)

(401)

(82 132)

464

149 650

60 774

–

–

491 032

–

9 234

61 238

649 916

Profit on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and associates,
and disposal and closure of businesses
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of
Net proceeds
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2 894 264

2 376 528

3 538 144
(643 880)

2 888 799
(512 271)

13. Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Leasehold premises
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Plant and equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Vehicles, vessels and craft
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Rental assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Capitalised leased assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

853 528

752 435

1 250 551
(397 023)

1 091 353
(338 918)

2 412 013

2 008 571

5 054 345
(2 642 332)

4 289 972
(2 281 401)

782 189

718 148

2 255 190
(1 473 001)

2 005 834
(1 287 686)

1 693 001

1 563 218

3 627 601
(1 934 600)

3 352 983
(1 789 765)

258 528

216 642

550 683
(292 155)

475 874
(259 232)

18 062

34 257

49 277
(31 215)

65 158
(30 901)

Full maintenance leased assets

1 263 241

1 237 742

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2 029 010
(765 769)

1 934 912
(697 170)

192 745

502 161

10 367 571

9 409 702

Capital work in progress

Property, plant and equipment with an estimated carrying value of R68,4 million (2009: R80,7 million) were pledged as security for
borrowings of R61,8 million (2009: R51,2 million) (refer note 28).
A register of land and buildings is available for inspection by members at the registered office of the Company.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

9 409 702
2 733 291

9 556 529
2 251 001

399 854
209 348
838 272
309 301
611 092
129 380
852
529 363
(294 171)

158 601
132 727
362 787
258 886
582 694
106 996
16 199
352 744
279 367

257 008
(551 179)

540 918
(261 551)

623 231

32 310

339 208
5 298
96 395
43 234
100 392
11 927
26 777

5 896
–
8 379
1 608
16 427
–
–

(406 982)

(304 164)

(17 696)
–
(37 024)
(15 933)
(76 984)
(36 440)
(7 326)
(195 277)
(20 302)

(37)
(12 328)
(11 865)
(14 359)
(134 596)
(18 862)
(384)
(108 135)
(3 598)

13. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Movement in property, plant and equipment
Carrying value at beginning of year
Capital expenditure
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold premises
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Vehicles, vessels and craft
Rental assets
Capitalised leased assets
Full maintenance leased assets
Capital work in progress
Expenditure
Transfers to other categories
Acquisition of businesses
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold premises
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Vehicles, vessels and craft
Rental assets
Capital work in progress
Disposals
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold premises
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Vehicles, vessels and craft
Rental assets
Capitalised leased assets
Full maintenance leased assets
Capital work in progress
Disposal of businesses

–

Exchange rate adjustments
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold premises
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Vehicles, vessels and craft
Rental assets
Capitalised leased assets
Capital work in progress
Depreciation (refer note 2)
Impairment losses
Carrying value at end of year
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(2 331)

(361 888)

(631 850)

(143 208)
(30 045)
(66 803)
(7 138)
(89 875)
(325)
(2 774)
(21 720)

(204 211)
(62 894)
(117 811)
(11 436)
(195 608)
(90)
(2 848)
(36 952)

(1 599 512)

(1 476 300)

(30 271)

(15 493)

10 367 571

9 409 702

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

241 871

111 533

1 123 420
(881 549)

1 000 504
(888 971)

218 040

195 227

716 227
(498 187)

613 672
(418 445)

191 183

205 526

651 094

512 286

Carrying value at beginning of year

512 286

486 471

Additions

149 880

184 928

17 909
123 957
8 014
13 646
(5 632)

25 649
151 577
7 702
7 707
(5)

179 927

44 659

174 928
4 842
157

44 646
13
–

(11 473)

(2 922)

(7 747)
(3 322)
(404)

(1 638)
(1 284)
–

14. Intangible assets
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairments
Computer software
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Capital work in progress

Movement in intangible assets

Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Computer software
Capital work in progress
Expenditure
Transfers to other categories
Acquisition of businesses
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Computer software
Capital work in progress
Disposals
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Computer software
Capital work in progress
Exchange rate adjustments
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles
Computer software
Capital work in progress
Amortisation (refer note 2)
Impairment losses
Carrying value at end of year

(54 400)

(59 154)

(18 491)
(13 293)
(22 616)

(24 710)
(12 412)
(22 032)

(118 968)

(140 828)

(6 158)

(868)

651 094

512 286
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Carrying value at beginning of year

3 966 950

4 556 137

Acquisition of businesses

2 167 927

51 448

(5 528)

(19 910)

15. Goodwill

Impairment of goodwill
Exchange rate adjustments

(420 180)

(620 725)

5 709 169

3 966 950

Deferred taxation assets

426 822

378 603

Deferred taxation liabilities

(378 992)

(255 402)

Net deferred taxation asset

47 830

123 201

Balance at beginning of year

123 201

176 304

Per income statement

(44 803)

(43 732)

Carrying value at end of year
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been attributed to individual cashgenerating units. The carrying amount of goodwill was subject to an annual impairment test as
at March 31 using either the discounted cash flow basis or the at fair value less costs to sell
method. An amount of R5,5 million (2009: R19,9 million) was identified as being impaired for the
current financial year.
The most significant portion of the Group’s goodwill, R4,8 billion (2009: R3,2 billion), relates to
operations in Bidvest Europe and Asia Pacific. The recoverable amount of each cash-generating
units within these divisions was determined using the fair value less costs to sell method and
exceeds the carrying value by some R9,5 billion. These calculations use projected annualised
earnings based on actual operating results. A price earnings ratio was applied to obtain the
recoverable amount for each business unit. The earning yields are considered to be consistent
with similar companies within the industry and geographic segments. Attributable earnings for
these operations amounted to R996,9 million (2009: R929,4 million) for the year.
The remaining goodwill of R0,9 billion (2009: R0,7 billion) is allocated across multiple cashgenerating units. The recoverable amount for these remaining units was calculated on the
aforementioned basis. For those units where the carrying amount was in excess of the
recoverable amount and a permanent diminution had taken place, an impairment was
recognised.
16. Deferred taxation

Movement in net deferred taxation assets and liabilities

Items recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Arising on acquisition or disposal of businesses

5 046

–

(28 018)

(20 463)

Exchange rate adjustments

(7 596)

11 092

Balance at end of year

47 830

123 201
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Assets
R’000

Liabilities
R’000

Net
R’000

1 141
324
42 686
181 003
55 054
68 043
7 643
38 614
32 314
426 822

(473 089)
(31 750)
8 943
84 564
8 442
(16 115)
(31 749)
18 116
53 646
(378 992)

(471 948)
(31 426)
51 629
265 567
63 496
51 928
(24 106)
56 730
85 960
47 830

(61 261)
(1 256)
12 996
135 535
50 487
58 440
(161)
34 720
149 103
378 603

(310 205)
(5 856)
26 974
70 752
11 601
(12 622)
(14 077)
4 234
(26 203)
(255 402)

(371 466)
(7 112)
39 970
206 287
62 088
45 818
(14 238)
38 954
122 900
123 201

16. Deferred taxation (continued)
Temporary differences
2010
Differential between carrying values and tax values of property,
plant and equipment
Differential between carrying values and tax values of intangible assets
Estimated taxation losses
Staff related allowances and liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Inventories
Investments
Trade and other receivables
Trade, other payables and provisions
2009
Differential between carrying values and tax values of property,
plant and equipment
Differential between carrying values and tax values of intangible assets
Estimated taxation losses
Staff related allowances and liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Inventories
Investments
Trade and other receivables
Trade, other payables and provisions

Deferred taxation has been provided at rates ranging between 10% and 36% (2009: 14% and 36%). The variance in rates arises as a
result of the differing tax and capital gains tax rates present in the various countries in which the Group operates.
2010
R’000

2009
R’000

26 481
6 200
(1 250)
4 950
(1 437)
3 513

24 730
7 077
(1 322)
5 755
(2 154)
3 601

9 062
4
1 824
9 511
20 401

8 208
–
1 703
7 852
17 763

11 808
8 593
20 401

8 295
9 468
17 763

17. Interest in joint ventures
The Group’s proportional interest in joint ventures has been incorporated
in the Group’s assets, liabilities and results, as follows:
Income statement
Revenue
Operating profit
Net finance charges
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the year
Statement of financial position
Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Intangibles
Deferred taxation
Net current assets
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Borrowings
Details of major joint ventures are reflected on page 210 of this report.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

18. Interest in associates
Associates
Listed associates

355 075

186 967

Net asset value at acquisition

278 818

113 234

Inherent goodwill

250 357

273 733

Provision for impairment

(174 100)

(200 000)

Unlisted associates

132 526

93 114

Net asset value at acquisition

92 456

78 994

Inherent goodwill

40 070

14 120

487 601

280 081

Investments in associates at cost less impairments
Attributable share of post-acquisition reserves of associates

82 592

88 816

At beginning of year

88 816

189 210

Share of current year retained earnings

10 198

19 940

Share of foreign currency translation reserve

(4 279)

1 264

Other movements recognised directly in equity

(8 573)

9 853

Reversal of prior year on becoming subsidiary, disposal or change in shareholding

(3 570)

(131 451)

Advances

86 672

80 992

656 865

449 889

Market value of listed associates

436 200

222 353

Directors’ valuation of unlisted associates

277 900

280 000

714 100

502 353

Advances to associates bear interest at rates of between 0% and 11% and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

Summarised financial information of associates (aggregated):
Income statement
Revenue

5 346 729

4 558 068

Operating profit

308 442

223 658

Net finance charges

(52 731)

(54 207)

Profit before taxation

255 711

169 451

Taxation

(85 024)

(57 544)

Profit for the year

170 687

111 907

1 535 257

1 293 531

850

–

Statement of financial position
Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Investments
Net current assets

607 948

327 472

2 144 055

1 621 003

1 374 154

933 244

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Deferred taxation
Borrowings
Details of major associates are reflected on page 211 of this report.
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86 289

64 462

683 612

623 297

2 144 055

1 621 003

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Listed held-for-trading

492 635

391 882

Unlisted held-for-trading

571 288

454 194

Listed available-for-sale

58 672

62 443

Unlisted available-for-sale

34 595

365

1 157 190

908 884

19. Investments

The Group accounts for its effective beneficial interest in Mumbai International Airport as
an unlisted investment held-for-trading. The carrying value of this investment, based on a
conservative directors’ valuation at June 30 2010, is R499,9 million (2009: R337,0 million).
Included in listed investments are available-for-sale interest-bearing listed bonds which amount
to R37,9 million (2009: R43,6 million), with coupon interest rates of between 13,0% and 13,5%
(2009: 13,0% and 13,5%) which mature in one to six years (2009: one to seven years). These
investments may be realised prior to their maturity date.
Fair value and hierarchy of investments
The table below analyses investments by valuation method:
Investments held at cost

32 118

32 248

1 125 072

876 636

Unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets

521 795

447 398

Factors that are observable for the asset either as prices or derived from prices

564 959

404 581

38 318

24 657

1 157 190

908 884

Investments held at fair value as determined on inputs based on:

Factors that are not based on observable market data

A register of investments is available for inspection by members at the registered office
of the Company.
20. Banking and other advances
Instalment finance

51 810

58 572

Vehicle lease receivables

214 917

343 198

Call and term loans

156 972

168 054

Other

221 494

89 373

645 193

659 197

Impairment allowance

(22 577)

(7 072)

622 616

652 125

Maturing in one year

350 086

279 862

Maturing after one year but within five years

272 530

360 106

Maturity analysis

Maturing after five years

–

12 157

622 616

652 125

Interest rates are based on contractual agreements with customers.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

1 001 864

777 087

21. Vehicle rental fleet
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(86 822)

(92 882)

915 042

684 205

Movement in vehicle rental fleet
Carrying value at beginning of year

684 205

654 252

Additions

1 150 070

826 972

Disposals

(767 248)

(669 795)

Depreciation

(151 985)

(127 224)

Carrying value at end of year

915 042

684 205

323 505

254 106

99 398

105 980

22. Inventories
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

5 353 692

4 903 534

New vehicles and motor cycles

748 740

614 210

Used vehicles

627 369

499 869

Demonstration vehicles

550 527

674 602

Power and marine products

111 595

125 519

Parts and accessories

215 926

265 432

8 030 752

7 443 252

Amounts included in borrowings relating to these assets (refer note 28)

560 035

417 319

Amounts included in trade and other payables relating to these assets (refer note 32)

406 300

538 827

966 335

956 146

104 201

70 357

10 044 178

10 018 841

Ownership of inventory, acquired under floorplan arrangements, remains with the respective
floorplan provider until the purchase price has been paid.

Writedown of inventory charged to the income statement
23. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Impairment allowances
Total trade receivables

(426 848)

(389 935)

9 617 330

9 628 906

Forward exchange contracts asset

8 959

9 049

Prepayments and other receivables

912 938

1 107 123

10 539 227

10 745 078

The majority of trade and other receivables are fixed in the subsidiaries’ local currency.
Since trade and other receivables have limited exposure to exchange rate fluctuations,
a currency analysis has not been included.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure on trade receivables and impairment allowances.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

4 138 722

3 162 425

24. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank
Variable rate redeemable cumulative preference shares earning dividends at rates of
between 61,5% and 80% of the prime overdraft rate, subject to redemption and/or repurchase
on 30 days’ notice.

Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents relating to banking and insurance
subsidiaries where the balances form part of the reserving requirements as required
by the Financial Services Act

–

50 000

4 138 722

3 212 425

1 160 553

903 559

25. Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company
Share capital
Issued share capital

17 507

16 814

Share premium

81 258

228 301

18 983 584

16 165 147

20 527

691 746

Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Statutory reserves
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Retained earnings

15 215

13 033

328 640

253 936

18 619 202

15 206 432

19 082 349

16 410 262

Less: Shares held by subsidiary as treasury shares

(2 345 846)

(2 481 130)

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

16 736 503

13 929 132

18 889 685

16 068 537

Reserves comprise
Company and subsidiaries
Joint ventures

11 307

7 794

Associates

82 592

88 816

18 983 584

16 165 147
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

27 000

27 000

Number

Number

350 144 746

336 284 567

336 284 567

331 837 415

–

3 326 310

25. Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company
Share capital (continued)
Authorised
540 000 000 (2009: 540 000 000) ordinary shares of 5 cents each

Issued
Number of shares issued
Balance at beginning of year
Capitalisation issue
Issue for cash

9 970 240

–

Shares issued in terms of share incentive scheme

3 889 939

1 120 842

(27 843 230)

(27 571 595)

(27 571 595)

(27 441 028)

(658 202)

(635 114)

Less: Shares held by subsidiary as treasury shares
Balance at beginning of year
Purchase of shares by subsidiary
Capitalisation issue
Sale of shares by subsidiary to staff in terms of share incentive scheme
Less: Shares held by share purchase scheme
Balance at beginning of year
Capitalisation issue

–

(280 761)

386 567

785 308

(3 295 121)

(3 717 917)

(3 717 917)

(3 820 644)

–

(36 837)

Shares acquired by staff in terms of share incentive scheme

287 074

–

Shares repurchased from staff

135 722

139 564

319 006 395

304 995 055

Net shares in issue

30 000 000 of the unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.
Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.
Statutory reserves
A contingency reserve is maintained at 10% of the net premium income. The reserve can be utilised in the case of a catastrophe,
subject to the approval of the Financial Services Board.
A statutory reserve is maintained by a banking subsidiary to meet the minimum general provision against advances as prescribed by
the Banks Act.
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
The equity-settled share-based payment reserve includes the fair value of the options granted and conditional share awards made,
to executive directors and staff, which have been recognised over the vesting period at fair value with a corresponding expense to
the income statement. The reserve also includes a share-based cost resulting from an empowerment transaction entered into by a
subsidiary.
26. Share-based payments
The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme) grants options and advances loans to employees of the Group to acquire shares in the
Company. Both the share options scheme and share purchase scheme have been classified as equity-settled schemes, and therefore
an equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been recognised.
A conditional share plan, which awards employees a conditional right to receive shares in the Company, free of any cost, is also
operated by the Group. As it is anticipated that the participants will receive shares in settlement of their awards, a share-based payment
reserve has been recognised.
During the year the Company concluded agreements with empowerment partners to facilitate the disposal of an effective interest of
15,46% in its subsidiary, Bidvest Namibia Limited. An equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been recognised in respect of
this transaction by Bidvest Namibia Limited.
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26. Share-based payments (continued)
Share options scheme
The Group elected to account only for the cost of options granted subsequent to November 7 2002 which had not vested
by January 1 2005 in terms of the transitional provisions on conversion to IFRS.
The terms and conditions of the options are:
Option holders are only entitled to exercise their options if they are in the employment of the Group in accordance with the terms
referred to hereafter, unless otherwise recommended by the board of the Company to the trustees of the Bidvest Share Incentive Trust.
Option holders in the Scheme may exercise the options at such times as the option holder deems fit, but not so as to result in the
following proportions of the holder’s total number of instruments being purchased prior to: 50% of total number of instruments at
the expiry of three years; 75% of total number of instruments at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of instruments at
the expiry of five years from the date of the holder’s acceptance of an option. All options must be exercised no later than the tenth
anniversary on which they were granted unless approval is obtained from the trustees.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are:
2009

2010

Number

Average
price
R

Number

Average
price
R

Beginning of the year
Granted
Lapsed
Exercised

8 804 506
63 000
(28 510)
(3 791 939)

51,36
100,00
55,37
47,17

10 770 406
–
(59 750)
(1 906 150)

51,36
–
61,37
46,43

End of the year

5 047 057

55,72

8 804 506

52,18

1 769 920
1 384 350
1 637 537
157 250
35 000
63 000

40,53
50,53
69,18
89,61
112,00
100,00

3 734 184
2 463 906
2 351 416
220 000
35 000

40,00
50,30
69,10
89,74
112,00

5 047 057

55,72

8 804 506

52,18

The options outstanding at June 30 2010 have an exercise
price in the range of R35,03 to R112,00 (2009: R17,55 to
R112,00) and a weighted average contractual life of 1,0 to
8,5 years (2009: 1,0 to 6,5 years). The average share
price of The Bidvest Group Limited during the year was
R123,28 (2009: R97,18).
Share options outstanding at June 30 2010 by year of grant are:
2003 and prior
2004
2005
2006
2008
2010

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model. The contractual life of
the option is used as an input into this model.
The fair value of the shares allotted during the year and the assumptions used were:
2010
Fair value at measurement date (rand)
Exercise price (rand)
Expected volatility (%)
Option life (years)
Distribution yield (%)
Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) (%)

19,01
100,00
31,21
3,25 – 4,25
4,72
7,19

The volatility is based on the historic volatility.
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26. Share-based payments (continued)
Share purchase scheme
In terms of the share purchase scheme, the Scheme advances loans to employees to acquire shares in the Company. Interest is
charged on the loans at interest rates determined by the board of directors of the Company, the loans must be settled no later than
the tenth anniversary on which the shares were allotted and the shares are held by the Scheme as security for the loans.
The employees are entitled to settle the loans at such times as they deem fit, but not so as to result in the following proportions of the
employees’ total number of allotted shares being paid for prior to: 50% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of three years;
75% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of five years
from the date of the holder’s acceptance of the allotted share, unless otherwise determined by the board.
Distributions arising on the allotted shares are utilised to settle any interest or income tax obligations with any excess being applied to
settle the outstanding liability.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of shares allotted in terms of the share purchase scheme are:
2009

2010

Number

Average
price
R

Number

Average
price
R

Beginning of the year
Repurchased
Shares taken up by staff
Capitalisation issue

3 717 917
(135 722)
(287 105)
–

111,03
111,00
112,60
–

3 820 644
(139 564)
–
36 837

109,21
110,47
–
–

End of the year

3 295 090

110,76

3 717 917

111,03

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model. The expected contractual life of the
loan obligation is used as an input into this model.
No shares were allotted during the year.
Conditional share plan
In terms of the conditional share plan scheme, a conditional right to a share is awarded to employees subject to performance and
vesting conditions. The vesting period is as follows: 50% of total number of awards vest at the expiry of three years; 75% of total
number of awards vest at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of allotted awards vest at the expiry of five years from the
date of the holder’s acceptance of the award, unless otherwise determined by the board. These share awards do not carry voting rights
attributable to ordinary shareholders. An additional 3 501 447 (2009: 3 362 846) conditional share awards are available to be granted to
employees in the forthcoming year.
The fair value of services received in return for the conditional share awards has been determined by multiplying the number of
conditional share awards expected to vest, by the share price at the date of the award, discounted by anticipated future distribution
flows. A total number of 670 119 of the 2 785 600 shares are expected to vest, taking into account the performance of the various
operations to date and forecasts to the end of the performance period, against the targets set at the time of the award. The average
discounted share price used in the calculation is R119,81 per share. These awards will vest in the next one to three years.
The number of conditional share awards allotted in terms of the conditional share award scheme are:
2010
Number

2009
Number

Beginning of the year
Allotted during the year
Lapsed during the year

800 000
2 085 600
(100 000)

–
800 000
–

End of the year

2 785 600

800 000

Empowerment transaction
The Monte Carlo simulation method has been used to determine the fair value of the empowerment transaction between the Company
and the empowerment partners in its subsidiary Bidvest Namibia Limited. The following inputs have been used in the determination of
the fair value to be recognised as a result of the transaction: share price at transaction date – NAD7,20; expected volatility – 14,2%;
expected dividend yield – 4,7%; valuation date – June 1 2010 and maturity date – June 30 2014; which has resulted in a charge
against the income statement of R16,9 million.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

20 672

33 478

Gross

25 209

40 557

Reinsurer’s share

(4 537)

(7 079)

(6 938)

(12 806)

(7 826)

(15 347)

888

2 541

13 734

20 672

21 282

25 860

27. Life assurance fund
The assurance fund agrees with the amount of the actuarial value
of liabilities under life insurance policies and contracts at that date.
Net assurance fund at beginning of year

Transfer to income statement
Gross
Reinsurer’s share
Net assurance fund at end of year
28. Borrowings
Loans secured by mortgage bonds over fixed property (refer note 13)
Loans secured by lien over certain property, plant and equipment in terms of
financial leases and suspensive sale agreements (refer note 13)
Unsecured loans
Vehicle lease creditors secured by a pledge of inventories (refer note 22)

40 566

25 388

6 146 670

4 821 432

–

21 878

560 035

417 319

Borrowings

6 768 553

5 311 877

Bank overdrafts

1 233 269

1 972 887

Total borrowings

8 001 822

7 284 764

Short-term portion of borrowings

(4 553 321)

(4 294 532)

Long-term portion of borrowings

3 448 501

2 990 232

Floorplan creditors secured by pledge of inventories (refer note 22)

Schedule of repayment of borrowings
Year to June 2010

2 321 645

Year to June 2011

3 320 052

706 857

Year to June 2012

219 889

62 526

Year to June 2013

568 571

58 190

Year to June 2014

213 061

57 046

Year to June 2015

1 598 922

1 556 837

Year to June 2016

793 600

239 425

Thereafter

54 458

309 351

6 768 553

5 311 877

Total borrowings comprise
Borrowings

6 768 553

5 311 877

Local subsidiaries

4 429 325

3 628 774

Foreign subsidiaries

2 339 228

1 683 103

1 233 269

1 972 887

1 216 775

1 970 574

16 494

2 313

8 001 822

7 284 764

%

%

Local borrowings excluding overdrafts

9,1

9,7

Foreign borrowings excluding overdrafts

2,9

3,0

Overdrafts
Local subsidiaries
Foreign subsidiaries

Effective weighted average rate of interest on
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Carrying
value
R’000

2009
Carrying
value
R’000

4 429 325

3 628 774

2010
Currency

Nominal
interest rate
%

Year of
maturity

28. Borrowings (continued)
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were:
Borrowings of local subsidiaries
Loans secured by lien over certain property, plant
and equipment in terms of financial leases and
suspensive sale agreements

ZAR

5,0 – 10,0

2012 – 2013

127

15 819

Unsecured loans

ZAR

6,0 – 11,0

2011 – 2018

3 869 163

3 173 758

Vehicle lease creditors secured by a pledge of
inventories

ZAR

–

–

–

21 878

Floorplan creditors secured by pledge of inventories

ZAR

8,25 – 10,0

2011

Borrowings of foreign subsidiaries
Loans secured by mortgage bonds over fixed
property

Unsecured loans

Total interest-bearing borrowings
The expected maturity dates are not expected to differ
from the contractual maturity dates.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure.
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417 319
1 683 103

–

26 115

PLN

5,62 – 5,67

2013 – 2016

21 282

–

GBP

5,0

2012 – 2013

24 756

7 147

GBP

Loans secured by lien over certain property,
plant and equipment in terms of financial
leases and suspensive sale agreements

560 035
2 339 228

PLN

5,49

2013

14 739

–

EUR

5,0

2013

616

1 002

Other

5,0 – 12,0

2011 – 2014

328

1 419

EUR

5,0 – 6,0

2011 – 2015

13 062

457 891

USD

1,5 – 1,7

2011

196 434

42 752

HKD

1,1 – 2,27

2011

551 083

543 730

SGD

1,3 – 1,38

2011

479 659

570 220

CZK

3,51 – 4,37

2011 – 2016

974 023

–

NAD

9

2015

62 445

–

AUD

5,7

2011

801

–

NZD

–

32 646

Other

–

181

6 768 553

5 311 877

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

(129 850)

(120 985)

394 527

460 803

Post-retirement medical aid obligations

174 465

182 884

Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan

220 062

277 919

264 677

339 818

1 020

993

29. Post-retirement obligations
Defined benefit pension surplus

Pension and provident funds
The Group provides retirement benefits for its permanent employees through pension funds with
defined benefit and defined contribution categories and defined contribution provident funds or
appropriate industry funds.
There are also a number of small funds within various employers of the Group. All funds are
administered independently of the Group and are subject to the relevant pension fund legislation.
Employer contributions are set out in note 2.
Summarised details of the defined benefit funds
Number of members at June 30

R’000

R’000

Employer contribution

5 036

8 587

Employee contribution

1 041

1 006

Actuarial present value of defined benefit obligations

(444 957)

(468 574)

Fair value of plan assets

709 702

668 804

Surplus in the plans

264 745

200 230

Unrecognised actuarial gains

(54 266)

(47 866)

Surplus in the plans not recognised due to the uncertainties
relating to the apportionment of these surpluses

(71 754)

(22 504)

Total pension fund asset

Limitation of the Bidcorp Group Pension Fund surplus to the extent
it has been allocated to the employer

(8 875)

(8 875)

129 850

120 985

(468 574)

(474 008)

Benefits paid by plans

52 107

31 099

Current service costs

(8 868)

(7 786)

Movement in the liability for defined benefit obligations
Balance at beginning of year

(38 506)

(43 150)

Member contributions

Interest

(1 041)

(1 006)

Actuarial gains (losses)

7 601

4 763

Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans
Balance at end of year

12 324

21 514

(444 957)

(468 574)
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

668 804

728 892

6 077

9 593

Benefits paid by the plans

(52 107)

(31 099)

Expected return on plans’ assets

57 485

72 603

29. Post-retirement obligations (continued)
Movement in the plans’ assets
Balance at beginning of year
Contributions paid into the plans

Actuarial gains (losses)

44 628

(98 448)

Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans

(15 185)

(12 737)

Balance at end of year

709 702

668 804

Cash

131 216

169 662

Equity securities

266 879

237 836

Bonds

232 847

169 892

Property

23 655

36 418

Other

55 105

54 996

709 702

668 804

8 868

7 786

The plans’ assets comprise

Amounts recognised in income statement
Current service costs
Interest on obligations

38 506

43 150

Expected return on plans’ assets

(57 485)

(72 603)

Net actuarial gains (losses) recognised in current year

(45 977)

35 617

Net amounts not recognised in income statement or statement of financial position
of the Group due to the uncertainties relating to the apportionment
of the pension fund surpluses

Actual return on plan assets

25 791

(6 382)

(30 297)

7 568

(24 610)

(15 020)

%

Key actuarial assumptions

%

Expected rate of return on plan assets

5,8 – 9,8

5,8 – 11,3

Discount rate

2,5 – 9,3

3,1 – 10,8

Inflation rate

2,5 – 6,1

2,5 – 8,3

Salary increase rate

4,0 – 6,8

4,0 – 9,0

Pension increase allowance

3,6 – 5,0

4,2 – 5,0

June 30 2010

June 30 2009

Date of valuation
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables.
The expected long-term rate of return is based on the expected rate of returns on the individual
asset categories. The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

2007
R’000

2006
R’000

(372 659)

29. Post-retirement obligations (continued)
The Group expects to pay R10 134 244 in contributions to
defined benefit plans in the year ending June 30 2011.
Historical information
Present value of the defined benefit obligations

(444 957)

(468 574)

(474 008)

(419 090)

Fair value of plans’ assets

709 702

668 804

728 892

653 920

509 327

Surpluses in the plans

264 745

200 230

254 884

234 830

136 668

Experience adjustments arising on plans’
liabilities – losses (gains)

7 601

4 763

(44 057)

11 606

(8 436)

Experience adjustments arising on plans’
assets – losses (gains)

44 628

(98 448)

41 789

57 838

(7 001)

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

182 884

174 649

292

16 985

Post-retirement medical aid obligations
The Group provides post-retirement medical benefit subsidies to certain retired employees and is
responsible for the provision of post-retirement medical benefit subsidies to a limited number of
current employees.
Provision for post-retirement medical aid obligations
Opening provision raised against unfunded obligation
Expense recognised in income statement
Payments charged against provisions
Closing provision raised against unfunded obligation
Actuarially determined present value of total obligation using projected unit credit
valuation method

(8 711)

(8 750)

174 465

182 884

174 465

182 884

%

%

Discount rate

9,3

7,3

Inflation rate (CPI)

5,5

4,4

Healthcare cost inflation

8,0

6,6

Key actuarial assumptions

A change in the medical inflation rates will not have a significant impact on the post-retirement
medical aid costs and relating obligations.
2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

2007
R’000

2006
R’000

Present value of the unfunded obligations

(174 465)

(182 884)

(174 649)

(160 663)

(198 618)

Experience adjustments arising on plans’
liabilities – losses (gains)

1 816

148

(392)

(21 059)

9 470

Historical information

Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan
A subsidiary provides an early retirement plan for its employees. The liability recognised is based
on the actuarial valuation performed as at June 30.
Number of members June 30

2010

2009

539

566

R’000

R’000

177 190

210 715

Total unfunded pension liability
Actuarial present value of defined benefit obligations
Unrecognised actuarial gains

42 872

67 204

220 062

277 919
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Balance at beginning of year

210 715

261 127

Benefits paid by employer

(30 060)

(12 264)

29. Post-retirement obligations (continued)
Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan (continued)
Movement in the liability for unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan

Current service costs
Interest

5 383

9 893

13 001

16 068

Actuarial gains (losses)

10 543

(35 940)

Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans

(32 392)

(28 169)

Balance at end of year

177 190

210 715

5 383

9 893

Amounts recognised in income statement
Current service costs
Interest on obligations

13 001

16 068

Net actuarial gains recognised in current year

(35 351)

(14 052)

(16 967)

11 909

%

%

4,6

6,3

Key actuarial assumptions
Discount rate
Salary increase rate
Date of valuation

2,0

2,0

June 30 2010

June 30 2009

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

2007
R’000

2006
R’000

Historical information
Present value of the unfunded obligations

(177 190)

(210 715)

(261 127)

(183 557)

(186 626)

Experience adjustments arising on plans’
liabilities – losses (gains)

(10 543)

(35 940)

3 283

(29 870)

(5 733)

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

649 897

490 866

430 469

100 334

1 080 366

591 200

30. Banking liabilities
Call deposits
Fixed and notice deposits
All banking liabilities mature within one year
%

%

Call deposits

3,6

6,4

Fixed and notice deposits

7,3

8,2

Effective rates of interest

Banking liabilities other than fixed and notice deposits are at floating interest rates.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Operating lease liabilities

225 787

219 355

Included in trade and other payables

(27 587)

(9 916)

Long-term portion

198 200

209 439

7 183 619

7 220 549

31. Operating leases
The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements in respect of premises.
Leases which have fixed determinable escalations are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis and liabilities are raised for the difference between the actual lease expense and
the charge recognised in the income statement. The liabilities are classified based on the timing of
the reversal which will occur when the actual cash flow exceeds the income statement amounts.

Operating lease commitments
Land and buildings
Due in one year

884 116

833 137

Due after one year but within five years

2 598 564

2 564 826

Due after five years

3 700 939

3 822 586

224 311

284 884

Equipment and vehicles
Due in one year
Due after one year but within five years
Due after five years

Less: Amounts raised as liabilities

61 402

110 060

162 909

174 753

–

71

7 407 930

7 505 433

(225 787)

(219 355)

7 182 143

7 286 078

10 626 644

9 849 027

406 300

538 827

8 666

67 548

32. Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Floorplan creditors
Forward exchange contracts liability
Other payables and accrued expenses

3 990 747

4 115 314

15 032 357

14 570 716

The majority of trade and other payables are fixed in the subsidiaries’ local currency. Since trade
and other payables have limited exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, a currency analysis has
not been included.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure.
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Short-term portion

251 635

297 080

Long-term portion

235 253

218 972

486 888

516 052

33. Provisions

Balance at June 30 2008

Onerous
contracts
R’000

Insurance
liabilities
R’000

Dismantling
and site
restoration
R’000

Customer
loyalty
programme
R’000

Other
R’000

Total
R’000

86 574

186 915

140 881

25 880

68 299

508 549

Created

145 753

16 547

11 047

19 007

138 228

330 582

Utilised

(77 078)

(1 484)

(2 374)

(18 153)

(178 180)

(277 269)

Exchange rate adjustments
Balance at June 30 2009

(20 285)

–

(18 072)

(4 719)

(2 734)

(45 810)

134 964

201 978

131 482

22 015

25 613

516 052

Created

39 597

295 448

4 893

26 434

185 292

551 664

Utilised

(75 085)

(307 063)

(13 103)

(17 907)

(145 236)

(558 394)

Net acquisition of businesses

–

541

–

247

788

Exchange rate adjustments

(10 942)

–

–

(11 629)

545

(1 196)

(23 222)

Balance at June 30 2010

88 534

190 363

112 184

31 087

64 720

486 888

Onerous contracts
Onerous contracts are identified through regular reviews of the terms and conditions of contracts as well as on acquisition of
businesses. A provision for onerous contracts is calculated as the present value of the portion which management deem to be onerous
in light of the current market conditions, discounted using market-related rates. An annual expense is recognised over the life of the
contracts.
Insurance liabilities
Insurance liabilities include unearned premiums that represent that part of the current year’s premiums that relate to risk periods that
extend to the following year; claims are calculated on the settlement amount outstanding at year-end; and claims incurred but not
reported are maintained at 7% of net premium income, for claims arising from events that occurred before the close of the accounting
period, but which had not been reported to the Group by that date.
Provision for cost of dismantling and restoration of site
A provision is raised for the estimated costs of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located. The
change in the liability arising as a result of unwinding the discount is recognised in the income statement as a finance charge. The
dismantling of the plant and recommissioning of buildings is expected to coincide with the end of the useful life of the plant and lease
periods.
Customer loyalty programme
This is a customer loyalty programme introduced by certain operations within the Group, whereby customers can earn points for
redemption in the form of gift certificates and products of the operations. The provision is calculated based on the points outstanding
at year-end.
Other
Consists of various individually insignificant provisions.
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34.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Contracted for

506 384

745 704

Not contracted for

247 226

252 231

753 610

997 935

117 295

162 815

Commitments
Capital expenditure approved

Capital expenditure amounting to R673,8 million (2009: R930,2 million) is in respect of property,
plant and equipment and the remaining balance is in respect of computer software.
It is anticipated that capital expenditure will be financed out of existing cash resources.
35.

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees issued in respect of obligations of associates and investments

The Group has outstanding legal and other claims arising out of its normal ongoing operating activities which have to be resolved.
None of these claims is significant.
The Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (Dinatla) refinancing arrangements was concluded in November 2006. In terms of
this arrangement, Bidvest granted Dinatla the right to require Bidvest to purchase 15 million Bidvest shares from Dinatla at R75 per
Bidvest share if the 10-day volume weighted average price per Bidvest share is equal to or less than R75 per Bidvest share (“the
put option”). The put option expires on the earlier of the date on which Dinatla discharges all of its obligations under its funding
arrangements in full or on March 30 2012.
Refer note 36 for further disclosure in respect of guarantees.
36.

Financial instruments

36.1

Risk management overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk; interest rate risk; foreign
currency risk and market price risk.
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the aforementioned risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. IFRS 7 requires certain disclosures by class of
instrument. The Group has determined that its classes of instruments would be the segments as disclosed in the segmental report.
The Group’s major financial risks are mitigated in the way that it operates firstly through diversification of industry and geography and
secondly through decentralisation. Bidvest is an international group with operations in South Africa, United Kingdom, Europe, Far
East, Australia, New Zealand, Namibia and various other southern African countries. The Group also comprises a variety of businesses
within the services, trading and distribution industries. As a result of this diversification in terms of industry and geographical location,
the Group is exposed to a range of financial risks, each managed in appropriate ways. However the impact of any one particular
financial risk within any of these geographies or industries, is not considered to be material to the consolidated Group.
The Group’s philosophy has always been to empower management through a decentralised structure thereby making them
responsible for the management and performance of their operations, including managing the financial risks of the operation.
The operational management report to divisional management who in turn report to the Group’s board of directors. The divisional
management are also held responsible for managing financial risks of the operations within the divisions. Operational management’s
remuneration is based on their operation’s performance and divisional management based on their division’s performance resulting
in a decentralised and entrepreneurial environment.
Due to the diverse structure and decentralised management of the Group, the Group risk management committee (“the Group risk
committee”) has implemented guidelines of acceptable practices and basic procedures to be followed by divisional and operational
management. There is no formal Group policy regarding the management of financial risks. The information provided below for each
financial risk has been collated for disclosure based on the manner in which the business is managed and what is believed to be
useful information for shareholders.
The Group has small operations trading in the banking, short-term insurance and life insurance industries (included in the Bidserv
and Bidauto segments). These operations are exposed to financial risks which are unique to these industries and differ significantly
to the remainder of the Group’s operations operating within the services, trading and distribution sectors. Whilst the financial
risks to which these particular operations are exposed could have a significant effect on the individual operations, they
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.1

Risk management overview (continued)
would not have a significant impact on the Group. For this reason, the information provided below mainly provides qualitative and
quantitative information regarding the management and exposure to financial risks to which the trading operations of the Group
are exposed based on what is believed to be useful to shareholders. Bidvest Bank Limited is a public company for which financial
statements are prepared including detailed disclosure in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7.
The total process of risk management in the Bidvest Group, which includes the related system of control, is the responsibility of
the board of directors. The Group risk committee has been constituted as a subcommittee of the Group board of directors in the
discharge of its duties and responsibilities in this regard. The risk committee has a charter and reports regularly to the board of
directors on its activities.
The primary purposes of the Group risk committee are to:
– establish and maintain a common understanding of the risk universe (framework), which needs to be addressed in order to meet
Bidvest Corporate objectives;
– identify the risk profile and agree the risk appetite of the Group;
– satisfy the risk management reporting requirements;
– coordinate the Group’s risk management and assurance efforts;
– report to the board of directors on the risk management work undertaken and the extent of any action taken by management
to address areas identified for improvement; and
– report to the board of directors on the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations.
The Group risk committee has documented a formal policy framework in order to achieve the following:
– place accountability on management for designing, implementing and monitoring the process of risk management;
– place responsibility on management for integrating the risk management process into the day-to-day activities and operations
of the Group; and
– ensure that the risk strategy is communicated to all stakeholders so that it may be incorporated into the culture of the Group.
The Bidvest Group has, due to the diversity of its operations in nature and geography, determined that it would be better to develop
an in-house strategy, as opposed to adopting a recognised strategy and forcing its operations to adapt to the constraints of the
strategy selected. The Group has determined that utilising a common framework for the identification of risk would assist the divisions
to reduce the implementation time and cost and would give some assurance that all inherent risks have been considered. The
Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and Group activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and responsibilities.
To assist the Group risk committee in discharging its responsibilities, it has:
– assigned risk management responsibilities to divisional/operational risk committees; and
– determined that each division should appoint risk/compliance officers on a divisional (operational) level as nominated by the
divisional risk committees. The role of the risk officer is to develop, communicate, coordinate and monitor the enterprise-wide risk
management.
Through the divisional risk committees, each division has a forum for the discussion and identification of risks relevant to the
particular division. Only risk matters that affect the Group as a whole are escalated to the Group risk committee. The minutes of the
divisional risk committees are submitted to the Group risk committee. The Group risk committee is authorised to attend the divisional
risk committee meetings, or the segment of the divisional audit committee dealing with risk management if a separate committee has
not been established, and to provide guidance to and coordinate the efforts of these committees in providing the Group adequate
risk management.
The Group audit committee supports and endorses the establishment of the Group risk committee. The Group risk committee has a
responsibility to monitor and review the risk management strategy of the Group and the Group audit committee assists in fulfilling this
responsibility.
Each division has its own audit committee, which subscribes to the same Group audit committee philosophies and practices. The
divisional audit committees report to both the divisional board and the Group audit committee. The Group audit committee reviews the
divisional audit committee reports. The divisional audit committees oversee how divisional management monitors compliance with the
Group’s policies and guidelines in respect of the financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the management of financial
risks, the audit process (both internal and external) and code of business conduct. The divisional audit committees are assisted in their
oversight role by the Group’s internal audit department. Divisional internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of financial
and operational risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the divisional audit committee.

182

36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, banking advances, investments and guarantees.
The Group risk committee with the assistance of internal audit has implemented a “Delegation of authority matrix” which provides
guidelines by division, as to the level of authorisation required for various transactions.
Except as detailed below in respect of guarantees issued, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk after taking account
of the value of any collateral obtained. The carrying values, net of impairment allowances, amount to R9 617,3 million
(2009: R9 628,9 million) for trade receivables (refer note 23), R629,1 million (2009: R612,0 million) for banking and other advances
(refer note 20), and R1 157,2 million (2009: R908,9 million) for investments (refer note 19).
The impairment allowance account in respect of trade receivables and banking advances are used to record impairment losses
unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point, the amount which is considered
irrecoverable is written off against the financial assets directly.
Impairments of investments classified as available-for-sale or held-for-trading are written off against the investment directly and an
impairment allowance account is not utilised.
The Group has a general credit policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. In accordance with the decentralised structure, the
operational management, under the guidance of the divisional management, are responsible for implementation of policies to
meet the above objective. This includes credit policies under which new customers are analysed for creditworthiness before the
operation’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered, determining whether collateral is required, and if so
the type of collateral to be obtained, and setting of credit limits for individual customers based on their references and credit ratings.
Operational management are also held responsible for monitoring the operations’ credit exposure.

36.2.1 Trade receivables
Refer note 23 for further disclosure.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing
credit evaluation is performed by the operational management on the financial condition of the operation’s customers.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having
similar characteristics. The largest 10 trade debtors based on the turnover derived from these trade debtors was reported by
class. On compilation of the information, it was noted that the Group’s exposure to any one specific trade debtor is limited.
The total number of debtors per reporting division was obtained and the average turnover per trade debtor was calculated for
each reporting division. Based on the average turnover per trade debtor in comparison to the Group’s total turnover for the
year, there was no significant concentration of credit risk to any single trade debtor. The concentration of credit risk is therefore
limited due to the customer base being large and independent.
Each operation establishes an impairment allowance that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and
other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant
exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been
incurred but not yet identified.
As a result of the decentralised structure, operational management have the responsibility of determining the impairment
allowance in respect of trade receivables. The operations average credit period depend on the type of industry in which they
operate as well as the creditworthiness of their customers. The majority of the customers are given credit terms ranging from
cash on delivery to 60 days from statement. The largest impairment raised for a specific trade receivable was obtained for
each reporting operation and calculated as a percentage of the Group’s total impairment allowance at year-end and it was
determined that the percentage did not exceed 2,0% (2009: 2,0%) of the total allowance raised.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk (continued)

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

389 935
242 413
22 458
17 542

354 104
256 555
6 999
11 434

44 278
37 981
16 357
47 193
4 564
47 596
4 083
361

44 492
67 719
21 754
48 165
3 439
48 715
–
3 838

(142 567)
(2 314)
(5 870)

(82 095)
(1 158)
(15 507)

(53 303)
(22 328)
(20 000)
(24 944)
(2 316)
(8 624)
(1 913)
(955)

(4 388)
(21 457)
(5 248)
(24 381)
(1 564)
(5 781)
(2 611)
–

13 145
–
3 202

(4 314)
284
(188)

19 967
–
–
(10 024)
–
–

(5 227)
1 100
409
–
60
(752)

(61 319)
(1 032)
(5 144)

(104 498)
(1 672)
(5 349)

5 973
(10 791)
(4 471)
(19 619)
(4 206)
(19 925)
(2 104)
–
(14 759)
426 848

(24 250)
(20 341)
(6 310)
(21 743)
(754)
(24 328)
527
(278)
(29 817)
389 935

36.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)
Movement in impairment allowance in respect of trade receivables
Balance at July 1
Allowance raised during the year
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
Allowance utilised during the year
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
Net acquisition of businesses and inter-class transfers
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
Impairment recovered (written off) against trade receivables
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
Exchange rate adjustments
Balance at June 30
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk (continued)

36.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)
Ageing of trade receivables at June 30
Gross trade
receivables
R’000

2010
Impairment
allowance
R’000

Net trade
receivables
R’000

Gross trade
receivables
R’000

2009
Impairment
allowance
R’000

Net trade
receivables
R’000

Not past due
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate

7 489 164
1 078 209
618 668

(24 724)
(713)
(4 861)

7 464 440
1 077 496
613 807

7 405 203
915 931
548 611

(12 342)
(304)
(2 522)

7 392 861
915 627
546 089

2 407 262
1 154 697
602 103
902 436
173 184
396 389
122 590
33 626

(6 539)
(4 484)
(168)
(14)
–
(7 899)
(46)
–

2 400 723
1 150 213
601 935
902 422
173 184
388 490
122 544
33 626

2 789 111
1 073 488
519 324
770 800
213 704
410 347
127 873
36 014

(3 128)
(3 502)
(20)
(10)
–
(2 772)
(84)
–

2 785 983
1 069 986
519 304
770 790
213 704
407 575
127 789
36 014

Past due
0 – 30 days
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
31 – 180 days
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
181 + days
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate

2 555 014
1 496 615
70 475
284 579

(402 124)
(29 061)
(9 821)
(1 314)

2 152 890
1 467 554
60 654
283 265

2 613 638
1 505 004
58 755
279 604

(377 593)
(34 914)
(15 176)
(1 000)

2 236 045
1 470 090
43 579
278 604

186 716
507 544
46 008
217 432
51 341
100 499
19 015
13 006
758 648
31 309
80 460

(753)
(5 199)
(230)
(594)
–
(10 447)
(703)
–
(196 565)
(6 526)
(13 255)

185 963
502 345
45 778
216 838
51 341
90 052
18 312
13 006
562 083
24 783
67 205

128 788
421 228
80 994
311 783
44 980
145 454
15 783
17 635
874 514
37 053
86 526

(524)
(6 855)
–
(467)
(133)
(10 632)
(127)
–
(184 232)
(13 885)
(4 990)

128 264
414 373
80 994
311 316
44 847
134 822
15 656
17 635
690 282
23 168
81 536

75 312
213 394
54 352
191 745
17 982
78 170
10 377
5 547
299 751
43 141
17 348

(39 497)
(40 192)
(24 994)
(35 357)
(2 982)
(27 925)
(4 849)
(988)
(176 498)
(31 510)
(6 018)

35 815
173 202
29 358
156 388
15 000
50 245
5 528
4 559
123 253
11 631
11 330

111 274
147 184
120 070
224 629
8 373
106 455
18 872
14 078
234 120
6 730
23 128

(31 660)
(28 532)
(35 706)
(38 051)
(4 720)
(20 300)
(4 631)
(1 757)
(158 447)
(400)
(7 270)

79 614
118 652
84 364
186 578
3 653
86 155
14 241
12 321
75 673
6 330
15 858

67 903
50 939
3 662
76 859
326
35 106
4 099
368

(62 398)
(36 170)
(3 263)
(26 915)
(326)
(7 183)
(2 715)
–

5 505
14 769
399
49 944
–
27 923
1 384
368

78 035
40 372
1 209
52 551
454
25 681
3 947
2 013

(72 990)
(40 143)
(1 046)
(22 013)
(454)
(10 727)
(3 404)
–

5 045
229
163
30 538
–
14 954
543
2 013

10 044 178

(426 848)

9 617 330

10 018 841

(389 935)

9 628 906

Total
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk (continued)

36.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)
Collateral held on past due amounts
2009

2010

Fair value of
collateral held
R’000

Trade
receivables
net of
impairment
allowance
R’000

Fair value of
collateral held
R’000

Trade
receivables
net of
impairment
allowance
R’000

*

63 712

*

79 622

Personal surety
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
Cover by credit insurance
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Pledge of assets
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial
Bidvest Automotive
Other
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Total

5 218
–

5 385
1 259

12 963
–
37 864
5 821
1 596
250

–
–
52 654
17 682
1 805
837

252 369

257 298

268 914

330 757

5 564

5 564

6 776

6 776

27 218
49 587
1 387
168 613
—
—

27 218
49 587
1 387
173 542
–
–

–
53 864
15 058
190 325
2 853
38

–
53 864
17 715
249 501
2 853
48

19 019

19 019

31 275

31 275

16 226

16 226

25 345

25 345

1 921
469
403

1 921
469
403

5 500
17
413

5 500
17
413

15 333

15 333

36 595

31 211

–

–

16 773

11 389

–
15 241
92

–
15 241
92

186
14 339
5 297

186
14 339
5 297

286 721

355 362

336 784

472 865

*An accurate fair value cannot be attached to personal surety.

In certain instances the Group’s operations reserve the right to collect inventory sold when the outstanding debt is not settled
by the customer. Where it is the business of the operation to finance assets, the assets are held as collateral in respect of the
outstanding debt. The collateral detailed above is in addition to these aforementioned measures taken to reduce credit risk in
respect of trade receivables.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk (continued)

36.2.2 Banking and other advances
Refer note 20 for further disclosure.
The impairment allowance account comprises a specific and general impairment allowance. Specific impairments are raised for
doubtful advances, including amounts in respect of interest not being serviced and after taking security values into account, and
are deducted from advances where the outstanding balance exceeds the value of the security held. A general impairment allowance
based on historic experience is raised to cover doubtful advances, which may not be specifically identified at the statement of
financial position date. The specific and general impairments made during the year are charged to the income statement.
Since the leasing and fleet management operations are now managed by the Bidvest Services division, the banking advances for
the prior year have been included under the Bidvest Services division.
Movement in impairment allowance in respect of banking and other advances
2010
R’000

2009
R’000

7 072

8 630

Bidvest Services
Balance at July 1
Allowance raised during the year

18 057

2 277

Allowance utilised during the year

(1 587)

(2 080)

(965)

(1 755)

22 577

7 072

Impairment written off against banking and other advances
Balance at June 30
Ageing of banking and other advances at June 30

2009

2010

Not past due
Past due
0 – 30 days
31 – 180 days
181 + days
Total

Impairment
allowance
R’000

Net
banking
and other
advances
R’000

Gross
banking
and other
advances
R’000

Impairment
allowance
R’000

Net
banking
and other
advances
R’000

644 631

(22 478)

622 153

563

(99)

464

616 240

(5 368)

610 872

2 856

(1 704)

71

–

1 152

71

655

(327)

492

328

(99)

393

41

(41)

–

–

–

–

2 160

(1 336)

824

645 194

(22 577)

622 617

619 096

(7 072)

612 024

Gross
banking
and other
advances
R’000
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.2

Credit risk (continued)

36.2.2 Banking and other advances (continued)
Collateral held on past due amounts
2009

2010

Fair value of
collateral held
R’000
Personal surety

Banking
and other
advances net
of impairment
allowance
R’000

Fair value of
collateral held
R’000

Banking
and other
advances net
of impairment
allowance
R’000

*

–

*

301

Pledge of assets

431

431

327

26

Total

431

431

327

327

*An accurate fair value cannot be attached to personal surety.

36.2.3 Investments
Refer note 19 for further disclosure.
The classes for investments are listed held-for-trading, unlisted held-for-trading, listed available-for-sale and unlisted available-forsale, refer note 19 for the carrying amounts for each of these categories.
There were no impairment losses recognised in respect of investments (2009: Nil).
36.2.4 Guarantees
Over and above the guarantees issued to subsidiaries of the Group, the Group has provided guarantees for fixed amounts in respect
of obligations to associates and investments.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of guarantees at the reporting date was as follows:
2010
R’000

36.3

2009
R’000

Guarantees issued in respect of obligations of associates

56 000

56 000

Guarantees issued in respect of obligations of investments

61 295

106 815

117 295

162 815

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages its borrowings centrally for each of the following countries and regions: South Africa, United Kingdom and
continental Europe and Asia Pacific. The divisions within each region are therefore not responsible for the management of liquidity
risk but rather senior management for each of these regions is responsible for implementing procedures to manage the regional
liquidity risk.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.3

Liquidity risk (continued)

36.3.1 Contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements
Undiscounted contractual cash flows
Carrying
amount
R’000

Total
R’000

6 months
or less
R’000

6 – 12
months
R’000

1–2
years
R’000

2 – 5 More than
years
5 years
R’000
R’000

21 282

21 421

2 854

2 830

5 657

8 756

1 324

40 566
6 146 670

58 899
7 163 565

6 525
2 792 823

8 518
214 762

10 175
427 287

19 627
3 031 302

14 054
697 391

560 035
1 233 269
8 001 822

560 035
1 233 269
9 037 189

560 035
–
3 362 237

–
1 233 269
1 459 379

–
–
443 119

–
–
3 059 685

–
–
712 769

2010
Total borrowings (refer note 28)
Loans secured by mortgage bonds
over fixed property
Loans secured by lien over certain
property, plant and equipment
in terms of financial leases and
suspensive sale agreements
Unsecured loans
Floorplan creditors secured by
pledge of inventories
Bank overdrafts
Trade and other payables (refer note 32)
Trade and other payable (excluding
forward exchange contracts)
Banking liabilities (refer note 30)
Call deposits
Fixed and notice deposits

15 023 691 15 024 223 15 024 223

–

–

–

–

15 023 691 15 024 223 15 024 223

–

–

–

–

649 897
430 469
1 080 366

649 897
430 469
1 080 366

649 897
408 103
1 058 000

–
22 366
22 366

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

25 860

25 860

754

754

1 636

5 478

17 238

25 388
4 821 432

25 388
6 143 328

6 504
1 603 788

6 463
664 745

8 985
890 498

3 436
783 420

2 200 877

21 878

21 878

10 939

10 939

–

–

–

417 319
1 972 887
7 284 764

417 319
1 972 887
8 606 660

417 319
–
2 039 304

–
1 972 887
2 655 788

–
–
901 119

–
–
792 334

–
–
2 218 115

2009
Borrowings
Loans secured by mortgage bonds
over fixed property
Loans secured by lien over certain
property, plant and equipment
in terms of financial leases and
suspensive sale agreements
Unsecured loans
Vehicle lease creditors secured by
a pledge of inventories
Floorplan creditors secured by
pledge of inventories
Bank overdrafts
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payable (excluding
forward exchange contracts)
Banking liabilities (refer note 30)
Call deposits
Fixed and notice deposits

14 503 168 14 503 045 14 352 371
14 503 168 14 503 045 14 352 371

141 960
141 960

8 714
8 714

–
–

–
–

490 866
100 334

490 866
100 334

490 866
85 667

–
14 445

–
222

–
–

–
–

591 200

591 200

576 533

14 445

222

–

–

The expected maturity of financial liabilities is not expected to differ from the contractual maturities as disclosed above.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.3

Liquidity risk (continued)

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

1 695 036
682 503
6 269 245
3 848 396
1 850 487
570 362
872 284
210 233
617 476
233 008
46 859
10 626 644

1 423 797
573 060
5 777 980
3 535 642
1 734 741
507 597
885 449
230 462
694 575
206 432
57 272
9 849 027

1 229 760
10 289 044
11 518 804

1 969 124
9 420 996
11 390 120

3 509
1 380
4 889

3 763
1 469
5 232

6 146 670
3 937 903
10 084 573

4 821 432
4 409 983
9 231 415

621 883
–
621 883

490 445
–
490 445

8 001 822
14 228 327

7 284 764
13 832 448

22 230 149

21 117 212

36.3.2 Trade and other payables by class
Refer note 32 for further disclosure.
Trade payables
Bidvest Freight
Bidvest Services
Bidvest Foodservice
Europe
Asia Pacific
Southern Africa
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial Products
Bidvest Paper Plus
Bidvest Automotive
Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Corporate
36.3.3 Undrawn facilities
The Group has the following undrawn facilities at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk:
Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable on 364 days’ notice
utilised
unutilised
Secured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable on call
utilised
unutilised
Unsecured loan facilities with various maturity dates through to 2017 and which may be
extended by mutual agreement
utilised
unutilised
Secured loan facilities with various maturity dates through to 2023 and which may be
extended by mutual agreement
utilised
unutilised
Total facilities
utilised
unutilised
36.4

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

36.4.1 Currency risk
The Group’s financial instruments are not exposed to currency risk for the reasons provided below. A sensitivity analysis has therefore
not been performed.
Borrowings are matched to the same foreign currency as the division raising the loan thereby limiting the divisions’ exposure to
changes in a foreign currency which differs to their functional currency. Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match
the cash flows generated by the underlying divisions of the Group thereby providing an economic hedge for each class of borrowing.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.4

Market risk (continued)

36.4.1 Currency risk (continued)
Banking advances (refer note 20), banking liabilities (refer note 30) and investments (refer note 19) are all fixed in the same foreign
currency as the operation in which it is held, thus these financial instruments are not exposed to currency risk.
The Group incurs currency risk as a result of purchases and sales which are denominated in a currency other than the Group entities’
functional reporting currency. It is Group policy that Group entities hedge all trade receivables and trade payables denominated in
a foreign currency which differs to its functional currency. At any point in time the entities also take out economic hedges over their
estimated foreign currency exposure resulting from sales and purchases. The Group entities hedge their foreign currency risk exposure
either by taking out forward exchange contracts (FECs) or alternatively by purchasing in advance the foreign currency, which will be
required to settle the trade payables. Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year after the statement
of financial position date. Where necessary, the forward exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity. It is the Group’s policy not to
trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes with the exception of Bidvest Bank Limited whose business is to trade
in derivatives.
Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
(in relation to the operations’ functional currency) and for which no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the income
statement. Both the changes in fair value of the forward exchange contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating
to the monetary items are recognised in operating profit (refer note 2).
The periods in which the cash flows associated with the forward exchange contracts are expected to occur are detailed below under
the heading “Settlement”. The periods in which the cash flows are expected to impact the income statement are believed to be in the
same timeframe as when the actual cash flows occur.

Settlement
2010
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to foreign liabilities as at June 30 2010
Japanese yen
US dollar
Euro
Sterling
AUD
Other
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to foreign assets as at June 30 2010
Japanese yen
US dollar
Euro
Sterling
AUD
Other
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to goods and services ordered not accounted for
as June 30 2010
Japanese yen
US dollar
Euro
Sterling
CHF
AUD
Other

Contract value
Foreign amount
Rand amount
000’s
000’s

July 2010 to September 2010
July 2010 to December 2010
July 2010 to November 2010
July 2010 to September 2010
July 2010 to January 2010
July 2010 to September 2010

(1 850 220)
(33 598)
(6 309)
(325)
(1 586)
(738)

(156 971)
(256 261)
(61 679)
(3 723)
(10 655)
(1 162)

July 2010 to August 2010
July 2010 to October 2010
July 2010 to September 2010
July 2010 to August 2010
July 2010 to August 2010
July 2010 to August 2010
July 2010 to September 2010

20 242
3 468
1 547
239
1 016
175
1 194

1 704
26 565
14 752
2 708
999
1 205
2 824

(666 229)
(67 835)
(2 227)
(143)
(597)
(1 332)
(163)

(57 873)
(516 607)
(21 308)
(1 623)
(4 040)
(9 074)
(164)

July 2010 to December 2010
July 2010 to March 2012
July 2010 to February 2011
September 2010 to December 2010
July 2010 to August 2010
July 2010 to October 2010
September 2010
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.4

Market risk (continued)

36.4.1 Currency risk (continued)

Settlement
2009
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to foreign liabilities as at June 30 2009
Japanese yen
US dollar
Euro
Sterling
Other
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to foreign assets as at June 30 2009
US dollar
AUD
In respect of forward exchange contracts relating
to goods and services ordered not accounted for
as at June 30 2009
Japanese yen
US dollar
Euro
Sterling
Other

July 2009 to September 2009
July 2009 to October 2009
July 2009 to November 2009
July 2009 to October 2009
July 2009 to October 2009

July 2009 to October 2009
July 2009 to August 2009

August 2009 to September 2009
July 2009 to April 2009
July 2009 to December 2009
July 2009
July 2009 to December 2009

Contract value
Foreign amount
Rand amount
000’s
000’s

(1 658 706)
(41 812)
(8 838)
(198)
(1 483)

(138 161)
(345 030)
(99 256)
(2 646)
(8 222)

5 295
428

43 586
2 759

(577 796)
(60 446)
(34 499)
(133)
(486)

(47 467)
(454 705)
(378 849)
(1 703)
(3 132)

The total value of trade receivables and trade payables whose payment terms are fixed in a foreign currency other than its operational
currency are R365,0 million (2009: R368,6 million) and R1 055,4 million (2009: R206,6 million), respectively.
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36.

Financial instruments (continued)

36.4

Market risk (continued)

36.4.2 Interest rate risk
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that its borrowings are at market-related rates to address its interest rate risk. The Group’s
investments in listed bonds, accounted for as available-for-sale and held-for-trading financial assets and banking advances and
liabilities are exposed to a risk of change in fair value due to movements in interest rates. Investments in equity securities accounted
for as held-for-trading financial assets and trade receivables and payables are not exposed to interest rate risk.
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Available-for-sale listed bonds

37 949

43 607

Banking and other advances

19 749

–

(3 834 232)

(3 309 661)

(51 636)

(88 924)

(3 828 170)

(3 354 978)

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Banking liabilities
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Other investments

44 802

55 228

4 138 722

3 212 425

625 445

619 096

Borrowings

(2 374 286)

(2 002 216)

Banking liabilities

(1 028 731)

(502 276)

Overdrafts

(1 233 269)

(1 972 887)

172 683

(590 630)

Cash and cash equivalents
Banking and other advances
Financial liabilities

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and liabilities are detailed in the various notes within the financial statements.
The variable rates are influenced by movements in the prime borrowing rates.
Sensitivity analyses
The effect of a change in interest rate on the fair value of the listed bonds accounted for as held-for-trading and available-for-sale is
not believed to have a significant effect on the Group’s profit for the period and equity.
Group borrowings have been categorised by geographical location and the percentage change used for each category has
been selected based on what could reasonably be expected as a change in interest rates within that region based on historical
movements in interest rates within that particular region. This sensitivity analysis has been prepared using the average borrowings for
the financial year as the actual borrowings at June 30 are not representative of the borrowings during the year. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analyses are performed on the same basis for 2009.
A decrease in interest rates would have an equal and opposite effect on profit after taxation as detailed below.
2009

2010

Variable rate borrowings including overdrafts
Southern Africa
United Kingdom and continental Europe
Asia Pacific

Increase in
interest rates
%

Decrease in
profit after
taxation
R’000

Increase in
interest rates
%

Decrease in
profit after
taxation
R’000

0,50
0,25
0,25

15 553
6 156
4 421

0,50
0,25
0,25

13 212
2 790
4 516

26 130

20 518
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Financial instruments (continued)

36.4

Market risk (continued)

36.4.3 Market price risk
Equity price risk arises from investments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale (refer note 19). Available-for-sale financial
assets comprise listed bonds held by the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary Bidvest Bank Limited. Held-for-trading investments comprise
a listed share portfolio whose performance is monitored closely by senior management and the Group actively trades in these shares. The
Group’s subsidiaries McSure Limited and McLife Assurance Company Limited hold investment portfolios with a fair value of R225,0 million
(2009: R181,8 million) and R141,4 million (2009: R120,1 million), respectively for the purpose of being utilised to cover liabilities arising
under the life assurance fund. These portfolios comprise domestic equity investments and international equity and money market funds.
Unlisted investments comprise unlisted shares and loans which are classified as held-for-trading and are valued at fair value using a price
earnings (PE) model.
36.5

Fair values
The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value with the exception of borrowings (which have been
accounted for at amortised cost and certain investments where fair value cannot be determined). The fair value of borrowings,
together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position, classified by class (being geographical location),
are as follows:
2009

2010
Carrying
amount
R’000
5 725 435

Fair value
R’000

Carrying
amount
R’000

Fair value
R’000

5 650 699

5 600 767

5 555 716

Borrowings (refer note 28)
Southern Africa
Loans secured by lien over certain property,
plant and equipment in terms of financial
leases and suspensive sale agreements
Unsecured loans
Vehicle lease creditors secured by a pledge
of inventories
Floorplan creditors secured by pledge
of inventories
Bank overdrafts

523

523

17 238

17 239

3 931 608

3 856 872

3 173 758

3 128 706

–

–

21 878

21 878

560 035

560 035

417 319

417 319

1 233 269

1 233 269

1 970 574

1 970 574

1 048 410

1 048 410

492 082

492 082

Loans secured by mortgage bonds over
fixed property

21 282

21 282

25 860

25 860

Loans secured by lien over certain property,
plant and equipment in terms of financial
leases and suspensive sale agreements

40 043

40 043

8 150

8 150

987 085

987 085

458 072

458 072

–

–

–

–

1 227 926

1 227 976

1 191 915

1 199 104

1 227 976

1 227 976

1 189 602

1 196 791

–

–

2 313

2 313

8 001 821

7 927 085

7 284 764

7 246 902

Europe

Unsecured loans
Bank overdrafts
Asia Pacific
Unsecured loans
Bank overdrafts

Unrecognised gain

74 736

37 864

The methods used to estimate the fair values of financial instruments are discussed in note 40.
The interest rates used to discount cash flows, in order to determine fair values, are based on market-related rates at June 30 2010 plus
an adequate constant credit spread, and range from 1,1% to 18% (2009: 0,5% to 21%).
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37. Capital management
The board of directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, supplier and market confidence whilst also being
able to sustain future development of the businesses. The board of directors monitors both the demographic spread of shareholders, as well
as the return on capital, which the Group defines as total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests and the level of distributions to
ordinary shareholders. The Group’s objective is to maintain a distribution cover of approximately two and a half times headline earnings for the
foreseeable future. The methods of distribution include dividends, return of share premium, capitalisation issues as well as share buybacks
in lieu of distributions. The level of cover of distributions takes into account prevailing market conditions, future cash requirements of the
businesses, Group liquidity requirements, as well as capital adequacy ratios.
The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of gearing and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound equity position. The Group’s target is to achieve a return on shareholders’ interest of
between 25% and 30%. In 2010 the return was 24,0% (2009: 20,8%). Refer to page 14 of the annual report for the historical return
on total shareholders’ interest since 2000.
In the early days of the Group, acquisition activity was generally funded via the raising of equity capital however over the past five years,
far more favourable credit markets have enabled the use of debt as a more effective tool of capital. The current credit markets have
fundamentally changed, increasing the cost of debt in the weighted average cost of capital for the Group thereby enabling a potential
return to tapping the equity markets to fund future growth.
From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market, the timing of these purchases depends on market prices.
Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 26). The maximum
number of share options which can be issued to employees under the Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme is limited to 10% of the issued
share capital. The Group does not have a defined share buyback plan. A specific buyback transaction was completed during the 2009
financial year in lieu of an interim distribution. These shares are currently held as treasury shares.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
Neither the Company nor any if its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Group has principally a target
debt/equity ratio of 40%, however in a trading and services business, the debt/equity ratio is a poor measure of the funding capacity of the
Group. In order to ensure a more reflective measure of debt capacity is utilised, the Group has adopted an interest cover target of between
five to six times. Interest cover for the year to June 30 2010 was seven times (2009: five times).
38. Related parties
Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Key management personnel has been
defined as the executive and non-executive directors of the Company. The definition of key management includes the close members of
family of key management personnel and any other entity over which key management exercises control. Close members of family are
those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that individual in their dealings with the Group. They may
include the individual’s domestic partner and children, the children of the individual’s domestic partner, and dependants of the individual
or the individual’s domestic partner.
Transactions with key management personnel
Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives beneficially control 2% (2009: 2%) of the voting shares of the Company.
Independent non-executive directors do not participate in the Group’s share option, share purchase schemes or conditional share
awards.
Details pertaining to executive directors’ compensations are set out in the directors’ report. Directors’ remuneration is included in
note 2.
The Group encourages its employees to purchase goods and services from Group companies. These transactions are generally
conducted on terms no more favourable than those entered into with third parties on an arm’s-length basis, although in some cases
nominal discounts are granted. Transactions with key management personnel are conducted on similar terms. No abnormal or noncommercial credit terms are allowed, and no impairments were recognised in relation to any transactions with key management personnel
during the year, nor have they resulted in any non-performing debts at year-end.
Similar policies are applied to key management personnel at subsidiary level who are not defined as key management personnel at Group
level.
Certain of the directors of the Group are also non-executive directors of other public companies which may transact with the Group.
The relevant directors do not believe they have significant influence over the financial or operational policies of those companies. Those
companies are thus not regarded as related parties.
The following transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s-length transactions between subsidiaries of the
Group and key management personnel (as defined above) and/or organisations in which key management personnel have significant
influence:
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

22 148
3 598

31 780
680

126 563
3 721

127 630
4 800

180
123 755
86 672
1 011
–
68 486
27 819
56 000

1 257
210
80 992
–
11 174
61 732
58
56 000

38. Related parties (continued)
Transactions with key management personnel (continued)
Sales and services provided by the Group
Purchases
Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in respect of the
share purchase scheme
Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in trade receivables
Transactions with associates
The following transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in
arm’s-length transactions between subsidiaries and associates of the Group:
Sales and services provided by the Group
Purchases
Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in advances to associates
Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in trade receivables
Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in banking liabilities
Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in borrowings
Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in trade payables
Guarantees issued
Details of effective interest, investments and loans to associates are disclosed in note 18.
39. Accounting estimates and judgements
The board of directors has considered the Group’s critical accounting policies, key sources of uncertainty and areas where critical
accounting judgements were required in applying the Group’s accounting policies.
Critical accounting policies
The audit committee is satisfied that the critical accounting policies are appropriate to the Group.
Key source of uncertainty
Key sources of uncertainty relate to the liabilities to the benefit funds or related assets due to the surplus apportionment in terms of the
Pensions Fund Act which have yet to be finalised and approved. Details relating to the current surpluses and deficits are included in note 29.
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Judgements made in the application of IFRS that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Property, plant and equipment
The residual values of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually after considering future market conditions, the
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. The estimation of the useful lives is based on historic performance as well
as expectation about future use and, therefore, requires a degree of judgement to be applied. The depreciation rates represent
management’s current best estimate of the useful lives of the assets. The properties held in Bidvest Properties segment are accounted
for as own use assets and are thus held at cost less depreciation. Market indicators reflect, that these properties could realise more
than their carrying values, if disposed of.
Goodwill
The Group has assessed the carrying value of goodwill to determine whether any of the amounts have been impaired. The carrying values
were assessed using a combination of discounted cash flow and price earnings methods, the actual results and forecasts for future years.
Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that the taxable income will be available against which they can be
utilised. Future taxable profits are estimated based on business plans which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic
growth, interest, inflation and taxation rates and competitive forces.
Investments
The Group reflects its held-for-trade and available-for-sale investments at fair value. The directors’ value of unlisted investments was
determined using a combination of discounted cash flow, net asset value and price earnings methods. Investments held are of a longterm nature and uncertainty surrounds their valuation, which may result in a significant change in value.
Inventories
Impairment allowances are raised against inventory when it is considered that the amount realisable from such inventory’s sale is
considered to be less than its carrying amount. The impairment allowance is made with reference to an inventory age analysis.
Trade receivables
Management identifies impairment of trade receivables on an ongoing basis. An impairment allowance in respect of doubtful debts
is raised against trade receivables when their collectibility is considered to be doubtful. Management believes that the impairment
adjustment is conservative and there are no significant trade receivables that are doubtful and have not been impaired or allowance
provided for. In determining whether a particular receivable could be doubtful, the age, customer’s current financial status and disputes
with the customer are taken into consideration.
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39. Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Provisions
Refer note 33 for further disclosure.
Post-retirement obligations
The Group provides retirement benefits for its permanent employees through pension funds with defined benefit and defined
contribution categories. Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions which include the discount rate, inflation rate, salary increase
rate, expected return on plan assets and the pension increase allowance rate.
40. Determination of fair value
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures requires the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that
asset or liability.
Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The
market value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing
buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion. The market values of other assets are based on the quoted market prices for similar items.
Intangible assets
The fair value of intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of
the assets.
Inventory
The fair value of inventory acquired in a business combination is determined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the efforts required to complete
and sell the inventory.
Investments
Fair value of listed investments is calculated by reference to stock exchange quoted selling prices at the close of business on the
statement of financial date. Fair value of unlisted investments is determined by using appropriate valuation models.
Forward exchange contracts
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market prices.
Borrowings
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by
reference to similar lease agreements. The carrying value of the bank overdrafts is the fair value.
Share-based payments
The fair value of the share options is measured using a binomial model. Measurement inputs include share price at measurement date,
exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on the historic volatility), option life, distribution yield and the risk-free interest
rate (based on national government bonds).
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41. Standards and interpretations not effective at June 30 2010
At the date of approval of the annual financial statements, the following new standards and interpretations that apply to the Group were
in issue but not yet effective:
Standard/interpretation

Description

Effective date

IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – vesting conditions and
cancellations

July 1 2010

IFRS 39

Financial Instruments

July 1 2010

IAS 24 (revised)

Related party: Disclosure

July 1 2010

IAS 32 (revised)

Financial Instruments

July 1 2010

IFRIC 14

The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction

IFRIC 19

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

July 1 2010

IFRS 2
The amendment requires an entity that receives the goods or services (receiving entity) in either an equity or a cash settled share-based
payment transaction to account for the transaction in its separate or individual financial statements. This applies even if another Group
entity or shareholder settles the transaction (settling entity) and the receiving entity has no obligation to settle the payment. The entity
that has the obligation to settle the transaction will account for the arrangement as equity-settled if it has to settle in its own equity
instruments. Any other settlement arrangement will be accounted for as cash settled.
The amendment is not expected to impact the Group’s results significantly, no restatement of comparatives is required.
IFRS 9
IFRS 9 addresses the initial measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of IAS 39. Under
IFRS 9 there are two options in respect of classification of financial assets, namely, financial assets measured at amortised cost or at
fair value. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business model is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and when they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All
other financial assets are measured at fair value.
The amendment is not expected to impact the Group’s results significantly.
IAS 24 (revised)
IAS 24 addresses the disclosure requirements in respect of related parties, with the main changes relating to the definition of a related
party. The definition of a related party has been amended with the result that a number of new related-party relationships have been
identified.
Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.
IAS 32 (revised)
The amendment clarifies that rights, options, or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed
amount of any currency are equity instruments (and not financial liabilities) if the entity offers the rights, options, or warrants pro rata to
all of its existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments.
Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.
IFRIC 14
The amendment applies in limited circumstances when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and makes an early
payment of contributions to cover those requirements. The amendments permits such entity to treat the benefit of such early payment
as an asset.
Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.
IFRIC 19
IFRIC 19 addresses the accounting treatment for the extinguishment of financial liabilities with equity instruments. Equity instruments
issued to a creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability would represent “consideration paid”. The equity instruments will be
measured on initial measurement at their fair value, unless such fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the fair value of
the financial liability will be used. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part thereof) extinguished and
the initial measurement amount of the equity instruments shall be recognised in profit or loss.
The interpretation is not expected to impact the Group’s results significantly.
Additional guidance is provided on the inclusion of financial guarantee contracts in the liquidity maturity analysis.
IASB 2009 and 2010 annual improvements project
The amendments embodied in the IFRS 2009 improvement project are effective for the Group for the year ending June 30 2011.
The amendments embodied in the IFRS 2010 improvement project are effective for the Group for the year ending June 30 2012.
As part of its annual improvements project, the International Accounting Standards (IASB) made amendments to a number of
accounting standards. These amendments were primarily made to resolve conflicts and remove inconsistencies between standards,
clarify the status of application guidance in standards, clarify existing IFRS requirements, as well as conforming the terminology used in
standards with that used in other standards and to those more widely used.
Management’s assessment of the improvements has not revealed any material impact on the Group’s results.
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42. Foreign currency exchange rates
The following exchange rates were used in the conversion of foreign interests and foreign
transactions at June 30
Rand/sterling
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/euro
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/Australian dollar
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/New Zealand dollar
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/Hong Kong dollar
Closing rate
Average rate
Rand/Singapore dollar
Closing rate
Average rate

2010

2009

11,53
12,05

13,02
14,47

9,34
10,60

11,05
12,35

6,56
6,71

6,34
6,67

5,34
5,35

5,10
5,44

0,98
0,98

1,02
1,17

5,47
5,41

5,42
6,16
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Company income statement
for the year ended June 30

Note
Dividends received
Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Associates
Unlisted investments
Fair value adjustments and impairment of investment in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
Profit before taxation
Taxation

1

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

984 682

862 323

957 841

834 862

26 824

27 461

17

–

(16 985)

(41 707)

200 088

704 638

1 167 785

1 525 254

(802)

(26 424)

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders

1 166 983

1 498 830

Total comprehensive income for the year

1 166 983

1 498 830

Note

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

(131 600)

(665 360)

Cash generated by operations

2

1 248 672

606 261

Taxation paid

3

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended June 30

Cash outflow from operating activities

Refunds of share premium to shareholders in lieu of dividends
Dividends paid
Cash effects of investment activities
Increase in advances to subsidiaries

(803)

(26 423)

(1 379 469)

(912 553)

–

(332 645)

(1 037 103)

532 205

(1 113 044)

(254 327)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates

4

(540 820)

(38 495)

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

5

616 761

825 027

1 233 119

51 116

Cash effects of financing activities
Proceeds from share issues
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

64 416

(82 039)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

51 657

133 696

116 073

51 657

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended June 30

Share capital
Balance at beginning of year
Shares issued during the year
Capitalisation issue
Share premium
Balance at beginning of year
Shares issued during the year
Share issue costs
Capitalisation issue
Refund of share premium to shareholders
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Arising during the year

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

17 507

16 814

16 814

16 592

693

56

–

166

81 258

228 301

228 301

1 090 068

1 236 462

51 060

(4 036)

(108)

–

(166)

(1 379 469)

(912 553)

283 594

254 483

254 483

221 049

29 111

33 434

Movement in retained earnings

7 489 284

6 322 301

Balance at beginning of year

6 322 301

5 156 116

Total comprehensive income for the year

1 166 983

1 498 830

–

(332 645)

7 871 643

6 821 899

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Dividends paid
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Company statement of financial position
at June 30

Note
ASSETS

7 765 213

6 540 354

Interest in subsidiaries

6

7 664 668

6 441 007

Interest in joint ventures

7

4 540

4 540

Interest in associates

8

95 655

94 457

Investments

9

Non-current assets

350

350

116 073

308 183

Trade and other receivables

–

256 526

Cash and cash equivalents

116 073

51 657

7 881 286

6 848 537

7 871 643

6 821 899

9 643

26 638

Current assets

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

10

9 643

11 008

Vendors for acquisition

–

15 629

Taxation

–

1

7 881 286

6 848 537

Total equity and liabilities
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended June 30

1.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Current taxation

(8)

25 324

Current year

–

25 317

Taxation

Prior years

(8)
810

1 100

Total taxation per income statement

802

26 424

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the Company tax rate is as follows:
Taxation for the year as a percentage of profit before taxation
Dividend and exempt income
Difference in rate as a result of capital gains taxation
Withholding taxes

%

%

0,1

1,7

28,0

15,7

–

11,3

(0,1)

Expenses not taxable or allowed

–

Rate of South African company taxation

Secondary taxation on companies – dividend credits available
2.

7

Foreign withholdings tax

–
(0,7)

28,0

28,0

R’000

R’000

100 569

1 908

1 167 785

1 525 254

Cash generated by operations
Profit before taxation
Adjustment for non-cash items

(174 274)

(662 931)

Working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in trade and other payables and provisions
Increase (decrease) in trade and other receivables

256 526

Cash generated by operations
3.

464
(256 526)

1 248 672

606 261

(1)

–

Taxation refund received (taxation paid)
Amount payable at beginning of year
Per income statement

(802)

Amount payable at end of year

–

Amount paid
4.

(1 365)

(26 424)
1

(803)

(26 423)

(525 191)

(45 686)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates
Interest in subsidiaries
Interest in associates
Total value of acquisitions
Vendors for acquisition at beginning of year

–

(8 438)

(525 191)

(54 124)

(15 629)

Vendors for acquisition at end of year

–

Amounts paid

(540 820)

202

–
15 629
(38 495)

5.

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

416 673

76 692

–

43 697

Net carrying value

416 673

120 389

Profit on disposal

200 088

704 638

Net proceeds

616 761

825 027

Shares at cost

3 734 126

3 623 509

Due by subsidiaries

4 245 030

3 125 923

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
Interest in subsidiaries
Interest in associates

6.

Interest in subsidiaries

Due to subsidiaries

(314 488)

(308 425)

7 664 668

6 441 007

4 540

4 540

Details of major subsidiaries are reflected on pages 205 to 210 of this report.
7.

Interest in joint ventures
Shares at cost
Details of major joint ventures are reflected on page 210 of this report.

8.

Interest in associates
Listed
Unlisted
Interest-free advances

5 742

5 742

69 818

68 620

75 560

74 362

20 095

20 095

95 655

94 457

24 700

24 711

277 900

233 000

302 600

257 711

Unlisted shares

350

350

Directors’ value of unlisted investments

350

350

27 000

27 000

Number

Number

336 284 567

331 837 415

–

3 326 310

Market value of listed associates
Directors’ value of unlisted associates
Details of major associates are reflected on pages 211 of this report.
9.

Investments

10. Capital and reserves
Share capital
Authorised
540 000 000 (2005: 540 000 000) ordinary shares of 5 cents each

Issued
Balance at beginning of year
Capitalisation issue
Shares issued for cash

9 970 240

–

Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme

3 889 939

1 120 842

350 144 746

336 284 567

Balance at end of year
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2010
R’000

2009
R’000

10. Capital and reserves (continued)
Issued share capital
Share capital

17 507

16 814

Share premium

81 258

228 301

283 594

254 483

7 489 284

6 322 301

7 871 643

6 821 899

24 956 610

20 691 172

8 001 822

7 566 027

Reserves
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Retained earnings

30 000 000 of the unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual
general meeting.
11. Contingent liabilities
In respect of guarantees of banking and other facilities granted to subsidiaries
and associates
Of which has been utilised

The Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (Dinatla) refinancing arrangements was concluded in November 2006. In terms of this
arrangement, Bidvest granted Dinatla the right to require Bidvest to purchase 15 million Bidvest shares from Dinatla at R75 per Bidvest
share if the 10-day volume weighted average price per Bidvest share is equal to or less than R75 per Bidvest share (the put option). The
put option expires on the earlier of the date on which Dinatla discharges all of its obligations under its funding arrangements in full or on
March 30 2012.
12. Borrowing powers
Borrowing powers, in terms of the articles of association, are unlimited.
13. Related parties
The subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of the Group are identified in the annexure set out on pages 205 to 211. All of these
entities are related parties of the Company. The Company has made loans to, and has received loans from, certain of these entities as
set out in the said annexure.
Details of income received from these related parties are included in the income statement.
All expenditure incurred by the Company is borne by a subsidiary in lieu of administration fees and interest.
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Interest in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
as at June 30

Major subsidiaries
Bidvest Freight (D)
African Shipping Limited
Bidfreight (Pty) Limited#
Bidfreight Intermodal (Pty) Limited#
Bidfreight Port Operations (Pty) Limited#
Bidfreight Terminals (Pty) Limited#
Bulk Connections (Pty) Limited#
Durban Coal Terminals Company Limited
Freightbulk (Pty) Limited
Island View Storage Limited
Island View Storage Richards Bay (Pty) Limited
Manica (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(9)
Manica (Malawi) Limited(13)
Manica (Zambia) Limited(14)
Manica Africa (Pty) Limited
Manica DRC SPRL
Manica Holdings Limited
Manica Zimbabwe Limited(16)
Naval Servicos A Navegacao Limitada(17)
P & I Associates (Pty) Limited#
Renfreight (Pty) Limited
Rennie Murray and Company (Pty) Limited#
Rennies Distribution Services (Pty) Limited#
Rennies Property Holdings (Pty) Limited
Rennies Ships Agency (Pty) Limited#
Safcor Freight (Pty) Limited (trading as Safcor Panalpina)
South African Bulk Terminals Limited
South African Container Depots (Pty) Limited#
South African Container Stevedores (Pty) Limited
Bidvest Services (F)
African Consultancy For Transportation
Security (Pty) Limited
Bid Information Exchange (Pty) Limited#
Bidair Services (Pty) Limited
Bidprocure (Pty) Limited#
Bidserv (Pty) Limited#
Bidserv Industrial Products (Pty) Limited#
Bidserv Mozambique Limitada(17)
Bidtravel (Pty) Limited#
Bidvest (Zambia) (Pty) Limited(14)
Bidvest Bank Holdings Limited
Bidvest Bank Limited
Bidvest Capital (Proprietary) Limited
Bosnandi Laundry (Pty) Limited
Commuter Handling Services (Pty) Limited
Concorde Travel (Pty) Limited t/a
Carlson Wagonlit Travel
Connex Travel (Pty) Limited t/a BCD Travel
Dinatla Property Services (Pty) Limited
Execuflora (Pty) Limited#
Express Air Services (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(10)
Express Air Services (Pty) Limited

Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2 450
*
*
*
*
*
14
1
334
500
168
335
870
3 088
*
1
*
10
*
*
*
*
10
*
*
2
*
1

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
82

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
82

8 996
–
–
–
–
–
–
680
368 244
–
–
–
–
–
–
77 627
–
–
–
95 554
–
–
54 000
–
108 786
51 766
–
77

8 996
–
–
–
–
–
–
652
367 907
–
–
–
–
–
–
77 574
–
–
–
95 554
–
–
54 000
–
108 644
51 742
–
74

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
108
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
17 638
–
–
–
(108)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
5 699
108
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
17 638
–
–
–
(108)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

*
*
*
*
*
*
6
*
3
182
1 800
8
1
1

50
100
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
51
60

50
100
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
51
60

–
–
921
–
–
–
–
–
–
454 768
–
–
–
–

–
–
894
–
–
–
–
–
–
184 465
–
–
–
8 063

–
–
3 326
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
7 725

–
–
3 232
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
7 725

*
*
30
*
1
1

90
61
100
100
90
100

90
61
50
100
90
100

47 654
28 176
17 109
–
–
–

47 045
27 984
927
–
–
–

–
5 513
–
–
–
–

–
5 513
–
–
–
–
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Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Bidvest Services (F) (continued)
First Garment Rental (Pty) Limited#
First In Staffing Solutions (Pty) Limited
Giant Clothing Limited(13)
Global Payment Technologies (Pty) Limited
Harvey World Travel Southern Africa (Pty) Limited
Hotel Amenities Suppliers (Pty) Limited
Industro Cleaning Botswana (Pty) Limited(9)
Langa Lethu Risk Management (Pty) Limited
Langa Status Property Services (Pty) Limited
Macardo Lodge (Pty) Limited t/a Travelwise Travel
Magnum Shield Security Services (Pty) Limited#
Master Currency (Pty) Limited
Masterguard Fabric Protection Africa (Pty) Limited
McCarthy Retail Finance (Pty) Limited
Minolco (Pty) Limited#
MyMarketdot Com (Pty) Limited#
Namibia Bureau de Change (Pty) Limited(10)
Nomtsalane Property Services (Pty) Limited
Prestige Cleaning Services (Pty) Limited#
Provicom Risk Solutions (Pty) Limited#
Puréau Fresh Water Company (Pty) Limited
QMS Consulting (Pty) Limited#
Rennies Travel (Pty) Limited t/a HRG Rennies Travel#
Rennies Travel Holdings (Malawi) Limited(13)
Rochester Midlands Industries SA (Pty) Limited
Setsebi Property Services (Pty) Limited
Steiner Environmental Solutions (Pty) Limited#
Steiner Hygiene (Pty) Limited#
Steiner Hygiene Swaziland (Pty) Limited#
Strategic Corporate Solutions (Pty) Limited#
Taemane Cleaning Services (Pty) Limited
Top Turf Botswana (Pty) Limited(9)
Top Turf Group (Pty) Limited#
Top Turf Mauritius (Pty) Limited(18)
Top Turf Seychelles (Pty) Limited(19)
Total Manpower Solutions (Pty) Limited
Total Outdoors (Swaziland) (Pty) Limited(20)
Travel Connections (Pty) Limited
Trustone Investments (Pty) Limited
Umoja Property Solutions (Pty) Limited
Vericon Outsourcing (Pty) Limited#
Viamax (Pty) Limited
Viamax Fleet Solutions (Pty) Limited
World Travel (Pty) Limited

*
*
1
*
*
*
*
*
*
45
*
9 001
*
*
*
*
500
*
*
*
*
*
2
*
*
*
*
*
6
*
*
*
4
7
10
*
*
*
*
*
*
15
*
3 350

100
100
100
100
50
100
80
51
45
60
100
100
50
100
100
100
51
43
100
100
100
100
100
100
50
50
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
51
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
50
100
80
51
45
60
100
100
50
100
100
100
51
43
100
100
100
100
100
100
50
50
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
51
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
44 301
3 464
–
–
–
–
–
–
46 476
16
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
24 570
–
2 054
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–
–
–
9 216
–
–
–
–
–
7 407

–
–
–
44 301
3 464
–
–
–
–
–
–
46 476
16
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2 054
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–
–
–
9 192
–
–
–
416 981
–
7 407

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
38 295
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(10 335)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(4)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
38 295
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(4)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Bidvest Foodservice (A)
Al Diyafa Company for Catering Services LLC(24)
Amosco Pte Limited(1)
Andostar (Pty) Limited
Angliss (Shenzhen) Food Service Company Limited(2)
Angliss Australia Pty Limited(3)
Angliss Beijing Food Service Limited(2)

614
2 735
*
4 900
*
1

53
100
100
100
100
70

53
100
–
100
100
70

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
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–
–
–
–
–
–

Major subsidiaries
Bidvest Foodservice (A) (continued)
Angliss China Limited (Acl)(4)
Angliss Guangzhou Food Service Limited(2)
Angliss Hong Kong Food Service Limited(4)
Angliss International Investment Limited(4)
Angliss Macau Food Service Limited(2)
Angliss Seafood Pte Limited(1)
Angliss Shanghai Food Service Limited(2)
Angliss Shanghai International Trading(2)
Angliss Singapore Pte Limited(1)
Angliss USA Inc.(5)
BFS Group Limited (trading as 3663)(6)
Bid Commercial Products (UK) Limited(6)
Bid Food Exports (Pty) Limited#
Bid Food Ingredients (Pty) Limited#
Bid Foodservice (Europe) Limited(6)
Bid Foodservice (Middle East) Holdings Limited(7)
Bidcorp Finance Limited(7)
Bidfood Technologies (Pty) Limited
Bidvest (N.S.W) Limited(3)
Bidvest (UK) Limited(6)
Bidvest (Victoria) (Pty) Limited(3)
Bidvest (WA) (Pty) Limited(3)
Bidvest Australia Limited(3)
Bidvest Foodservice International Limited(7)
Bidvest New Zealand Limited(8)
Burleigh Marr Distributions (Pty) Limited(3)
CCW Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#
Caterplus (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(9)
Caterplus (Pty) Limited(3)
Caterplus (Pty) Limited#
Catersales (Pty) Limited#
Chipkins Bakery Supplies (Pty) Limited#
Chipkins Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#
Crean Foodservice Limited(8)
Crown National (Pty) Limited#
D and R Lowe Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#
Deli XL Belgie NV(11)
Deli XL BV(12)
Deli XL Europe BV(12)
Deli XL Flanders NV(11)
Deli XL NV(11)
Everyday Foods (Pty) Limited
Farutex Sp.z.o.o(22)
First Food Distributors (Pty) Limited#
Horeca KSA Trading FZCO(23)
Horeca Trade LLC(23)
International Bakery Ingredients (Pty) Limited
John Lewis Foodservice (Pty) Limited(3)
Lou’s Wholesalers (Pty) Limited#
M & M Quality Choice (Pty) Limited#
N Stephenson (Pty) Limited(3)

Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

9 800
3 382
156
1
487
*
11
136
61 170
–
346 002
*
*
*
115 334
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
81
12
34 385
71
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
10
*
749 010
110 175
1 597
579
18 531
*
22 492
*
4 168
625
*
*
*
*
219

100
90
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
91
100
53
80
100
100
100
100
100

100
90
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
–
100
–
80
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
10
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
7 830
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2 429
–
–
–
–
(10)
(312)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
10
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
8 108
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2 429
–
–
–
–
(10)
(312)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
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Interest in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
as at June 30

Major subsidiaries
Bidvest Foodservice (A) (continued)
NCP Yeast (Pty) Limited#
Nowaco Czech Republic s.r.o.(21)
Nowaco Slovakia s.r.o.
Ocean Fresh Asia Limited(4)
Pastry Global Food Service Limited(4)
Patleys (Pty) Limited#
Pinacles Seafoods Limited(6)
RFS Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#
Tri-Mark Industries (Pty) Limited
Bidvest Industrial and Commercial (B)
Afcom Group Limited
African Commerce Developing
Company (Pty) Limited#
Back to School Supplies (Pty) Limited
Bellco Electrical (Pty) Limited
Berzack Brothers (Jhb) (Pty) Limited
Berzack Brothers (Pty) Limited
Bidvest Materials Handling (Pty) Limited
Bloch & Levitan (Pty) Limited
Bonanza Holdings (Pty) Limited
Budget Desks and Chairs (Pty) Limited#
Buffalo Executape (Pty) Limited#
Buffalo Tapes (Pty) Limited#
Cecil Nurse (Pty) Limited#
Contract Office Products (Pty) Limited#
Dauphin Office Seating SA (Pty) Limited
Ditulo Office (Pty) Limited
EastmanStaples Limited(6)
Hortors Stationery (Pty) Limited#
Kolok (Pty) Limited#
Nuclear Corporate Furniture (Pty) Limited#
Offurn Clearance House (Pty) Limited#
Pago Designs (Pty) Limited
Ram Fasteners (Pty) Limited
Sanlic International (Pty) Limited
Seating (Pty) Limited#
South African Diaries (Pty) Limited#
Versalec Cables (Pty) Limited
Voltex (Pty) Limited
Voltex Holdings Limited
Vulcan Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited
Waltons Stationery Company (Pty) Limited#
Bidvest Paperplus (H)
Bidpaper Plus (Pty) Limited
Bidpaper Plus Holdings Limited
Blesston Printing and Associates (Pty) Limited
Email Connection (Pty) Limited
Expressed Solutions (Pty) Limited
Globe Stationery Manufacturing Company (Pty)
Limited
Kolok Africa (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Afric Mail Cape (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Afric Mail JHB (Pty) Limited

Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

*
679 607
1 868
490
10
*
12
*
*

100
94
94
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
–
–
100
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
221

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
221

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

343

100

100

12 496

10 435

31 587

31 587

151
36
200
200
4 300
*
50
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
196
*
*
*
1
*
3 111
*
*
*
*
9
6 630
1
31

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
71
43
50
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
–
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
71
43
50
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

–
36
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1 872
143
–
–
–
–
5 963
960
3 525
–
–
–
84 876
–
269 772
–
31

–
36
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1 848
143
–
–
–
–
5 963
960
3 525
–
–
–
83 839
–
268 546
–
31

–
(36)
–
–
–
–
–
25
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(6 551)
600
6 806
–
–
–
–
–
1 029
–
(31)

–
(36)
–
–
–
–
–
25
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(6 551)
600
–
–
–
–
–
–
24 606
–
(31)

*
177
*
*
1 004

100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100

–
142 776
–
1 708
–

–
142 029
–
1 708
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

*
*
160
*

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
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Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Major subsidiaries

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Bidvest Paperplus (H) (continued))
Lithotech Afric Mail Pinetown (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Corporate (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Group Services (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Imaging Data Solutions (Pty) Limited
Lithotech International Limited
Lithotech Labels (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Listing and Logistics (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Manufacturing Cape (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Manufacturing Pinetown (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales Bloemfontein (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales Cape (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales East London (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales Johannesburg (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales KwaZulu-Natal (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales Port Elizabeth (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Sales Pretoria (Pty) Limited
Lithotech Solutions (Pty) Limited
Lufil Packaging (Pty) Limited
Mocobe Properties (Pty) Limited
Ozalid South Africa (Pty) Limited
Paragon Business Communications Limited
Phakama Print (Pty) Limited
Rotolabel (Tvl) (Pty) Limited
Silveray Manufacturers (Pty) Limited
Silveray Statmark Company (Pty) Limited

3
*
*
*
7 981
18 198
*
150
20 258
*
1
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
51 891
*
*
58
11

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
40
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
40
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
59 244
–
–
55 819
–
–
–
6 848

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
59 244
–
–
55 819
–
–
–
3 759

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(3 089)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(3 089)

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
1 183 907
10 000
90
10 000

50
100
100
80
80
60
100
100
100
100
100

50
100
100
80
80
60
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
792 511
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

*
1
2 070
*
*
*
*
*
*
279
*
*

52
52
52
52
52
52
52
52
52
52
52
52

66
66
66
66
66
66
66
66
66
66
66
66

–
–
212 806
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Bidvest Automotive (G)
Autohaus Centurion (Pty) Limited
Coltish Investments (Pty) Limited
Eliance (Pty) Limited
Inyanga Motors (Pty) Limited
Inyanga Plaza Investments (Pty) Limited
Kunene Motor Holdings Limited
McCarthy Car Hire (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(9)
McCarthy Limited
McLife Assurance Company Limited
McProp Properties (Pty) Limited
McSure Limited
Bidvest Namibia (A, B, D, F, G)
Bidvest Commercial Holdings (Pty) Limited(10)
Bidvest Fisheries Holdings (Pty) Limited(10)
Bidvest Namibia Limited(10)
Caterplus Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)
Cecil Nurse Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)
Elzet Development (Pty) Limited(10)
Kolok (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(10)
Lubrication Specialists (Pty) Limited(10)
Luderitz Bay Shipping & Forwarding (Pty) Limited(10)
Manica Group Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)
Manica Information Technology (Pty) Limited(10)
McCarthy Car Hire Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)

–
–
–
–
–
–

790 460
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(6 065)
–
–
–

–
–
212 727
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
1
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
1
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
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Interest in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
as at June 30

Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Major subsidiaries

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

Bidvest Namibia (A, B, D, F, G) (continued)
Minolco (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(10)
Namibian Sea Products Limited(10)
Namsov Fishing Enterprises (Pty) Limited(10)
Namsov Industrial Properties (Pty) Limited(10)
Rennies Travel (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(10)
Voltex Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)
Waltons Properties Namibia (Pty) Limited(10)
Waltons Stationery Company (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(10)
Walvis Bay Airport Services (Pty) Limited(10)
Walvis Bay Stevedoring Company (Pty) Limited(10)
Woker Freight Services (Pty) Limited(10)
Trachurus Fishing (Pty) Limited(10)
Twafika Fishing Enterprises (Pty) Limited(10)

*
45 437
100
1
1
*
1
*
5
*
29
100
2

52
52
36
36
52
52
52
52
52
29
52
52
52

66
46
46
46
50
66
66
66
33
36
66
66
66

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

*
*
*
12
253 978
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
47
*
*
*
*
28 834
*
*
12
*

50
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
100
100
100
100

50
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
100
100
100
100

1 000
2
*

50
50
50

50
50
50

Corporate (E)
Airport Logistics Property Holdings (Pty) Limited
BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited
Bid Industrial and Commercial Products (IOM) Limited(7)
Bidcorp Limited
Bidcorp Outsourced Services Limited(6)
Bidcorp Property Limited(6)
Bidvest International Limited(7)
BICP Offshore Holdings (Pty) Limited
Bid Corporate Services (Pty) Limited#
Bid Corporation (Pty) Limited
Bid Financial Services (Pty) Limited
Bid Industrial and Commercial Products (Pty) Limited
Bid Industrial Holdings (Pty) Limited
Bid Services Division (IOM) Limited
Bid Services Division (Pty) Limited
Bid Services Division (UK) Limited(6)
Bidvest Properties (Pty) Limited
Bidvest Wits University Football Club (Pty) Limited
Ontime Automotive Limited(6)
Primeinvest 5 (Pty) Limited
Siki Fox Properties (Pty) Limited
Skillion Limited(6)
Silveray Properties (Pty) Limited
Other
Major joint ventures
Cape Town Bulk Storage (Pty) Limited(D)
Ensimbini Terminals (Pty) Limited(D)
Voltex Swaziland (Pty) Limited(B) (20)

210

142
142
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2 018
1 993
4 732
4 429
52
52
3 001
2 431 2 706 967 1 256 622
–
–
25 000
25 000
–
–
–
–
159 527 154 019 750 530 750 530
–
–
–
–
419
371 643 448 621 566
–
–
–
–
–
–
66
11 249
–
–
33 383
31 556
–
–
–
–
–
–
30 053 272 793
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
8 833
8 833
–
–
466 159 239 457 (355 581) (275 115)
3 734 126 3 623 509 3 930 542 2 817 498
–
4 540
–
4 540

–
4 540
–
4 540

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Major associates
Amalgamated Automobile Distributors
(Pty) Limited(G)
Amalgamated Appliance Holdings Limited(B)
Bidsport (Pty) Limited (trading as MSC Sports)(E)
Comair Limited(F)
Compu-Clearing Outsourcing Limited(D)
CSAV Group Agencies (South Africa) (Pty) Limited(D)
Imperial McCarthy (Pty) Limited(G)
“K” Line Shipping (South Africa) (Pty) Limited
(December 31 year-end)(D)
Sebenza Forwarding & Shipping (Pty) Limited
(March 31 year-end)(D)
Silapha Office Products (Pty) Limited(B)
Stellar Africa (Pty) Limited(E)
Supaswift (Pty) Limited(D)
Ubuhle Be Dauphin Office Seating (Pty) Limited(B)
Waltons Mozambique Limitada(B) (D) (17)
Yeastpro (Pty) Limited (April 30 year-end)(A)
Other

Effective holdings

Shares

Indebtedness

Issued
share
capital
R’000

2010
%

2009
%

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

2010
R’000

2009
R’000

4
2 122
*
4 736
409
*
1

50
28
50
26
21
40
50

50
–
50
26
21
40
50

–
–
8 807
–
5 742
–
–

–
–
8 438
–
5 742
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

*

49

49

–

*
*
4
*
*
17
*

45
40
25
36
28
50
25

45
40
25
36
28
50
25

5 011
20
172
–
–
–
32 381
23 427
75 560

–
5 011
20
–
–
–
–
32 381
22 770
74 362

–
–

–
–

20 000
–
–
–
95
20 095

20 000
–
–
–
95
20 095

Amounts owing by or to subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
*Less than R1 000
#

Trading as an agent

Country of incorporation if not South Africa
(1)
(14)
Singapore
Zambia
(2)
(15)
China
Democratic Republic of
(3)
Australia
Congo
(4)
(16)
Hong Kong
Zimbabwe
(5)
United States of America (17)Mozambique
(6)
(18)
United Kingdom
Mauritius
(7)
(19)
Isle of Man
Seychelles
(8)
(20)
New Zealand
Swaziland
(9)
(21)
Botswana
Czechoslovakia
(10)
(22)
Namibia
Poland
(11)
(23)
Belgium
United Arab Emirates
(12)
(24)
Netherlands
Saudi Arabia
(13)
(25)
Malawi
Slovakia

Nature of business
(A)
Catering supplies, food and allied products
(B)
Electrical, security, office furniture, office supplies and related products
(C)
Financial and related services
(D)
Freight, forwarding, clearing, distribution, warehousing and allied
activities
(E)
Group services, investment and property holding
(F)
Linen, rental, laundry, cleaning, travel and other services
(G)
Motor retail and related services
(H)
Printing and stationery products
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Shareholder information
as at June 30 2010

Number of
shares
held

%
of shares
issued

% of
effective
holding

Government Employees Pension Fund

51 029 647

14,57

16,00

Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited

26 510 312

7,57

8,31

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited

27 843 230

7,95

8,73

State Street Bank and Trust

14 771 218

4,22

4,63

Old Mutual Life Assurance Company South Africa

10 842 865

3,10

3,40

SSB Client Omnibus

10 523 412

3,01

3,30

Momentum Life Assurance Company Limited

7 849 437

2,24

2,46

Sanlam

5 621 551

1,61

1,76

Liberty Life Association of Africa Limited

5 374 745

1,54

1,68

Northern Trust Company London

4 761 038

1,36

1,49

JP Morgan Chase Bank London

3 952 651

1,13

1,24

Vanguard Emerging Markets

3 839 919

1,10

1,20

The Bidvest Incentive Scheme

3 295 121

0,94

1,03

Beneficial shareholding
Major shareholders holding 1% or more of the shares in issue

Joffe Family

3 335 296

0,95

1,05

179 550 442

51,29

56,28

46 265 494

13,21

14,50

Investment management holdings
Fund managers holding 1% or more of the shares in issue
Public Investment Corporation
Coronation Fund Managers

25 731 860

7,35

8,07

Old Mutual Investment Group South Africa

22 746 544

6,50

7,13

RMB Asset Management

18 059 337

5,16

5,66

Sanlam Investment Management

17 000 222

4,86

5,33

Genesis Investment Management

11 993 143

3,43

3,76

Axa Financial South Africa

11 362 972

3,25

3,56

Stanlib Asset Management

10 722 856

3,06

3,36

Element Investment Management

6 505 277

1,86

2,04

BlackRock Incorporated

6 438 680

1,84

2,02

The Vanguard Group Incorporated

5 314 864

1,52

1,67

Foord Asset Management

4 354 735

1,24

1,37

Investec Asset Management

3 776 743

1,08

1,18

Metropolitan Asset Managers

3 738 778

1,07

1,17

Prudential Portfolio Managers

3 659 696

1,05

1,15

197 671 201

56,48

61,97

Shares in issue
Total number in issue

350 144 746

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited
(treasury shares)

(27 843 230)

The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme

(3 295 121)

Effective number of shares in issue

319 006 395

212

Shareholder categories
Pension funds
Unit trusts/mutual fund
Insurance companies
Other managed funds
Corporate holdings
Black economic empowerment
Private investors
Foreign government
Custodians
Charity
American depositary receipts
University
Local authority
Investment trust
Hedge fund
Remainder
Geographic split of beneficial shareholders
South Africa
United States of America and Canada
United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
Rest of the world
Analysis of shareholdings
1 –
10 000
10 001 – 100 000
100 001 – 1 000 000
1 000 001 – and more
Shareholder spread
Public shareholders
Non-public shareholders
The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme
BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited
Dinatla Investment Holdings
Directors and Family Trusts

Number of
members

% of all
members

282
279
35
102
1
1
19 283
21
20
9
2
6
3
4
2
7

1,41
1,39
0,17
0,51
–
–
96,14
0,10
0,10
0,04
0,01
0,03
0,01
0,02
0,01
0,03

20 057

100,00

19 761
139
27
69
61

98,54
0,69
0,13
0,34
0,30

20 057

100,00

18 938
823
243
53

94,43
4,10
1,21
0,26

20 057

100,00

20 032
25
1
1
1
22

99,89
0,11
–
–
–
0,11

20 057

100,00

Number of
shares held
122
63
38
30
27
26
20
7
2

041
758
367
206
843
510
809
860
966
515
452
419
401
215
52
7 724

%
of shares
issued

069
982
673
453
266
312
003
725
179
266
084
517
931
102
606
578

34,85
18,21
10,96
8,63
7,95
7,57
5,94
2,24
0,85
0,15
0,13
0,12
0,11
0,06
0,02
2,21

350 144 746

100,00

273
38
9
11
17

555
192
035
882
082

78,15
10,98
2,57
3,39
4,91

350 144 746

100,00

15
26
67
241

623
448
009
880
183

398
473
765
110

4,43
7,53
19,14
68,90

350 144 746

100,00

288
61
3
27
26
4

524
370
002
247

267
877
295
843
510
228

261
485
121
230
312
822

82,38
17,67
0,94
7,95
7,57
1,21

350 144 746

100,00
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Shareholders’ diary

June 30

Financial year-end

November

Annual general meeting
Report and accounts
Interim report for the half year ending December 31

February/March

Announcement of annual results

August/September

Annual report

October

Distributions
Interim distribution
Final distribution

214

Declaration

Payment

February/March

March

August

September

Glossary

ART
Asgisa
BBBEE
BEE

antiretroviral treatment for those suffering from or exposed to HIV/Aids
Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa
broad-based black economic empowerment
black economic empowerment

CDP

Carbon Disclosure Project

CO2e

Carbon dioxide emissions

COBiT

control objectives for information and related technology

CSI

corporate social investment

CPI

consumer price index

DTI
EMS
Eskom
ERP
FTE

South Africa’s Department of Trade and Industry
environmental management system
South African national electricity supply company
enterprise resource planning
Full-time employee

GDP

gross domestic product

GHG

greenhouse gas

GRI

Global Reporting Initiative

HACCP

hazard analysis critical control point

HDI

historically disadvantaged individual

IAS

International Auditing Standards

IFRS
Industry charter(s)

International Financial Reporting Standards
voluntary, wide commitments to black economic empowerment goals

ISO

International Organisation for Standardisation quality management and quality assurance
series of standards (9000) and environmental management series of standards (14001)

JSE

the Johannesburg Stock Exchange

KZN

KwaZulu-Natal

LTIFR
LRA
NUMSA

lost-time injury frequency rate (number of lost-time injuries per million manhours worked)
Labour Relations Act
National Union of Metal Workers of South Africa

OEM

original equipment manufacturer

OHS

Occupational Health and Safety Act (No. 85 of 1993), South Africa

PPP

public-private partnership

QMS

quality management system

QSR

quick-service restaurant

SADC

Southern African Development Community

SARB

South African Reserve Bank

SED
SETA
SHERQ
SRI Index
STC
the Codes/
the DTI Codes
TNPA
VCT
World Cup

socio-economic development
sectoral education and training authorities
Safety, health, environment, risk, quality
Socially Responsible Investment Index
secondary taxation on companies
codes of good practice for broad-based black economic empowerment as published by the
Department of Trade and Industry, South Africa
Transnet National Ports Authority
voluntary counselling and testing (HIV/Aids-related)
2010 FIFA World CupTM
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Administration

The Bidvest Group Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1946/021180/06
ISIN: ZAE000050449
Share code: BVT
Secretary
Craig Brighten
Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
Legal advisers
Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs
Baker & McKenzie
Maitland & Co
Werksmans Inc
Bankers
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
Standard Bank London plc
Nedbank Limited
Investec Bank Limited
HSBC Bank plc
FirstRand Group Limited
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Limited
Barclays Bank Limited
ASB Bank Limited
ABSA Bank Limited
Share transfer secretaries
Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Limited
11 Diagonal Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa

Registered office
Bidvest House
18 Crescent Drive
Melrose Arch
Melrose
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
PO Box 87274
Houghton
Johannesburg, 2041
South Africa
Telephone +27 (11) 772 8700
Facsimile +27 (11) 772 8970

Website and intranet
www.bidvest.com
e-mail
info@bidvest.co.za or
investor@bidvest.co.za
domains@bidvest.co.za
Bidvest call line
0860 BIDVEST
Ethics line
Freecall
0800 50 60 90
Freefax
0800 00 77 88
e-mail
bidvest@tip-offs.com
Freepost Tip-offs Anonymous
KwaZulu-Natal 138
Umhlanga Rocks, 4320
South Africa

Bidvest publications:

Sponsors
Investec Securities Limited

Annual report (including sustainable development
and black economic empowerment)
Our people are our universe – annual review
Our businesses and products
Bidvoice (quarterly)
Transformation and empowerment
Corporate video – Young at heart
Television and print advertisements
A practical guide to sustainable development
Green office guide
All aboard (welcome to Bidvest)

Financial director, Group corporate finance
and investor relations
David Cleasby
Communications
Jack Hochfeld

Message to employees
Please ensure you are registered on Employee and
business Plus, the Bidvest intranet, accessed via the
Bidvest website www.bidvest.com

This annual report has been printed on paper manufactured from wood from sustainable forests. The paper bleaching
process is free of chlorine and acids. These processes reduce the impact on the environment and help conserve natural
resources.
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Our company logos

Bastion Graphics
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